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Your vote is
important.
Whether or not
you plan to
attend the
annual
meeting,
please cast
your vote as
soon as
ADAM GOLDSTEIN PDSSibIE by
Founder & Chief Executive Officer Internet,

telephone, or
TO OUR STOCKHOLDERS: by mail.

You are cordially invited to attend the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the
“Annual Meeting”) of Archer Aviation Inc., which will be held virtually at
www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/ACHR2024 on Friday, June 21, 2024, 12:00 p.m.
Pacific Time. The Annual Meeting will be held in a virtual meeting format only and you
will not be able to attend in person. We believe that a virtual stockholder meeting
provides greater access to those who wish to attend, lowers costs, and aligns with our
broader sustainability goals and therefore we have chosen this format over an
in-person meeting.

The matters expected to be acted upon at the Annual Meeting are described in the
accompanying Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Notice”) and Proxy
Statement (the “Proxy Statement”). The Annual Meeting materials include the Notice,
the Proxy Statement, our annual report, and proxy card.

Your vote is important. Whether or not you plan to attend the Annual Meeting virtually,
please cast your vote as soon as possible by Internet, telephone or, if you received a
paper proxy card and voting instructions by mail, by completing and returning the
enclosed proxy card in the postage-prepaid envelope to ensure that your shares will be
represented. Your vote by written proxy will ensure your representation at the Annual
Meeting regardless of whether or not you attend virtually. Returning the proxy does not
affect your right to attend the Annual Meeting virtually or to vote your shares virtually
during the Annual Meeting.

Sincerely,

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING THE AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS FOR THE ANNUAL
MEETING TO BE HELD ON FRIDAY, JUNE 21, 2024 AT 12:00 P.M. PACIFIC TIME. THE PROXY
STATEMENT AND ANNUAL REPORT ARE AVAILABLE AT WWW.PROXYVOTE.COM. THIS NOTICE OF
THE ANNUAL MEETING, PROXY STATEMENT, AND FORM OF PROXY ARE BEING DISTRIBUTED AND
MADE AVAILABLE ON OR ABOUT APRIL 29, 2024.
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Notice

TIME & DATE

PLACE

of Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Friday, June 21, 2024, 12:00 p.m. Pacific Time

You are cordially invited to attend the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Archer
Aviation Inc., which will be held virtually at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/ACHR2024.
We believe that a virtual stockholder meeting provides greater access to those who wish to
attend, and therefore we have chosen this format over an in-person meeting. This approach
also lowers costs and aligns with our broader sustainability goals. You will not be able to
attend the Annual Meeting in person.

ITEMS OF BUSINESS

RECORD DATE

PROXY VOTING

1. Elect certain directors of Archer Aviation Inc., each to serve a three-year term expiring at
the 2027 annual meeting of stockholders and until such director’s successor is duly
elected and qualified.

2. Ratify the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent registered
public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2024.

3. Approve, on a non-binding advisory basis, the compensation of our named executive
officers.

4. Select, on a non-binding advisory basis, whether future advisory votes on the
compensation of our named executive officers should be every one, two or three years.

5. Approve an amendment to our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to
limit the liability of certain officers of the Company as permitted pursuant to the Delaware
General Corporation Law.

6. Transact such other business as may properly come before the Annual Meeting or any
adjournment or postponement thereof.

Only stockholders of record at the close of business on Monday, April 22, 2024, are entitled to
notice of, and to attend and vote at, the Annual Meeting and any adjournments thereof.

Each share of Class A common stock that you own represents one vote and each share of
Class B common stock that you own represents ten votes. For questions regarding your
stock ownership, you should contact your broker or, alternatively, if you do not hold shares
through a broker, you may contact us at legal@archer.com, or our transfer agent, Continental
Stock Transfer & Trust Company, through its website at https://continentalstock.com, by
phone at (212) 509-4000, or by e-mail at cstmail@continentalstock.com.

This Notice of the Annual Meeting, Proxy Statement, and form of proxy are being distributed and made
available on or about April 29, 2024.

WHETHER ORNOT YOU PLAN TO ATTEND THE ANNUAL MEETING, WE ENCOURAGE YOU TO
VOTE AND SUBMIT YOUR PROXY THROUGH THE INTERNET OR BY TELEPHONE OR REQUEST
AND SUBMIT YOUR SIGNED AND DATED PROXY CARD BY MAIL AS SOON AS POSSIBLE, SO THAT
YOUR SHARES MAY BE REPRESENTED AT THE MEETING.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

B

ERIC LENTELL

General Counsel and Secretary

2024 Proxy Statement 2
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS:

This Proxy Statement includes forward-looking statements, which are statements other than statements of
historical facts and statements in the present tense. These statements include, but are not limited to,
statements regarding our future performance and our market opportunity; our business strategy and plans;
aircraft performance; the pace at which we intend to design, develop, test, certify, manufacture and
commercialize our eVTOL aircraft; the planned deployment of Archer’s business internationally; and the
production volumes of our planned manufacturing capabilities. Forward-looking statements are based upon
various estimates and assumptions, as well as information known to us as of the date hereof, and are subject
to risks and uncertainties. Accordingly, actual results could differ materially due to a variety of factors,
including: the early stage nature of our business and our past and projected future losses; our ability to
design, develop, certify, manufacture and commercialize our aircraft and UAM ecosystem; our dependence
on a limited number of customers for our current aircraft orders, which are subject to conditions, further
negotiation and reaching mutual agreement on certain material terms, and the risk that customers may cancel
those orders; our ability to generate the anticipated revenue from customer purchase commitments; our
ability to maintain an effective system of internal control; the effectiveness of our marketing and growth
strategies, including our ability to effectively market electric air transportation as a substitute for conventional
methods of transportation; our ability to compete in the UAM and eVTOL industries; our ability to obtain any
required certifications, licenses, approvals, or authorizations from governmental authorities; our ability to
achieve our business milestones and launch products and services on anticipated timelines; our dependence
on suppliers for the parts and components in our aircraft; our ability to develop commercial-scale
manufacturing capabilities; regulatory requirements and other obstacles outside of our control that slow
market adoption of electric aircraft, such as the inability to obtain and maintain adequate vertiport
infrastructure; our ability to hire, train and retain qualified personnel; risks related to our UAM ecosystem
operating in densely populated metropolitan areas and heavily regulated airports; adverse publicity from
accidents involving electric aircraft or lithium-ion battery cells; the impact of labor and union activities on our
workforce; losses resulting from indexed price escalation clauses in purchase orders; regulatory risks related
to evolving laws and regulations in our industry; the impact of macroeconomic conditions, inflation, interest
rates, potential U.S. federal government shutdowns, war and geopolitical conflicts, natural disasters,
infectious disease outbreaks and pandemics; our need for and the availability of additional capital; and
cybersecurity risks. Forward-looking statements are based upon various estimates and assumptions, as well
as information known to us as of the date hereof, and are subject to risks and uncertainties.

Additional risks and uncertainties that could affect our financial results and business are more fully detailed in
our filings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), including our most recent Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, and other SEC filings, which are available on our
investor relations website at investors.archer.com and on the SEC website at www.sec.gov.

All forward-looking statements contained herein are based on information available to us as of the date hereof
and you should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. The events and
circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements may not be achieved or occur. Although we believe
that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future
results, performance, or achievements. We undertake no obligation to update any of these forward-looking
statements for any reason after the date of this Proxy Statement or to conform these statements to actual
results or revised expectations, except as required by law. Undue reliance should not be placed on
forward-looking statements.

2024 Proxy Statement 4
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PROXY SUMMARY:

This summary highlights information contained elsewhere in this Proxy Statement. This summary does not
contain all of the information that you should consider, and you should read the entire Proxy Statement
carefully before voting. Page references are supplied to help you find further information in this Proxy
Statement.

References in this Proxy Statement to (i) “we,” “us,” “our,” “ours,” “Archer” and the “company” refer to Archer
Aviation Inc. prior to the business combination and to Archer Aviation Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries
after the closing of the business combination, and (ii) “stockholders” refers to holders of our Class A common
stock and/or Class B common stock unless the context requires otherwise. References to “Legacy Archer”
refer to Archer Aviation Inc. prior to the business combination. References to “business combination” refer to
the transactions contemplated by that certain business combination agreement, dated February 10, 2021, as
amended and restated on July 29, 2021, by and among Atlas Crest Investment Corp. (“Atlas”), Legacy Archer
and Artemis Acquisition Sub Inc., a Delaware corporation and a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of Atlas
(“Merger Sub”), whereby Merger Sub merged with and into Legacy Archer, which survived the merger as a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Atlas. Following the consummation of the business combination, Legacy Archer
changed its name to Archer Aviation Operating Corp., and Atlas changed its name to Archer Aviation Inc. and
it became the successor registrant with the SEC.

MEETING INFORMATION:

Your vote is important. Please submit your proxy as soon as possible (see “Voting Instructions; Voting of
Proxies” on page 13 for voting instructions).

VIRTUAL MEETING

MEETING DATE RECORD DATE MEETING TIME ACCESS
Friday, June 21, 2024 Monday, April 22,2024 12:00 p.m. Pacific www.virtualshareholderm
Time eeting.com/ACHR2024

using your 16-digit control
number included on your
Notice of Internet
Availability of  Proxy
Materials or on your proxy

card
VOTING METHODS:
You may vote in advance of the virtual meeting using one of these voting methods:
VIA THE INTERNET CALL TOLL FREE MAIL SIGNED AND DATED PROXY CARD
WWW.proxyvote.com Follow instructions If you received paper materials, mail to: Vote
shown on proxy card Processing, c/o Broadridge Financial Solutions, Inc.

51 Mercedes Way, Edgewood, New York 11717

2024 Proxy Statement 5
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VOTING AGENDA /VOTING MATTERS:

BOARD

PROPOSAL RECOMMENDATION PAGE REFERENCE
Proposal 1 Election of directors For All Nominees 26
named in this Proxy
Statement
Proposal 2 Ratification of the For 37

appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP as our independent
registered

public accounting firm for
the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2024

Proposal 3 Advisory vote on the For 39
compensation of our
named executive officers

Proposal 4 Advisory vote on the One year 40
frequency of future
advisory votes on the
compensation of our
named executive officers

Proposal 5 Approval of an For 41
amendment to our
amended and restated
certificate of incorporation

ABOUT US:

We are designing and developing electric vertical takeoff and landing (“eVTOL”) aircraft for use in urban air
mobility (“UAM”) networks. Our eVTOL aircraft are designed to be safe, sustainable, and quiet. Our
production aircraft, Midnight, which we unveiled in November of 2022, is designed around our proprietary
12-tilt-6 aircraft configuration. This means that it has 12 propellers attached to 6 booms on a fixed wing with all
12 propellers providing vertical lift during take-off and landing and the forward 6 propellers tilting forward to
cruise position to provide propulsion during forward flight with the wing providing aerodynamic lift like a
conventional airplane.

Midnight is designed to carry 4 passengers plus a pilot and is optimized for back-to-back short distance trips
of around 20-miles, with minimal charging time in between trips. We are working to certify Midnight with the
Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA”) so that we can then enter into commercial service as soon as
possible. In August 2023, we received the Special Airworthiness Certificate from the FAA for our first Midnight
aircraft and began its flight testing program in October 2023.

The design of Midnight marries what we believe to be cutting-edge electric propulsion technology with
state-of-the-art aircraft systems to deliver the key attributes of our eVTOL aircraft:

e Safety. High redundancy and simplified propulsion systems make for a significantly safer aircraft
compared to a helicopter.

2024 Proxy Statement 6
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e Low noise. With its intended cruising altitude at approximately 2,000 feet, the design of Midnight is
such that the noise that reaches the ground is expected to measure around 45 A-weighted decibels,
approximately 100 times quieter than that of a helicopter.

e Sustainable. Midnight is all electric, resulting in zero operating emissions.

We continue to work to optimize our eVTOL aircraft design for both manufacturing and certification. The
development of an eVTOL aircraft that meets our business requirements demands significant design and
development efforts on all facets of the aircraft. We believe that by bringing together a mix of talent with
eVTOL, traditional commercial aerospace, as well as electric propulsion backgrounds, we have built a team
that helps us to move through the design, development, and certification of our eVTOL aircraft with the FAA in
an efficient manner all in support of our end goal of bringing to market our eVTOL aircraft as efficiently as
possible.

GOVERNANCE & BOARD HIGHLIGHTS:

We are committed to good corporate governance, which strengthens the accountability of our board of
directors and promotes the long-term interests of our stockholders. Some highlights of our governance and
independent board practices are listed below:

—  Majority of directors are independent (6 out of 7 current directors).

— Board of directors leadership structure with a Lead Independent Director that has been appointed by a
majority of our independent directors. Our Lead Independent Director has well defined rights and
responsibilities.

—  Allboard committees are composed of independent directors.

— Comprehensive risk oversight practices, including internal controls, cybersecurity, legal and regulatory
matters, compensation, and other critical evolving areas.

— Board of directors is focused on building a robust environmental, social and governance (“ESG”)
program, which will be overseen by our nominating and corporate governance committee.

— Independent directors conduct regular executive sessions.

— Directors maintain open communication and strong working relationships among themselves and have
regular access to management.

— Board of directors has related party transaction standards for any direct or indirect involvement of a
director in the company’s business activities.

—  Prohibitions against director, officer, and employee hedging and shorting of Archer common stock, and,
except in limited circumstances, pledging Archer common stock.

- We have adopted and administer a robust Compensation Recovery Policy, which applies to our executive
officers.

— Each director attended at least 75% of the meetings of the board of directors and committees on which
he or she served in 2023.

— None of our directors are considered “overboarded.”

—  Five of our seven directors are ethnically diverse and/or women and 50% of our board of directors and
committee leadership positions are held by women.

COMPENSATION PHILOSOPHY & HIGHLIGHTS:

We strive to design our executive compensation program to balance the goals of attracting, motivating,
rewarding, and retaining our executive officers, including our named executive officers, with the goal of
promoting the interests of our stockholders. Our executive compensation policies and practices are designed
to ensure that our compensation program is consistent with our short-term and long-term goals and include:

— anindependent compensation committee;

— engagement by our compensation committee of an independent compensation consultant;
— annual executive compensation review;

2024 Proxy Statement 7
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— at-risk compensation;

—  benchmarking;

— multi-year vesting requirements;

- pay-for-performance philosophy; and

- “double-trigger” change in control arrangements.

We structured the annual compensation of our executive officers for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2023
(“Fiscal 2023”), including our named executive officers, using three principal elements: base salary, annual
cash bonus opportunities, and long-term incentive compensation opportunities in the form of equity awards.
Our primary goals are to align the interests of executive officers and stockholders and link pay to performance.

2024 Proxy Statement 8



(Ilh ARCHER

Our Board of Directors
and Nominees

ADAM GOLDSTEIN
Co-Founder, CEO & Director
(Nominee for re-election)

AGE: 44

SINCE: September 2021

BARBARA PILARSKI
Director, Member of the Nominating
and Corporate Governance
Committee

AGE: 60

SINCE: January 2022

DEBORAH DIAZ

Director, Chairperson,
Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee and
Member of the Audit Committee

AGE: 66

SINCE: September 2021

MARIA PINELLI

Director, Chairperson,
Audit Committee and Member of
the Compensation Committee

AGE: 61

SINCE: September 2021

FRED M. DIAZ

Lead Independent Director,
Chairperson, Compensation
Committee and Member of the
Audit Committee

AGE: 58

SINCE: September 2021

= ‘

MICHAEL SPELLACY

Director, Member of the
Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee

AGE: 52

SINCE: September 2021

OSCAR MUNOZ

Director, Member of the
Compensation Committee
(Nominee for re-election)
AGE: 65

SINCE: September 2021

2024 Proxy Statement 9
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ARCHER AVIATION INC.
190 W. Tasman Drive
San Jose, California 95134

INFORMATION ABOUT SOLICITATION AND VOTING:

The accompanying proxy is solicited on behalf of the board of directors of Archer Aviation Inc. for use at our
2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held virtually at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/ACHR2024
on Friday, June 21, 2024 at 12:00 p.m. Pacific Time, and any adjournment or postponement thereof. The
Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials and this Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting and the
accompanying form of proxy were first distributed and made available on the Internet to stockholders on or
about April 29, 2024. An annual report for Fiscal 2023 is available with this Proxy Statement by following the
instructions in the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials. References to our websites in this Proxy
Statement are not intended to function as hyperlinks and the information contained on our websites is not
intended to be incorporated into this Proxy Statement.

INTERNET AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS:

In accordance with SEC rules, we are using the Internet as our primary means of furnishing proxy materials to
stockholders. Consequently, most stockholders will not receive paper copies of our proxy materials. We will
instead send these stockholders a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials with instructions for
accessing the proxy materials, including our Proxy Statement and annual report, and voting via the Internet.
The Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials also provides information on how stockholders may
obtain paper copies of our proxy materials if they so choose. We believe this rule makes the proxy distribution
process more efficient, less costly, and helps in conserving natural resources.

GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING:

PURPOSE OF THE ANNUAL MEETING

You are receiving this Proxy Statement because our board of directors is soliciting your proxy to vote your
shares at the Annual Meeting with respect to the proposals described in this Proxy Statement. This Proxy
Statement includes information that we are required to provide to you pursuant to the rules and regulations of
the SEC and is designed to assist you in voting your shares.

RECORD DATE: QUORUM

Only holders of record of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock at the close of business on
Monday, April 22, 2024 (the “Record Date”) will be entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. At the close of
business on the Record Date, we had 284,198,214 shares of Class A common stock and 38,254,915 shares
of Class B common stock outstanding and entitled to vote. At the close of business on the Record Date, our
directors and executive officers and their respective affiliates beneficially owned and were entitled to vote
3,7676,666 shares of Class A common stock and 34,217,931 shares of Class B common stock at the Annual
Meeting, or approximately 51.89% of the combined voting power of all shares of our common stock of all
classes issued and outstanding on the Record Date. For ten days prior to the Annual Meeting, a complete list
of the stockholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting will be available for examination by any stockholder
for any purpose relating to the Annual Meeting during ordinary business hours at our headquarters, at 190 W.
Tasman Drive, San Jose, California 95134.

2024 Proxy Statement 10
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The holders of a majority of the voting power of the outstanding shares of our common stock entitled to vote at
the Annual Meeting as of the Record Date must be present at the Annual Meeting in order to hold the Annual
Meeting and conduct business. This presence is called a quorum. Your shares are counted as present at the
Annual Meeting if you are present and vote in person at the Annual Meeting or if you have properly submitted
a proxy.

VOTING RIGHTS: REQUIRED VOTE

In deciding all matters at the Annual Meeting, as of the close of business on the Record Date, each share of
Class A common stock represents one vote and each share of Class B common stock represents ten votes.
We do not have cumulative voting rights for the election of directors. You may vote all shares owned by you as
of the Record Date, including (i) shares held directly in your name as the stockholder of record and (ii) shares
held for you as the beneficial owner in street name through a broker, bank, trustee, or other nominee. There
are no dissenter or appraisal rights relating to the matters to be acted upon at the Annual Meeting.

Stockholder of Record: Shares Registered in Your Name. If, on the Record Date, your shares were
registered directly in your name with our transfer agent, Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, then
you are considered the stockholder of record with respect to those shares. As a stockholder of record, you
may vote at the Annual Meeting or vote by telephone, through the Internet or, if you request or receive paper
proxy materials, by filling out and returning by U.S. mail a signed and dated proxy card.

Beneficial Owner: Shares Registered in the Name of a Broker or Nominee. If, on the Record Date, your
shares were held in an account with a brokerage firm, bank, or other nominee, then you are the beneficial
owner of the shares held in street name. As a beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your nominee on
how to vote the shares held in your account, and your nominee will provide voting instructions for you to use in
directing it on how to vote your shares. However, the organization that holds your shares is considered the
stockholder of record for purposes of voting at the Annual Meeting. Because you are not the stockholder of
record, you may not vote your shares directly at the Annual Meeting unless you request and obtain a valid
proxy from the organization that holds your shares giving you the right to vote the shares at the Annual
Meeting.

Each director will be elected by a plurality of the votes present and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. You
may vote “FOR ALL NOMINEES,” “WITHHOLD AUTHORITY FOR ALL NOMINEES,” or vote “FOR ALL
EXCEPT” one or more of the nominees you specify. Ratification of the appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2024, will be obtained if the number of votes present or represented by proxy and voting “FOR”
the proposal at the Annual Meeting exceeds the number of votes “AGAINST” the proposal. Approval, on a
non-binding advisory basis, of the compensation of our named executive officers will be obtained if the
number of votes cast “FOR” the proposal at the Annual Meeting exceeds the number of votes “AGAINST” the
proposal. Stockholders have four options with respect to the non-binding advisory vote on the frequency of
future advisory votes on the compensation of our named executive officers. You may vote for holding the
non-binding advisory vote to approve the compensation of our named executive officers every “ONE YEAR,”
“TWO YEARS,” or “THREE YEARS,” or vote for “ABSTAIN.” The frequency receiving the greatest number of
votes cast by stockholders at the Annual Meeting will be deemed to be the preferred frequency option of our
stockholders. Approval of the amendment to our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to limit
the liability of certain officers will be obtained if the holders of a majority of the voting power of the shares of
our outstanding Class A common stock and Class B common stock, voting together as a single class, vote
“FOR” the proposal at the Annual Meeting.

2024 Proxy Statement 11
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RECOMMENDATIONS OF OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS ON EACH OF THE PROPOSAL HEDULED
TO BE VOTED ON AT THE ANNUAL MEETING

BOARD PAGE
PROPOSAL RECOMMENDATION REFERENCE
Proposal 1 Election of directors named in this Proxy For All Nominees 26
Statement
Proposal 2 Ratification of the appointment of For 37

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our
independent registered public accounting firm
for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2024

Proposal 3 Approval, on a non-binding advisory basis, of the For 39
compensation of our named executive officers

Proposal 4 Approval, on a non-binding advisory basis, of One Year 40
the frequency of future non-binding advisory
votes on the compensation of our named
executive officers

Proposal 5 Approval of an amendment to our Amended and For 41
Restated Certificate of Incorporation to limit the
liability of certain of our officers as permitted
pursuant to the Delaware General Corporation
Law

None of our directors have any substantial interest in any matter to be acted upon except Proposal No. 1 with
respect to the directors so nominated. None of our executive officers have any substantial interest in any
matter to be acted upon other than Proposal No. 3, Proposal No. 4 and Proposal No. 5.

ABSTENTIONS; WITHHOLD VOTES; BROKER NON-VOTES

Abstentions occur when shares present at the Annual Meeting are marked “Abstain.” Under Delaware law,
abstentions are counted as present and entitled to vote for purposes of determining whether a quorum is
present. At the Annual Meeting, pursuant to Delaware law and the terms of our amended and restated
certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, abstentions and, with respect to Proposal No.
1, proxies marked “withhold authority”, will have no effect on Proposal No. 1, Proposal No. 2, Proposal No. 3
or Proposal No. 4 and will have the same effect as a vote “Against” on Proposal No. 5.

Broker non-votes occur when shares held by a broker for a beneficial owner are not voted because the broker
did not receive voting instructions from the beneficial owner and lacked discretionary authority to vote the
shares. Under Delaware law, broker non-votes are counted as present and entitled to vote for purposes of
determining whether a quorum is present. However, brokers have limited discretionary authority to vote
shares that are beneficially owned. While a broker is entitled to vote shares held for a beneficial owner on
“routine” matters without instructions from the beneficial owner of those shares, absent instructions from the
beneficial owner of such shares, a broker is not entitled to vote shares held for a beneficial owner on
“non-routine” matters. At our Annual Meeting, only Proposal No. 2 is considered a routine matter and brokers
have discretionary authority to vote shares that are beneficially owned on Proposal No. 2. If a broker chooses
not to vote shares for or against Proposal No. 2, it will have the same effect as an abstention. The other
proposals presented at the Annual Meeting are non-routine matters and therefore broker non-votes are not
deemed to be shares entitled to vote on and will have no effect on Proposal No. 1, Proposal No. 2, Proposal
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No. 3 or Proposal No. 4 and will have the same effect as a vote “Against” on Proposal No. 5. Accordingly, we
encourage you to provide voting instructions to your broker, whether or not you plan to attend the Annual

Meeting.

VOTING INSTRUCTIONS:; VOTING OF PROXIES

VIATHE INTERNET

You may vote via the virtual
meeting website—any
stockholder can attend the
Annual Meeting by visiting
www.virtualshareholdermeeting.c
om/ACHR2024, where
stockholders may vote and
submit questions during the
meeting. The meeting starts at
12:00 p.m. Pacific Time. Please
have your 16-Digit Control
Number to join the Annual
Meeting. Instructions on how to
attend and participate via the
Internet, including how to
demonstrate proof of stock
ownership, are posted at
WWW.proxyvote.com.

CALL TOLL FREE

You may vote by telephone—in
order to do so, please follow the
instructions shown on your
Notice of Internet Availability of
Proxy Materials or proxy card.

MAIL SIGNED PROXY CARD

You may vote by mail—if you
request or receive a paper proxy
card and voting instructions by
mail, simply complete, sign, and
date the enclosed proxy card and
promptly return it in the envelope
provided or, if the envelope is
missing, please mail your
completed proxy card to Vote
Processing, c/o Broadridge
Financial Solutions, Inc., 51
Mercedes Way, Edgewood, New
York 11717. Your completed,
signed, and dated proxy card
must be received prior to the
Annual Meeting.

Votes submitted by telephone or through the Internet must be received by 8:59 p.m. Pacific Time / 11:59 p.m.
Eastern Time on Thursday, June 20, 2024. Submitting your proxy, whether by telephone, through the Internet
or, if you request or receive a paper proxy card, by mail will not affect your right to vote in person should you
decide to attend the Annual Meeting. If you are not the stockholder of record, please refer to the voting
instructions provided by your nominee to direct your nominee on how to vote your shares. Your vote is
important. Whether or not you plan to attend the Annual Meeting, we urge you to vote by proxy to ensure that

your vote is counted.

All proxies will be voted in accordance with the instructions specified on the signed proxy card. If you sign a
physical proxy card and return it without instructions as to how your shares should be voted on a particular
proposal at the Annual Meeting, your shares will be voted in accordance with the recommendations of our

board of directors stated above.

If you do not vote and you hold your shares in street name, and your broker does not have discretionary power
to vote your shares, your shares may constitute “broker non-votes” (as described above) and will not be
counted in determining the number of shares necessary for approval of the proposals. However, broker
non-votes will be counted for the purpose of establishing a quorum for the Annual Meeting.

If you receive more than one proxy card, this is because your shares are registered in more than one name or
are registered in different accounts. To make certain all of your shares are voted, please follow the instructions
included on each Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials or proxy card and vote each Notice of
Internet Availability of Proxy Materials or proxy card by telephone, through the Internet, or by mail. If you
requested or received paper proxy materials and you intend to vote by mail, please complete, sign, and return
each proxy card you received to ensure that all of your shares are voted.

We strongly recommend that you vote your shares in advance of the meeting as instructed above, even if you
plan to attend the Annual Meeting virtually.
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REVOCABILITY OF PROXIES

A stockholder of record who has given a proxy may revoke it at any time before it is exercised at the Annual
Meeting by:

— delivering to our Secretary by mail a written notice stating that the proxy is revoked;

— signing and delivering a proxy bearing a later date;

— voting again by telephone or through the Internet; or

— attending virtually and voting during the Annual Meeting (although attendance at the Annual Meeting will
not, by itself, revoke a proxy).

Please note, however, that if your shares are held of record by a broker, bank, or other nominee and you wish
to revoke a proxy, you must contact that firm to revoke any prior voting instructions.

EXPENSES OF SOLICITING PROXIES

We will pay the expenses of soliciting proxies, including preparation, assembly, printing, and mailing of this
Proxy Statement, the proxy, and any other information furnished to stockholders. Following the original
mailing of the soliciting materials, we and our agents, including directors, officers, and other employees,
without additional compensation, may solicit proxies by mail, email, telephone, facsimile, by other similar
means, or in person. Following the original mailing of the soliciting materials, we will request brokers,
custodians, nominees, and other record holders to forward copies of the soliciting materials to persons for
whom they hold shares and to request authority for the exercise of proxies. In such cases, we, upon the
request of the record holders, will reimburse such holders for their reasonable expenses. If you choose to
access the proxy materials or vote through the Internet, you are responsible for any Internet access charges
you may incur.

VOTING RESULT

Voting results will be tabulated and certified by the inspector of elections appointed for the Annual Meeting.
The preliminary voting results will be announced at the Annual Meeting. The final results will be tallied by the
inspector of elections and filed with the SEC in a current report on Form 8-K within four business days of the
Annual Meeting.

PARTICIPATING IN THE ANNUAL MEETING

To participate in the virtual meeting, visit www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/ACHR2024 and enter the
16-digit Control Number included on your proxy card or on the instructions that accompanied your proxy
materials. Beneficial stockholders who do not have a control number may gain access to the meeting by
logging into their broker, brokerage firm, bank, or other nominee’s website and selecting the shareholder
communications mailbox to link through to the meeting. Instructions should also be provided on the voting
instruction card provided by your broker, bank, or other nominee.

As part of the Annual Meeting, we will hold a live QGA session, during which we intend to answer appropriate
questions submitted during the meeting and that relate to the matters to be voted on at the Annual Meeting. If
you wish to submit germane questions prior to the Annual Meeting, please visit
www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/ACHR2024 and follow the instructions on your Notice of Internet
Availability of Proxy Materials or proxy card. If you wish to submit a question during the Annual Meeting, log
into the virtual meeting platform at the link provided in the paragraph above, type your question into the “Ask a
Question” field, and click “Submit.” Our Annual Meeting, including the Q& A session, will be conducted in
accordance with the “Rules of Conduct,” which will be available on our Annual Meeting web portal. If your
question is germane to the business of the Annual Meeting and properly submitted during the relevant portion
of the meeting agenda pursuant to the “Rules of Conduct,” we will seek to respond to your question during the
live webcast, subject to time constraints. To provide access to all stockholders, each stockholder will be
limited to two questions, and if multiple questions are submitted on the same subject, we may consolidate
them for a single response to avoid repetition. We reserve the right to exclude questions that are irrelevant to
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the proposals that are the subject of the Annual Meeting or irrelevant to the business of Archer, or derogatory
or in bad taste; that relate to pending or threatened litigation; that are personal grievances; or that are
otherwise inappropriate (as determined by the Secretary of the Annual Meeting). Only validated stockholders
or proxy holders will be able to ask questions in the designated field on the web portal. A webcast replay of the
Annual Meeting, including the Q&A Session, will be archived on the virtual meeting platform until the date of
the 2025 annual meeting of stockholders.

If we experience technical difficulties during the meeting (e.g., a temporary or prolonged power outage), we
will determine whether the meeting can be promptly reconvened (if the technical difficulty is temporary) or
whether the meeting will need to be reconvened on a later day (if the technical difficulty is more prolonged). In
any such situation, we will promptly notify stockholders of the decision. If you encounter technical difficulties
accessing our meeting or asking questions during the meeting, please contact the support line noted on the
login page of the virtual meeting website.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE:

We are strongly committed to good corporate governance practices. These practices provide an important
framework within which our board of directors and management can pursue our strategic objectives for the
benefit of our stockholders.

INDEPENDENCE OF DIRECTORS

The listing rules of the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) generally require that a majority of the members
of a listed company’s board of directors be independent. In addition, the listing rules generally require that,
subject to specified exceptions, each member of our audit, compensation, and nominating and corporate
governance committees be independent.

In addition, audit committee members must also satisfy the independence criteria set forth in Rule 10A-3
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). In order to be considered
independent for purposes of Rule 10A-3, a member of an audit committee of a listed company may not, other
than in their capacity as a member of the audit committee, the board of directors, or any other board
committee accept, directly or indirectly, any consulting, advisory, or other compensatory fee from the listed
company or any of its subsidiaries; or be an affiliated person of the listed company or any of its subsidiaries.

Our board of directors performs an annual review of the independence of our directors based, in part, on the
review of information by our management and outside legal counsel. In our most recent review, we
determined that Deborah Diaz, Fred M. Diaz, Oscar Munoz, Barbara Pilarski, Maria Pinelli, and Michael
Spellacy, representing six of our seven directors, are “independent directors” as defined under the applicable
rules, regulations, and listing standards of NYSE and the applicable rules and regulations promulgated by the
SEC. We also determined that all members of our audit committee, compensation committee, and
nominating and corporate governance committee are independent and satisfy the relevant SEC and NYSE
independence requirements for such committees.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND COMMITTEE SELF-EVALUATIONS

Throughout the year, our board of directors discusses corporate governance practices with management and
third-party advisors to ensure that the board of directors and its committees follow practices that are optimal
for the company and its stockholders. Based on an evaluation process recommended and overseen by our
nominating and corporate governance committee pursuant to the committee’s authority set forth in its charter,
the board of directors conducts an annual self-evaluation, including an evaluation of each committee and the
contributions of individual directors, in order to determine whether the board and its committees are
functioning effectively. The results of the annual self-evaluation are reviewed and addressed by the
nominating and corporate governance committee and then by the full board of directors.

BOARD LEADERSHIP STRUCTURE

Our Corporate Governance Guidelines provide our board of directors with flexibility to select the appropriate
board leadership structure depending on what the board of directors determines is in the best interests of our
stockholders at a given time. In making leadership structure determinations, the board of directors considers
many factors, including the specific needs of the business and what is in the best interests of our
stockholders. We do not currently have a Chairperson of the board of directors. Fred M. Diaz, an independent
member of our board of directors, currently serves as our Lead Independent Director. While we do not have a
Chairperson, our Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”), who is responsible for the day-to-day leadership,
management, direction and performance of the company, presides over our board meetings until we appoint a
Chairperson. Our Lead Independent Director is responsible for coordinating the activities of the independent
directors, including:
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—  presiding at all meetings of the board of directors at which the CEO is not present or when the
performance of our board of directors or CEQO is discussed;

— acting as a liaison between the independent directors and the CEO;

— convening meetings of the independent directors as appropriate;

— consulting with the CEOQ in planning and setting schedules and agendas for meetings of the board of
directors;

— being available for consultation and direct communication with stockholders as appropriate; and

—  performing such other functions as the board of directors may delegate.

Our board of directors believes that its independence and oversight of management is maintained effectively
through this leadership structure, the composition of our board of directors, and sound corporate governance
policies and practices. Our board of directors will regularly review its leadership structure and composition,
along with its policies and practices, as our company grows and evolves. Changes in the leadership structure
of our board of directors are reflected on our website shortly after becoming effective and disclosed with
applicable regulatory requirements.

EXECUTIVE SESSIONS OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

In order to encourage and enhance communication among independent directors and as required by the
NYSE, our independent directors meet in regularly scheduled executive sessions on a quarterly basis, which
are presided by Mr. Diaz, our Lead independent Director, and at which only independent directors are present.
Our board of directors believes that executive sessions foster open and frank communication among the
independent directors, which will ultimately add to the effectiveness of our board of directors, as a whole.

COMMITTEES OF OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Our board of directors has established an audit committee, a compensation committee, and a nominating and
corporate governance committee. Directors serve on these committees until their resignations, deaths, or
until otherwise determined by our board of directors. The composition and responsibilities of each committee
are described below.

NOMINATING AND

aDITooMMITTEE  CQMPENSATON - comromaTe
COMMITTEE
Deborah Diaz [ ] [ ]
Fred M. Diaz [ ] [ ]
Oscar Munoz [ ]
Barbara Pilarski [ ]
Maria Pinelli [ ] [ ]
Michael Spellacy ]
Number of meetings 9 7 4

@ Committee Member @ Committee Chair
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Each of these committees has a written charter approved by our board of directors. Copies of the charters for
each committee are available, without charge, upon request in writing to Archer Aviation Inc., 190 W. Tasman
Drive, San Jose, California 95134, Attn: Legal, or on our investor relations website at investors.archer.com, by
clicking on “Governance Documents” in the “Corporate Governance” section.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Our audit committee is composed of Ms. Pinelli, who is the chairperson of our audit committee, and Ms. Diaz
and Mr. Diaz. Each member of our audit committee is independent under the current NYSE and SEC rules
and regulations. Each member of our audit committee is financially literate as required by the current NYSE
listing standards. Our board of directors has also determined that Ms. Pinelli is an “audit committee financial
expert” as defined in Item 407(d)(5)(ii) of Regulation S-K promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”). This designation does not impose any duties, obligations, or liabilities that are
greater than those generally imposed on members of our audit committee and our board of directors. Our
audit committee is responsible for, among other things:

—  reviewing and discussing with management our quarterly and annual financial results, earnings
guidance, and earnings press releases prior to distribution to the public;

— selecting, appointing, compensating and overseeing the work of the independent registered public
accounting firm;

— reviewing the qualification, performance and continuing independence of the independent registered
public accounting firm;

— discussing the scope and results of the audit with the independent registered public accounting firm and
reviewing, with management and that firm, our interim and annual financial results;

—  establishing procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by us regarding
accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters, and for the confidential and anonymous
submission by our employees of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters;

— overseeing our internal audit function;

— overseeing and considering the effectiveness of our internal controls;

— reviewing proposed waivers of the code of conduct for directors, executive officers, and employees (with
waivers for directors or executive officers to be approved by the board of directors);

—  reviewing with management the company’s significant risks, reviewing our policies for risk assessment
and risk management, and steps management has taken to monitor or mitigate these risks;

— overseeing our risk assessment and management, including with respect to risks and incidents related to
cybersecurity;

- reviewing and approving or ratifying related party transactions that are material or otherwise implicate
disclosure requirements; and

— approving or, as permitted, pre-approving all audit and non-audit services to be performed by the
independent registered public accounting firm.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

Our compensation committee is composed of Mr. Diaz, who is the chairperson of our compensation
committee, Mr. Munoz and Ms. Pinelli. Each member of our compensation committee is independent under
the current NYSE and SEC rules and regulations. Each member of this committee is a non-employee director,
as defined in Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act. Our compensation committee is responsible
for, among other things:

— reviewing and approving the compensation and the terms of any compensatory agreements of our
executive officers;

— reviewing and recommending to our board of directors the compensation of our non-employee directors;

— reviewing and approving the selection of our peer companies for compensation assessment purposes;

— administering our equity incentive compensation plans;
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—  reviewing our compensation-related risk exposures and management’s mitigation measures;

— reviewing succession plans for senior management positions, including our CEOQ;

—  reviewing and approving, or making recommendations to our board of directors, with respect to, incentive
compensation and equity plans; and

— establishing our overall compensation philosophy.

NOMINATING AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Our nominating and corporate governance committee is composed of Ms. Diaz, who is the chairperson of the
nominating and corporate governance committee, and Ms. Pilarski and Mr. Spellacy. Each member of our
nominating and corporate governance committee is independent under the current NYSE and SEC rules and
regulations. Our nominating and corporate governance committee is responsible for, among other things:

— identifying and recommending candidates for membership on our board of directors;

— recommending directors to serve on board committees;

— advising the board on certain corporate governance matters;

— developing policies regarding director nomination processes, if and as the committee determines it
appropriate to have such policies;

—  establishing procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by us regarding
violations of company policies or law, including the confidential and anonymous submission by our
employees of concerns regarding any conduct that may violate company policies or law;

— developing and overseeing any program relating to corporate responsibility and sustainability, including
environmental, social, and corporate governance matters and related risks, controls, and procedures;
and

— overseeing the evaluation of our board of directors and its committees.

OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ ROLE IN RISK OVERSIGHT

Our board of directors, as a whole, has responsibility for overseeing our risk management process, although
the committees of our board of directors oversee and review risk areas that are particularly relevant to them.

Each committee of our board of directors meets with key management personnel and representatives of
outside advisors to oversee risks associated with their respective principal areas of focus, as described below.
We believe this division of responsibilities is an effective approach for addressing the risks we face and that
our board leadership structure supports this approach. The audit committee reviews our processes and
policies on risk identification, management and assessment in all areas of our business, with a focus on our
policies and other matters relating to our investments, cash management and foreign exchange
management, major financial risk exposures, the adequacy and effectiveness of our cybersecurity and other
information security policies and practices and the internal controls regarding information security, and the
steps taken by management to monitor and mitigate or otherwise control these exposures and to identify
future risks. The compensation committee reviews major compensation- and human capital-related risk
exposures and the steps management has taken to monitor or mitigate such exposures. It also evaluates the
efficacy of our compensation policy and strategy in achieving gender pay parity, positive social impact and
attracting a diverse workforce. The nominating and corporate governance committee reviews and assesses
risks relating to our corporate governance practices, reviews and assesses our performance, risks, controls,
and procedures relating to corporate responsibility and sustainability, including ESG, reviews the
independence of our board of directors, and reviews and discusses our board of directors’ leadership
structure and role in risk oversight.

Our board of directors also reviews strategic, operational, compliance and financial risk in the context of
discussions, question and answer sessions, and reports from the management team at each regular board
meeting, receives reports on all significant committee activities at each regular board meeting, and evaluates
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the risks inherent in significant transactions. The risk oversight responsibility of our board of directors and its
committees is supported by management level committees.

Cybersecurity Risk Oversight. Securing the information of our employees, vendors, and other third parties
is important to us. We have adopted certain physical, technological, and administrative controls on data
security. While everyone at our company plays a part in managing these risks, oversight responsibility is
shared by our board of directors, our audit committee, and management. Our Chief Information Officer
reports cybersecurity risks to the audit committee on a quarterly basis. In addition, our management team
updates the audit committee, as necessary, regarding any material cybersecurity threats or incidents, as well
as any incidents with lesser impact potential. Key performance indicators and security metrics are shared with
the audit committee and defined to measure the effectiveness of our cybersecurity controls and risk
management efforts, current threat landscape, and annual strategy. We strategically partner with industry
leading external vendors to perform cybersecurity assessments, as well as regular penetration testing to
better understand our potential vulnerabilities, threat vectors, and impact on critical assets or operations. As
part of these processes, our cybersecurity team identifies and prioritizes risks to devise our annual
cybersecurity mitigation strategy and address operational risks. For additional information relating to our
Cybersecurity Risk Oversight, please see the section titled “Cybersecurity” in our most recent Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Management Succession Planning. Our board of directors recognizes that one of its most important duties
is its oversight of succession planning for our CEO and other executive officers. Our board of directors has
delegated primary oversight responsibility for succession planning for our CEO and our other executive
officers to the nominating and corporate governance committee. Our board of directors continues to regularly
evaluate its succession planning to ensure that we are well-positioned to continue to execute on our corporate
strategy.

Oversight of Corporate Strategy. Our board of directors actively oversees management’s establishment
and execution of corporate strategy, including major business and organizational initiatives, annual budget
and long-term strategic plans, capital allocation priorities, potential corporate development opportunities, and
risk management. At its regularly scheduled meetings and throughout the year, our board of directors receives
information and formal updates from our management and actively engages with the senior leadership team
with respect to our corporate strategy. Our board of directors’ diverse skill set and experience enhances our
board of directors’ ability to support management in the execution and evaluation of our corporate strategy.
The independent members of our board of directors also hold regularly scheduled executive sessions at
which strategy is discussed.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS AND INSIDER PARTICIPATION

The members of our compensation committee during the last fiscal year (i.e., 2023) included Mr. Diaz, who is
the chairperson of our compensation committee, Mr. Munoz and Ms. Pinelli. None of the members of our
compensation committee during the last fiscal year have been an officer or employee of ours or any of our
subsidiaries, and none had or have any relationships with us that are required to be disclosed under the
Exchange Act, or Regulation S-K. During the last fiscal year, none of our executive officers served as a
member of the board of directors, or as a member of the compensation or similar committee of any entity that
has one or more executive officers who served on our board of directors or compensation committee.

ANTI-HEDGING AND PLEDGING

We have established an insider trading policy, which, among other things, prohibits all employees, including
our officers, and non-employee directors from engaging in short sales or transactions in publicly-traded
options (such as puts and calls) and other derivative securities relating to our common stock, hedging or
engaging in a similar transaction designed to decrease the risks associated with holding our securities,
pledging any of our securities without prior approval from our General Counsel, and holding any of our
securities in a margin account.
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COMPENSATION RECOVERY POLICY

Our Board of Directors determined that it is in the Company’s best interests to ensure that all
performance-based cash compensation and equity awards reflect actual performance. Consistent with such
determination, our Board of Directors has adopted a Compensation Recovery Policy, effective November 1,
2023, in accordance with Rule 10D-1 of the Exchange Act and The New York Stock Exchange listing
standards (the “Compensation Recovery Policy”).

Our Compensation Recovery Policy is administered by our Compensation Committee and enables the
Company to recover from specified current and former Company’s executives certain incentive-based
compensation in the event of an accounting restatement resulting from material noncompliance with any
financial reporting requirements under the federal securities laws. Our Compensation Recovery Policy covers
current and former executive officers, including all officers for purposes of Section 16 of the Exchange Act and
applies to their incentive-based cash compensation, that is granted, earned or vested based wholly or in part
on the attainment of any Company financial reporting measure.

If the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement due to material noncompliance with any
financial reporting requirement under the securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to
correct an error in previously issued financial statements that is material to the previously issued financial
statements, or that would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or
left uncorrected in the current period, the Compensation Committee shall require any executive officer
covered by our Compensation Recovery Policy to reimburse or forfeit to the Company the amount of
incentive-based compensation received by such executive officer based on the financial statements prior to
the restatement that exceeds the amount such executive officer would have received had the incentive-based
compensation been determined based on the financial restatement. The Compensation Committee will not
consider the executive officer’s responsibility or fault or lack thereof in enforcing our Compensation Recovery
Policy to recoup the amount described above. In addition, if the Compensation Committee determines that
the executive officer engaged in any fraud or intentional misconduct that materially contributes to or causes
economic loss to the Company, this may be independently considered a triggering event for clawing back
incentive compensation, and the Company will use reasonable efforts to recover from such executive officer
up to 100% of the incentive-based compensation received by such executive officer. In addition, if the
Compensation Committee determines that the executive officer engaged in any fraud or intentional
misconduct that materially contributes to or causes economic loss to the Company, this may be
independently considered a triggering event for clawing back incentive compensation, and the Company will
use reasonable efforts to recover from such executive officer up to 100% of the incentive-based
compensation received by such executive officer.

BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE

Our board of directors and its committees meet regularly throughout the year, and also hold special meetings
and act by written consent from time to time. In Fiscal 2023, our board of directors met six times, our audit
committee met nine times, our compensation committee met seven times and our nominating and corporate
governance committee met four times. Each member of our board of directors attended at least 75% of the
aggregate of the meetings of the board of directors and committees on which he or she served.

BOARD ATTENDANCE AT ANNUAL STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETING

Our policy is to invite and encourage each member of our board of directors to be present at our annual
meetings of stockholders. Six members of our board of directors were present at our 2023 annual meeting of
stockholders.

COMMUNICATION WITH DIRECTORS

Stockholders and interested parties who wish to communicate with our board of directors, non-management
members of our board of directors as a group, a committee of our board of directors, or a specific member of
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our board of directors (including our chairperson or Lead Independent Director, if any) may do so by letters
addressed to the attention of our General Counsel.

All communications are reviewed by the General Counsel and provided to the members of our board of
directors as appropriate. Unsolicited items, sales materials, abusive, threatening, or otherwise inappropriate
materials, and other routine items and items unrelated to the duties and responsibilities of our board of
directors will not be provided to directors. The address for these communications is:

Archer Aviation Inc.
c/o Legal
190 W. Tasman Drive
San Jose, California 95134

CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT AND ETHICS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE GUIDELINES

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of the members of our board of
directors, officers, and employees, and we expect our agents and contractors to conform to the standards of
our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics as well as our
Corporate Governance Guidelines are posted on our investor relations website, which is located at
investors.archer.com, by clicking on “Governance Documents” in the “Corporate Governance” section. We
intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under applicable SEC and stock exchange rules regarding
amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics by posting such
information on our investor relations website at the address and location specified above.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY AND OUR ESG ROADMAP

We are committed to bringing about positive change in the world. We recognize this effort will take innovation,
commitment, and a focus on understanding the communities in which we do business. It also means
integrating our values in the products and services we bring to market, the way we bring those to life, and how
we treat our employees, customers and the communities that surround us. We’re working to build a future that
includes everyone and inspires us all to make a positive impact, together.

Environmental. Since inception, our mission has been to advance the benefits of sustainable air mobility.
We’re dedicated to creating an aircraft and an urban air mobility ecosystem that will help propel the world
towards a zero-emissions future. We plan to improve the environment of the communities in which we operate
in a number of ways, including by working to ensure that: we responsibly source and manufacture our aircraft,
our aircraft emit zero emissions during operations, we use renewable energy at all Archer operated vertiports,
we responsibly dispose of, and look to recycle, the batteries used in our aircraft, and we minimize the noise
produced by our aircraft. In all of our work ahead, we’re planning to partner closely with the governmental
authorities and communities in which we operate to make sure our environmental efforts are aligned.

Social. At Archer, we recognize that together we can accomplish more than we can on our own. Working
collaboratively, whether it's across our employee base, with governmental authorities or the communities in
which we plan to operate is critical for us to deliver on our mission. The complexity of our product and planned
urban air mobility ecosystems demand that we bring together a wide range of skill sets and backgrounds.
Therefore, we work to put people first - by designing an aircraft and ecosystem that will be accessible to the
masses, creating an inclusive and diverse work environment, and respecting the human rights of everyone in
the communities in which we do business. And, as a company that is building aircraft, safety is always first.
We are dedicated to ensuring we are a force for positive change in the lives of our employees, future
passengers, and the communities in which we will operate. We will grow together, achieve together and
celebrate together.
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Governance. We are long-term, mission-driven thinkers with an entrepreneurial spirit. We are not afraid to be
bold, think creatively, and overcome obstacles. Throughout, our aim is to embed transparency and
accountability at every level of our company. Our board of directors and governance structure helps foster
principled actions, informed and effective decision-making, and appropriate monitoring of our compliance and
performance.

Our ESG efforts will continue to be centered around the core values that are foundational to the company we
are building:

— Results;

— Innovation;

—  Optimism;

—  Collaboration; and
-  Safety.

You can learn more about those values at www.archer.com/mission. Information contained on our website is
not incorporated by reference in, and does not constitute part of, this Proxy Statement.
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NOMINATIONS PROCESS AND DIRECTOR QUALIFICATIONS:

NOMINATION TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Candidates for nomination to our board of directors are selected by our board of directors based on the
recommendation of the nominating and corporate governance committee in accordance with the committee’s
charter, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, and the
criteria approved by our board of directors regarding director candidate qualifications. In recommending
candidates for nomination, the nominating and corporate governance committee considers candidates
recommended by directors, officers, employees, stockholders, and others, using the same criteria to evaluate
all candidates. Evaluations of candidates generally involve a review of background materials, internal
discussions, and interviews with selected candidates as appropriate and, in addition, the committee may
engage consultants or third-party search firms to assist in identifying and evaluating potential nominees.

The nominating and corporate governance committee will consider properly submitted stockholder
recommendations for candidates for our board of directors who meet the qualifications as described above.
The nominating and corporate governance committee does not intend to alter the manner in which it
evaluates candidates, including the criteria set forth below, based on whether or not the candidate was
recommended by a stockholder. A stockholder of record can nominate a candidate for election to the board of
directors by complying with the procedures in our amended and restated bylaws. Submissions must include
the full name of the proposed nominee, complete biographical information, the principal occupation or
employment of the proposed nominee, other information specified in our bylaws, and a representation that the
nominating stockholder is a beneficial or record holder of our common stock. Any such submission must be
accompanied by the written consent of the proposed nominee to be named as a nominee and to serve as a
director if elected. These candidates are evaluated at meetings of the nominating and corporate governance
committee, and may be considered at any point during the year. If any materials are provided by a stockholder
in connection with the recommendation of a director candidate, such materials are forwarded to the
nominating and corporate governance committee.

Additional information regarding the process for properly submitting stockholder nominations for candidates
for membership on our board of directors is set forth below under “Additional Information—Stockholder
Proposals to Be Presented at Next Annual Meeting.”

Additionally, in accordance with the Forward Purchase Agreement, dated January 3, 2023, by and between us
and Stellantis N.V. (the “2023 Forward Purchase Agreement”), from and after the date of the 2023 Forward
Purchase Agreement, Stellantis will maintain the right to nominate one individual for election to our board of
directors as a Class Il director at the Annual Meeting through the date of our annual meeting of stockholders
to occur in 2026 (which initial designee was Barbara Pilarski, who currently serves as a Class Il director on the
board of directors and who was nominated by our board of directors for election at our 2023 annual meeting of
stockholders) and, so long as Stellantis or its affiliates beneficially own shares of Class A common stock
equal to at least 12.5% of our outstanding shares of Class A common stock, will have the right to continue to
nominate one individual for election to the board of directors as a Class Il director at our annual meeting of
stockholders to occur in 2026 through the date of our annual meeting of stockholders in 2029.

DIRECTOR QUALIFICATIONS; DIVERSITY

With the goal of developing a diverse, experienced and highly qualified board of directors, the nominating and
corporate governance committee is responsible for developing and recommending to our board of directors
the desired qualifications, expertise, and characteristics of members of our board of directors, including any
specific minimum qualifications that the committee believes must be met by a committee-recommended
nominee for membership on our board of directors and any specific qualities or skills that the committee
believes are necessary for one or more of the members of our board of directors to possess. We value
diversity on a company-wide basis and seek to achieve a mix of board members that represents a diversity of
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background and experience, including with respect to age, gender, race, ethnicity, and occupation. Although
the board of directors does not establish specific goals with respect to diversity, our board of directors’ overall
diversity is a significant consideration in the director nomination process.

Because the identification, evaluation, and selection of qualified directors is a complex and subjective
process that requires consideration of many intangible factors, and will be significantly influenced by the
particular needs of our board of directors from time to time, our board of directors has not adopted a specific
set of minimum qualifications, qualities or skills that are necessary for a nominee to possess, other than those
that are necessary to meet U.S. legal, regulatory and the NYSE listing requirements and the provisions of our
amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws and charters of the
committees of our board of directors. When considering nominees, the nominating and corporate governance
committee may take into consideration many factors including, among other things, a candidate’s
independence, integrity, diversity, skills, financial and other expertise, breadth of experience, knowledge about
our business or industry, and ability to devote adequate time and effort to responsibilities of our board of
directors in the context of its existing composition. Through the nomination process, the nominating and
corporate governance committee seeks to promote board membership that reflects a diversity of business
experience, expertise, viewpoints, personal backgrounds, and other characteristics that are expected to
contribute to our board of directors’ overall effectiveness.
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PROPOSAL NO. 1-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS:

Our board of directors has nominated Mr. Goldstein and Mr. Munoz for election as Class Il directors at the
Annual Meeting. Our board of directors currently consists of seven directors and is divided into three classes.
Each class serves for three years, with the terms of office of the respective classes expiring in successive
years. Directors in Class Ill will stand for election at the Annual Meeting. The terms of office of directors in
Class | and Class Il do not expire until the annual meetings of stockholders held in 2025 and 2026,
respectively. At the recommendation of our nominating and corporate governance committee, our board of
directors proposes that each of the two Class lll nominees named below, each of whom is currently serving as
a Class lll director, be elected as a Class Il director for a three-year term expiring at the 2027 annual meeting
of stockholders and until such director’s successor is duly elected and qualified or until such director’s earlier
death, resignation, disqualification, or removal. Each director will be elected by a plurality of the votes present
and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting, which means that the two individuals nominated for election to our
board of directors at the Annual Meeting receiving the highest number of “FOR” votes will be elected.

Shares represented by proxies will be voted “FOR” the election of each of the nominees named below, unless
the proxy is marked to withhold authority to so vote. If any nominee for any reason is unable to serve or for
good cause will not serve, the proxies may be voted for such substitute nominee as the proxy holder might
determine. Each nominee has consented to being named in this Proxy Statement and to serve if elected.
Proxies may not be voted for more than two directors. Stockholders may not cumulate votes for the election of
directors.

Each person nominated for election has agreed to serve if elected, and management and the board of
directors have no reason to believe that either nominee will be unable to serve. If, however, prior to the Annual
Meeting, the board of directors should learn that either nominee will be unable to serve for any reason, the
proxies that otherwise would have been voted for this nominee will be voted for a substitute nominee as
selected by the board of directors. Alternatively, the proxies, at the board of director’s discretion, may be voted
for no nominees as a result of the inability of either nominee to serve.

There are no family relationships among our directors and executive officers.

NOMINEES TO OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The nominees and their ages, occupations, and length of service on our board of directors as of the Record
Date, are provided in the table below and in the additional biographical descriptions set forth in the text below
the table.

NAME AGE POSITION DIRECTOR SINCE
Adam Goldstein 44 Founder, Chief September 2021
Executive Officer and
Director
Oscar Munoz® 65 Director September 2021

(1) Member of the compensation committee
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ADAM GOLDSTEIN

FOUNDER, CEO AND

DIRECTOR
AGE: 44

DIRECTOR SINCE:
September 2021

COMMITTEES:
None

OSCAR MUNOZ

DIRECTOR

AGE: 65

DIRECTOR SINCE:
September 2021

COMMITTEES:

Compensation

Mr. Goldstein is Archer’s founder and serves as our CEO. From September 2021
to April 2022, Mr. Goldstein served as our Co-CEQ and Co-Chairperson of our
board of directors. Prior to the closing of the business combination, Mr. Goldstein
served as the President and Co-CEO of Legacy Archer and a member of the
Legacy Archer board of directors since October 2018. Prior to founding Archer, Mr.
Goldstein also co-founded and led Vettery from November 2012 to December
2019. Before Vettery, Mr. Goldstein served as Co-Managing Partner of Minetta
Lane Capital Partners from March 2011 to August 2012. From February 2011 to
November 2019 Mr. Goldstein served as Portfolio Manager at Plural Investments
and from September 2005 to October 2009 Mr. Goldstein served as a Senior
Analyst at Cedar Hill Capital Partners. Mr. Goldstein currently serves on the board
of trustees of the Museum of American Finance.

SKILLS & EXPERIENCE

Mr. Goldstein holds a B.S. in Business Administration from the University of
Florida and an M.B.A. from NYU Stern School of Business. We believe that Mr.
Goldstein’s role as co-founder and Chief Executive Officer and his extensive
insight into Archer qualify him to serve on our board.

OTHER CURRENT PUBLIC BOARD DIRECTORSHIPS
- None

Mr. Munoz has served as a member of our board of directors since September
2021. Mr. Munoz served as Chairman and CEO of United Airlines from September
2015 to May 2021. He also served as a member of the board of directors of United
Continental Holdings, Inc. from October 2010 to June 2021. Before joining
United’s executive team, Mr. Munoz served in several roles at CSX Corporation
from May 2003 to September 2015, including President, COO, CFO, and
Executive Vice President. Mr. Munoz previously served on the board of directors of
Continental Airlines, Inc. from May 2004 until its acquisition by United Airlines in
October 2010. From January 2001 to April 2003, Mr. Munoz served as CFO of
Consumer Services at ATST. Before that, Mr. Munoz served as SVP of Finance
and Administration at U.S. West from July 1997 to December 2000. Mr. Munoz
also served in various leadership roles for The Coca-Cola Company from June
1986 to June 1997 and for PepsiCo from June 1982 to June 1986. Mr. Munoz
currently serves on the board of directors of Univision Communications Inc. as
well as an independent trustee on Fidelity Investments’ Equity & High-Income
Fund. Mr. Munoz also currently serves on the board of trustees of the University of
Southern California and The Brookings Institution.

SKILLS & EXPERIENCE

Mr. Munoz holds a B.A. in Finance and Strategy from USC’s Marshall School of
Business and an MBA from Pepperdine University. We believe that Mr. Munoz’s
deep understanding of the airline and transportation industries and executive
experience at complex multi-national businesses qualify him to serve on our
board.

OTHER CURRENT PUBLIC BOARD DIRECTORSHIPS

- CBRE Group, Inc.
—  Salesforce.com, Inc.
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CONTINUING DIRECTORS
The following is biographical and certain other information for each of our continuing directors as of the
Record Date.

NAME AGE POSITION
Deborah Diaz"®? 66 Director
Fred M. DiazV®® 58 Director
Barbara Pilarski® 60 Director
Maria Pinelli®) 61 Director
Michael Spellacy® 52 Director

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
@

Member of the audit committee

Chairperson of the nominating and corporate governance committee
Chairperson of the compensation committee

Lead Independent Director

Member of the nominating and corporate governance committee
Chairperson of the audit committee

Member of the compensation committee

CLASS

Class |

Class |

Class

Class

Class I

DIRECTOR SINCE
September 2021
September 2021
January 2022
September 2021

September 2021
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DEBORAH DIAZ

DIRECTOR

AGE: 66

DIRECTOR SINCE:
September 2021

COMMITTEES:
Nominating and Corporate
Governance (Chair)

Audit

Ms. Diaz has served as a member of our board of directors and audit committee
and as the Chair of the nominating and corporate governance committee since
September 2021. As CEO and VC Advisor of Catalyst ADV, Ms. Diaz manages a
strategic growth advisory firm specializing in business transformation, innovative
technologies, advanced manufacturing and strategic partnerships since
December 2016. Ms. Diaz served as National Aeronautics and Space
Administration’s (“NASA”) Chief Technology Officer and Deputy Chief Information
Officer from November 2009 to October 2016, where she was responsible for
NASA'’s global system infrastructure, technology pilots, and risk management.
From January 2007 to November 2009, Ms. Diaz served as Deputy Chief
Information Officer for the United States Patent and Trademark Office. From
October 2002 to January 2007, Ms. Diaz was the Senior Technical Advisor to
create the U.S. Department of Homeland Security and also the Chief Information
Officer for Science and Technology. Ms. Diaz brings decades of experience with
industry and international organizations overseeing large operational staffs and
budget, ESG implementation, and global business joint ventures. Ms. Diaz
currently serves on the board of directors of Section |0 and on the advisory board
of directors of Equinix and Intel Corporation. Ms. Diaz formerly served on the
board of directors of Dell Technologies GAB, Forcepoint EAB, Battle Resource
Management, Inc., Intelvative, Inc., eKuber Ventures, Lincolnia LLC and ZeroAvia
Inc.

SKILLS & EXPERIENCE

Ms. Diaz is National Association of Corporate Directors “Directorship” and
Directors Academy “Board Director” certified. She holds an M.S. in International
Business from Colorado State University and B.S. in Business Administration
from Stonehill College. Ms. Diaz is also a licensed single engine pilot. We believe
that Ms. Diaz’s broad experience working with innovative technologies and
leadership in multiple high-risk market evolutions in both the private sector and
government qualify her to serve on our board.

OTHER CURRENT PUBLIC BOARD DIRECTORSHIPS
— Canoolnc.
—  Primis Financial Corp.
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FRED M. DIAZ

LEAD INDEPENDENT
DIRECTOR

AGE: 58

DIRECTOR SINCE:
September 2021

COMMITTEES:
Compensation (Chair)
Audit

Mr. Diaz has served as a member of our board of directors since September 2021.
Mr. Diaz served as President, CEO and Chairman of the Board of Mitsubishi
Motors North America from April 2018 to April 2020. Before that, Mr. Diaz served
as General Manager in Charge, Performance Optimization Global Marketing and
Sales of Mitsubishi Motors Corporation in Japan, from July 2017 to April 2018.
From April 2013 to July 2017, Mr. Diaz served in a number of roles for Nissan
Motor Corporation, including Division Vice President & General Manager—North
American Trucks and Light Commercial Vehicles, Sr. Vice President Sales,
Marketing, Product Planning and Operations, and Division Vice President, Sales,
Marketing, Product Planning and Parts & Service. Mr. Diaz also served in several
roles for Fiat Chrysler Automobiles from 2004 to 2013, including President and
CEO Ram Truck Brand, President and CEO Chrysler Mexico, Head of National
Sales and National Director of Marketing Communications.

SKILLS &§ EXPERIENCE

Mr. Diaz holds a B.S. in Business Administration and Management with a Minor
in Psychology from Texas Lutheran University and an M.B.A. from Central
Michigan University. We believe that Mr. Diaz’s executive experience in various
CEO and C-suite leadership roles as well as his robust sales, marketing,
operations and product planning background in the automotive industry qualify
him to serve on our board.

OTHER CURRENT PUBLIC BOARD DIRECTORSHIPS

- Valero Energy Corporation

- Smith & Wesson Brands, Inc.

—  Site One Landscape Supply Inc. (f/k/a as John Deere Landscapes LLC)
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BARBARA PILARSKI

DIRECTOR

AGE: 60

DIRECTOR SINCE:
January 2022

COMMITTEES:
Nominating and Corporate
Governance

Ms. Pilarski has served as a member of our board of directors since January 2022.
Ms. Pilarski currently serves as Global Head of Business Development at
Stellantis, a position she has occupied since March 2021. Prior to joining
Stellantis, Ms. Pilarski was employed at FCA US LLC (“FCA”) since 2009, having
served as Head of Business Development for the North America region from
March 2019 to February 2021, Head of Human Resources for the North America
region from September 2017 to March 2019, and Head of Business Development
for the North America region from June 2009 to September 2017. Prior to her
employment at FCA, Ms. Pilarski served in various business development and
finance positions within Chrysler LLC, DaimlerChrysler Corporation, and Chrysler
Corporation since September 1985. Ms. Pilarski is the Executive Sponsor of the
Stellantis Women’s Business Resource Group, which is dedicated to pursuing the
professional development and advancement of female employees. Mrs. Pilarski
currently serves on the board of directors of Corewell Health.

SKILLS & EXPERIENCE

Ms. Pilarski has a B.S. in Business Administration from Wayne State University
and an M.B.A. from the University of Michigan. We believe that Ms. Pilarski’s
leadership and business development roles at international companies and
extensive experience in transportation and manufacturing qualify her to serve on
our board.

OTHER CURRENT PUBLIC BOARD DIRECTORSHIPS
—  None
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MARIA PINELLI

DIRECTOR

AGE: 61

DIRECTOR SINCE:
September 2021

COMMITTEES:
Audit (Chair)
Compensation

Ms. Pinelli has served as a member of our board of directors since September
2021. Ms. Pinelli has served as the Chief Executive Officer of Strategic Growth
Advisors, LLC since December 2020. From July 2017 to December 2020, Ms.
Pinelli led Ernst & Young LLP’s (“EY”) Consumer Products and Retail sector
based in the U.S. Southeast. From July 2011 to June 2017, Ms. Pinelli was a
Global Vice Chair of EY and led EY’s Global Strategic Growth Business unit with a
focus on serving entrepreneurs, private and public companies poised for
exponential growth. During the same period, she also served as EY’s Global IPO
Leader, helping clients prepare for the public markets including initial public
offering readiness, Sarbanes-Oxley Act compliance and how to manage
stakeholder expectations. Prior to leading this global business of EY, Ms. Pinelli
was EY’s Americas Director of Strategic Growth Markets from 2006 to 2011. She
has led more than 20 IPOs in four different countries, more than 25 MGA
transactions worldwide and speaks fluently on the capital markets, and has
testified as an expert before the U.S. Financial Services Committee.

SKILLS & EXPERIENCE

Ms. Pinelli holds a B.Com. in Commerce from McMaster University and is a
qualified public accountant in the United Kingdom and Canada. We believe that
Ms. Pinelli is well-qualified to serve on our board due her international business
and leadership roles, professional experience in the areas of finance, accounting,
and audit oversight and her extensive experience in advising growth companies.

OTHER CURRENT PUBLIC BOARD DIRECTORSHIPS

— Globant S.A.
— International Game Technology PLC
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MICHAEL SPELLACY

DIRECTOR

AGE: 52

DIRECTOR SINCE:
September 2021

COMMITTEES:
Nominating and Corporate Governance

Mr. Spellacy has served as a member of our board of directors since September
2021. Mr. Spellacy has served as Managing Director of Alvarez & Marsal, LLC
since June 2023. From October 2020 to June 2023, Mr. Spellacy served as CEO
and director of Atlas Crest Investment Corporation. He served as a Senior
Managing Director at Accenture plc (“Accenture”) from December 2017 to
October 2020 and as Global Industry Leader of Accenture Capital Markets
business overseeing Accenture’s Asset Management, Wealth Management and
Investment and Trading businesses. Prior to Accenture, Mr. Spellacy was a Senior
Partner, Asset and Wealth Management, at PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP from
2015 to 2017 and prior to that role, Mr. Spellacy was a Partner at Broadhaven
Capital, an industry leading independent investment bank and private equity
investor servicing the financial services and technology sectors from 2013 to
2015. Prior to Broadhaven, Mr. Spellacy was a Senior Executive, Management
Committee Advisor at Bridgewater Associates, a widely recognized asset
manager from 2009 to 2013. Prior to Bridgewater, Mr. Spellacy was a Partner and
Managing Director at the Boston Consulting Group from 2003 to 2009 where he
helped guide the firm’s global Alternative Investments Practice providing strategic
business advisory services to global asset managers, sovereign wealth funds and
asset owners. Mr. Spellacy’s extensive experience in technology and capital
markets, as well as a public company director, qualifies him to serve on our board.

SKILLS & EXPERIENCE

Mr. Spellacy received his B.S. in Economics from the London School of
Economics and MBA from the University of Hartford. We believe that Mr.
Spellacy’s deep investing and capital markets expertise, along with his extensive
management experience qualify him to serve on our board.

OTHER CURRENT PUBLIC BOARD DIRECTORSHIPS
—  Enfusion, Inc.
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NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

The board of directors has adopted a non-employee director compensation policy designed to align
compensation with our business objectives and the creation of stockholder value, while enabling us to attract
and retain directors to contribute to our long-term success.

The aggregate amount of compensation, including both cash compensation and equity compensation, paid
to any of our non-employee directors for their service in a calendar year period may not exceed $1,500,000 in
the first calendar year such an individual becomes a non-employee director and $750,000 in any other
calendar year.

Ms. Pilarski has agreed to waive her director compensation with respect to her service as a non-employee
director until such time as she is no longer employed by Stellantis or any of its affiliates.

Cash Compensation. Our non-employee directors receive a $140,000 annual cash retainer. In addition, the
members of the audit committee, compensation committee, and nominating and corporate governance
committee receive an annual cash retainer of $10,000, $6,000, and $4,000, respectively, with the chair of each
such committee receiving an annual cash retainer of $15,000, $10,000, and $8,000 (in lieu of any member
fees), respectively. In November 2022, the board of directors approved an additional annual cash retainer for
our Lead Independent Director of $50,000 for the period between February 2022 until the 2023 Annual
Meeting date, and then a $30,000 annual cash retainer starting after the 2023 Annual Meeting for subsequent
years. In addition, we reimburse our non-employee directors for their reasonable and necessary out-of-pocket
expenses incurred in connection with attending board and committee meetings or performing other services
in their capacities as directors.

Equity Compensation. Our non-employee directors receive equity compensation for their service as
directors, which we believe reinforces alignment with our stockholders and is consistent with our overall
compensation philosophy. Each non-employee director is entitled to receive equity awards under our 2021
Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan”) in the form of restricted stock units (“RSUs”).

— Initial Equity Grant. Each non-employee director appointed to our board of directors is granted an equity
award, in the form of RSUs, on the date of their appointment to our board of directors having an
aggregate value of $200,000 based on the closing price of our Class A common stock on the date of
grant (the “Initial Equity Grant”). New non-employee directors appointed to our board of directors on a
date other than our annual meeting of stockholders will be provided a prorated Initial Equity Grant based
on the full number of months until the next annual meeting of stockholders. The Initial Equity Grant will
vest on the earlier of (i) the date of the next annual meeting of the company’s stockholders and (ii) the
date that is one year following the Initial Equity Grant date, in each case, so long as the non-employee
director continues to provide services to the company through such date. Each Initial Equity Grant will
accelerate in full upon the consummation of a Corporate Transaction (as defined in our 2021 Plan),
subject to the non-employee director providing continuous service to the company through the applicable
Corporation Transaction, or upon the applicable non-employee director’s death or Disability (as defined
inthe 2021 Plan).

— Annual Equity Grant. On the date of each annual meeting of stockholders, each non-employee director
who is serving on our board of directors, and who will continue to serve on our board of directors
immediately following the date of such annual meeting, will automatically be granted equity, in the form of
RSUs, having an aggregate value of $200,000 based on the closing price of our Class A common stock
on the date of grant (the “Annual Equity Grant”). Each Annual Equity Grant will vest on the earlier of (i) the
date of the next annual meeting of the company’s stockholders and (ii) the date that is one year following
the Annual Equity Grant date, in each case, so long as the non-employee director continues to provide
services to the company through such date. Each Annual Equity Grant will accelerate in full upon the
consummation of a Corporate Transaction, subject to the non-employee director providing continuous
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service to the company through the applicable Corporation Transaction, or upon the applicable
non-employee director’s death or Disability.

We have established a Director Equity Deferral Plan pursuant to which non-employee directors may elect to
take some or all of their Annual Equity Grant in the form of deferred rights to receive Class A common stock
upon termination as a director.

The below table provides information for 2023 regarding all compensation awarded to, earned by, or paid to
each person who served as a director for some portion or all of 2023, other than Mr. Goldstein. Mr. Goldstein is
not included in the table below, as he received no compensation in 2023 for his service as a director. The
compensation received by Mr. Goldstein as an employee in 2023 is shown in the “Executive
Compensation—Summary Compensation Table” below.

NAME FEES EARNED OR PAID IN CASH ($)(1) STOCK AWARDS ($)(2) TOTAL (S)
Deborah Diaz 158,000 200,593 358,593
Fred M. Diaz 200,000 200,593 400,593
Oscar Munoz 146,000 200,593 346,593

Barbara Pilarski (3) — — —
Maria Pinelli 161,000 200,593 361,593
Michael Spellacy 144,000 200,593 344,593

(1) Amounts reflect cash retainer amounts received by our non-employee directors for service on our board of directors, including committee
and/or chairpersonship fees, and, in the case of Mr. Diaz, fees associated with serving as Lead Independent Director.

(2) Amounts reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of the RSUs measured pursuant to Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting
Standard Codification Topic 718 (“ASC 718”), without regard to forfeitures. The assumptions used in calculating the grant date fair value of
these awards are set forth in Note 10 to our Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included on our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2023, filed with the SEC on February 29, 2024. These amounts do not reflect the actual economic value that
may be realized by the non-employee director.

(3) Ms. Pilarski has agreed to waive her director compensation with respect to her service as a non-employee director until such time as she is
no longer employed by Stellantis or any of its affiliates.
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The following table sets forth information regarding the aggregate number of shares of our Class A common
stock underlying outstanding RSU awards granted to our non-employee directors in 2023 and the aggregate
number of unvested shares of our common stock underlying RSU awards held by each non-employee
director as of December 31, 2023.

NUMBER OF SHARES UNDERLYING
NUMBER OF SHARES UNDERLYING RSUS UNVESTED RSUS HELD AT FISCAL YEAR

NAME GRANTED IN 2023 (1) END

Deborah Diaz 59,347 59,347
Fred M. Diaz (2) 59,347 59,347
Oscar Munoz (3) 59,347 59,347

Barbara Pilarski — _
Maria Pinelli 59,347 59,347
Michael Spellacy 59,347 59,347

(1) The shares of Class A common stock underlying these awards vest or have vested as to 59,347 shares of Class A common stock, in full on
the earlier of June 23, 2024 and the date of the Annual Meeting.

OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS A VOTE “FOR ALL NOMINEES” IN THE
ELECTION OF THE CLASS Ill DIRECTORS.
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PROPOSAL NO. 2 - RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRM

Our audit committee has selected PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”) as our independent registered
public accounting firm to perform the audit of our consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2024 and recommends that stockholders vote for ratification of such selection. The ratification
of the selection of PwC as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2024 requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the voting power of the shares present or
represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting and voting affirmatively or negatively on the proposal. In the event
that PwC is not ratified by our stockholders, the audit committee will review its future selection of PwC as our
independent registered public accounting firm. Even if the selection is ratified, the audit committee, in its
discretion, may select a different independent registered public accounting firm at any time during the year if it
determines that such a change would be in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders.

PwC audited our financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023. Representatives of PwC
are expected to be present at the Annual Meeting and they will be given an opportunity to make a statement at
the Annual Meeting if they desire to do so and will be available to respond to appropriate questions. PwC has
served as our independent registered public accounting firm since 2020.

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FEES AND SERVICES

We regularly review the services and fees from our independent registered public accounting firm. These
services and fees are also reviewed with our audit committee annually. In accordance with standard policy,
PwC will periodically rotate the individuals who are responsible for our audit. During the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022, fees for services provided by PwC were as follows:

FISCAL YEAR ENDED 12/31/23 ($) FISCAL YEAR ENDED 12/31/22 ($)
Audit Fees (1) 2,814,109 1,379,780
Audit Related Fees (2) — —

Tax Fees (3) — —
All Other Fees (4) 900 2,900
Total Fees 2,815,009 1,382,680

(1) “Audit fees” include fees for audit services primarily related to the audit of our annual consolidated financial statements and the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting; the review of our quarterly consolidated financial statements; comfort letters,
consents and assistance with and review of documents filed with the SEC; and other accounting and financial reporting consultation and
research work billed as audit fees or necessary to comply with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). The total amounts in 2023 reflected in this row includes: (i) $2,489,109 in fees for professional services rendered for the audit and
review of our financial statements in connection with our required periodic filings and (ii) $325,000 in fees for professional services rendered
in connection with financial statements incorporated in registration statements and capital markets transactions.

(2) “Audit related fees” include fees for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review
of our financial statements.

(3) “Tax fees” include fees for tax compliance and advice. Tax advice fees encompass a variety of permissible tax services, including
technical tax advice related to federal and state and international income tax matters, assistance with sales tax and assistance with tax
audits.

(4) “All other fees” include fees for services other than the services reported in audit fees, audit-related fees, and tax fees.

PO ONAUD OMM PRE-APPROVAL OF AUDIT AND P
OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Our audit committee’s policy is to pre-approve all audit, review and attest services, as well as all permitted
non-audit services performed by the independent registered public accounting firm, the scope of services
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provided by the independent registered public accounting firm, and the fees for the services to be performed.
These services may include audit services, audit-related services, tax services, and other non-audit services.
In addition, the audit committee has established procedures by which the audit committee may delegate
pre-approval authority to one or more of its members, including its chairperson. Pre-approval is detailed as to
the particular service or category of services and is generally subject to a specific budget. The independent
registered public accounting firm and management are required to periodically report to the audit committee
regarding the extent of services provided by the independent registered public accounting firm in accordance
with this pre-approval, and the fees for the services performed to date.

All of the services relating to the fees described in the table above were approved by our audit committee.
OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS A VOTE “FOR” THE RATIFICATION OF

THE APPOINTMENT OF PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP AS OUR INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2024.
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PROPOSAL NO. 3-ADVISORY VOTE ON THE COMPENSATION OF OUR NAMED EXECUTIVE
OFFICERS

In accordance with the rules of the SEC, we are providing stockholders with an opportunity to make a
non-binding advisory vote on the compensation of our named executive officers. This non-binding advisory
vote is commonly referred to as a “say on pay” vote and gives our stockholders the opportunity to express
their views on our named executive officers’ compensation as a whole. This vote is not intended to address
any specific item of compensation or any specific named executive officer, but rather the overall
compensation of all of our named executive officers and the philosophy, policies, and practices described in
this Proxy Statement. Approval, on a non-binding advisory basis, of the compensation of our named
executive officers will be obtained in the number of votes cast “FOR” the proposal exceeds the number of
votes “AGAINST” the proposal.

Stockholders are urged to read the section titled “Executive Compensation,” which discusses how our
executive compensation policies and procedures implement our compensation philosophy and contains
tabular information and narrative discussion about the compensation of our named executive officers. Our
compensation committee and board of directors believe that these policies and procedures are effective in
implementing our compensation philosophy and in achieving our goals. Accordingly, we ask our stockholders
to vote “FOR” the following resolution at the Annual Meeting:

“RESOLVED, that our stockholders approve, on a non-binding advisory basis, the compensation of the
Named Executive Officers, as disclosed in the Proxy Statement pursuant to Item 402 of Regulation S-K,
including the Executive Compensation section, the compensation tables and narrative discussion and the
other related disclosures.”

As an advisory vote, this proposal is not binding. However, our board of directors and compensation
committee, which is responsible for designing and administering our executive compensation program, value
the opinions expressed by stockholders in their vote on this proposal and will consider the outcome of the
vote when making future compensation decisions for our named executive officers.

OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE “FOR” THE APPROVAL, ON A

NON-BINDING ADVISORY BASIS, OF THE COMPENSATION OF OUR NAMED EXECUTIVE
OFFICERS.
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PROPOSAL NO. 4 - ADVISORY VOTE ON THE FREQUENCY OF FUTURE ADVISORY VOTE ON THE
COMPENSATION OF OUR NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

In accordance with the rules of the SEC, we are providing our stockholders with an opportunity to make a
non-binding advisory vote on the frequency of future non-binding advisory votes on the compensation of our
named executive officers. This non-binding advisory vote is commonly referred to as a “say on frequency”
vote and must be submitted to stockholders at least once every six years.

You have four choices for voting on this proposal. You can choose whether future non-binding advisory votes
on the compensation of our named executive officers should be conducted every “ONE YEAR,” “TWO
YEARS,” or “THREE YEARS.” The frequency receiving the greatest number of votes cast by stockholders at
the Annual Meeting will be deemed the preferred frequency option of our stockholders. You may also
“ABSTAIN” from voting.

After careful consideration, our board of directors recommends that future non-binding advisory votes on the
compensation of our named executive officers be held every year so that stockholders may express annually
their views on our executive compensation program.

Stockholders are not voting to approve or disapprove the board of directors’ recommendation. Instead,
stockholders may indicate their preference regarding the frequency of future non-binding advisory votes on
the compensation of our named executive officers by selecting one year, two years, or three years.
Stockholders that do not have a preference regarding the frequency of future advisory votes may abstain from
voting on the proposal.

As an advisory vote, this proposal is not binding. However, our board of directors and compensation
committee value the opinions expressed by stockholders in their vote on this proposal and will consider the
outcome of the vote when making future decisions regarding the frequency of holding future non-binding
advisory votes on the compensation of our named executive officers. However, because this is an advisory
vote and therefore not binding on our board of directors or our company, our board of directors may decide
that it is in the best interests of our stockholders that we hold an advisory vote on the compensation of our
named executive officers more or less frequently than the option preferred by our stockholders. The results of
the vote will not be construed to create or imply any change or addition to the fiduciary duties of our board of
directors.

OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE TO HOLD FUTURE STOCKHOLDER
ADVISORY VOTES ON THE COMPENSATION OF OUR NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS EVERY “ONE
YEAR.”
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PROPOSAL NO. 5-APPROVAL OF AN AMENDMENT TO OUR AMENDED AND RESTATED
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

Section 102(b)(7) of the Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”) was amended effective August 1, 2022,
to authorize exculpation of officers of Delaware corporations. Specifically, the amendment permits Delaware
corporations to exculpate certain of their officers, in addition to their directors, for personal liability for breach
of the duty of care in limited circumstances. This exculpation would not protect officers from liability for breach
of the duty of loyalty, acts or omissions not in good faith or that involve intentional misconduct or a knowing
violation of law, or any transaction in which the officer derived an improper personal benefit. Nor would this
exculpation shield such officers from liability for claims brought by or in the right of the corporation, such as
derivative claims.

Our board of directors believes it is necessary to provide protection to officers to the fullest extent permitted
by law in order to attract and retain highly-qualified senior leadership. The nature of the role of directors and
officers often requires them to make decisions on crucial matters often in time-sensitive situations, which can
create substantial risk of investigations, claims, actions, suits or proceedings seeking to impose liability on the
basis of hindsight, especially in the current litigious environment and regardless of merit. Limiting concern
about personal risk would empower both directors and officers to best exercise their business judgment in
furtherance of stockholder interests. We expect competitor companies will likely adopt exculpation clauses
that limit the personal liability of officers in their charters and failing to adopt the amendment could negatively
affect our ability to recruit and retain high-caliber officer candidates.

This protection has long been afforded to directors, and our board of directors believes that extending similar
exculpation to its officers is fair and in the best interests of our company and its stockholders. In addition to the
changes to permit officer exculpation described above, the amendment would make technical and
administrative changes. Accordingly, our board of directors has unanimously approved the Certificate of
Amendment to our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation in the form attached hereto as
Appendix A-1 (the “Certificate of Amendment”), declared it to be advisable and in the best interests of us and
our stockholders and recommends that our stockholders vote “FOR” the proposed Certificate of Amendment.
For convenience of reference, a copy of the Certificate of Amendment showing the changes from our current
charter, with deleted text shown in strikethrough and added or moved text shown as underlined, is attached
hereto as Appendix A-2. The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power of all of the
outstanding shares of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock entitled to vote at the annual
meeting, voting together as a single class, is required to approve the Certificate of Amendment. Abstentions
are treated as the same as voting “AGAINST” this proposal.

If our stockholders approve the Certificate of Amendment, our board of directors has authorized our officers to
file the Certificate of Amendment with the Delaware Secretary of State, to become effective upon acceptance
by the Delaware Secretary of State. Our board of directors intends to have that filing made if, and as soon as
practicable after, this proposal is approved at this Annual Meeting. However, even if our stockholders adopt
the Certificate of Amendment, the board of directors may abandon the Certificate of Amendment without
further stockholder action prior to the effectiveness of the filing of the Certificate of Amendment with the
Delaware Secretary of State and, if abandoned, the Certificate of Amendment will not become effective. If the
board of directors abandons the Certificate of Amendment, it will publicly disclose that fact and the reason for
its determination.

If this proposal is not approved by our stockholders, or if our board of directors abandons the Certificate of
Amendment, then the Certificate of Amendment will not be adopted and the current Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation will remain in place.

OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE “FOR” APPROVAL OF THE CERTIFICATE OF
AMENDMENT.
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE:

The information contained in this report is not considered to be “soliciting material,” “filed” or incorporated by
reference in any past or future filing by us under the Exchange Act or the Securities Act unless and only to the
extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference.

The principal purpose of the audit committee is to assist the board of directors in its general oversight of our
accounting practices, system of internal controls, audit processes and financial reporting processes. The
audit committee is responsible for appointing and retaining our independent auditor and approving the audit
and non-audit services to be provided by the independent auditor. The audit committee’s function is more fully
described in its charter. Our management is responsible for preparing our financial statements and ensuring
they are complete and accurate and prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”), our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2023, was responsible for performing an independent audit of our consolidated financial
statements and expressing an opinion on the conformity of those financial statements with generally
accepted accounting principles.

Our audit committee has reviewed and discussed with our management and PwC our audited consolidated
financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023. Our audit committee has also discussed
with PwC the matters required to be discussed by Auditing Standard No. 1301 adopted by the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) regarding required “Communications with Audit
Committees.” Our audit committee has received and reviewed the written disclosures and the letter from PwC
required by applicable requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding the
independent accountant’s communications with our audit committee concerning independence and has
discussed with PwC its independence from us.

Based on the review and discussions referred to above, our audit committee recommended to our board of
directors that the audited consolidated financial statements be included in our annual report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 for filing with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.
Members of our audit committee rely without independent verification on the information provided to them
and on the representations made by management and the independent auditor. Accordingly, the audit
committee’s oversight does not provide an independent basis to determine that management has maintained
the appropriate accounting and financial reporting principles or appropriate internal controls and procedures
designed to assure compliance with accounting standards and applicable laws and regulations. Furthermore,
the audit committee’s consideration and discussions do not assure that the audit of the company’s
consolidated financial statements have been carried out in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB, that
the consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with the accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States and that PwC is in fact “independent.”

SUBMITTED BY THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
Maria Pinelli, Chairperson
Deborah Diaz
Fred M. Diaz
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS:

The names of our executive officers, their ages as of the date of this Proxy Statement and their positions are
shown below.

NAME AGE POSITION
Adam Goldstein 44 Founder, CEO and Director
Mark Mesler 56 Chief Financial Officer
Eric Lentell 44 General Counsel and Secretary
Tom Muniz 39 Chief Technology Officer
Tosha Perkins 41 Chief People and Partnerships
Officer

Our board of directors chooses executive officers, who then serve at the discretion of our board of directors.
There is no family relationship between any of the directors or executive officers and any of our other directors
or executive officers. For information regarding Mr. Goldstein, please refer to “Proposal No. 1—Election of
Directors.”

MARK MESLER

Mr. Mesler has served as our CFO since February 2022. Prior to joining Archer, Mr. Mesler served as the Chief
Financial Officer of Volansi Inc., an aerial logistics and drone company, from November 2020 to January
2022, as Vice President of Finance for Bloom Energy, Inc., a company producing solid oxide fuel cells, from
August 2009 to November 2020, and in various other finance roles from January 1991 through August 2009.
Mr. Mesler has a B.S. in Finance from Penn State University and an M.B.A. from Carnegie Mellon University’s
Tepper School of Business.

ERICLENTELL

Mr. Lentell has served as our General Counsel since April 2024. Prior to being promoted into this role, he
served as our Deputy General Counsel from when he joined the Company in June 2021 to March 2024. Prior
to joining Archer, Mr. Lentell served as a Director of Legal at Google LLC where he oversaw the legal matters
related to Fitbit’s products and services. Mr. Lentell’s time at Google LLC was a result of Google LLC’s
acquisition of Fitbit, Inc. where Mr. Lentell served in roles with progressively more responsibility over his seven
year tenure with him serving as Vice President, Deputy General Counsel at the time of the acquisition. Prior to
Fitbit, Mr. Lentell was a member of the legal departments at VeriFone, Inc. and Dish Network LLC. Mr. Lentell
holds a B.S. in Information Systems and a J.D. from the University of Colorado Boulder.

TOM MUNIZ

Mr. Muniz has served as our Chief Technology Officer since March 2024 and previously served as our Chief
Operating Officer from March 2021 to March 2024. Before being promoted to Chief Operating Officer, Mr.
Muniz served as our Vice President of Engineering from December 2019 through February 2021. From July
2019 to December 2019, Mr. Muniz served as Vice President of Engineering at Wisk, an eVTOL company.
From January 2011 to July 2019, Mr. Muniz served in a variety of roles at Kitty Hawk, an eVTOL company,
including Lead Engineer, Battery Systems Group, Director of Subsystems Engineering, and VP Engineering.
From May 2009 to December 2010, Mr. Muniz served as an Aerospace Engineer at Desktop Aeronautics,
Inc., a developer of aeronautics software. Mr. Muniz holds a B.S. in Mechanical Engineering from the
University of California, Berkeley and an M.S. in Aeronautics and Astronautics from the University of
Washington.
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TOSHA PERKINS

Dr. Perkins has served as our Chief People and Partnerships Officer since April 2023 and previously served as
Chief People Officer between June 2021 to April 2023. Prior to joining Archer, Dr. Perkins served as the Senior
Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer of McDermott International, Inc., a global engineering,
procurement, construction and installation company (“McDermott”), from January 2020 to September 2020.
Prior to that, she served as McDermott’s Vice President of Human Resources from July 2019 to January 2020
and as McDermott’s Vice President of Talent & Organizational Development from May 2018 to June 2019.
Previously, she served as: Senior Director, Talent & Organizational Development for CB&l Inc., an
engineering, procurement, and construction company, from June 2016 to May 2018; Client Service Lead for
Slalom, a management consulting firm, from September 2014 to September 2016; and several other
positions of increasing responsibility in the consulting industry. Dr. Perkins holds a B.S. in psychology from
Texas State University and a Ph.D. from Alliant International University in industrial/organizational

psychology.
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT:

The below table sets forth certain information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our common stock as
of March 31, 2024, by:

each of our named executive officers;

each of our directors or director nominees;

all of our directors and executive officers as a group; and

each stockholder known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our outstanding shares
of our Class A common stock or Class B common stock.

We have determined beneficial ownership in accordance with the rules of the SEC, and the information is not
necessarily indicative of beneficial ownership for any other purpose. Except as indicated by the footnotes
below, we believe, based on information furnished to us, that the persons and entities named in the table
below have sole voting and sole investment power with respect to all shares beneficially owned, subject to
applicable community property laws.

Applicable percentage ownership is based on 283,821,729 shares of Class A common stock and 38,254,915
shares of Class B common stock outstanding as of March 31, 2024. Shares of our Class A common stock and
Class B common stock subject to stock options that are currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of
March 31, 2023 or RSUs that may vest and settle within 60 days of March 31, 2024 are deemed to be
outstanding and to be beneficially owned by the person holding the stock options or RSUs for the purpose of
computing the percentage ownership of that person but are not treated as outstanding for the purpose of
computing the percentage ownership of any other person. Unless otherwise indicated, the address of each of
the individuals and entities listed in the table below is ¢c/o Archer Aviation Inc., 190 W. Tasman Drive, San
Jose, California, 95134.

NAME OF BENEFICIAL OWNER CLASSA CLASSB % OF TOTAL
OTHER 5% OR GREATER STOCKHOLDERS (1) SHARES % SHARES % VOTING POWER
Ark Investment Management LLC (2) 28,866,814 10.17 4.33
BlackRock, Inc. (3) 14,993,798
Marc Lore (4) 28,086,358 9.90 4.21
State Street Corporation (5) 14,796,322
Stellantis N.V.(6) 47,099,946  16.59 - & 7.07
NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS & DIRECTORS
Adam Goldstein (7) 139,526 * 34,217,931 89.45 51.37
Andy Missan (8) 286,279 * - * *
Tom Muniz (9) 1,780,824 * = * *
Deborah Diaz (10) 142,347 * - * *
Fred M. Diaz (11) 160,669 * - * *
Oscar Munoz (12) 443,329 * - * *
Barbara Pilarski - * - * *
Maria Pinelli (13) 128,041 * - * *
Michael Spellacy (14) 2,996,356 1.06 - * *
All Current Executive Officers & Directors as a Group
(11 Persons) (15) 6,998,612 2.47 34,217,931 89.45 52.40
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*Indicates ownership of less than one percent.

(1) Unless otherwise noted, the business address of each of those listed in the table above is c/o Archer Aviation Inc., 190 W. Tasman Drive,
San Jose, CA 95134.

(2) As reported in a statement on Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on March 11, 2024 by Ark Investment Management LLC (“ARK”).
According to the Schedule 13G/A, as of February 29, 2024, ARK and certain affiliated funds have sole voting and investment discretion over
27,439,210 shares of our Class A common stock and sole disposition power over 28,866,814 shares. ARK has shared voting power over
800,252 shares of our Class A common stock. ARK’s business address is: 200 Central Avenue, St. Petersburg, FL 33701.

(3) As reported in a statement on Form 13G/A filed with the SEC on January 29, 2024, by BlackRock, Inc. (“BlackRock”). BlackRock and
certain affiliated entities have sole voting and investment discretion over the number of shares of our Class A common stock ascribed to
BlackRock in the table above. BlackRock’s business address is 50 Hudson Yards, New York, NY 10001.

(4) As reported in a statement on Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on January 10, 2023. The securities reported in this row consist entirely
of Class A common stock and include 291,122 shares which are subject to a lapsing repurchase right held by us as of March 31, 2024. Mr.
Lore is the direct beneficial owner of all securities reported in the table above and he has sole voting and investment discretion over them.
Mr. Lore’s business address is: 443 Greenwich Street, PHA, New York, NY 10013.

(5) As reported in a statement on Form 13G filed with the SEC on January 25, 2024, by State Street Corporation (“State Street”). State
Street and certain affiliated entities have sole voting and investment discretion over the number of shares of our Class A common stock
ascribed to State Street in the table above. State Street’s business address is State Street Financial Center, 1 Congress Street, Suite 1,
Boston, MA 02114.

(6) As reported in a statement on Form 13D/A filed with the SEC on March 15, 2024, by Stellantis N.V. (“Stellantis”). Stellantis and certain
affiliated entities have sole voting and investment discretion over the number of shares of our Class A common stock ascribed to Stellantis
in the table above. Stellantis’ business address is Taurusavenue 1, 2132LS, Hoofddorp, The Netherlands. This amount includes 1,077,024
shares of Class A common stock issuable upon exercise of a warrant to Stellantis Europe S.p.A., 1,671,202 shares of Class A common
stock issuable upon exercise of a warrant to FCA USA LLC, and 5,000,000 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon exercise of a
warrant to Stellantis.

(7) The securities set forth in this row consist of: (i) 139,526 shares of our Class A common stock held directly by Capri Growth LLC
(“Capri”), of which Adam Goldstein is the managing member; (ii) 27,756,278 shares of Class B common stock held directly by Capri and (iii)
6,461,653 shares of Class B common stock directly held by Mr. Goldstein.

(8) The securities reported in this row consist of: (i) 201,155 shares of our Class A common stock directly held by Andy Missan; and (ii)
85,124 shares of Class A common stock underlying RSUs scheduled to vest within 60 days following March 31, 2024.

(9) The securities reported in this row consist of: (i) 1,187,830 shares of our Class A common stock directly held by Tom Muniz; and (ii)
592,994 shares of Class A common stock underlying RSUs scheduled to vest within 60 days following March 31, 2024.

(10) The securities reported in this row consist of (i) 34,389 shares of our Class A common stock directly beneficially owned by Deborah
Diaz; (ii) 59,347 shares of Class A common stock underlying RSUs scheduled to vest within 60 days following March 31, 2024; and (iii)
48,661 shares of Class A common stock underlying fully vested deferred RSUs.

(11) The securities reported in this row consist of (i) 52,711 shares of our Class A common stock directly beneficially owned by Fred M. Diaz;
(ii) 59,347 shares of Class A common stock underlying RSUs scheduled to vest within 60 days following March 31, 2024; and (iii) 48,661
shares of Class A common stock underlying fully vested deferred RSUs.

(12) The securities reported in this row consist of (i) 329,979 shares of our Class A common stock directly beneficially owned by Oscar
Munoz; (i) 59,347 shares of Class A common stock underlying RSUs scheduled to vest within 60 days following March 31, 2024; and (iii)
54,003 shares of Class A common stock underlying fully vested deferred RSUs.

(13) The securities reported in this row consist of (i) 68,694 shares of our Class A common stock directly beneficially owned by Maria Pinelli;
and (ii) 59,347 shares of Class A common stock underlying RSUs scheduled to vest within 60 days following March 31, 2024.

(14) The securities reported in this row consist of: (i) 195,166 shares of our Class A common stock directly beneficially owned by Michael
Spellacy; (i) 1,694,906 shares of our Class A common stock beneficially owned by Achill Holdings LLC (“Achill”), of which Mr. Spellacy is
the sole managing member, (iii) 1,046,937 shares of Class A common stock underlying warrants owned by Achill and (iv) 59,347 shares of
Class A common stock underlying RSUs scheduled to vest within 60 days following March 31, 2024. Of the shares of Class A common
stock owned by Achill, 254,236 shares are subject to forfeiture in the event that our stock price does not meet certain targets more
specifically described in the Amended and Restated Sponsor Letter Agreement (the “Sponsor Letter Agreement”) dated July 29, 2021. The
Sponsor Letter Agreement was previously filed by us with the SEC on August 3, 2021 as Annex D-2 to Amendment Number 4 to our
Registration Statement filed on Form S-4.

(15) This total includes the securities beneficially owned by all of the company’s directors and executive officers, including, without
limitation, the securities described in footnotes (7) and (9) through (14). It also includes an additional 377,394 shares which are subject to a
lapsing repurchase right as of March 31, 2024 and 1,125,373 RSUs scheduled to vest within 60 days of March 31, 2024.
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

We were a smaller reporting company in 2023, and as a result, we are eligible for certain exemptions from
various reporting requirements relating to executive compensation. These include, but are not limited to,
reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our proxy statements, including the
requirement to include a Compensation Discussion and Analysis. We have elected to comply with the scaled
disclosure requirements applicable to smaller reporting companies.

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

The below table provides information concerning compensation awarded to, earned by or paid to each of our
named executive officers (“NEOs”) for all services rendered in all capacities during the fiscal years in which
such individuals were named executive officers. Our named executive officers for 2023 were:

— Adam Goldstein, our CEO;
—  Tom Muniz, our Chief Technology Officer; and
—  Andy Missan, our former Chief Legal Officer (“CLO”).

NON-EQUITY
STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN ALL OTHER
NAME AND PRINCIPAL FISCAL SALARY AWARDS COMPENSATION COMPENSATION TOTAL
POSITION YEAR ($) ($)(1) ($)(2) ($)(3) (%)
Adam Goldstein 2023 600,000 — 393,750 10,000 1,003,750
Chief Executive Officer 2022 600,000 — 600,000 — 1,200,000
2021 458,333 145,567,104 300,000 — 146,325,437
Thomas Muniz 2023 650,000 4,669,000 318,500 15,150 5,652,650
Chief Technology Officer 2022 650,000 — 320,125 10,250 980,375
Andy Missan (4) 2023 500,000 734,842 343,000 25,000 1,602,842
Former Chief Legal Officer 2022 500,000 — 344,750 7,089 851,839

(1) The amounts reported represent the grant date fair value of the RSUs granted to a NEO during 2023 and 2022, as applicable, as
computed in accordance with ASC 718. The assumptions used in calculating the grant date fair value of these awards are set forth in Note 10
in our Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 29, 2024.

(2) The amounts represent the bonuses paid under our annual bonus plan.

(3) The amounts reported represent: (a) for Mr. Goldstein, taxable reimbursement of benefit, tax, and financial advisory services ("financial
planning benefit") of $10,000 in 2023, (b) for Mr. Muniz, company contributions under its 401(k) plan of $11,250 and in 2023 and 2022,
respectively and financial planning benefit of $3,900 in 2023 and (c) for Mr. Missan, company contributions under its 401(k) plan of $15,000
and $7,089 in 2023 and 2022, respectively, and financial planning benefit of $10,000 in 2023.

(4) Mr. Missan transitioned from his former position as CLO to the role of senior advisor, effective as of March 28, 2024.

ELEMENT F R MPENSATION PR RAM

Base salary

Base salary is designed to be a competitive fixed component that establishes a guaranteed minimum level of
cash compensation for our executive officers. Our compensation committee reviews base salaries on an

annual basis taking into account each officer’s level of responsibility, experience, performance and
competitive market data. No changes were made to the base salaries of the NEOs in 2023.
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Performance-based annual bonus

Each of our executive officers is eligible to earn an annual cash incentive award under our 2023 Executive
Bonus Plan. This performance-based annual bonus is designed to reward the achievement of annual
corporate performance relative to pre-established goals, as well as individual performance, contributions and
strategic impact.

In 2023, the annual bonuses were weighted 40% on corporate performance and 60% on attainment of
individual goals for all of our NEOs, except for our CEO. The annual incentive award for our CEO was
weighted 100% on corporate performance. The 2023 corporate goals and their associated weightings were
established by our compensation committee early in the fiscal year and are focused on near-term strategic
milestones that advance our mission and create long-term value for our stockholders. Individual goal
achievement for each NEQO’s performance was determined by the compensation committee based on an
evaluation of achievement against objective individual goals. Total bonus funding is capped at 125% of the
target bonus.

The compensation committee may award bonuses in a particular year that are in excess of or below the target
bonus amount based on its assessment of such executive officer’s performance and also annually evaluates
the target bonus opportunity and, as part of such evaluation, at its discretion, may increase or decrease the
annual bonus opportunity based on additional factors, such as individual and corporate performance.

For 2023, the compensation committee determined that each NEO would be awarded a bonus equal to 95%
of target, which reflects the achievement of our NEOs against the corporate and individual goals determined
at the start of the year. Bonuses were paid according to the 2023 Executive Bonus Plan’s formulaic funding,
with no discretionary adjustments.

Long-term equity incentive compensation

Our compensation committee believes that long-term equity incentive compensation is a critical component
of our executive compensation program that links the interests and risks of our executive officers with those of
our stockholders. Long-term incentive compensation is an effective means for focusing our executive officers
on driving increased stockholder value over a multi-year period and motivating them to remain employed with
us.

In 2023, equity-based awards for our executive officers, other than our CEO, were granted in the form of
time-vested RSUs that vest over four years, subject to their continued service.

Employee benefits and perquisites

All executive officers are eligible for a taxable reimbursement for services from a certified financial planner,
certified public accountant or similar professional for certain estate planning, tax preparation, retirement
planning services up to an annual maximum of $10,000. We provide certain additional benefits to executive
officers that are generally available to all employees, including medical, dental, vision and life insurance
coverage, as well as 401(k) matching contributions; however, our compensation committee in its discretion
may revise, amend, or add to these benefits.
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OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL-YEAR END TABLE

Option Awards Stock Awards
Market or
Numberof  Number of Numberof payout value of
securities securities Number of Market value unearned unearned
underlying  underlying sharesorunits ofsharesof shares,units shares, units
unexercise unexercised Option of stockthat units or stock orotherrights orotherrights
d options options exercise  Option have not thathave not thathavenot thathave not
Grant exercisable unexercisab price expiration vested vested vested vested
Name Date (#) le (#) (s) date (#) ($)(1) (#) ($)(1)
Adam Goldstein (2) 9/16/2021 = - = = = = 15,006,918 92,142,477
Thomas Muniz (5) 2/5/2020 - 178,028 0.04 2/4/2030 - - - -
(6) 11/3/2020 - 302,389 0.15 11/2/2030 - - - -
(7)  12/8/2021 - - - - 71,974 441,920
(8) 5/1/2023 - - - - 2,300,000 14,122,000 - -
Andy Missan (3) 12/8/2021 - - - - 437,500 2,686,250 - -
(4)  5/1/2023 - - - - 294,118 1,805,885 - -

(1) Represents the value of the number of shares of Class A common stock or Class B common stock, as applicable, covered by the RSU
awards reported in this column using $6.14, which was the fair market value of the Class A common stock on December 29, 2023, the last
trading day of the year. The value provided assumes any relevant performance criteria are achieved.

(2) On September 16, 2021, pursuant to the 2019 Plan, Mr. Goldstein was granted a performance-based equity award consisting of RSUs
settleable for 20,009,224 shares of Class B common stock. This award vests ratably in 1/4th increments upon certification by our compensation
committee of the achievement of certain milestones over the seven-year period beginning on September 16, 2021.

(3) Mr. Muniz was granted a stock option on February 5, 2020 pursuant to the 2019 Plan which is exercisable for 762,978 shares of the Class A
common stock. The award has a five-year vesting schedule with 1/5th of the total award vested on December 6, 2020, and 1/60th vesting ratably
on a monthly basis thereafter, subject to his continued service with us. In accordance with the grant agreements entered into by Mr. Muniz with
us, he early exercised his entire stock option on November 30, 2020 and the unvested shares he received pursuant to his early exercises remain
subject to a lapsing right of repurchase.

(4) Mr. Muniz was granted a stock option on November 3, 2020 pursuant to the 2019 Plan which is exercisable for 788,838 shares of the Class A
common stock. The award has a five-year vesting schedule with 1/5th of the total award vested on November 1, 2021, with 1/60th vesting ratably
on a monthly basis thereafter, subject to his continued service with us. In accordance with the grant agreements entered into by Mr. Muniz with
us, he early exercised his entire stock option on November 30, 2020 and the unvested shares he received pursuant to his early exercises remain
subject to a lapsing right of repurchase.

(5) Mr. Muniz was granted a RSU settleable for 215,920 shares of Class A common stock on December 8, 2021 pursuant to the 2021 Plan. The
award has a three-year vesting schedule, with 1/3 of the total award vested on November 15, 2022, and 1/12 of the total award vesting quarterly
thereafter on each March 1st, May 15th, August 15th and November 15th, subject to his continued service with us.

(6) Mr. Muniz was granted a RSU settleable for 2,300,000 shares of Class A common stock on May 1, 2023 pursuant to the 2021 Plan. The
award has a four-year vesting schedule, with 1/4 vesting on May 15, 2024 and 1/16 of the total award vests quarterly thereafter, subject to his
continued service with us.

(7) Mr. Missan was granted a RSU settleable for 1,000,000 shares of Class A common stock on December 8, 2021 pursuant to the 2021 Plan.
The award has a four-year vesting schedule, with 1/4th of the total award vested on August 15, 2022, and 1/16th of the total award vests quarterly
thereafter on each November 15th, March 1st, May 15th, and August 15th, subject to his continued service with us. See —-"Andy Missan
Transition Arrangement” below for additional information about this grant.

(8) Mr. Missan was granted a RSU settleable for 361,991 shares of Class A common stock on May 1, 2023 pursuant to the 2021 Plan. The award
has a four-year vesting schedule, with 1/16th of the total award vesting quarterly starting on May 15, 2023, subject to his continued service with
us. See —"Andy Missan Transition Arrangement” below for additional information about this grant.
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POTENTIAL PAYMENTS UPON TERMINATION OR CHANGE IN CONTROL

Adam Goldstein. In September 2021, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Goldstein
substantially on the terms set forth below in connection with the Closing of the Business Combination.
Pursuant to the terms of his agreement, Mr. Goldstein is eligible for the following severance for a termination
without “cause” or resignation for “good reason” (as defined in his employment agreement) not in connection
with a change in control:

— 24 months of base salary at time of termination paid in accordance with our normal payroll practices;
— alump sum cash payment equal to two times the target annual bonus;

— alump sum payment equal to 24 months of COBRA premiums; and

—  24-month accelerated vesting of any time-vested equity awards.

For a termination without cause or resignation for good reason in the period starting three months prior to and
ending 18 months following a change in control, Mr. Goldstein will each be eligible for the following severance
package:

— 24 months of base salary at time of termination paid in a lump sum;

— alump sum cash payment equal to two times the target annual bonus;
— alump sum payment equal to 24 months of COBRA premiums; and

— 100% accelerated vesting of any time-vested awards.

As a condition of receiving the severance benefits, Mr. Goldstein must execute a general release of claims in
favor of Archer and allow it to become effective and comply with all applicable agreements including but not
limited to, our form of confidentiality and invention assignment agreement.

Other Executive Officers. In February 2022, we entered into Change in Control and Severance Agreements
with each of our then-current executive officers (excluding Adam Goldstein, whose change in control and
severance arrangements are provided separately in their employment agreements and described above) (the
“Eligible Executive Officers”). In the event of certain qualifying terminations of employment pursuant to the
Change in Control and Severance Agreements, each of the Eligible Executive Officers is entitled to: (i) an
amount equal to 12 months of his or her base salary at the rate in effect immediately prior to such termination,
payable in a cash lump-sum; (ii) a pro rata payment of his or her then-current annual bonus to the extent
earned, and (iii) to the extent that her or she timely elects to receive continued coverage under our
group-healthcare plans, a lump sum cash payment in an amount equal to the full amount of his or her COBRA
premiums for the same period as he or she is entitled to severance. In addition, each Eligible Executive
Officer’s outstanding equity awards will become vested and exercisable, as applicable, as if he or she had
completed an additional 12 months of service, excluding awards that would otherwise vest contingent upon
remaining-unsatisfied performance criteria.

In the event a qualifying termination occurs within three months preceding or 18 months following a “change
in control”, each Eligible Executive Officer is entitled to: (i) an amount equal to 12 months of his or her base
salary and 100% of his or her target bonus at the rate in effect immediately prior to such termination, payable
in a cash lump-sum; and (ii) a pro rata payment of his or her then-current target bonus based on the actual
period of service during the bonus period. In addition, each Eligible Executive Officer’s outstanding equity
awards will become vested and exercisable, as applicable, with respect to 100% of the then-unvested shares,
excluding awards that would otherwise vest contingent upon remaining-unsatisfied performance criteria. The
Eligible Executive Officer will also be entitled to continuation of COBRA benefits as set forth above.

All such severance payments and benefits are subject to each Eligible Executive Officer’s execution of a
general release of claims against us.
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None of our executive officers are entitled to receive a “gross-up” or similar payment for any excise taxes that
may become payable in connection with a change in control pursuant to Sections 280G and Internal Revenue
Code Section 4999.

Andy Missan Transition Arrangement. In February 2024, we entered into a Transition Agreement and
Advisor Agreement with Andy Missan (the “Transition Arrangement”) pursuant to which Mr. Missan
transitioned from his former role as our Chief Legal Officer to a Senior Advisor, effective March 28, 2024. The
Transition Arrangement entitles Mr. Missan to receive a monthly advisory fee and continued vesting during his
term as a Senior Advisor to the Company. Additionally, pursuant to the Transition Arrangement, Mr. Missan
was entitled to: (i) a one-time cash payment equal to 12 months of Mr. Missan’s salary; (ii) a pro-rated amount
of Mr. Missan’s cash bonus through March 31, 2024; (iii) a one-time cash payment equal to 12-months of
COBRA premiums; and (iv) the accelerated vesting of 340,498 of his RSUs. As part of this arrangement, Mr.
Missan agreed to a customary general release and waiver of claims.

COMPENSATION RISK ASSESSMENT

The compensation committee reviewed our executive and employee compensation programs to assess
whether they encourage our employees to take excessive or inappropriate risks. After reviewing and
assessing our compensation philosophy, policies and practices, including the mix of fixed and variable,
short-term and long-term incentives and overall pay, incentive plan structures, and the checks and balances
built into, and oversight of, each plan and practice, the compensation committee has determined that any
risks arising from our compensation programs are not reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on
the Company.

LIMITATIONS ON LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION MATTERS

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation contains provisions that limit the liability of our directors
for monetary damages to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL. Consequently, our directors are not
personally liable to us or our stockholders for monetary damages for any breach of fiduciary duties as
directors, except liability for:

— any breach of the director’s duty of loyalty to us or our stockholders;

— any act or omission not in good faith or that involves intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;

— unlawful payments of dividends or unlawful stock repurchases or redemptions as provided in Section 174
of the DGCL; or

— any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws require us to
indemnify our directors and officers to the maximum extent not prohibited by the DGCL and allow us to
indemnify other employees and agents as set forth in the DGCL. Subject to certain limitations, our amended
and restated bylaws also require us to advance expenses incurred by our directors and officers for the
defense of any action for which indemnification is required or permitted.

We have entered, and intend to continue to enter, into separate indemnification agreements with our directors,
officers and certain of our key employees, in addition to the indemnification provided for in our amended and
restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws. These agreements, among other
things, require us to indemnify our directors, officers, and key employees for certain expenses, including
attorneys’ fees, judgments, penalties, fines, and settlement amounts actually incurred by these individuals in
any action or proceeding arising out of their service to us or any of our subsidiaries or any other company or
enterprise to which these individuals provide services at our request. Subject to certain limitations, our
indemnification agreements also require us to advance expenses incurred by our directors, officers, and key
employees for the defense of any action for which indemnification is required or permitted.
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We believe that provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated
bylaws and indemnification agreements are necessary to attract and retain qualified directors, officers and key
employees. We also maintain directors’ and officers’ liability insurance.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted for directors or
executive officers, we have been informed that, in the opinion of the SEC, such indemnification is against
public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is therefore unenforceable.

PAY VERSUS PERFORMANCE

As required by Section 953(a) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and ltem
402(v) of Regulation S-K, we are providing the following disclosure regarding executive compensation for our
principal executive officers (“PEOs”) and our other named executive officers (“Non-PEO NEOs”) and
company performance for the fiscal years listed below. Our compensation committee did not consider the pay
versus performance disclosure below in making its pay decisions for any of the years shown. The amounts
shown for “Compensation Actually Paid” have been calculated in accordance with ltem 402(v) of Regulation
S-K and do not reflect compensation actually earned, realized, or received by our named executive officers for
any of the periods listed. These amounts reflect Summary Compensation Table (“SCT”) compensation with
certain adjustments as described in the following table and footnotes.

In evaluating each executive’s performance, the compensation committee sets corporate goals that advance
us towards commercialization. The compensation committee also sets financial performance targets to
assess the company’s ongoing business and operational efficiency. We went public in September 2021 and
are not yet generating operating revenue. The majority of our NEOSs’ target annual total compensation is
variable in nature and “at-risk” and linked to our performance towards achieving key goals set by our
compensation committee.

Value of
Initial Fixed
$100
Average Average Investment
Summary Compensatio Based on
Summary Summary Compensation n Actually Company
Compensation Compensation Compensation Compensation Table Totalfor Paidto Total
Year Table Totalfor Actually Paidto Table Totalfor Actually Paidto non-PEO non-PEO Stockholder NetLoss ($
(1) PEO 1(S) PEO 1(s)(2) PEO 2(S) PEO 2(s)(2) NEOs ($) NEOs ($)(2)  Return ($)(7) millions)(8)
2023 1,003,750 27,950,070 — — 3,627,746 11,188,491 101.66 (458)
2022 1,200,000 (45,146,083) 4,846,372 (46,473,291) 4,426,452 1,965,114 30.96 (317)

(1) Adam Goldstein served as our Chief Executive Officer (PEO 1) for the entirety of the applicable years. Brett Adcock served as our co-Chief
Executive Officer (PEO 2) for a portion of 2022. Our non-PEO NEOs were Mark Mesler and Tosha Perkins for 2022 and Tom Muniz and Andy
Missan for 2023.

(2) Compensation Actually Paid reflects the exclusions and inclusions of certain amounts from the total compensation amount reported in the
SCT for the PEOs and the Non-PEO NEOs as required by Item 402(v) of Regulation S-K, as set forth in the tables below. In making each of these
adjustments, the “value” of an option or stock award is the fair value of the award on the applicable date determined in accordance with FASB
ASC Topic 718 using the valuation assumptions we then used to calculate the fair value of our equity awards. For more information on the
valuation of our equity awards, please see the notes to our financial statements that appear in our applicable Annual Report on Form 10-K and the
footnotes to the SCT that appears in our applicable definitive proxy statement.

PEO1
2023 (s) 2022 ($)
SCT Total 1,003,750 1,200,000

- Grant Date Fair Value of Option Awards and Stock Awards Granted in Fiscal Year _ _
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+ Fair Value at Fiscal Year-End of Outstanding and Unvested Option Awards and Stock Awards Granted in Fiscal
Year

+ Change in Fair Value of Outstanding and Unvested Option Awards and Stock Awards Granted in Prior Fiscal
Years

+ Fair Value at Vesting of Option Awards and Stock Awards Granted in Fiscal Year That Vested During Fiscal Year

+ Change in Fair Value as of Vesting Date of Option Awards and Stock Awards Granted in Prior Fiscal Years For
Which Applicable Vesting Conditions Were Satisfied During Fiscal Year

- Fair Value as of Prior Fiscal Year-End of Option Awards and Stock Awards Granted in Prior Fiscal Years That
Failed to Meet Applicable Vesting Conditions During Fiscal Year

Compensation Actually Paid

SCT Total

- Grant Date Fair Value of Option Awards and Stock Awards Granted in Fiscal Year

+ Fair Value at Fiscal Year-End of Outstanding and Unvested Option Awards and Stock Awards Granted in Fiscal
Year

+ Change in Fair Value of Outstanding and Unvested Option Awards and Stock Awards Granted in Prior Fiscal
Years

+ Fair Value at Vesting of Option Awards and Stock Awards Granted in Fiscal Year That Vested During Fiscal Year

+ Change in Fair Value as of Vesting Date of Option Awards and Stock Awards Granted in Prior Fiscal Years For
Which Applicable Vesting Conditions Were Satisfied During Fiscal Year

- Fair Value as of Prior Fiscal Year-End of Option Awards and Stock Awards Granted in Prior Fiscal Years That
Failed to Meet Applicable Vesting Conditions During Fiscal Year

Compensation Actually Paid

SCT Total

- Grant Date Fair Value of Option Awards and Stock Awards Granted in Fiscal Year

+ Fair Value at Fiscal Year-End of Outstanding and Unvested Option Awards and Stock Awards Granted in Fiscal
Year

+ Change in Fair Value of Outstanding and Unvested Option Awards and Stock Awards Granted in Prior Fiscal
Years

+ Fair Value at Vesting of Option Awards and Stock Awards Granted in Fiscal Year That Vested During Fiscal Year

+ Change in Fair Value as of Vesting Date of Option Awards and Stock Awards Granted in Prior Fiscal Years For
Which Applicable Vesting Conditions Were Satisfied During Fiscal Year

- Fair Value as of Prior Fiscal Year-End of Option Awards and Stock Awards Granted in Prior Fiscal Years That
Failed to Meet Applicable Vesting Conditions During Fiscal Year

Compensation Actually Paid

25,605,759 (44,531,306)

1,340,561 (1,814,777)

27,950,070 (45,146,083)
PEO 2

2023 (s) 2022 (s)

= 4,846,372

- (48,722,460)

- (2,597,203)

- (46,473,291)

2023 () 2022 (s)

3,627,746 4,426,452

(3,400,000) (3,707,912)

7,963,942 1,724,824

2,058,096 (364,875)

171,606 _

767,101 (113,375)

11,188,491 1,965,114

(7) Represents value of initial $100 investment in Company stock on December 31, 2021, the last trading day prior to the earliest fiscal year

shown in the table.

(8) Represents the Company’s net loss reflected in the Company’s audited financial statements.
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The following chart sets forth the relationship between compensation actually paid to the PEOs and the
average of compensation actually paid to our non-PEO NEOs as a group compared to our cumulative TSR
over the two most recently completed fiscal years. Changes in compensation actually paid is generally
proportional to changes in our Class A common stock price since changes in the fair value of the NEOSs’
equity awards are directly impacted by our stock price. Our stock price during the covered period has
fluctuated significantly, much of which was driven by factors external to our business. Since equity awards
comprise a significant portion of the total compensation of our NEOs, compensation actually paid inherently

fluctuates with our TSR.

ACHR TSR vs. Compensation Actually Paid

$150 —
$100 —
$50 —

$0
m (846.47)

550 —

$27.95

Compensation Actually Paid ($M)

$11.88 $0.00

12/31/2022 12/31/2023

W PEOCAP (SM) 1 Average NEO CAP (SM) M PEO2CAP (SM) = ACHR TSR

Description of Relationship Between PEO and Non-PEO NEO Compensation Actually Paid and Net Loss
The following chart sets forth the relationship between compensation actually paid of the PEOs, the average
of compensation actually paid of our non-PEO NEOs and our net loss during the two most recently completed
fiscal years. We do not use net loss as a performance measure in our overall executive compensation
program. The compensation actually paid of our NEOs is not aligned with our net loss, as shown below,
primarily due to the significant portion of compensation actually paid of NEOs is equity awards, a result of
which is much greater sensitivity of compensation actually paid to our Class A common stock price.
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Net Loss vs. Compensation Actually Paid

$100 —

$27.95 $0.00
$0 .

(845.15) ($46.47)

-$100 —

-$200 —

-$300 —

Compensation Actually Paid ($M)

-$400 —

-$500 —
12/31/2022 12/31/2023

W PEO CAP ($M) Average NEO CAP ($M) [ PEO 2 CAP ($M) Net Loss ($M)

All information provided above under the “Pay Versus Performance” heading will not be deemed to be
incorporated by reference in any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, whether
made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation language in any such filing.
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EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION:
NUMBER OF SECURITIES

NUMBER OF REMAINING AVAILABLE FOR
SECURITIES TO BE WEIGHTED-AVERAGE FUTURE ISSUANCE UNDER
ISSUED UPON EXERCISE EXERCISE PRICE OF EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS
OF OUTSTANDING OUTSTANDING OPTIONS (EXCLUDING SECURITIES
PLAN CATEGORY SECURITIES (#) (s)(1) REFLECTED IN COLUMN(A))(#)
(a) (b) (c)

Equity compensation plans
approved by security holders (2) 33,952,315(3) 0.12 43,383,031(4)

Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders — — —

Total 33,952,315 0.12 43,383,031

(1) The weighted-average exercise price does not reflect the shares that will be issued in connection with the settlement of RSUs, since
RSUs have no exercise price.

(2) Includes our (i) 2021 Plan; (ii) 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan; and 2019 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2019 Plan”).

(3) Includes: (i) 16,515,565 shares subject to outstanding awards granted under the 2021 Plan, all of which shares were subject to
outstanding RSU awards and (ii) 17,436,750 shares subject to outstanding awards granted under the 2019 Plan, of which 2,429,832 shares
were subject to outstanding option awards and 15,006,918 shares were subject to outstanding RSU awards.

(4) As of December 31, 2023, there were 43,383,031 shares of Class A common stock available for issuance under the 2021 Plan and no
additional shares available for issuance under the 2019 Plan. The number of shares of Class A common stock reserved for issuance under
our 2021 Plan increased automatically by 15,320,111 shares on January 1, 2024 and will increase automatically on the first day of January
of each of 2022 through 2031 by the number of shares equal to 5% of all series and classes of our common stock outstanding as of the
immediately preceding December 31 or a lower number approved by our board of directors. As of December 31, 2023, there were 7,778,810
shares of Class A common stock available for issuance under the 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. The number of shares of Class A
common stock reserved for issuance under our 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan increased automatically by 2,679,473 shares on
January 1, 2024 and will increase automatically on the first day of January of each of 2022 through 2031 by the number of shares equal to
1% of the total issued and outstanding shares of our Class A common stock as of the immediately preceding December 31 or a lower
number approved by our board of directors.
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS:

The following includes a summary of transactions since January 1, 2022 to which we were, are, or will be a
party in which the amount involved exceeds $120,000 and in which any director, nominee for director,
executive officer, beneficial holder of more than 5% of our capital stock or any member of theirimmediate
family or any entity affiliated with any of the foregoing persons had, have, or will have a direct or indirect
material interest.

Agreements with Stellantis. On January 3, 2023, Archer entered into the following agreements with
Stellantis N.V. (“Stellantis”):

Collaboration Agreement. Pursuant to the Collaboration Agreement between us and Stellantis, the parties will
collaborate on the development and implementation of our manufacturing operations for the production of our
eVTOL aircraft products. Pursuant to the Collaboration Agreement, Stellantis has agreed to provide
personnel, resources and assistance supporting, among other things, construction plans and activities,
powertrain automation, and manufacturing and industrial engineering activities relating to our eVTOL aircraft.
In exchange, we have granted Stellantis certain exclusivity rights with respect to, among other things, the
supply of technology, products or services to us, as well as certain contract manufacturing activities.
Additionally, Stellantis has the right, in its sole discretion, to require us to enter into one or more transactions
for the manufacture or assembly of our aircraft.

2023 Forward Purchase Agreement. In connection with the Collaboration Agreement, we entered into the
2023 Forward Purchase Agreement with Stellantis, pursuant to which we may elect, in our sole discretion, to
issue and sell to Stellantis up to $150.0 million of shares of our Class A common stock (the “2023 Forward
Purchase Shares”), following the satisfaction of certain Milestones and pursuant to the terms and conditions
of the 2023 Forward Purchase Agreement. The first milestone with respect to $25.0 million of 2023 Forward
Purchase Shares shall be achieved on or after the date of the execution of the Collaboration Agreement and
the second and third milestone with respect to $70.0 million and $55.0 million of 2023 Forward Purchase
Shares, respectively, will be satisfied upon achievement of certain milestones associated with our Midnight
eVTOL aircraft and other conditions as set forth in the 2023 Forward Purchase Agreement. The 2023 Forward
Purchase Shares to be issued pursuant to the Forward Purchase Agreement and in connection with the
achievement of a Milestone shall be equal to: (i) the total value of shares of Class A common stock associated
with each Milestone, divided by (ii) the per share price equal to 90% of the VWAP.

From and after the date of the 2023 Forward Purchase Agreement, Stellantis will maintain the right to
nominate one individual for election to our board of directors as a Class Il director from our 2023 annual
meeting of stockholders through the date of Archer’s annual meeting of stockholders to occur in 2026 (which
initial designee shall be Barbara Pilarski who currently serves as a Class |l director on the board of directors)
and, so long as Stellantis or its affiliates beneficially own shares of Class A common stock equal to at least
12.5% of our outstanding shares of Class A common stock, will have the right to continue to nominate one
individual for election to the board of directors as a Class Il director at our annual meeting of stockholders to
occur in 2026 through the date of our annual meeting of stockholders in 2029.

On June 23, 2023, we issued 6,337,039 shares of Class A common stock to Stellantis at a price of $3.94506
per share in connection with the first milestone under the 2023 Forward Purchase Agreement and received
approximately $25.0 million in gross proceeds. On August 10, 2023, Stellantis waived certain conditions
provided for in the 2023 Forward Purchase Agreement relating to our actual achievement pursuant to
Milestone 2 (as defined in the 2023 Forward Purchase Agreement). In connection with this, we submitted an
election notice to draw down upon the $70.0 million applicable to Milestone 2, which equals 12,313,234
shares of our Class A common stock. On October 16, 2023, we issued 12,313,234 shares of our Class A
common stock to Stellantis, at a price per share of $5.68, for gross proceeds of approximately $70.0 million.
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Stellantis Warrant Agreement. In connection with the Collaboration Agreement, we and Stellantis entered into
the Stellantis Warrant Agreement, pursuant to which Stellantis is entitled to purchase up to 15.0 million shares
of Class A common stock, at an exercise price of $0.01 per share. The Stellantis Warrant Agreement provides
that the 15.0 million shares of Class A common stock will become vested and exercisable by Stellantis in
three separate tranches upon either (i) the performance by Stellantis of certain undertakings set forth in the
Collaboration Agreement or (ii) the VWAP for the shares of Class A common stock exceeding certain
specified amounts. The shares of Class A common stock subject to the Stellantis Warrant will become vested
and exercisable upon (i) an Automotive OEM Change of Control (as defined in the Collaboration Agreement)
upon expiration of Stellantis’ right to terminate the Collaboration Agreement or (ii) a Liquidation Event if the
Collaboration Agreement is not terminated by us or Stellantis prior to such Liquidation Event. The number of
shares of Class A common stock for which the Stellantis Warrant is exercisable, as well as the exercise price,
may be adjusted upon certain qualifying events, including but not limited to a merger, sales of assets,
reclassification or recapitalization.

Registration Rights Agreement. In connection with the Forward Purchase Agreement, we and Stellantis
entered into a registration rights agreement, pursuant to which we have granted Stellantis certain demand,
piggyback and resale shelf registration rights with respect to the Forward Purchase Shares and the shares of
Class A common stock issuable upon exercise of the Stellantis Warrant.

RELATED PERSON TRANSACTIONS POLICY

Our board of directors has adopted a written related person transactions policy that sets forth our policies and
procedures regarding the identification, review, consideration and oversight of “related person transactions.”
For purposes of our policy only, a “related person transaction” is a transaction, arrangement or relationship (or
any series of similar transactions, arrangements or relationships) in which we or any of our subsidiaries are
participants involving an amount that exceeds $120,000, including purchases of goods or services by or from
the related person or entities in which the related person has a material interest, indebtedness and guarantees
of indebtedness, subject to certain exceptions set forth in Item 404 of Regulation S-K under the Securities
Act.

Transactions involving compensation for services provided to us as an employee, consultant or director will
not be considered related person transactions under this policy. A related person is any executive officer,
director, nominee to become a director or a holder of more than 5% of any class of our voting securities
(including our common stock), including any of their immediate family members and affiliates, including
entities owned or controlled by such persons.

Under the policy, the related person in question or, in the case of transactions with a holder of more than 5% of
any class of our voting securities, an officer with knowledge of a proposed transaction, must present
information regarding the proposed related person transaction to our audit committee (or, where review by our
audit committee would be inappropriate, to another independent body of our board of directors) for review. To
identify related person transactions in advance, we will rely on information supplied by our executive officers,
directors and certain significant stockholders. In considering related person transactions, our audit committee
will take into account the relevant available facts and circumstances, which may include, but are not limited to:

—  therisks, costs, and benefits to us;

— the impact on a director’s independence in the event the related person is a director, immediate family
member of a director or an entity with which a director is affiliated;

— the extent of the related person’s interest in the transaction;

— the purpose and terms of the transaction;

- management’s recommendation with respect to the proposed related person transaction;

- theavailability of other sources for comparable services or products; and

— whether the transaction is on terms comparable to those that could be obtained in an arm’s length
transaction.
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Our audit committee will approve only those transactions that it determines are fair to us and in our best
interests. All of the transactions described above were entered into prior to the adoption of such policy.

INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENTS

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation contains provisions limiting the liability of our executive
officers and directors, and our amended and restated bylaws provide that we will indemnify each of our
executive officers and directors to the fullest extent permitted under Delaware law. Our amended and restated
certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws also provide our board of directors with
discretion to indemnify certain key employees when determined appropriate by our board of directors.

We have entered into indemnification agreements with all of our directors and executive officers. The
indemnification agreements provide that we will indemnify each of our directors, executive officers, and other
key employees against any and all expenses incurred by such director, executive officer, or other key
employee because of his or her status as one of our directors, executive officers, or other key employees, to
the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our
amended and restated bylaws. In addition, the indemnification agreements provide that, to the fullest extent
permitted by Delaware law, we will advance all expenses incurred by our directors, executive officers, and
other key employees in connection with a legal proceeding involving his or her status as a director, executive
officer, or key employee.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION:

STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS TO BE PRESENTED AT NEXT ANNUAL MEETING

Our amended and restated bylaws provide that, for stockholder nominations to our board of directors or other
proposals to be considered at an annual meeting, the stockholder must give timely notice thereof in writing to
the Secretary at Archer Aviation Inc., 190 W. Tasman Drive, San Jose, California 95134, Attn: Secretary.

To be timely for our 2025 annual meeting of stockholders, a stockholder’s notice must be delivered to or
mailed and received by our Secretary at our headquarters not earlier than 2:00 p.m. Pacific Time on Friday,
February 21, 2025 and no later than 2:00 p.m. Pacific Time on Sunday, March 23, 2025. A stockholder’s
notice to the Secretary must set forth as to each matter the stockholder proposes to bring before the annual
meeting the information required by our amended and restated bylaws, including the name and address of the
nominee, as well as other information about the nominee that must be disclosed in proxy solicitations under
Section 14 of the Exchange Act and the related rules and regulations under that section.

Stockholder proposals submitted pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act and intended to be
presented at our 2025 annual meeting of stockholders must be received by us not later than December 31,
2024 in order to be considered for inclusion in our proxy materials for that meeting.

DELINQUENT SECTION 16(a) REPORTS

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our directors, executive officers, and any persons who own more
than 10% of our common stock, to file initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership with
the SEC. Based solely on our review of the forms filed with the SEC and written representations from the
directors and executive officers, we believe that all Section 16(a) filing requirements were timely met in the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, except for: (i) a Form 4 filed late on behalf of Maria Pinelli; (ii) a Form 4
filed late on behalf of Michael Spellacy; (iii) a Form 4 filed late on behalf of Oscar Munoz; (iv) a Form 4 filed late
on behalf of Deborah Diaz and (v) a Form 4 filed late on behalf of Brett Adcock.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

We will mail, without charge, upon written request, a copy of our annual report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2023, including the financial statements and list of exhibits, and any exhibit specifically
requested. Requests should be sent to:

Archer Aviation Inc.
c/o Legal
190 W. Tasman Drive
San Jose, California 95134

The annual report is also available on our investor relations website at investors.archer.com under “SEC
Filings” in the “Financials” section.

ELECTRONIC DELIVERY OF STOCKHOLDER COMMUNICATIONS

We encourage you to help us conserve natural resources, as well as significantly reduce printing and mailing
costs, by signing up to receive your stockholder communications electronically via email. With electronic
delivery, you will be notified via email as soon as future annual reports and proxy statements are available on
the Internet, and you can submit your stockholder votes online. Electronic delivery can also eliminate
duplicate mailings and reduce the amount of bulky paper documents you maintain in your personal files. To
sign up for electronic delivery:
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— Registered Owner (you hold our common stock in your own name at our transfer agent, Continental
Stock Transfer & Trust Company, or you are in possession of stock certificates): visit
https://continentalstock.com and log into your account to enroll.

— Beneficial Owner (you hold our common stock at a brokerage firm, a bank, a trustee, or a nominee): if
you hold shares beneficially, please follow the instructions provided to you by your broker, bank, trustee,
or nominee.

Your electronic delivery enrollment will be effective until you cancel it. Stockholders who are record owners of
shares of our common stock may call Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, our transfer agent, by
phone at (212) 509-4000, by e-mail at cstmail@continentalstock.com, or visit https://continentalstock.com
with questions about electronic delivery.

‘H EHOLDING”—STOCKHOLDERS SHARING THE SAME LAST NAME AND ADDRE

The SEC has adopted rules that permit companies and intermediaries (such as brokers) to implement a
delivery procedure called “householding.” Under this procedure, multiple stockholders who reside at the
same address may receive a single copy of our annual report and proxy materials, including the Notice of
Internet Availability, unless the affected stockholder has provided contrary instructions. This procedure
reduces printing costs and postage fees and helps protect the environment as well.

This year, a number of brokers with account holders who are our stockholders will be “householding” our
annual report and proxy materials, including the Notice of Internet Availability. A single Notice of Internet
Availability and, if applicable, a single set of annual report and other proxy materials will be delivered to
multiple stockholders sharing an address unless contrary instructions have been received from the affected
stockholders. Once you have received notice from your broker that it will be “householding” communications
to your address, “householding” will continue until you are notified otherwise or until you revoke your consent.
Stockholders may revoke their consent at any time by calling Broadridge at (866) 540-7095 or writing to
Broadridge, Householding Department, 51 Mercedes Way, Edgewood, New York, 11717.

Upon written or oral request, we will promptly deliver a separate copy of the Notice of Internet Availability and,
if applicable, our annual report and other proxy materials to any stockholder at a shared address to which a
single copy of any of those documents was delivered. To receive a separate copy of the Notice of Internet
Availability and, if applicable, annual report and other proxy materials, you may contact our Secretary in
writing at 190 W. Tasman Drive, San Jose, California 95134, Attn: Secretary.

Any stockholders who share the same address and receive multiple copies of our Notice of Internet
Availability or annual report and other proxy materials who wish to receive only one copy in the future can
contact their bank, broker, or other holder of record to request information about householding or our
Secretary at the address or telephone number listed above.

OTHER MATTERS:

Our board of directors does not presently intend to bring any other business before the Annual Meeting and,
so far as is known to our board of directors, no matters are to be brought before the Annual Meeting except as
specified in the Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders. As to any business that may arise and properly
come before the Annual Meeting, however, it is intended that proxies, in the form enclosed, will be voted in
respect thereof in accordance with the judgment of the persons voting such proxies.
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INFORMATION INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

We are incorporating by reference specified documents that we file with the SEC, which means that
incorporated documents are considered part of this Proxy Statement. This document incorporates by
reference the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, and the
Company’s Current Reports on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023
and on February 26, 2024 and March 29, 2024. Information contained on our website, www.archer.com is not
incorporated by reference in, and does not constitute part of, this Proxy Statement.

All documents that we file (but not those that we furnish) with the SEC pursuant to Section 13(a), 13(c), 14 or
15(d) of the Exchange Act after the date of this Proxy Statement and before the date of the Annual Meeting
are incorporated by reference in this Proxy Statement from the date of filing of the documents, unless we
specifically provide otherwise. Information that we file with the SEC will automatically update and may replace
information previously filed with the SEC.
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ARCHER AVIATION INC.
AMENDED AND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

Archer Aviation Inc. (the “Corporation”), a corporation organized and existing under and by virtue
of the Delaware General Corporation Law, hereby certifies as follows:

1. The name of the Corporation is “Archer Aviation Inc.” The date of the filing of its original
Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware was August 26, 2020,
under the name “Atlas Crest Investment Corp.”

2. The Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation attached hereto
as Exhibit A, which is incorporated herein by this reference, and which restates, integrates and further
amends the provisions of the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of this Corporation, as
previously amended and/or restated, has been duly adopted by this Corporation’s Board of Directors and
by the stockholders in accordance with Sections 242 and 245 of the General Corporation Law of the State
of Delaware.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, said Corporation has caused this Amended and Restated Certificate
of Incorporation to be signed by its duly authorized officer under the seal of the Corporation this [ %!
day of [ ], 2024.

ARCHER AVIATION INC.

By:

Name: Adam Goldstein

Title: Founder, Chief Executive Officer and
Director



AMENDED AND RESTATED
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
ARCHER AVIATION INC.

L.
The name of this company is Archer Aviation Inc. (the “Company”).
IL.

The address of the registered office of the Company in the State of Delaware is 251 Little
Falls Drive, Wilmington, Delaware, 19808, County of New Castle, and the name of the registered
agent of the Company in the State of Delaware at such address is Corporation Service Company.

I11.

The purpose of the Company is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which a
corporation may be organized under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware
(“DGCL™).

IVv.

A. The total number of shares of all classes of capital stock, each with a par value of
$0.0001 per share, which the Company is authorized to issue is 1,010,000,000 shares, consisting
of (a) 1,000,000,000 shares of common stock (the “Common Stock”), including (i) 700,000,000
shares of Class A common stock (the “Class A Common Stock”), and (ii) 300,000,000 shares of
Class B common stock (the “Class B Common Stock’), and (b) 10,000,000 shares of preferred
stock (the “Preferred Stock™).

B. The Preferred Stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series. The
Board of Directors of the Company is hereby expressly authorized by resolution or resolutions to
provide for the issue of all or any of the shares of the Preferred Stock in one or more series, and to
fix the number of shares of such shares and to determine for each such series, such voting powers,
full or limited, or no voting powers, and such designation, preferences, and relative, participating,
optional, or other rights and such qualifications, limitations, or restrictions thereof, as shall be
stated and expressed in the resolution or resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors providing
for the issuance of such shares and as may be permitted by the DGCL. The Board of Directors is
also expressly authorized to increase (but not about the authorized number of shares of Preferred
Stock) or decrease (but not below the number of shares of such series then outstanding) the number
of shares of any series subsequent to the issuance of shares of that series.

C. The number of authorized shares of Preferred Stock, Class A Common Stock or
Class B Common Stock may be increased or decreased (but not below the number of shares thereof
then outstanding) by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power of all of
the outstanding shares of stock of the Company entitled to vote thereon, without a separate vote of
the holders of the shares of Preferred Stock, or of any series thereof, Class A Common Stock or



Class B Common Stock unless a vote of any such holders is required pursuant to the terms of any
Certificate of Designation filed with respect to any series of Preferred Stock.

D. Except as provided above, the rights, preferences, privileges, restrictions and other
matters relating to the shares of Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock are as
follows:

1. Definitions.

(a) “Acquisition” means (A) any consolidation or merger of the
Company with or into any other Entity, other than any such consolidation or merger in which the
stockholders of the Company immediately prior to such consolidation or merger continue to hold
a majority of the voting power of the surviving Entity in substantially the same proportions (or, if
the surviving Entity is a wholly owned subsidiary of another Entity, the surviving Entity’s Parent)
immediately after such consolidation, merger or reorganization; or (B) any transaction or series of
related transactions to which the Company is a party in which in excess of 50% of the Company’s
voting power is transferred or issued; provided that an Acquisition shall not include any transaction
or series of transactions principally for bona fide equity financing purposes.

(b) “Approved Designee’ shall mean a person or persons who is entitled
to exercise Voting Control with respect to shares of Class B Common Stock following the death
or Incapacity of the Founder pursuant to an agreement entered into between the Founder and some
person or persons, and who is approved by a majority of the Independent Directors.

(¢) “Asset Transfer” means the sale, lease or exchange of all or
substantially all the assets of the Company.

(d) “Business Combination” shall mean the consummation of the
transactions set forth in that certain Business Combination Agreement, by and among Atlas
Investment Corp., Artemis Acquisition Sub Inc., and Archer Aviation Inc., dated as of
February 10, 2021.

(e) “Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation” means this
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, as amended and/or restated
from time to time, including the terms of any certificate of designations of any series of Preferred
Stock.

) “Closing” means the closing date of the Business Combination.

(g) “Entity” means any corporation, partnership, limited liability
company or other legal entity.

(h) “Effective Time” means the time this Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation of the Company filed with the Secretary of State of the State of
Delaware became effective in accordance with the DGCL.
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(@) “Family Member” means with respect to any natural person, the
spouse, ex-spouse, parents, grandparents, lineal descendants, siblings and lineal descendants of
siblings (in each case whether by blood relation or adoption) of such person.

3g) “Final Conversion Date” means 5:00 p.m. in New York City, New
York on the last Trading Day of the fiscal year during which a Final Conversion Trigger Event
occurs.

(k)  “Final Conversion Trigger Event’ shall mean the earliest to occur
of (i) the ten (10) year anniversary of the Closing, (i) the date specified in writing by the holders
of two-thirds of the then outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock, voting as a separate class;
and (iii) when the number of then outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock represents less
than 10.0% of the total number of shares of Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock.

1)) “Founder” means Adam Goldstein as an individual.

(m)  “Incapacity” means, with respect to an individual, that such
individual is incapable of managing his or her financial affairs under the criteria set forth in the
applicable probate code that can be expected to result in death or which has lasted or can be
expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months as determined by a
licensed medical practitioner. In the event of a dispute regarding whether an individual has suffered
an Incapacity, no Incapacity of such individual will be deemed to have occurred unless and until
an affirmative ruling regarding such Incapacity has been made by a court of competent jurisdiction.

(n) “Independent Directors” means the members of the Board of
Directors designated as independent directors in accordance with the requirements of the New
York Stock Exchange or any national stock exchange under which the Company’s equity securities
are listed for trading.

(0) “Liquidation Event’ means (i) any Asset Transfer or Acquisition in
which cash or other property is, pursuant to the express terms of the Asset Transfer or Acquisition,
to be distributed to the stockholders in respect of their shares of capital stock in the Company or
(i1) any liquidation, dissolution and winding up of the Company; provided, however, for the
avoidance of doubt, compensation pursuant to any employment, consulting, severance or other
compensatory arrangement to be paid to or received by a person who is also a holder of shares of
Class A Common Stock or Class B Common Stock does not constitute consideration or a
“distribution to stockholders” in respect of the shares of Class A Common Stock or Class B
Common Stock.

(p)  “Non-founder” shall mean any individual stockholder other than the
Founder.

(qQ)  “Parent”’ of an Entity means any Entity that directly or indirectly
owns or controls a majority of the voting power of the voting securities or interests of such Entity.

(r) “Permitted Entity” means, with respect to a Qualified Stockholder,
any Entity in which such Qualified Stockholder directly, or indirectly through one or more



Permitted Transferees, has sole dispositive power and exclusive Voting Control with respect to all
shares of Class B Common Stock held of record by such Entity.

(s) “Permitted Transfer” means, and be restricted to, any Transfer of a
share of Class B Common Stock:

(@) by the Founder, by the Founder’s Permitted Entities or by
the Founder’s Permitted Transferees, in each case, as a result of or in connection with the
Founder’s death or Incapacity, either (i) to the Founder’s Family Members or to the Founder’s
Permitted Entities or to the Founder’s Permitted Transferees, or (ii) of Voting Control to an
Approved Designee;

(ii) by a Qualified Stockholder that is a natural person (including
a natural person serving in a trustee capacity with regard to a trust for the benefit of himself or
herself and/or his or her Family Members), to the trustee of a Permitted Trust of such Qualified
Stockholder or to such Qualified Stockholder in his or her individual capacity or as a trustee of a
Permitted Trust;

(iii) by the trustee of a Permitted Trust of a Qualified
Stockholder, to such Qualified Stockholder, the trustee of any other Permitted Trust of such
Qualified Stockholder or any Permitted Entity of such Qualified Stockholder;

(iv) by a Qualified Stockholder to any Permitted Entity of such
Qualified Stockholder; or

v) by a Permitted Entity of a Qualified Stockholder to such
Qualified Stockholder or any other Permitted Entity or the trustee of a Permitted Trust of such
Qualified Stockholder.

(t) “Permitted Transferee” means a transferee of shares of Class B
Common Stock received in a Transfer that constitutes a Permitted Transfer.

(w)  “Permitted Trust” means a validly created and existing trust the
beneficiaries of which are either a Qualified Stockholder or Family Members of the Qualified
Stockholder or both, or a trust under the terms of which such Qualified Stockholder has retained a
“qualified interest” within the meaning of §2702(b)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code (as amended
from time to time) and/or a reversionary interest.

(\%) “Qualified Stockholder” means (1) the record holder of a share of
Class B Common Stock at the Effective Time; and (ii) a Permitted Transferee of a Qualified
Stockholder.

(w)  “Single Founder Conversion Trigger Event” shall mean the earliest
to occur of any of the following only respect to the shares of Class B Common Stock held by the
Founder (and any shares of Class B Common Stock underlying any derivative securities held by
the Founder), (i) the occurrence of the nine (9) month anniversary of the death or Incapacity of the
Founder; (ii) the occurrence of the twelve (12) month anniversary of the date that the Founder is
no longer providing services to the Company or its subsidiaries as an executive officer or
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employee, or as a director of the Company; and (iii) at least 80% of the shares of Class B Common
Stock held by the Founder as of immediately following the Closing having been transferred (on a
fully as converted/as exercised basis and subject to customary capitalization adjustments),
provided, however, that any Permitted Transfer shall be excluded from such calculation.

(x) “Single Holder Conversion Date” means 5:00 p.m. in New York
City, New York on the last Trading Day of the fiscal year during which a Single Founder
Conversion Trigger Event or Single Non-Founder Conversion Trigger Event, as the case may be,
occurs.

y) “Single Non-founder Conversion Trigger Event’ shall mean the
earliest to occur of any of the following only respect to the shares of Class B Common Stock held
by a Non-founder (and any shares of Class B Common Stock underlying any derivative securities
held by such individual), (i) the date of the death or Incapacity of such Non-founder; (ii) the date
that such Non-founder ceases to provide services to the Company or its subsidiaries as an executive
officer or employee, or as a director of the Company; or (iii) at least 80% of the shares of Class B
Common Stock held by such Non-founder as of immediately following the Closing having been
transferred (on a fully as converted/as exercised basis and subject to customary capitalization
adjustments), provided, however, that any Permitted Transfer shall be excluded from such
calculation.

(z) “Trading Day” means any day on which The Nasdaq Stock Market
and the New York Stock Exchange are open for trading.

(aa) “Transfer” of a share of Class B Common Stock means any sale,
assignment, transfer, conveyance, hypothecation or other transfer or disposition of such share or
any legal or beneficial interest in such share, whether or not for value and whether voluntary or
involuntary or by operation of law, including, without limitation, a transfer of a share of Class B
Common Stock to a broker or other nominee (regardless of whether there is a corresponding
change in beneficial ownership), or the transfer of, or entering into a binding agreement with
respect to, Voting Control (as defined below) over such share by proxy or otherwise; provided,
however, that the following shall not be considered a “Transfer” within the meaning of this
Article IV:

(i) the granting of a revocable proxy to officers or directors of
the Company at the request of the Board of Directors in connection with actions to be taken at an
annual or special meeting of stockholders;

(ii)  the existence of any proxy granted prior to the Effective
Time or the amendment or expiration of any such proxy;

(iii)  entering into a voting trust, agreement or arrangement (with
or without granting a proxy) solely with stockholders who are holders of shares of Class B
Common Stock that (A)is disclosed either in a Schedule 13D filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission or in writing to the Secretary of the Company, (B) either has a term not
exceeding one year or is terminable by the holder of the shares subject thereto at any time and



(C) does not involve any payment of cash, securities, property or other consideration to the holder
of the shares subject thereto other than the mutual promise to vote shares in a designated manner;

(iv)  the pledge of shares of Class B Common Stock by a
stockholder that creates a mere security interest in such shares pursuant to a bona fide loan or
indebtedness transaction for so long as such stockholder continues to exercise exclusive Voting
Control over such pledged shares; provided, however, that a foreclosure on such shares or other
similar action by the pledgee shall constitute a “Transfer” unless such foreclosure or similar action
qualifies as a “Permitted Transfer”; or

) entering into, or reaching an agreement, arrangement or
understanding regarding, a support or similar voting or tender agreement (with or without granting
a proxy) in connection with a Liquidation Event, Asset Transfer or Acquisition that has been
approved by the Board of Directors.

A “Transfer” shall also be deemed to have occurred with respect to a share of Class B Common
Stock beneficially held by (i) a Permitted Transferee on the date that such Permitted Transferee
ceases to meet the qualifications to be a Permitted Transferee of the Qualified Stockholder who
effected the Transfer of such shares to such Permitted Transferee, or (ii) an Entity that is a
Qualified Stockholder, if there occurs a Transfer on a cumulative basis, from and after the Effective
Time, of a majority of the voting power of the voting securities of such Entity or any Parent of
such Entity, other than a Transfer to parties that were, as of the Effective Time, holders of voting
securities of any such Entity or Parent of such Entity.

(bb) “Voting Control” means, with respect to a share of Class B
Common Stock, the power (whether exclusive or shared) to vote or direct the voting of such share
by proxy, voting agreement or otherwise.

2. Rights Relating to Dividends, Subdivisions and Combinations.

(a) Subject to the rights of holders of any Preferred Stock at the time
outstanding having prior rights as to dividends, the holders of shares of Class A Common Stock
and Class B Common Stock shall be entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by the Board of
Directors, out of any assets of the Company legally available therefor, such dividends as may be
declared from time to time by the Board of Directors. Except as permitted in Section 2(b), any
dividends paid to the holders of shares of Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock
shall be paid pro rata, on an equal priority, pari passu basis, unless different treatment of the shares
of'each such class is approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding
shares of Class A Common Stock and a majority of the outstanding shares of Class B Common
Stock, each voting separately as a class.

(b)  The Company shall not declare or pay any dividend or make any
distribution to the holders of shares of Class A Common Stock or Class B Common Stock payable
in securities of the Company unless the same dividend or distribution with the same record date
and payment date shall be declared and paid on all shares of Common Stock; provided, however,
that (i) dividends or other distributions payable in shares of Class A Common Stock or rights to
acquire shares of Class A Common Stock may be declared and paid to the holders of shares of



Class A Common Stock without the same dividend or distribution being declared and paid to the
holders of shares of Class B Common Stock if, and only if, a dividend payable in shares of Class
B Common Stock, or rights to acquire shares of Class B Common Stock, as applicable, are declared
and paid to the holders of shares of Class B Common Stock at the same rate and with the same
record date and payment date; and (ii) dividends or other distributions payable in shares of Class
B Common Stock or rights to acquire shares of Class B Common Stock may be declared and paid
to the holders of shares of Class B Common Stock without the same dividend or distribution being
declared and paid to the holders of shares of Class A Common Stock if, and only if, a dividend
payable in shares of Class A Common Stock, or rights to acquire shares of Class A Common Stock,
as applicable, are declared and paid to the holders of shares of Class A Common Stock at the same
rate and with the same record date and payment date.

(¢) If the Company in any manner subdivides or combines (including
by reclassification) the outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock or Class B Common Stock,
then the outstanding shares of all Common Stock will be subdivided or combined in the same
proportion and manner.

3. Liquidation Rights. In the event of a Liquidation Event, upon the
completion of the distributions required with respect to any Preferred Stock that may then be
outstanding, the remaining assets of the Company legally available for distribution to stockholders,
or consideration payable to the stockholders of the Company, in the case of an Acquisition
constituting a Liquidation Event, shall be distributed on an equal priority, pro rata basis to the
holders of shares of Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock (and the holders of any
Preferred Stock that may then be outstanding, to the extent required by this Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation), unless different treatment of the shares of each such class is approved
by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Class A Common
Stock and a majority of the outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock, each voting separately
as a class; provided, however, for the avoidance of doubt, compensation pursuant to any
employment, consulting, severance or other compensatory arrangement to be paid to or received
by a person who is also a holder of shares of Class A Common Stock or Class B Common Stock
does not constitute consideration or a “distribution to stockholders” in respect of shares of Class
A Common Stock or Class B Common Stock.

4. Voting Rights.

(a) Class A Common Stock. Each holder of shares of Class A Common
Stock shall be entitled to one vote for each share thereof held.

(b) Class B Common Stock. Each holder of shares of Class B Common
Stock shall be entitled to ten votes for each share thereof held.

(¢) Voting Generally. Except as otherwise required by applicable law
or this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, the holders of shares of Preferred
Stock, Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock shall vote together and not as separate
series or classes. Except as otherwise required by applicable law, holders of shares of Class A
Common Stock and Class B Common Stock, as such, shall not be entitled to vote on any
amendment to this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation that relates solely to the



terms of one or more outstanding series of Preferred Stock if the holders of such affected series
are entitled, either separately or together with the holders of one or more other such series, to vote
thereon pursuant to this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation or applicable law.

5. Optional Conversion.
(a) Optional Conversion of Shares of Class B Common Stock.

>i) At the option of the holder thereof, each share of Class B
Common Stock shall be convertible, at any time or from time to time, into one fully paid and
nonassessable share of Class A Common Stock as provided herein.

(ii)  Each holder of shares of Class B Common Stock who elects
to convert the same into shares of Class A Common Stock shall surrender the certificate or
certificates therefor (if any), duly endorsed, at the office of the Company or any transfer agent for
shares of Class B Common Stock, and shall give written notice to the Company at such office that
such holder elects to convert the same and shall state therein the number of shares of Class B
Common Stock being converted. Such conversion shall be deemed to have been made immediately
prior to the close of business on the date of such surrender of the certificate or certificates
representing the shares of Class B Common Stock to be converted, or, if the shares are
uncertificated, immediately prior to the close of business on the date that the holder delivers notice
of such conversion to the Company’s transfer agent and the person entitled to receive the shares
of Class A Common Stock issuable upon such conversion shall be treated for all purposes as the
record holder of such shares of Class A Common Stock at such time.

6. Automatic Conversion.

(a) Automatic Conversion of Shares of Class B Common Stock.
Each share of Class B Common Stock shall automatically be converted into one fully paid and
nonassessable share of Class A Common Stock upon a Transfer, other than a Permitted Transfer,
of such share of Class B Common Stock. Such conversion shall occur automatically without the
need for any further action by the holders of such shares and whether or not the certificates
representing such shares (if any) are surrendered to the Company or its transfer agent; provided,
however, that the Company shall not be obligated to issue certificates evidencing the shares of
Class A Common Stock issuable upon such conversion unless the certificates evidencing such
shares of Class B Common Stock are either delivered to the Company or its transfer agent as
provided below, or the holder notifies the Company or its transfer agent that such certificates have
been lost, stolen or destroyed and executes an agreement satisfactory to the Company to indemnify
the Company from any loss incurred by it in connection with such certificates. Upon the occurrence
of such automatic conversion of shares of Class B Common Stock, the holders of shares of Class
B Common Stock so converted shall surrender the certificates representing such shares (if any) at
the office of the Company or any transfer agent for the shares of Class A Common Stock.

(b) Single Holder Conversion. On a Single Holder Conversion Date,
each issued and outstanding share of Class B Common Stock held by the Founder or by the Non-
founder, as applicable, shall automatically, without any further action, convert into one share of
Class A Common Stock. Such conversion shall occur automatically without the need for any



further action by the holders of such shares and whether or not the certificates representing such
shares (if any) are surrendered to the Company or its transfer agent; provided, however, that the
Company shall not be obligated to issue certificates evidencing the shares of Class A Common
Stock issuable upon such conversion unless the certificates evidencing such shares of Class B
Common Stock are either delivered to the Company or its transfer agent as provided below, or the
holder notifies the Company or its transfer agent that such certificates have been lost, stolen or
destroyed and executes an agreement satisfactory to the Company to indemnify the Company from
any loss incurred by it in connection with such certificates. Upon the occurrence of such automatic
conversion of shares of Class B Common Stock, the holder of Class B Common Stock so converted
shall surrender the certificates representing such shares (if any) at the office of the Company or
any transfer agent for the shares of Class A Common Stock.

() Final Conversion. On the Final Conversion Date, each issued and
outstanding share of Class B Common Stock shall automatically, without any further action,
convert into one share of Class A Common Stock. Following the Final Conversion Date, the
Company may no longer issue any additional shares of Class B Common Stock. Such conversion
shall occur automatically without the need for any further action by the holders of such shares and
whether or not the certificates representing such shares (if any) are surrendered to the Company or
its transfer agent; provided, however, that the Company shall not be obligated to issue certificates
evidencing the shares of Class A Common Stock issuable upon such conversion unless the
certificates evidencing such shares of Class B Common Stock are either delivered to the Company
or its transfer agent as provided below, or the holder notifies the Company or its transfer agent that
such certificates have been lost, stolen or destroyed and executes an agreement satisfactory to the
Company to indemnify the Company from any loss incurred by it in connection with such
certificates. Upon the occurrence of such automatic conversion of shares of Class B Common
Stock, the holders of shares of Class B Common Stock so converted shall surrender the certificates
representing such shares (if any) at the office of the Company or any transfer agent for the shares
of Class A Common Stock.

(d) Procedures. The Company may, from time to time, establish such
policies and procedures relating to the conversion of shares of Class B Common Stock to shares
of Class A Common Stock and the general administration of this dual class stock structure,
including the issuance of stock certificates (or the establishment of book-entry positions) with
respect thereto, as it may deem reasonably necessary or advisable, and may from time to time
request that holders of shares of Class B Common Stock furnish certifications, affidavits or other
proof to the Company as it deems necessary to verify the ownership of shares of Class B Common
Stock and to confirm that a conversion to shares of Class A Common Stock has not occurred. A
determination by the Secretary of the Company as to whether a Transfer results in a conversion to
shares of Class A Common Stock shall be conclusive and binding.

(e) Immediate Effect. In the event of a conversion of shares of Class B
Common Stock to shares of Class A Common Stock pursuant to this Section 6, such conversion(s)
shall be deemed to have been made at the time that the Transfer of shares occurred or immediately
upon the Final Conversion Date, as applicable. Upon any conversion of shares of Class B Common
Stock to shares of Class A Common Stock, all rights of the holder of shares of Class B Common
Stock shall cease and the person or persons in whose names or names the certificate or certificates
(or book-entry position(s)) representing the shares of Class A Common Stock are to be issued shall
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be treated for all purposes as having become the record holder or holders of such shares of Class
A Common Stock.

7. Redemption. The Common Stock is not redeemable.

8. Reservation of Stock Issuable Upon Conversion. The Company shall at
all times reserve and keep available out of its authorized but unissued shares of Class A Common
Stock, solely for the purpose of effecting the conversion of shares of the Class B Common Stock,
as applicable, such number of its shares of Class A Common Stock as shall from time to time be
sufficient to effect the conversion of all outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock; and if at
any time the number of authorized but unissued shares of Class A Common Stock shall not be
sufficient to effect the conversion of all then-outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock, as
applicable, the Company will take such corporate action as may, in the opinion of its counsel, be
necessary to increase its authorized but unissued shares of Class A Common Stock to such numbers
of shares as shall be sufficient for such purpose.

9. Prohibition on Reissuance of Shares. Shares of Class B Common Stock
that are acquired by the Company for any reason (whether by repurchase, upon conversion, or
otherwise) shall be retired in the manner required by law and shall not be reissued as shares of
Class B Common Stock.

V.

For the management of the business and for the conduct of the affairs of the Company, and in
further definition, limitation and regulation of the powers of the Company, of its directors and of
its stockholders or any class thereof, as the case may be, it is further provided that:

A. Board of Directors.

1. Generally. Except as otherwise provided in this Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation or the DGCL, the business and affairs of the Company shall be
managed by or under the direction of the Board of Directors. The number of directors that shall
constitute the Board of Directors shall be fixed from time to time exclusively by resolutions
adopted by the Board of Directors.

2. Election.

(a) Subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock
to elect additional directors under specified circumstances, the directors shall be divided into three
classes designated as Class I, Class II and Class III, respectively. Each class shall consist, as nearly
as possible, of one-third of the total number of such directors. The Board of Directors is authorized
to assign members of the Board of Directors already in office to such classes at the time the
classification becomes effective. At the first annual meeting of stockholders following such initial
classification of the Board of Directors, the initial term of office of the Class I directors expired
and the Class I directors were elected for a full term of three years. At the second annual meeting
of stockholders following such initial classification of the Board of Directors, the initial term of
office of the Class II directors expired and the Class II directors were elected for a full term of
three years. At the third annual meeting of stockholders following the classification of the Board
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of Directors, the initial term of office of the Class III directors expired and the Class III directors
were elected for a full term of three years. At each succeeding annual meeting of stockholders,
directors shall be elected for a full term of three years to succeed the directors of the class whose
terms expire at such annual meeting.

(b)  No stockholder entitled to vote at an election for directors may
cumulate votes.

() Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this section, each
director shall serve until his successor is duly elected and qualified or until his or her earlier death,
resignation or removal. No decrease in the number of directors constituting the Board of Directors
shall shorten the term of any incumbent director.

(d)  Election of directors need not be by written ballot unless the Bylaws
so provide.

3. Removal of Directors. Subject to any limitations imposed by applicable
law and subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock, removal shall be as
provided in Section 141(k) of the DGCL.

4. Vacancies. Subject to any limitations imposed by applicable law and
subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock, any vacancies on the Board of
Directors resulting from death, resignation, disqualification, removal or other causes and any
newly created directorships resulting from any increase in the number of directors, shall, unless
the Board of Directors determines by resolution that any such vacancies or newly created
directorships shall be filled by the stockholders and except as otherwise provided by applicable
law, be filled only by the Board of Directors by a majority of the directors then in office, although
less than a quorum, or by the sole remaining director, and not by the stockholders. Any director
elected in accordance with the preceding sentence shall hold office for the remainder of the full
term of the director for which the vacancy was created or occurred and until such director’s
successor shall have been elected and qualified.

B. Stockholder Actions. No action shall be taken by the stockholders of the Company
except at an annual or special meeting of stockholders called in accordance with the Bylaws and
no action shall be taken by the stockholders by written consent. Advance notice of stockholder
nominations for the election of directors and of business to be brought by stockholders before any
meeting of the stockholders of the Company shall be given in the manner provided in the Bylaws
of the Company.

C. Bylaws. The Board of Directors is expressly empowered to adopt, amend or repeal
the Bylaws of the Company. The stockholders shall also have power to adopt, amend or repeal the
Bylaws of the Company; provided, however, that, in addition to any vote of the holders of any
class or series of stock of the Company required by law or by this Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation, such action by stockholders shall require the affirmative vote of the
holders of at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of all of the then-outstanding shares of the capital
stock of the Company entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a
single class.
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VI

A. Limitation of Liability. A current director or officer of the Company shall not be
personally liable to the Company or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary
duty as a director or officer, as applicable, except to the extent such exemption from liability or
limitation thereof is not permitted under the DGCL as the same exists or may hereafter be
amended, unless such director or officer, as applicable, violated his or her duty of loyalty to the
Company or its stockholders, acted in bad faith, knowingly or intentionally violated the law,
authorized unlawful payments of dividends, unlawful stock purchases or unlawful redemptions.
Any amendment, modification or repeal of the foregoing sentence shall not adversely affect any
right or protection of a current director of the Company hereunder in respect of any act or omission
occurring prior to the time of such amendment, modification or repeal.

B. Indemnification and Advancement of Expenses.

1. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, as the same exists or may
hereafter be amended, the Company shall indemnify and hold harmless each person who is or was
made a party or is threatened to be made a party to or is otherwise involved in any threatened,
pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or
investigative (a “proceeding’) by reason of the fact that he or she is or was a director or officer of
the Company or, while a director or officer of the Company, is or was serving at the request of the
Company as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation or of a partnership, joint
venture, trust, other enterprise or nonprofit entity, including service with respect to an employee
benefit plan (an “indemnitee’), whether the basis of such proceeding is alleged action in an official
capacity as a director, officer, employee or agent, or in any other capacity while serving as a
director, officer, employee or agent, against all liability and loss suffered and expenses (including,
without limitation, attorneys’ fees, judgments, fines, ERISA excise taxes and penalties and
amounts paid in settlement) reasonably incurred by such indemnitee in connection with such
proceeding. The Company shall to the fullest extent not prohibited by applicable law pay the
expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred by an indemnitee in defending or otherwise
participating in any proceeding in advance of its final disposition; provided, however, that, to the
extent required by applicable law, such payment of expenses in advance of the final disposition of
the proceeding shall be made only upon receipt of an undertaking, by or on behalf of the
indemnitee, to repay all amounts so advanced if it shall ultimately be determined that the
indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified under this Article VI, Section B or otherwise. The
rights to indemnification and advancement of expenses conferred by this Article VI, Section B
shall be contract rights and such rights shall continue as to an indemnitee who has ceased to be a
director, officer, employee or agent and shall inure to the benefit of his or her heirs, executors and
administrators. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Article VI, Section B(1), except
for proceedings to enforce rights to indemnification and advancement of expenses, the Company
shall indemnify and advance expenses to an indemnitee in connection with a proceeding (or part
thereof) initiated by such indemnitee only if such proceeding (or part thereof) was authorized by
the Board of Directors.

2. The rights to indemnification and advancement of expenses conferred on
any indemnitee by this Article VI, Section B shall not be exclusive of any other rights that any
indemnitee may have or hereafter acquire under law, this Amended and Restated Certificate of
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Incorporation, the Bylaws, an agreement, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors, or
otherwise.

3. Any repeal or amendment of this Article VI, Section B by the stockholders
of the Company or by changes in law, or the adoption of any other provision of this Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation inconsistent with this Article VI, Section B shall, unless
otherwise required by law, be prospective only (except to the extent such amendment or change in
law permits the Company to provide broader indemnification rights on a retroactive basis than
permitted prior thereto), and shall not in any way diminish or adversely affect any right or
protection existing at the time of such repeal or amendment or adoption of such inconsistent
provision in respect of any proceeding (regardless of when such proceeding is first threatened,
commenced or completed) arising out of, or related to, any act or omission occurring prior to such
repeal or amendment or adoption of such inconsistent provision.

4. This Article VI, Section B shall not limit the right of the Company, to the
extent and in the manner authorized or permitted by law, to indemnify and to advance expenses to
persons other than indemnitees.

VIL

A. Unless the Company consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum,
the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall be the sole and exclusive forum for the
following types of actions or proceedings under Delaware statutory or common law: (A) any
derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Company; (B) any action or proceeding
asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or former director, officer or
other employee of the Company or any stockholder to the Company or the Company’s
stockholders; (C) any action or proceeding asserting a claim against the Company or any current
or former director, officer or other employee of the Company or any stockholder arising pursuant
to any provision of the DGCL, this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation or the
Bylaws of the Company (as each may be amended from time to time); (D) any action or proceeding
to interpret, apply, enforce or determine the validity of this Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation or the Bylaws of the Company (including any right, obligation or remedy
thereunder); (E) any action or proceeding as to which the DGCL confers jurisdiction to the Court
of Chancery of the State of Delaware; and (F) any action asserting a claim against the Company
or any director, officer or other employee of the Company or any stockholder, governed by the
internal affairs doctrine, in all cases to the fullest extent permitted by law and subject to the court’s
having personal jurisdiction over the indispensable parties named as defendants. This Article VII
shall not apply to suits brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction.

B. Unless the Company consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum,
the federal district courts of the United States of America shall be the exclusive forum for the
resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended.
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C. Any person or Entity holding, owning or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares
of capital stock of the Company shall be deemed to have notice of and to have consented to the
provisions of this Article VII.

VIII.

A. The Company reserves the right to amend, alter, change or repeal any provision
contained in this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, in the manner now or
hereafter prescribed by statute, except as provided in paragraph B. of this Article VIII, and all
rights conferred upon the stockholders herein are granted subject to this reservation.

B. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation or any provision of law that might otherwise permit a lesser vote or no vote, but in
addition to any affirmative vote required by law or by this Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation, the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of all of
the then-outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company entitled to vote generally in the
election of directors, voting together as a single class, shall be required to alter, amend or repeal
Articles V, VI, VII and VIII.

C. If any provision or provisions in this Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation shall be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable as applied to any person or entity
or circumstance for any reason whatsoever, then, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the validity,
legality and enforceability of such provision or provisions in any other circumstance, and of the
remaining provisions in this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, and the
application of such provision or provisions to other persons or entities and circumstances shall not
in any way be affected or impaired thereby.
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ARCHER AVIATION INC.

AMENDED AND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OoF
AFEAS-ERESTFIINAVESTVHENTCORP

Atlas-Crestdnvestment-Corp-Archer Aviation Inc. (the “Corporation”), a corporation organized
and existing under the-tawsand by virtue of the-State—of Delaware_General Corporation Law, hereby

certifies thatas follows:

1 ONE: The current nume of tis corporation is Atlas Crest Investment Corp.and

thethe Corporation is “Archer Aviation Inc.” The date of the filing theof its original Certificate of
Incorporation ef-this-ecerperation-with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware was August 26,
2020, under the name “Atlas Crest Investment Corp.”

2.

TWO: The Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of this-eerperation—is

herebythe Corporation attached hereto as Exhibit A, which is incorporated herein by this reference, and
which restates, integrates and further amends the provisions of the Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of this Corporation, as previously amended and/or restated-te-read-as-set-forth-below, has
been duly adopted by this Corporation’s Board of Directors and by the stockholders in accordance with

Sections 242 and 245 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.

IN WITNESS WHEREQF, said Corporation has caused this Amended and Restated Certificate
of Incorporation to be signed by its duly authorized officer under the seal of the Corporation this [ ]!

day of [ ], 2024.

ARCHER AVIATION INC.

By:

Name: Adam Goldstein

Title: Founder, Chief Executive Officer and
Director




AMENDED AND RESTATED
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
ARCHER AVIATION INC.

L
The name of this company is Archer Aviation Inc. (the “Company”).
IL.

The address of the registered office of the Company in the State of Delaware is 251 Little
Falls Drive, Wilmington, Delaware, 19808, County of New Castle, and the name of the registered
agent of the Company in the State of Delaware at such address is Corporation Service Company.

I11.

The purpose of the Company is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which a
corporation may be organized under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware
(“DGCL™).

IVv.

A. The total number of shares of all classes of capital stock, each with a par value of
$0.0001 per share, which the Company is authorized to issue is 1,010,000,000 shares, consisting
of (a) 1,000,000,000 shares of common stock (the “Common Stock’), including (i) 700,000,000
shares of Class A common stock (the “Class A Common Stock’), and (ii) 300,000,000 shares of
Class B common stock (the “Class B Common Stock”), and (b) 10,000,000 shares of preferred
stock (the “Preferred Stock™).

B. The Preferred Stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series. The
Board of Directors of the Company is hereby expressly authorized by resolution or resolutions to
provide for the issue of all or any of the shares of the Preferred Stock in one or more series, and to
fix the number of shares of such shares and to determine for each such series, such voting powers,
full or limited, or no voting powers, and such designation, preferences, and relative, participating,
optional, or other rights and such qualifications, limitations, or restrictions thereof, as shall be
stated and expressed in the resolution or resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors providing
for the issuance of such shares and as may be permitted by the DGCL. The Board of Directors is
also expressly authorized to increase (but not about the authorized number of shares of Preferred
Stock) or decrease (but not below the number of shares of such series then outstanding) the number
of shares of any series subsequent to the issuance of shares of that series.

C. The number of authorized shares of Preferred Stock, Class A Common Stock or
Class B+ Common Stock may be increased or decreased (but not below the number of shares
thereof then outstanding) by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power
of all of the outstanding shares of stock of the Company entitled to vote thereon, without a separate
vote of the holders of the shares of Preferred Stock, or of any series thereof, Class A Common
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Stock or Class B Common Stock unless a vote of any such holders is required pursuant to the terms
of any Certificate of Designation filed with respect to any series of Preferred Stock.

D. Except as provided above, the rights, preferences, privileges, restrictions and other
matters relating to the shares of Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock are as
follows:

1. Definitions.

(a) “Acquisition” means_(A) any consolidation or merger of the
Company with or into any other Entity, other than any such consolidation or merger in which the
stockholders of the Company immediately prior to such consolidation or merger continue to hold
a majority of the voting power of the surviving Entity in substantially the same proportions (or, if
the surviving Entity is a wholly owned subsidiary of another Entity, the surviving Entity’s Parent)
immediately after such consolidation, merger or reorganization; or (B) any transaction or series of
related transactions to which the Company is a party in which in excess of 50% of the Company’s
voting power is transferred or issued; provided that an Acquisition shall not include any transaction
or series of transactions principally for bona fide equity financing purposes.

(b) “Approved Designee” shall mean a person or persons who is entitled
to exercise Voting Control with respect to shares of Class B Common Stock following the death
or Incapacity of athe Founder pursuant to an agreement entered into between saehthe Founder and
some person or persons, and who is approved by a majority of the Independent Directors.

() “Asset Transfer” means the sale, lease or exchange of all or
substantially all the assets of the Company.

(d) “Business Combination” shall mean the consummation of the
transactions set forth in that certain Business Combination Agreement, by and among Atlas
Investment Corp., Artemis Acquisition Sub Inc., and Archer Aviation Inc., dated as of February
10, 2021.

(e) “Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation” means the
certificate—of incorporationthis Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the
Company, as amended and/or restated from time to time, including the terms of any certificate of
designations of any series of Preferred Stock.

® “Closing” means the closing date of the Business Combination.

(g) “Entity” means any corporation, partnership, limited liability
company or other legal entity.

(h) “Effective Time” means the time this Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation of the Company filed with the Secretary of State of the State of
Delaware became effective in accordance with the DGCL.

>
[\]
O8]




(@) “Family Member” means with respect to any natural person, the
spouse, ex-spouse, parents, grandparents, lineal descendants, siblings and lineal descendants of
siblings (in each case whether by blood relation or adoption) of such person.

3g) “Final Conversion Date” means 5:00 p.m. in New York City, New
York on the last Trading Day of the fiscal year during which a Final Conversion Trigger Event
occurs.

(k)  “Final Conversion Trigger Event’ shall mean the earliest to occur
of (i) the ten (10) year anniversary of the Closing, (ii) the date specified in writing by the holders
of two-thirds of the then outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock, voting as a separate class;
and (ii1) when the number of then outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock represents less
than 10.0% of the total number of shares of Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock.

1)) “Founder” means—each—of Brett-Adeock—and Adam Goldstein as
individualsan individual.

(m)  “Incapacity” means, with respect to an individual, that such
individual is incapable of managing his or her financial affairs under the criteria set forth in the
applicable probate code that can be expected to result in death or which has lasted or can be
expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months as determined by a
licensed medical practitioner. In the event of a dispute regarding whether an individual has suffered
an Incapacity, no Incapacity of such individual will be deemed to have occurred unless and until
an affirmative ruling regarding such Incapacity has been made by a court of competent jurisdiction.

(n)  “Independent Directors” means the members of the Board of
Directors designated as independent directors in accordance with the requirements of the New
York Stock Exchange or any national stock exchange under which the Company’s equity securities
are listed for trading.

(0) “Liquidation Event” means (i) any Asset Transfer or Acquisition in
which cash or other property is, pursuant to the express terms of the Asset Transfer or Acquisition,
to be distributed to the stockholders in respect of their shares of capital stock in the Company or
(i1) any liquidation, dissolution and winding up of the Company; provided, however, for the
avoidance of doubt, compensation pursuant to any employment, consulting, severance or other
compensatory arrangement to be paid to or received by a person who is also a holder of shares of
Class A Common Stock or Class B Common Stock does not constitute consideration or a
“distribution to stockholders” in respect of the shares of Class A Common Stock or Class B
Common Stock.

(p) “Non-founder” shall mean any individual stockholder other than the
FEoeundersFounder.

() “Parent” of an Entity means any Entity that directly or indirectly
owns or controls a majority of the voting power of the voting securities or interests of such Entity.

(r) “Permitted Entity” means, with respect to a Qualified Stockholder,
any Entity in which such Qualified Stockholder directly, or indirectly through one or more
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Permitted Transferees, has sole dispositive power and exclusive Voting Control with respect to all
shares of Class B Common Stock held of record by such Entity.

(s) “Permitted Transfer” means, and be restricted to, any Transfer of a
share of Class B Common Stock:

(@) by athe Founder, by the Founder’s Permitted Entities or by
the Founder’s Permitted Transferees, in each case, as a result of or in connection with saehthe
Founder’s death or Incapacity, either (i) to saehthe Founder’s Family Members or to saehthe
Founder’s Permitted Entities or to the Founder’s Permitted Transferees, or (ii) of Voting Control
to an Approved Designee;

(ii) by a Qualified Stockholder that is a natural person (including
a natural person serving in a trustee capacity with regard to a trust for the benefit of himself or
herself and/or his or her Family Members), to the trustee of a Permitted Trust of such Qualified
Stockholder or to such Qualified Stockholder in his or her individual capacity or as a trustee of a
Permitted Trust;

(iii) by the trustee of a Permitted Trust of a Qualified
Stockholder, to such Qualified Stockholder, the trustee of any other Permitted Trust of such
Qualified Stockholder or any Permitted Entity of such Qualified Stockholder;

(iv) by a Qualified Stockholder to any Permitted Entity of such
Qualified Stockholder; or

v) by a Permitted Entity of a Qualified Stockholder to such
Qualified Stockholder or any other Permitted Entity or the trustee of a Permitted Trust of such
Qualified Stockholder.

(t) “Permitted Transferee” means a transferee of shares of Class B
Common Stock received in a Transfer that constitutes a Permitted Transfer.

(uw)  “Permitted Trust” means a validly created and existing trust the
beneficiaries of which are either a Qualified Stockholder or Family Members of the Qualified
Stockholder or both, or a trust under the terms of which such Qualified Stockholder has retained a
“qualified interest” within the meaning of §2702(b)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code (as amended
from time to time) and/or a reversionary interest.

) “Qualified Stockholder” means (i) the record holder of a share of
Class B Common Stock at the Effective Time; and (ii) a Permitted Transferee of a Qualified
Stockholder.

(w)  “Single Founder Conversion Trigger Event” shall mean the earliest
to occur of any of the following only respect to the shares of Class B Common Stock held by the
appheable Founder (and any shares of Class B Common Stock underlying any derivative securities
held by suehthe Founder), (i) the occurrence of the nine (9) month anniversary of the death or
Incapacity of saehthe Founder; (ii) the occurrence of the twelve (12) month anniversary of the date
that suehthe Founder is no longer providing services to the Company or its subsidiaries as an
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executive officer or employee, or as a director of the Company; and (iii) at least 80% of the shares
of Class B Common Stock held by suehthe Founder as of immediately following the Closing
having been transferred (on a fully as converted/as exercised basis and subject to customary
capitalization adjustments), provided, however, that any Permitted Transfer shall be excluded from
such calculation.

(x) “Single Holder Conversion Date” means 5:00 p.m. in New York
City, New York on the last Trading Day of the fiscal year during which a Single Founder
Conversion Trigger Event or Single Non-Founder Conversion Trigger Event, as the case may be,
occurs.

(y) “Single Non-founder Conversion Trigger Event’ shall mean the
earliest to occur of any of the following only respect to the shares of Class B Common Stock held
by a Non-founder (and any shares of Class B Common Stock underlying any derivative securities
held by such individual), (i) the date of the death or Incapacity of such Non-founder; (ii) the date
that such Non-founder ceases to provide services to the Company or its subsidiaries as an executive
officer or employee, or as a director of the Company; or (iii) at least 80% of the shares of Class B
Common Stock held by such Non-founder as of immediately following the Closing having been
transferred (on a fully as converted/as exercised basis and subject to customary capitalization
adjustments), provided, however, that any Permitted Transfer shall be excluded from such
calculation.

(z) “Trading Day” means any day on which The Nasdaq Stock Market
and the New York Stock Exchange are open for trading.

(aa) “Transfer” of a share of Class B Common Stock means any sale,
assignment, transfer, conveyance, hypothecation or other transfer or disposition of such share or
any legal or beneficial interest in such share, whether or not for value and whether voluntary or
involuntary or by operation of law, including, without limitation, a transfer of a share of Class B
Common Stock to a broker or other nominee (regardless of whether there is a corresponding
change in beneficial ownership), or the transfer of, or entering into a binding agreement with
respect to, Voting Control (as defined below) over such share by proxy or otherwise; provided,
however, that the following shall not be considered a “Transfer” within the meaning of this Article
IV:

(i) the granting of a revocable proxy to officers or directors of
the Company at the request of the Board of Directors in connection with actions to be taken at an
annual or special meeting of stockholders;

(ii) the existence of any proxy granted prior to the Effective
Time or the amendment or expiration of any such proxy;

(iii)  entering into a voting trust, agreement or arrangement (with
or without granting a proxy) solely with stockholders who are holders of shares of Class B
Common Stock that (A) is disclosed either in a Schedule 13D filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission or in writing to the Secretary of the Company, (B) either has a term not
exceeding one year or is terminable by the holder of the shares subject thereto at any time and (C)
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does not involve any payment of cash, securities, property or other consideration to the holder of
the shares subject thereto other than the mutual promise to vote shares in a designated manner;

(iv)  the pledge of shares of Class B Common Stock by a
stockholder that creates a mere security interest in such shares pursuant to a bona fide loan or
indebtedness transaction for so long as such stockholder continues to exercise exclusive Voting
Control over such pledged shares; provided, however, that a foreclosure on such shares or other
similar action by the pledgee shall constitute a “Transfer” unless such foreclosure or similar action
qualifies as a “Permitted Transfer”; or

) entering into, or reaching an agreement, arrangement or
understanding regarding, a support or similar voting or tender agreement (with or without granting
a proxy) in connection with a Liquidation Event, Asset Transfer or Acquisition that has been
approved by the Board of Directors.

A “Transfer” shall also be deemed to have occurred with respect to a share of Class B Common
Stock beneficially held by (i) a Permitted Transferee on the date that such Permitted Transferee
ceases to meet the qualifications to be a Permitted Transferee of the Qualified Stockholder who
effected the Transfer of such shares to such Permitted Transferee, or (ii) an Entity that is a
Qualified Stockholder, if there occurs a Transfer on a cumulative basis, from and after the Effective
Time, of a majority of the voting power of the voting securities of such Entity or any Parent of
such Entity, other than a Transfer to parties that were, as of the Effective Time, holders of voting
securities of any such Entity or Parent of such Entity.

(bb) “Voting Control” means, with respect to a share of Class B
Common Stock, the power (whether exclusive or shared) to vote or direct the voting of such share
by proxy, voting agreement or otherwise.

2. Rights Relating to Dividends, Subdivisions and Combinations.

(a) Subject to the rights of holders of any Preferred Stock at the time
outstanding having prior rights as to dividends, the holders of shares of Class A Common Stock
and Class B Common Stock shall be entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by the Board of
Directors, out of any assets of the Company legally available therefor, such dividends as may be
declared from time to time by the Board of Directors. Except as permitted in Section 2(b), any
dividends paid to the holders of shares of Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock
shall be paid pro rata, on an equal priority, pari passu basis, unless different treatment of the shares
of'each such class is approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding
shares of Class A Common Stock and a majority of the outstanding shares of Class B Common
Stock, each voting separately as a class.

(b)  The Company shall not declare or pay any dividend or make any
distribution to the holders of shares of Class A Common Stock or Class B Common Stock payable
in securities of the Company unless the same dividend or distribution with the same record date
and payment date shall be declared and paid on all shares of Common Stock; provided, however,
that (i) dividends or other distributions payable in shares of Class A Common Stock or rights to
acquire shares of Class A Common Stock may be declared and paid to the holders of shares of
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Class A Common Stock without the same dividend or distribution being declared and paid to the
holders of shares of Class B Common Stock if, and only if, a dividend payable in shares of Class
B Common Stock, or rights to acquire shares of Class B Common Stock, as applicable, are declared
and paid to the holders of shares of Class B Common Stock at the same rate and with the same
record date and payment date; and (ii) dividends or other distributions payable in shares of Class
B Common Stock or rights to acquire shares of Class B Common Stock may be declared and paid
to the holders of shares of Class B Common Stock without the same dividend or distribution being
declared and paid to the holders of shares of Class A Common Stock if, and only if, a dividend
payable in shares of Class A Common Stock, or rights to acquire shares of Class A Common Stock,
as applicable, are declared and paid to the holders of shares of Class A Common Stock at the same
rate and with the same record date and payment date.

(c) If the Company in any manner subdivides or combines (including
by reclassification) the outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock or Class B Common Stock,
then the outstanding shares of all Common Stock will be subdivided or combined in the same
proportion and manner.

3. Liquidation Rights. In the event of a Liquidation Event, upon the
completion of the distributions required with respect to any Preferred Stock that may then be
outstanding, the remaining assets of the Company legally available for distribution to stockholders,
or consideration payable to the stockholders of the Company, in the case of an Acquisition
constituting a Liquidation Event, shall be distributed on an equal priority, pro rata basis to the
holders of shares of Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock (and the holders of any
Preferred Stock that may then be outstanding, to the extent required by thethis Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation), unless different treatment of the shares of each such class
is approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Class
A Common Stock and a majority of the outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock, each voting
separately as a class; provided, however, for the avoidance of doubt, compensation pursuant to any
employment, consulting, severance or other compensatory arrangement to be paid to or received
by a person who is also a holder of shares of Class A Common Stock or Class B Common Stock
does not constitute consideration or a “distribution to stockholders” in respect of shares of Class
A Common Stock or Class B Common Stock.

4. Voting Rights.

(a) Class A Common Stock. Each holder of shares of Class A Common
Stock shall be entitled to one vote for each share thereof held.

(b) Class B Common Stock. Each holder of shares of Class B Common
Stock shall be entitled to ten votes for each share thereof held.

(¢) Voting Generally. Except as otherwise required by applicable law
or this_Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, the holders of shares of Preferred
Stock, Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock shall vote together and not as separate
series or classes. Except as otherwise required by applicable law, holders of shares of Class A
Common Stock and Class B Common Stock, as such, shall not be entitled to vote on any
amendment to this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation that relates solely to the
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terms of one or more outstanding series of Preferred Stock if the holders of such affected series
are entitled, either separately or together with the holders of one or more other such series, to vote
thereon pursuant to thethis Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation or applicable law.

5. Optional Conversion.
(a) Optional Conversion of Shares of Class B Common Stock.

>i) At the option of the holder thereof, each share of Class B
Common Stock shall be convertible, at any time or from time to time, into one fully paid and
nonassessable share of Class A Common Stock as provided herein.

(ii)  Each holder of shares of Class B Common Stock who elects
to convert the same into shares of Class A Common Stock shall surrender the certificate or
certificates therefor (if any), duly endorsed, at the office of the Company or any transfer agent for
shares of Class B Common Stock, and shall give written notice to the Company at such office that
such holder elects to convert the same and shall state therein the number of shares of Class B
Common Stock being converted. Such conversion shall be deemed to have been made immediately
prior to the close of business on the date of such surrender of the certificate or certificates
representing the shares of Class B Common Stock to be converted, or, if the shares are
uncertificated, immediately prior to the close of business on the date that the holder delivers notice
of such conversion to the Company’s transfer agent and the person entitled to receive the shares
of Class A Common Stock issuable upon such conversion shall be treated for all purposes as the
record holder of such shares of Class A Common Stock at such time.

6. Automatic Conversion.

(a) Automatic Conversion of Shares of Class B Common Stock.
Each share of Class B Common Stock shall automatically be converted into one fully paid and
nonassessable share of Class A Common Stock upon a Transfer, other than a Permitted Transfer,
of such share of Class B Common Stock. Such conversion shall occur automatically without the
need for any further action by the holders of such shares and whether or not the certificates
representing such shares (if any) are surrendered to the Company or its transfer agent; provided,
however, that the Company shall not be obligated to issue certificates evidencing the shares of
Class A Common Stock issuable upon such conversion unless the certificates evidencing such
shares of Class B Common Stock are either delivered to the Company or its transfer agent as
provided below, or the holder notifies the Company or its transfer agent that such certificates have
been lost, stolen or destroyed and executes an agreement satisfactory to the Company to indemnify
the Company from any loss incurred by it in connection with such certificates. Upon the occurrence
of such automatic conversion of shares of Class B Common Stock, the holders of shares of Class
B Common Stock so converted shall surrender the certificates representing such shares (if any) at
the office of the Company or any transfer agent for the shares of Class A Common Stock.

(b) Single Holder Conversion. On a Single Holder Conversion Date,
each issued and outstanding share of Class B Common Stock held by the-applieable Founder or
by the Non-founder, as applicable, shall automatically, without any further action, convert into one
share of Class A Common Stock. Such conversion shall occur automatically without the need for
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any further action by the holders of such shares and whether or not the certificates representing
such shares (if any) are surrendered to the Company or its transfer agent; provided, however, that
the Company shall not be obligated to issue certificates evidencing the shares of Class A Common
Stock issuable upon such conversion unless the certificates evidencing such shares of Class B
Common Stock are either delivered to the Company or its transfer agent as provided below, or the
holder notifies the Company or its transfer agent that such certificates have been lost, stolen or
destroyed and executes an agreement satisfactory to the Company to indemnify the Company from
any loss incurred by it in connection with such certificates. Upon the occurrence of such automatic
conversion of shares of Class B Common Stock, the holder of Class B Common Stock so converted
shall surrender the certificates representing such shares (if any) at the office of the Company or
any transfer agent for the shares of Class A Common Stock.

(c) Final Conversion. On the Final Conversion Date, each issued and
outstanding share of Class B Common Stock shall automatically, without any further action,
convert into one share of Class A Common Stock. Following the Final Conversion Date, the
Company may no longer issue any additional shares of Class B Common Stock. Such conversion
shall occur automatically without the need for any further action by the holders of such shares and
whether or not the certificates representing such shares (if any) are surrendered to the Company or
its transfer agent; provided, however, that the Company shall not be obligated to issue certificates
evidencing the shares of Class A Common Stock issuable upon such conversion unless the
certificates evidencing such shares of Class B Common Stock are either delivered to the Company
or its transfer agent as provided below, or the holder notifies the Company or its transfer agent that
such certificates have been lost, stolen or destroyed and executes an agreement satisfactory to the
Company to indemnify the Company from any loss incurred by it in connection with such
certificates. Upon the occurrence of such automatic conversion of shares of Class B Common
Stock, the holders of shares of Class B Common Stock so converted shall surrender the certificates
representing such shares (if any) at the office of the Company or any transfer agent for the shares
of Class A Common Stock.

(d) Procedures. The Company may, from time to time, establish such
policies and procedures relating to the conversion of shares of Class B Common Stock to shares
of Class A Common Stock and the general administration of this dual class stock structure,
including the issuance of stock certificates (or the establishment of book-entry positions) with
respect thereto, as it may deem reasonably necessary or advisable, and may from time to time
request that holders of shares of Class B Common Stock furnish certifications, affidavits or other
proof to the Company as it deems necessary to verify the ownership of shares of Class B Common
Stock and to confirm that a conversion to shares of Class A Common Stock has not occurred. A
determination by the Secretary of the Company as to whether a Transfer results in a conversion to
shares of Class A Common Stock shall be conclusive and binding.

(e) Immediate Effect. In the event of a conversion of shares of Class B
Common Stock to shares of Class A Common Stock pursuant to this Section 6, such conversion(s)
shall be deemed to have been made at the time that the Transfer of shares occurred or immediately
upon the Final Conversion Date, as applicable. Upon any conversion of shares of Class B Common
Stock to shares of Class A Common Stock, all rights of the holder of shares of Class B Common
Stock shall cease and the person or persons in whose names or names the certificate or certificates
(or book-entry position(s)) representing the shares of Class A Common Stock are to be issued shall
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be treated for all purposes as having become the record holder or holders of such shares of Class
A Common Stock.

7. Redemption. The Common Stock is not redeemable.

8. Reservation of Stock Issuable Upon Conversion. The Company shall at
all times reserve and keep available out of its authorized but unissued shares of Class A Common
Stock, solely for the purpose of effecting the conversion of shares of the Class B Common Stock,
as applicable, such number of its shares of Class A Common Stock as shall from time to time be
sufficient to effect the conversion of all outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock; and if at
any time the number of authorized but unissued shares of Class A Common Stock shall not be
sufficient to effect the conversion of all then-outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock, as
applicable, the Company will take such corporate action as may, in the opinion of its counsel, be
necessary to increase its authorized but unissued shares of Class A Common Stock to such numbers
of shares as shall be sufficient for such purpose.

9. Prohibition on Reissuance of Shares. Shares of Class B Common Stock
that are acquired by the Company for any reason (whether by repurchase, upon conversion, or
otherwise) shall be retired in the manner required by law and shall not be reissued as shares of
Class B Common Stock.

V.

For the management of the business and for the conduct of the affairs of the Company, and in
further definition, limitation and regulation of the powers of the Company, of its directors and of
its stockholders or any class thereof, as the case may be, it is further provided that:

A. Board of Directors.

1. Generally. Except as otherwise provided in thethis Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation or the DGCL, the business and affairs of the Company shall be
managed by or under the direction of the Board of Directors. The number of directors that shall
constitute the Board of Directors shall be fixed from time to time exclusively by resolutions
adopted by the Board of Directors.

2. Election.

(a) Subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock
to elect additional directors under specified circumstances, the directors shall be divided into three
classes designated as Class I, Class II and Class III, respectively. Each class shall consist, as nearly
as possible, of one-third of the total number of such directors. The Board of Directors is authorized
to assign members of the Board of Directors already in office to such classes at the time the
classification becomes effective. At the first annual meeting of stockholders following such initial
classification of the Board of Directors, the initial term of office of the Class I directors shal
expireexpired and the Class I directors shall-bewere elected for a full term of three years. At the
second annual meeting of stockholders following such initial classification of the Board of
Directors, the initial term of office of the Class II directors shal-expireexpired and the Class II
directors shall-bewere elected for a full term of three years. At the third annual meeting of
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stockholders following sueh-initialthe classification of the Board of Directors, the initial term of
office of the Class III directors shal-expireexpired and the Class III directors shalt-bewere elected
for a full term of three years. At each succeeding annual meeting of stockholders, directors shall
be elected for a full term of three years to succeed the directors of the class whose terms expire at
such annual meeting.

(b) No stockholder entitled to vote at an election for directors may
cumulate votes.

(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this section, each
director shall serve until his successor is duly elected and qualified or until his or her earlier death,
resignation or removal. No decrease in the number of directors constituting the Board of Directors
shall shorten the term of any incumbent director.

(d) Election of directors need not be by written ballot unless the Bylaws
so provide.

3. Removal of Directors. Subject to any limitations imposed by applicable
law and subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock, removal shall be as
provided in Section 141(k) of the DGCL.

4. Vacancies. Subject to any limitations imposed by applicable law and
subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock, any vacancies on the Board of
Directors resulting from death, resignation, disqualification, removal or other causes and any
newly created directorships resulting from any increase in the number of directors, shall, unless
the Board of Directors determines by resolution that any such vacancies or newly created
directorships shall be filled by the stockholders and except as otherwise provided by applicable
law, be filled only by the Board of Directors by a majority of the directors then in office, although
less than a quorum, or by the sole remaining director, and not by the stockholders. Any director
elected in accordance with the preceding sentence shall hold office for the remainder of the full
term of the director for which the vacancy was created or occurred and until such director’s
successor shall have been elected and qualified.

B. Stockholder Actions. No action shall be taken by the stockholders of the Company
except at an annual or special meeting of stockholders called in accordance with the Bylaws and
no action shall be taken by the stockholders by written consent. Advance notice of stockholder
nominations for the election of directors and of business to be brought by stockholders before any
meeting of the stockholders of the Company shall be given in the manner provided in the Bylaws
of the Company.

C. Bylaws. The Board of Directors is expressly empowered to adopt, amend or repeal
the Bylaws of the Company. The stockholders shall also have power to adopt, amend or repeal the
Bylaws of the Company; provided, however, that, in addition to any vote of the holders of any
class or series of stock of the Company required by law or by thethis Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation, such action by stockholders shall require the affirmative vote of the
holders of at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of all of the then-outstanding shares of the capital
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stock of the Company entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a
single class.

VI.

A. Limitation of-Direetor Liability. A current director or officer of the Company
shall not be personally liable to the Company or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach
of fiduciary duty as a director or officer, as applicable, except to the extent such exemption from
liability or limitation thereof is not permitted under the DGCL as the same exists or may hereafter
be amended, unless such director or officer, as applicable, violated his or her duty of loyalty to the
Company or its stockholders, acted in bad faith, knowingly or intentionally violated the law,
authorized unlawful payments of dividends, unlawful stock purchases or unlawful redemptions.
Any amendment, modification or repeal of the foregoing sentence shall not adversely affect any
right or protection of a current director of the Company hereunder in respect of any act or omission
occurring prior to the time of such amendment, modification or repeal.

B. Indemnification and Advancement of Expenses.

1. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, as the same exists or may
hereafter be amended, the Company shall indemnify and hold harmless each person who is or was
made a party or is threatened to be made a party to or is otherwise involved in any threatened,
pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or
investigative (a “proceeding’) by reason of the fact that he or she is or was a director or officer of
the Company or, while a director or officer of the Company, is or was serving at the request of the
Company as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation or of a partnership, joint
venture, trust, other enterprise or nonprofit entity, including service with respect to an employee
benefit plan (an “indemnitee’), whether the basis of such proceeding is alleged action in an official
capacity as a director, officer, employee or agent, or in any other capacity while serving as a
director, officer, employee or agent, against all liability and loss suffered and expenses (including,
without limitation, attorneys’ fees, judgments, fines, ERISA excise taxes and penalties and
amounts paid in settlement) reasonably incurred by such indemnitee in connection with such
proceeding. The Company shall to the fullest extent not prohibited by applicable law pay the
expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred by an indemnitee in defending or otherwise
participating in any proceeding in advance of its final disposition; provided, however, that, to the
extent required by applicable law, such payment of expenses in advance of the final disposition of
the proceeding shall be made only upon receipt of an undertaking, by or on behalf of the
indemnitee, to repay all amounts so advanced if it shall ultimately be determined that the
indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified under this Article VI, Section B or otherwise. The
rights to indemnification and advancement of expenses conferred by this Article VI, Section B
shall be contract rights and such rights shall continue as to an indemnitee who has ceased to be a
director, officer, employee or agent and shall inure to the benefit of his or her heirs, executors and
administrators. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Article VI, Section B(1), except
for proceedings to enforce rights to indemnification and advancement of expenses, the Company
shall indemnify and advance expenses to an indemnitee in connection with a proceeding (or part
thereof) initiated by such indemnitee only if such proceeding (or part thereof) was authorized by
the Board_of Directors.
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2. The rights to indemnification and advancement of expenses conferred on
any indemnitee by this Article VI, Section B shall not be exclusive of any other rights that any
indemnitee may have or hereafter acquire under law, this Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation, the Bylaws, an agreement, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors, or
otherwise.

3. Any repeal or amendment of this Article VI, Section B by the stockholders
of the Company or by changes in law, or the adoption of any other provision of this Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation inconsistent with this Article VI, Section B shall, unless
otherwise required by law, be prospective only (except to the extent such amendment or change in
law permits the Company to provide broader indemnification rights on a retroactive basis than
permitted prior thereto), and shall not in any way diminish or adversely affect any right or
protection existing at the time of such repeal or amendment or adoption of such inconsistent
provision in respect of any proceeding (regardless of when such proceeding is first threatened,
commenced or completed) arising out of, or related to, any act or omission occurring prior to such
repeal or amendment or adoption of such inconsistent provision.

4. This Article VI, Section B shall not limit the right of the Company, to the
extent and in the manner authorized or permitted by law, to indemnify and to advance expenses to
persons other than indemnitees.

VII.

A. Unless the Company consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum,
the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall be the sole and exclusive forum for the
following types of actions or proceedings under Delaware statutory or common law: (A) any
derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Company; (B) any action or proceeding
asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or former director, officer or
other employee of the Company or any stockholder to the Company or the Company’s
stockholders; (C) any action or proceeding asserting a claim against the Company or any current
or former director, officer or other employee of the Company or any stockholder arising pursuant
to any provision of the DGCL, thethis Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation or the
Bylaws of the Company (as each may be amended from time to time); (D) any action or proceeding
to interpret, apply, enforce or determine the validity of thethis Amended and Restated Certificate
of Incorporation or the Bylaws of the Company (including any right, obligation or remedy
thereunder); (E) any action or proceeding as to which the DGCL confers jurisdiction to the Court
of Chancery of the State of Delaware; and (F) any action asserting a claim against the Company
or any director, officer or other employee of the Company or any stockholder, governed by the
internal affairs doctrine, in all cases to the fullest extent permitted by law and subject to the court’s
having personal jurisdiction over the indispensable parties named as defendants. This Article VII
shall not apply to suits brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction.

B. Unless the Company consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum,
the federal district courts of the United States of America shall be the exclusive forum for the
resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended.
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C. Any person or Entity holding, owning or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares
of capital stock of the Company shall be deemed to have notice of and to have consented to the
provisions of this Article VII.

VIII.

A. The Company reserves the right to amend, alter, change or repeal any provision
contained in this_ Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, in the manner now or
hereafter prescribed by statute, except as provided in paragraph B. of this Article VIII, and all
rights conferred upon the stockholders herein are granted subject to this reservation.

B. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this_ Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation or any provision of law that might otherwise permit a lesser vote or no vote, but in
addition to any affirmative vote required by law or by this Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation, the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of all of
the then-outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company entitled to vote generally in the
election of directors, voting together as a single class, shall be required to alter, amend or repeal
Articles V, VI, VII and VIII.

C. If any provision or provisions in this_ Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation shall be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable as applied to any person or entity
or circumstance for any reason whatsoever, then, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the validity,
legality and enforceability of such provision or provisions in any other circumstance, and of the
remaining provisions in this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, and the
application of such provision or provisions to other persons or entities and circumstances shall not
in any way be affected or impaired thereby.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements. All statements, other than statements of present or historical fact,
included in or incorporated by reference in this Annual Report regarding our future financial performance, as well as our
strategy, future operations, financial position, estimated revenues and losses, projected costs, prospects, plans, and objectives of
management are forward-looking statements. When used in this Annual Report, the words “anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,”
“could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “future,” “intends,” “may,” “might,” “plan,” “possible,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “seek,”
“should,” “will,” “would,” the negative of such terms and other similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking
statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain such identifying words.

EENT3 99 c EENT3 EENT3

These forward-looking statements are based on information available as of the date of this Annual Report, and current
expectations, assumptions, hopes, beliefs, intentions, and strategies regarding future events. Accordingly, forward-looking
statements in this Annual Report and in any document incorporated herein by reference should not be relied upon as
representing our views as of any subsequent date, and we do not undertake any obligation to update forward-looking statements
to reflect events or circumstances after the date they were made, whether as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise, except as may be required under applicable securities laws.

As a result of a number of known and unknown risks and uncertainties, our actual results or performance may be materially
different from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Some factors that could cause actual results to
differ include those described in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report. Readers are urged to carefully review
and consider the various disclosures made in this Annual Report and in other documents we file from time to time with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) that disclose risks and uncertainties that may affect our business. Moreover, new
risks emerge from time to time. It is not possible for us to predict all risks, nor can we assess the impact of all factors on our
business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those
contained in any forward-looking statements we may make. In light of these risks and uncertainties, the future events and
circumstances discussed in this Annual Report may not occur and actual results could differ materially and adversely from
those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements.

In addition, statements that “we believe” and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject.
These statements are based upon information available to us as of the date of this Annual Report, and while we believe such
information forms a reasonable basis for such statements, such information may be limited or incomplete, and our statements
should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of, all potentially available relevant
information. These statements are inherently uncertain, and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely upon these statements.

2 ¢

As used herein, “Archer,” the “Company,” “Registrant,” “we,” “us,” “our,” and similar terms include Archer Aviation Inc.

and its subsidiaries, unless the context indicates otherwise.

“Archer” and our other registered and common law trade names and trademarks of ours appearing in this Annual Report
are our property. This Annual Report contains additional trade names and trademarks of other companies. We do not intend our
use or display of other companies’ trade names or trademarks to imply an endorsement or sponsorship of us by such companies,
or any relationship with any of these companies.
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RISK FACTOR SUMMARY

Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including those described in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” in
this Annual Report. You should carefully consider these risks and uncertainties when investing in our Class A common stock.
Some of the principal risks and uncertainties include the following:

*  We are an early-stage company with a history of losses, and we expect to incur significant expenses and continuing
losses for the foreseeable future.

*  We are still developing our eVTOL aircraft, have not yet obtained FAA certification of our eVTOL aircraft under
development and we have yet to manufacture or deliver any aircraft to customers, which makes evaluating our
business and future prospects difficult and increases the risk of investment.

*  Our business plan requires a significant amount of capital. In addition, our future capital needs may require us to issue
additional equity or debt securities that may dilute our stockholders or introduce covenants that may restrict our
operations or our ability to pay dividends.

»  Failure to comply with the covenants in our Credit Agreement could result in our inability to borrow additional funds
and adversely impact our business.

»  The markets for our offerings are still in development, and if such markets do not materialize, or grow more slowly
than we expect or fail to grow as large as we expect, our business, financial condition and results of operations could
be harmed.

*  The eVTOL aircraft industry may not continue to develop, eVTOL aircraft may not be adopted by the market, eVTOL
aircraft may not be certified by government authorities or eVTOL aircraft may not be an attractive alternative to
existing modes of transportation, any of which could adversely affect our prospects, business, financial condition and
results of operations.

*  Our future success depends on the continuing efforts of our key personnel and on our ability to attract and retain highly
skilled personnel and senior management.

*  We may be unable to manage our future growth effectively, which could make it difficult to execute our business
strategy.

*  Operation of aircraft involves a degree of inherent risk. We could suffer losses and adverse publicity stemming from
any accident involving small aircraft, helicopters or charter flights and in particular from any accident involving
eVTOL aircraft.

*  We currently rely and will continue to rely on third-party partners to provide and store the parts and components
required to manufacture our aircraft, and to supply critical components and systems, which exposes us to a number of
risks and uncertainties outside our control.

+  We are or may be subject to risks associated with strategic relationships or other opportunities and may not be able to
identify adequate strategic relationship opportunities, or form strategic relationships, in the future.

*  We are party to certain purchase agreements and other contract orders for our Midnight aircraft and the provision of
related services that contain conditions with respect to the purchase of our aircraft or that require us to perform and
provide certain deliverables. If the conditions to or performance obligations under such contracts are not met, or if
such contracts are otherwise canceled, modified or delayed, our prospects, results of operations, liquidity and cash
flow will be harmed.

*  Some of the contract orders for our Midnight aircraft are with U.S. government entities, which are subject to unique
risks.

*  Our business may be adversely affected by the current global political and macroeconomic challenges, including the
effects of inflation, rising interest rates or an economic downturn or recession.

e Our aerial ride sharing operations will initially be concentrated in a small number of urban areas, which makes our
business particularly susceptible to infrastructure, economic, social, weather, regulatory conditions or other
circumstances affecting these metropolitan areas.

*  Our long-term success and ability to significantly grow our revenue will depend, in part, on our ability to establish and
expand into international markets and/or expand market segments.

» If we experience harm to our reputation and brand, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be
adversely affected.

*  Our ability to effectively compete and generate revenue from our products and services depends upon our ability to
distinguish our products and services from our competitors and their products and services.
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Our business may be adversely affected by labor and union activities.

We expect that the purchase agreements with Archer Direct customers could be subject to indexed price escalation
clauses which would subject us to losses if we have cost overruns or if increases in our costs exceed the applicable
escalation rate.

We have been, and may in the future be, adversely affected by health epidemics and pandemics, the duration and
economic, governmental and social impact of which is difficult to predict, which may significantly harm our business,
prospects, financial condition and operating results.

Failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations relating to the aviation business in general and eVTOL aircraft
specifically, could adversely affect our business and our financial condition.

We are subject to cybersecurity risks to our operational systems, security systems, infrastructure, integrated software in
our aircraft and customer data processed by us or third-party vendors.

Failure to comply with laws and regulations relating to privacy, data protection and consumer protection, or the
expansion of current laws and regulations or the enactment of new laws or regulations in these areas, could adversely
affect our business and our financial condition.

We currently have a subsidiary located outside of the United States and plan for international operations in the future,
which could subject us to political, operational and regulatory challenges.

We are subject to risks associated with climate change, including the potential increased impacts of severe weather
events on our operations and infrastructure.

We intend to retain certain personal information about our customers, employees or others that, if compromised, could
harm our financial performance and results of operations or prospects.

The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources, divert management’s attention and affect our
ability to attract and retain additional executive management and qualified board members.

We are, and may in the future become, subject to legal proceedings, which may be time-consuming and expensive and,
if adversely determined, could delay, limit or prevent our ability to commercialize our aircraft or otherwise execute on
our business plans.

Our business may be adversely affected if we are unable to protect our intellectual property rights from unauthorized
use by third parties.

Our management team has limited experience managing a public company.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation requires, to the fullest extent permitted by law, that derivative
actions brought in our name, actions against our directors, officers, other employees or stockholders for breach of

fiduciary duty and other similar actions may be brought only in the Court of Chancery in the State of Delaware, which
may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against our directors, officers, other employees or stockholders.

The warrants originally issued by Atlas are accounted for as liabilities and changes in the value of these warrants could
have a material effect on our financial results.

Changes in financial accounting standards may cause adverse unexpected fluctuations and affect our reported results of
operations.

The price of our Class A common stock and warrants may be volatile, and you could lose all or part of your

investment as a result.

The dual-class structure of our common stock has the effect of concentrating voting power with certain shareholders of
our Class B common stock, which could limit other shareholders’ ability to influence the outcome of important
transactions, including a change in control.

Future sales, or the perception of future sales, by us or our stockholders in the public market could cause the market
price for our Class A common stock to decline.
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Part 1
Item 1. Business
Overview

We are designing and developing electric vertical takeoff and landing (“eVTOL”) aircraft for use in urban air mobility
(“UAM”) networks. Our mission is to unlock the skies, freeing everyone to reimagine how they move and spend time. Our
eVTOL aircraft are designed to be safe, sustainable, and quiet. Our production aircraft, Midnight, which we unveiled in
November of 2022, is designed around our proprietary 12-tilt-6 aircraft configuration. This means that it has 12 propellers
attached to 6 booms on a fixed wing with all 12 propellers providing vertical lift during take-off and landing and the forward 6
propellers tilting forward to cruise position to provide propulsion during forward flight with the wing providing aerodynamic
lift like a conventional airplane.

Midnight is designed to carry 4 passengers plus a pilot optimized for back-to-back short distance trips of around 20-miles,
with minimal charging time between trips. We are working to certify Midnight with the Federal Aviation Administration
(“FAA”) so that we can then enter into commercial service as soon as possible. In August 2023, we received the Special
Airworthiness Certificate from the FAA for our first Midnight aircraft and began its flight testing program in October 2023.

Midnight is the evolution of our demonstrator eVTOL aircraft, Maker, which through its flight test program has helped
validate our proprietary 12-tilt-6 aircraft configuration and certain key enabling technologies. The design of Midnight marries
what we believe to be cutting-edge electric propulsion technology with state-of-the-art aircraft systems to deliver the key
attributes of our eVTOL aircraft:

»  Safety. High redundancy and simplified propulsion systems make for a significantly safer aircraft compared to a
helicopter. Midnight has no single critical point of failure, meaning that should any single component fail, the aircraft
can still safely complete its flight.

*  Low noise. With its intended cruising altitude at approximately 2,000 feet, the design of Midnight is such that the
noise that reaches the ground is expected to measure around 45 A-weighted decibels, approximately 100 times quieter
than that of a helicopter. During forward flight, the aircraft’s tilt propellers spin on axes that are aligned with the
oncoming air flow, rather than edge-wise to the flow, as is the case with traditional helicopters - further decreasing
noise levels. Since Archer’s aircraft is spinning 12 small propellers rather than one large rotor, it can also spin them at
significantly lower tip speeds, resulting in much lower noise levels.

*  Sustainable. Midnight is all electric, resulting in zero operating emissions. Archer is committed to sourcing renewable
energy wherever possible to power its aircraft. Archer’s design and engineering teams are working to integrate
materials into this aircraft that have their own unique sustainability stories.

We continue to work to optimize our eVTOL aircraft design for both manufacturing and certification. The development of
an eVTOL aircraft that meets our business requirements demands significant design and development efforts on all facets of the
aircraft. We believe that by bringing together a mix of talent with eVTOL, traditional commercial aerospace, as well as electric
propulsion backgrounds, we have built a team that enables us to move through the design, development, and certification of our
eVTOL aircraft with the FAA in an efficient manner, thus allowing us to achieve our end goal of bringing to market our
eVTOL aircraft as efficiently as possible.

Our Planned Lines of Business

Upon receipt of all necessary FAA certifications and any other government approvals necessary for us to manufacture and
operate our aircraft, we intend to operate two complementary lines of business: a direct-to-consumer aerial ride share service
(“Archer UAM”) and the sale of our aircraft to other operators (“Archer Direct”).

*  Archer UAM. We plan to operate our own UAM ecosystem initially in select major cities. Our UAM ecosystem will
operate using our eVTOL aircraft, which is currently in development. Consumers will be able to book rides directly
through our service through an app-based platform. We project that the cost to manufacture and operate our eVTOL
aircraft will be such that it will be able to enter the UAM ride-sharing market at a price point that is competitive with
ground-based ride sharing services today. We will continue to evaluate our go-to-market strategy based on, among
other things, estimated demand, readiness of the required infrastructure, and our ability to scale our aircraft fleet.
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*  Archer Direct. We also plan to selectively sell our aircraft to third parties. We have entered into a purchase agreement
with United Airlines Inc. (“United”) for the conditional purchase of up to $1.0 billion worth of aircraft, with an option
for another $500.0 million worth of aircraft (as amended, the “United Purchase Agreement”). In August 2023, we
entered into two new contracts with the U.S. Air Force worth up to $142.0 million, which includes the purchase of
aircraft, as well as the sharing of additional flight test data and certification related test reports, pilot training, and the
development of maintenance and repair operations.

As we get closer to commercialization, we will look to determine the right mix of selling our aircraft versus using them as
part of our UAM ecosystem based on, among other factors, our capital needs, our manufacturing volumes, our ability to ramp
Archer UAM operations, and the purchase demand from our Archer Direct customers.

To date, we have not generated revenue from either of these planned categories, as we continue to design, develop, and
seek the governmental approvals necessary for our eVTOL aircraft to enter into service. We will use our cash and cash
equivalents for the foreseeable future to continue to fund our efforts to bring our eVTOL aircraft to market. The amount and
timing of any future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including the pace and results of the design and
development of our aircraft and manufacturing operations, as well as our progress in obtaining necessary FAA certifications
and other government approvals. For example, any significant delays in obtaining such FAA certifications and other
government approvals will likely require us to raise additional capital above our existing cash on hand and delay our generation
of revenues.

Manufacturing Operations & Supply Chain Build-Out

We are in the process of developing the infrastructure necessary to manufacture Midnight reliably, at scale, and in a cost
effective manner. That involves two main aspects: developing the necessary component supply chain and building out our
manufacturing operations.

With regards to the sourcing of our components, a key aspect of our strategy has been to focus our internal component
development efforts on only the key enabling technologies like our electric propulsion system and flight control software. For
those areas that are not differentiating technologies we aim to leverage the existing aerospace supply base to supply us with
components that are already being used in certified aircraft today. Throughout 2023, we continued to expand our portfolio of
suppliers that will provide us with components for Midnight. We have also matured the design, development and manufacturing
capabilities for our aircraft and proprietary electric propulsion system.

With regards to our manufacturing operations, we completed the build out of a production facility in San Jose, California,
which we will utilize to produce the initial Midnight aircraft used as part of our FAA certification program, as well as a high-
volume production facility in Covington, Georgia. We have begun our Covington facility build-out and target substantial
completion of the first phase in 2024, which is a 350,000 square-foot facility that is designed to be capable of supporting
production of up to 650 aircraft per year. We are designing that facility so that it can be expanded to approximately 900,000
square feet to support our long-term production targets of over 2,000 aircraft per year. In connection with our Covington
facility, we received an incentive package with the State of Georgia, Newton County and City of Covington, which included
land conveyance, tax incentives and Georgia REBA grant. In October 2023, we entered into a credit agreement (the “Credit
Agreement”) with Synovus Bank, the largest bank headquartered in the State of Georgia, for up to $65.0 million, which
represents a substantial majority of the estimated total cost of construction for the first phase. For additional information
regarding the Synovus credit agreement, see the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources.” As discussed in more detail below, we plan to work alongside
Stellantis N.V. (“Stellantis”) on the build out and stand up this facility and our operations there.

Key Strategic Partners

Archer was founded with a focus on commercializing the eVTOL aircraft industry. As we prepare for commercialization,
we continue to deepen our partnerships with our long-standing partners and develop new relationships with industry leaders in
urban centers around the world.

Stellantis

In 2020, we established a key strategic relationship with Stellantis, one of the world’s leading automakers including brands
Jeep®, Ram, Maserati, Dodge, and Chrysler. The goal was to allow us to leverage Stellantis” deep manufacturing, supply chain,
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and design expertise in connection with our efforts to design, develop, and commercialize our eVTOL aircraft. In January 2023,
we announced a significant expansion of our partnership by entering into a manufacturing collaboration arrangement and
strategic funding agreement. As a result, Stellantis is working with us to stand up our manufacturing facility in Covington. This
unique approach will continue to leverage each company’s respective strengths and competencies in an effort to bring our
Midnight aircraft to market at scale to support our commercialization plans. The goal over the long term is for Stellantis to mass
produce our eVTOL aircraft as our contract manufacturer. In 2021, Stellantis invested in Archer as part of the Business
Combination (as defined below) and has continued to increase its investment in Archer through its strategic funding agreement
and open market purchases. In 2023, we drew down on $95.0 million of funding available under our strategic funding
agreement and currently have $55.0 million available to draw down at our discretion, subject to achievement of a business
milestone which we expect to occur in the first half of 2024.

United

In 2021, we established a key strategic relationship with United as part of the airline's broader effort to invest in emerging
technologies that decarbonize air travel. The goal has been for United, as our flagship customer, to contribute its expertise in
aircraft operations as we work together to commercialize our eVTOL aircraft. As part of establishing that relationship, we
entered into a purchase agreement with United covering their purchase of up to $1.5 billion of our eVTOL aircraft. United has
indicated its plans to acquire a fleet of our eVTOL aircraft that would be deployed in a manner to give their customers a quick,
economical and low-carbon way to get to and from United's hub airports and commute in dense urban environments. United
also invested in Archer as part of the Business Combination, as well as our private placement completed in August 2023.

Since 2021, we have also been working closely with United on commercialization efforts. In April 2022, we formed a joint
eVTOL Advisory Committee to support operations of our eVTOL aircraft, including maintenance and operational standards
and in August 2022, United paid us $10.0 million in pre-delivery payments for 100 aircraft covered under our purchase
agreement. We’ve jointly announced two domestic UAM routes: Downtown Manhattan Heliport to Newark Liberty
International Airport and O’Hare International Airport to Vertiport Chicago. Our shared purpose is connecting people, and we
continue to work closely to ensure our eVTOL aircraft will amplify their broader efforts to do that in a sustainable way.

Market Opportunity

In 2023, 56% of the world’s population lived in urban areas according to the World Bank, and their projection is that the
urban population will double its current size by 2050 where nearly 7 of 10 people will live in cities.' This migration has led to
unprecedented traffic congestion, with a noticeable struggle to scale ground infrastructure. A 2021 study by researchers from
MIT concluded that ground-based ride share has intensified urban transport challenges since their debut in the U.S.> According
to a 2021 report by Morgan Stanley, the urban air mobility sector’s total addressable market is projected to reach $1 trillion
globally by 2040 and then $9 trillion by 2050.> UAM offers a potential solution by expanding travel into the air. To date, the
electrification of aircraft has lagged the adoption of electric automobiles in large part because of the greater technical
challenges. However, over the last few years there have been significant advancements in the key enabling technologies for
eVTOL aircraft, such as high-energy batteries and high-performance electric motors. We anticipate that the initial market
opportunity will be focused in high-density metropolitan areas where traffic congestion is particularly acute and operating
conditions are suitable for early eVTOL aircraft operations. While we believe the market for eVTOL aircraft and UAM services
will be large, it remains undeveloped and there is no guarantee of future demand.

We believe the primary drivers for adoption of UAM services will be the time savings and value proposition offered by
UAM relative to more traditional ground-based transportation options. We expect that the following additional factors will also
impact the pace of adoption of UAM: regulatory requirements for eVTOL aircraft and UAM network operations, public
acceptance of eVTOL aircraft (including perception regarding the safety of eVTOL aircraft) and access to the infrastructure
necessary to enable UAM services. If the market for UAM does not develop as expected, this would impact our ability to
generate revenue or grow our business.

For additional information, see “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report.

! «Urban Development Overview,” by the World Bank, dated April 3, 2023, available at: https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/
urbandevelopment/overview.

% “Impacts of transportation network companies on urban mobility,” by Nature Sustainability, dated February 1, 2021, available
at: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41893-020-00678-z.

3 “eVTOL/Urban Air Mobility TAM Update,” by Morgan Stanley, dated May 6, 2021, available at: https://
advisor.morganstanley.com/the-busot-group/documents/field/b/bu/busot-group/Electric%20Vehicles.pdf.
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Competition
We believe our main sources of competition fall into three categories:
» ground-based vehicle transportation, including personal vehicles and ride-sharing services;
»  other eVTOL manufacturers and UAM service providers; and
+  existing incumbent aircraft and helicopter charter services.

We believe the primary competitive factors between us and other eVTOL manufacturers and UAM service providers will
be the following:

*  eVTOL aircraft performance, including payload, noise, charging time, quality, reliability and safety;
»  cost of the UAM service offering;

+ eVTOL aircraft manufacturing capacity and efficiency, including the availability of raw materials and supplier parts
necessary to manufacture eVTOL aircraft at scale;

»  UAM service capabilities, including overall customer experience; and
+ hiring the talent necessary to effectively design, develop, certify and commercialize eVTOL aircratft.

While we believe we will be able to compete favorably across these factors, we expect this industry to be dynamic and
increasingly competitive and it is possible that our competitors could get to market before us, either generally or in specific
markets. For additional information about competition, see “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of this Annual Report.

Government Regulation and Compliance

We continue to focus our efforts on obtaining certification from the FAA of our aircraft in the U.S. and engaging with key
decision makers in the U.S. cities in which we plan to initially operate our aircraft. Additionally, in 2023 we began exploring
international opportunities for commercializing our aircraft with a focus on the United Arab Emirates and India. We will
continue to mature those opportunities as we get closer to production. Globally, our aircraft will be required to comply with
regulations governing aircraft design, production and airworthiness. In the U.S., the regulations are put forth by the FAA and
Department of Transportation (“DOT”). Outside the U.S., similar requirements are generally administered by the national civil
aviation and transportation authorities of each country. The following describes the key certifications necessary for us to design,
manufacture, sell and operate our eVTOL aircraft in the United States:

*  Designing our aircraft: Type Certification in the United States is the FAA’s approval process for new aircraft designs
and covers the design of the aircraft and all required components and parts. Our initial aircraft type certification will be
required to meet the criteria set forth by the FAA through a “special class” definition under 14 CFR Part 21.17(b). The
first step is agreeing to the certification basis. In November of 2022, we finalized our agreement to that certification
basis with the FAA through an approved Stage 4 G-1 Issue Paper. As part of the FAA’s Type Certification process for
a special class aircraft, the Airworthiness Criteria (i.e., the certification requirements or rules for the particular aircraft)
must then be published in the Federal Register for public comment. In December of 2022, the proposed Airworthiness
Criteria for our Midnight aircraft were published in the Federal Register by the FAA. This Federal Register notice was
then open for a period of time for review and public comment. Following the comment period, the FAA has been
working to review and dispose of those comments will approve the finalized set of Airworthiness Criteria by means of
a Final Rule publication. In parallel, we have been working with the FAA to agree on the Means of Compliance with
the FAA, which is the detailed list of design, analysis and testing standards that will be used to demonstrate that the
aircraft is safe and complies with the Airworthiness Criteria. We initially submitted a comprehensive proposal for
Midnight’s Means of Compliance to the FAA back in December of 2021. We are continuing to work with the FAA to
close out our remaining Means of Compliance and we do not see any significant design risks with the remaining
Means of Compliance areas that have not yet been agreed to. Lastly, we are also working with the FAA to review and
agree on our subject specific certification plans (“SSCPs”). SSCPs provide precise detail on each of the specific tests
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and analyses that will be completed during the implementation phase of our Type Certification program, in which we
actually demonstrate to the FAA that Midnight meets all relevant FAA requirements necessary to receive Type
Certification.

*  Producing our aircraft: Production certification is the FAA’s approval for us to be able to manufacture our Midnight
aircraft as approved by the FAA per its Type Certified design. To obtain production certification from the FAA, we
must demonstrate that our organization and our personnel, facilities, and quality system can produce our aircraft such
that they conform to its approved design. As discussed above, we are working to develop the systems and processes
we will need to obtain our FAA production certification with the goal of obtaining such certification shortly following
receipt of Midnight’s Type Certification approval.

»  Selling our aircraft: Airworthiness certification from the FAA signifies that an aircraft meets its approved design and is
in a condition for safe operation in the U.S. National Airspace System. As is the industry standard, each of the aircraft
manufactured by us will need to be issued an airworthiness certificate. We expect that the airworthiness certificates
issued to our aircraft will be a Standard Airworthiness certificate in the Normal Category, as defined by the FAA.

*  Operating our UAM service: The FAA and the DOT have regulatory authority over air transportation operations in the
United States. To operate our UAM service, we will be required to hold a Part 135 Air Carrier and Operator
Certification and register as an air taxi operator with the DOT. In addition, takeoff and landing locations (e.g., airports
and heliports) typically require state and local approval for zoning and land use and their ongoing use are subject to
regulations by local authorities in addition to the FAA requirements. Lastly, we will need to ensure we have sufficient
commercial pilots available for our planned operations. We expect that as we build out our UAM service there will be
additional federal, state and local laws, regulations and other requirements that will cover our operations. Therefore,
we have already begun, and will continue to grow, our engagement and collaboration with the cities in which we
intend to operate our UAM service in an effort to ensure that it operates in a safe manner. We received our Part 145
Repair Station Certificate in February 2024, which perform specialized aircraft maintenance and repair services and
lays the foundation for us to operate repair stations that perform maintenance, repair, and overhaul services on our
Midnight aircraft once it is certified for commercial operations.

We believe we are in material compliance with laws and regulations currently applicable to our business. We continue to
monitor existing and pending laws and regulations and while the impact of regulatory changes cannot be predicted with
certainty, we do not expect compliance to have a material adverse effect on our business. See Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” in
this Annual Report for a more comprehensive description of risks related to government regulation affecting our business.

Facilities

We are currently headquartered in San Jose, California with additional offices, research and development facilities, flight
test facilities and manufacturing facilities in Santa Clara, Mountain View, and Salinas, California, as well as our facility under
construction in Covington, Georgia.

Our Employees and Human Capital

Our strategy has been and continues to be to hire top talent across various disciplines to build the best eVTOL aircraft and
UAM service possible. We believe we have assembled a world-class team with extensive experience in acrodynamics, electric
propulsion, batteries, and aircraft manufacturing, as well as key personnel necessary to help us ensure that we progress
efficiently through the certification of our aircraft and towards the commercialization of our business. The fabric of this team is
that we are curious, talented, and passionate people. We embrace collaboration and creativity and encourage the iteration of
ideas to address the complex challenges our industry faces. We believe our team and culture differentiates us versus our
competitors and will be a key driver of our long-term success.

Because we recognize that our people are critical for our continued success, we work hard to create an environment where
employees can have fulfilling careers, and be happy, healthy, and productive. Furthermore, we are committed to making
diversity, equity, and inclusion a part of everything we do and to growing a workforce that is representative of the cities we plan
to serve.

As of December 31, 2023, we had a workforce of 691 people, including 578 full-time employees and 113 contingent

workers. We have not experienced any work stoppages and generally consider our relationship with our employees to be good.
None of our employees are subject to a collective bargaining agreement or represented by a labor union.
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Intellectual Property

We rely on various intellectual property laws, confidentiality procedures and contractual terms to protect our proprietary
technology and our brand. We have registered and applied for the registration of U.S. and international trademarks, service
marks and domain names. We have also filed patent applications in the United States and foreign countries covering certain of
our technology. In general, our issued patents expire between 2040 and 2044.

Raw Materials, Parts and Suppliers

We are dependent on the ability of a number of U.S. and non-U.S. suppliers and service providers to meet performance
specifications, quality standards and delivery schedules at our anticipated costs as we work towards developing and
manufacturing our aircraft and commercialization. The most important raw materials required in our production aircraft
Midnight include aluminum and composites.

Business Combination

On September 16, 2021 (the “Closing Date”), Archer Aviation Inc., a Delaware corporation (prior to the closing of the
Business Combination (as defined below), “Legacy Archer”), Atlas Crest Investment Corp., a Delaware corporation (“Atlas”),
and Artemis Acquisition Sub Inc., a Delaware corporation and a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of Atlas (“Merger Sub”),
consummated the closing of the transactions contemplated by the Business Combination Agreement, dated February 10, 2021,
as amended and restated on July 29, 2021, by and among Atlas, Legacy Archer and Merger Sub (the “Business Combination
Agreement”), following approval at a special meeting of the stockholders of Atlas held on September 14, 2021 (the “Special
Meeting”). Unless otherwise specified or unless the context otherwise requires, references herein to Legacy Archer refer to
Archer prior to the Business Combination (as defined below) and references herein to “New Archer” refer to Archer following
the Business Combination.

Pursuant to the terms of the Business Combination Agreement, a business combination of Legacy Archer and Atlas was
effected by the merger of Merger Sub with and into Legacy Archer, with Legacy Archer surviving the merger (the “Surviving
Entity”) as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Atlas (the “Merger,” and, collectively with the other transactions described in the
Business Combination Agreement, the “Business Combination”). Following the consummation of the Merger on the Closing
Date, the Surviving Entity changed its name from Archer Aviation Inc. to Archer Aviation Operating Corp., and Atlas changed
its name from Atlas Crest Investment Corp. to Archer Aviation Inc. and it became the successor registrant with the SEC. Prior
to the closing of the Business Combination, the Class A common stock and public warrants of Atlas were listed on the New
York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbols “ACIC” and “ACIC WS,” respectively. New Archer Class A common
stock and public warrants are currently listed on the NYSE under the symbols “ACHR” and “ACHR WS,” respectively.

Available Information

Our website is located at www.archer.com and our investor relations website is located at investors.archer.com. Our
Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and our Proxy Statements, and
any amendments to these reports, are and will be available through our investor relations website, free of charge, after we file
them with the SEC.

Webcasts of our earnings calls are made available via our investor relations website. Our investor relations website also
provides notifications of news or announcements regarding our financial performance and certain other news and information
that may be material or of interest to our investors, including SEC filings, investor events, press and earnings releases. We also
share news and business updates about Archer that may be material or of interest to our investors on the investor relations
section of our website (investors.archer.com) and the news portion of our website (www.archer.com/news), which includes our
blog posts, as well as on social media, including Facebook (https://www.facebook.com/FlyArcher), X (formerly known as
Twitter) (@ArcherAviation and @adamgoldstein13), LinkedIn (https://www.linkedin.com/company/flyarcher and https://
www linkedin.com/in/adam-goldstein-7b662121/) and YouTube (https://www.youtube.com/c/ArcherAviation).

Further, corporate governance information, including our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and

restated bylaws, corporate governance guidelines, board committee charters, and code of business conduct and ethics, and other
policies, are also available on our investor relations website under the heading “Governance Documents.”
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The contents of the websites referred to above are not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report or in any other
report or document we file with the SEC, and any references to our website are intended to be inactive textual references only.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our securities involves risks. You should consider carefully the risks and uncertainties described below,
together with all of the other information in this Annual Report, including Part II, Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements and related notes, before
deciding whether to purchase any of our securities. Our business, results of operations, financial condition, and prospects
could also be harmed by risks and uncertainties that are not presently known to us or that we currently believe are not
material. If any of these risks actually occur, our business, results of operations, financial condition, and prospects could be
materially and adversely affected. Unless otherwise indicated, references in these risk factors to our business being harmed will
include harm to our business, reputation, brand, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects. In any such event, the
market price of our securities could decline, and you could lose all or part of your investment.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

We are an early-stage company with a history of losses, and we expect to incur significant expenses and continuing losses
for the foreseeable future.

As of December 31, 2023, we incurred a net loss of $457.9 million, and we have incurred a net loss of approximately
$1,148.8 million since inception. We believe that we will continue to incur operating and net losses each quarter until at least
the time we begin generating significant revenues from our planned lines of business. Even if we are able to successfully launch
our Archer UAM or Archer Direct lines of business, there can be no assurance that such lines of business will be financially
viable.

We expect the rate at which we will incur losses could be significantly higher in future periods as we:
* continue to design, develop, manufacture, certify and market our aircraft;
* continue to design and develop the Archer UAM network;

* continue to utilize third parties to assist us with the design, development, manufacturing, certification and marketing of
our aircraft and UAM network;

* continue to attract, retain and motivate talented employees;

+ expand our aircraft manufacturing capabilities, including costs associated with the manufacturing of our aircraft;

¢ build up inventories of parts and components for our aircraft;

» manufacture an inventory of our aircraft;

 expand our design, development and servicing capabilities;

* increase our sales and marketing activities and develop our distribution infrastructure;

» work with third-party partners to develop pilot training programs; and

* increase our general and administrative functions to support our growing operations and operations as a public company.

Because we expect to incur the costs and expenses from these efforts before we receive any significant revenues with
respect thereto, our losses in future periods are expected to be significant. In addition, we may find that these efforts are more
expensive than we currently anticipate or that these efforts may not result in the revenues we expect, which could further
increase our losses.

We are still developing our eVTOL aircraft, have not yet obtained FAA certification of our eVTOL aircraft under
development and we have yet to manufacture or deliver any aircraft to customers, which makes evaluating our business and
future prospects difficult and increases the risk of investment.

We were incorporated in October 2018 and have a limited operating history in designing, developing, and working to

certify an eVTOL aircraft. Our eVTOL aircraft is in the development stage and we do not expect our first production aircraft to
be certified by the FAA until late 2025 or later. We are still working with the FAA in an attempt to obtain Type Certification of

2023 Annual Report 8



our eVTOL aircraft. As a result, we have no experience as an organization in volume manufacturing of aircraft. Some of our
current and potential competitors are larger and have substantially greater resources than we have and expect to have in the
future. As a result, those competitors may be able to devote greater resources to the development of their current and future
technologies, the promotion and sale of their offerings, and/or offer their technologies at lower prices. In particular, our
competitors may be able to receive Type, Airworthiness or Production certification from the FAA covering their eVTOL
aircraft prior to us receiving such certifications. Our current and potential competitors may also establish cooperative or
strategic relationships amongst themselves or with third parties that may further enhance their resources and offerings. Further,
it is possible that domestic or foreign companies or governments, some with greater experience in the aerospace industry or
greater financial resources than we possess, will seek to provide products or services that compete directly or indirectly with
ours in the future. Any such foreign competitor, for example, could benefit from subsidies from, or other protective measures
by, its home country.

We cannot assure you that we or our partners will be able to develop manufacturing and supply chain capabilities that will
enable us to meet the quality, price, engineering, design and production standards, as well as the production volumes, required
to successfully commercialize our aircraft. You should consider our business and prospects in light of the risks and significant
challenges we face as a new entrant into a new industry, including, among other things, with respect to our ability to:

¢ design and manufacture safe, reliable and quality aircraft on an ongoing basis;

* obtain the necessary regulatory approvals in a timely manner, including receipt of FAA certifications covering our
aircraft and, in turn, any other government approvals necessary for manufacturing, marketing, selling and operating the
Archer UAM network or selling our aircraft through Archer Direct;

* build a well-recognized and respected brand;
+ establish and expand our customer base;

+ successfully market not just our aircraft but also the other services we intend to provide, such as aerial ride sharing
services;

+ successfully service our aircraft after sales and maintain a good flow of spare parts and customer goodwill;
» improve and maintain our operational efficiency;

+ successfully execute our manufacturing and production model and maintain a reliable, secure, and scalable technology
infrastructure;

* predict our future revenues and appropriately budget for our expenses;
* attract, retain and motivate talented employees;
* anticipate trends that may emerge and affect our business;

* anticipate and adapt to changing market conditions, including technological developments and changes in competitive
landscape; and

* navigate an evolving and complex regulatory environment.

If we fail to adequately address any or all of these risks and challenges, our business may be harmed.

Our business plan requires a significant amount of capital. In addition, our future capital needs may require us to issue
additional equity or debt securities that may dilute our stockholders or introduce covenants that may restrict our operations
or our ability to pay dividends.

We expect our capital expenditures and operating expenses to continue to be significant in the foreseeable future as we
develop our aircraft and business, and that our level of capital expenditures and operating expenses will be significantly affected
by the aircraft development and certification process as well as subsequent customer demand for our aircraft. We believe our
current cash and cash equivalents and other sources of liquidity, including the Forward Purchase Agreement, dated as of
January 3, 2023, by and between us and Stellantis N.V. (“Stellantis Forward Purchase Agreement”) and borrowings under our
Credit Agreement, will be sufficient to fund our current operating plan for at least the next 12 months. However, we expect that
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over the coming years we will continue to make significant investments in our business, including development of our aircraft,
bring up of manufacturing capabilities, the infrastructure to support Archer UAM, and investments in our brand.

Our investments and expenses may be greater than currently anticipated or there may be investments or expenses that are
unforeseen, and we may not succeed in acquiring sufficient capital to offset these expenses and achieve significant revenue
generation. We have a limited operating history and no historical data on the demand for our planned Archer UAM and Archer
Direct businesses. As a result, our future capital requirements are difficult to predict and our actual capital requirements may be
different from those we currently anticipate. We may need to seek equity or debt financing to finance a portion of our future
capital requirements. Such financing might not be available to us when needed or on terms that are acceptable, or at all.

Our ability to obtain the necessary capital to carry out our business plan is subject to a number of factors, including general
economic and market conditions, as well as investor sentiment regarding our planned business. These factors may make the
timing, amount, terms and conditions of any such financing unattractive or unavailable to us. The current macroeconomic
environment may increase our cost of financing or make it more difficult to raise additional capital on favorable terms, if at all.
If we are unable to raise sufficient capital, we may have to significantly reduce our spending and/or delay or cancel our planned
activities. We might not be able to obtain any financing, and we might not have sufficient capital to conduct our business as
projected, both of which could mean that we would be forced to curtail or discontinue our operations.

Actual events involving limited liquidity, defaults, non-performance or other adverse developments that affect financial
institutions, transactional counterparties or other companies in the financial services industry or the financial services industry
generally, or concerns or rumors about any events of these kinds or other similar risks, have in the past and may in the future
lead to market-wide liquidity problems. For example, on March 10, 2023, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or the
FDIC, took control and was appointed receiver of Silicon Valley Bank, or SVB. Similarly, on March 12, 2023, Signature Bank
and Silvergate Capital Corp. were each swept into receivership. If any of our counterparties to our financial instruments,
including funds held in uninsured deposit accounts, credit agreements, letters of credit and certain other financial instruments,
were to be placed into receivership, we may be unable to access such funds. If other banks and financial institutions enter
receivership or become insolvent in the future in response to financial conditions affecting the banking system and financial
markets, our ability to access our existing cash, cash equivalents and investments may be threatened and could have a material
adverse effect on our business and financial condition.

In addition, our future capital needs and other business needs or plans could require us to issue additional equity or debt
securities or obtain a credit facility. The issuance of additional equity or equity-linked securities could dilute our stockholders.
The incurrence of indebtedness would result in increased debt service obligations and could result in operating and financing
covenants that would restrict our operations or our ability to pay dividends to our stockholders.

If we cannot raise additional capital when we need or want to, our operations and prospects could be negatively affected.

Failure to comply with the covenants in our Credit Agreement could result in our inability to borrow additional funds and
adversely impact our business.

Our Credit Agreement with Synovus Bank imposes numerous financial and other restrictive covenants on our operations,
including covenants relating to our liquidity. As of December 31, 2023, we were in compliance with the covenants imposed by
the Credit Agreement. If we violate these or any other covenants, any loan under the Credit Agreement could become due and
payable prior to their stated maturity dates, and Synovus Bank could proceed against the collateral in our collateral account and
our ability to borrow funds under the Credit Agreement in the future may be restricted or eliminated. These restrictions may
also limit our ability to borrow additional funds and pursue other business opportunities or strategies that we would otherwise
consider to be in our best interests.

The markets for our offerings are still in development, and if such markets do not materialize, or grow more slowly than we
expect or fail to grow as large as we expect, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be harmed.

The markets for eVTOL aircraft are still in development, and our success in these markets is dependent upon our ability to
effectively design, develop, and certify eVTOL aircraft, market and gain traction of air UAM as a substitute for existing
methods of transportation and the effectiveness of our other marketing and growth strategies. If the public does not perceive
UAM as beneficial, or chooses not to adopt UAM as a result of concerns regarding safety, noise, affordability or for other
reasons, then the market for our offerings may not materialize, may develop more slowly than we expect or may not achieve the
growth potential we expect, any of which could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Growth of our business will require significant investments in our infrastructure, technology, and sales and marketing
efforts. If our business does not have sufficient capital required to support these investments, our results of operations will be

2023 Annual Report 10



negatively affected. Further, our ability to effectively manage growth and expansion of our operations will also require us to
enhance our operational systems, internal controls and infrastructure, human resources policies and reporting systems. These
enhancements will require significant capital expenditures and allocation of valuable management and employee resources.

The eVTOL aircraft industry may not continue to develop, eVTOL aircraft may not be adopted by the market, eVTOL
aircraft may not be certified by government authorities or eVTOL aircraft may not be an attractive alternative to existing
modes of transportation, any of which could adversely affect our prospects, business, financial condition and results of
operations.

eVTOL aircraft involve a complex set of technologies, which we must continue to further develop and rely on our Archer
Direct and Archer UAM customers to adopt. However, before eVTOL aircraft can fly passengers, we must receive requisite
certifications and approvals from applicable governmental authorities. There are currently no eVTOL aircraft certified by the
FAA for commercial operations in the United States, and there is no assurance that our design, development and certification
efforts will result in our receiving FAA certification of our aircraft. In order to achieve FAA certification, the performance,
reliability and safety of eVTOL aircraft must be established, none of which can be assured. In particular, there is a risk that we
will not obtain one or more certifications from the FAA that are required for ultimate commercial use of our aircraft, or will
experience delays in receiving one or more of these certifications. Even if our eVTOL aircraft receive type certification,
production certification, and airworthiness certification, eVTOL aircraft operators must conform eVTOL aircraft to their
operational licenses, which requires FAA approval, and individual pilots also must be licensed and approved by the FAA to fly
eVTOL aircraft, which could contribute to delays in any widespread use of eVTOL aircraft and potentially limit the number of
eVTOL aircraft operators available to purchase aircraft from or partner with us.

Additional challenges to the adoption of our eVTOL aircraft and UAM network, all of which are outside of our control,
include:

+ market acceptance of eVTOL aircraft;
« state, federal or municipal regulatory and licensing requirements for our eVTOL aircraft and UAM network operations;

* necessary changes to existing infrastructure to enable adoption, including installation of necessary charging and other
equipment; and

* public perception regarding the safety of eVTOL aircraft.

There are a number of existing laws, regulations and standards that may apply to eVTOL aircraft, including standards that
were not originally intended to apply to electric aircraft. The promulgation of additional federal, state, and local laws and
regulations that address eVTOL aircraft more specifically could delay our ability to commercially launch our eVTOL aircraft
and UAM network. In addition, depending on the nature of any revised regulations, we may need to modify our approach to
certification, it may be difficult for us to timely comply with such regulations, and we may not be able to timely achieve FAA
type certification for our aircraft. Further, we have designed our aircraft to be certified under the current FAA regulatory
framework. If the applicable FAA regulations are substantially changed or new regulations are adopted, we may need to modify
the design of our aircraft to comply with the new regulations, which could cause us to incur significant expenses and scheduling
delays in commercializing our aircraft and launching UAM services, which could adversely affect our prospects, business,
financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, there can be no assurance that the market will accept eVTOL aircraft, that we will be able to execute on our
business strategy, or that our offerings utilizing eVTOL aircraft will obtain the necessary government approvals or be
successful in the market. There may be heightened public skepticism of this nascent technology and its adopters. In particular,
there could be negative public perception surrounding eVTOL aircraft, including the overall safety and the potential for injuries
or death occurring as a result of accidents involving eVTOL aircraft, regardless of whether any such safety incidents occur
involving us. Any of the foregoing risks and challenges could adversely affect our prospects, business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Our future success depends on the continuing efforts of our key personnel and on our ability to attract and retain highly
skilled personnel and senior management.

Our future success depends, in part, on our ability to continue to attract and retain highly skilled personnel. In particular,

we are highly dependent on the contributions of Adam Goldstein, our founder and CEO, as well as other members of our
management team. The loss of any key personnel could make it more difficult to achieve our business plans. Although we have
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generally entered into employment offer letters with our key personnel, these letters have no specific duration and provide for
at-will employment, which means our key personnel may terminate their employment relationship with us at any time.

Compensation packages for highly skilled personnel have increased over time and will likely continue to increase, and
competition for highly skilled personnel is often intense, especially in the San Francisco Bay Area market where our
headquarters is located, and we may incur significant costs to attract and retain our personnel. We may not be successful in
attracting, integrating, or retaining qualified personnel to fulfill our current or future needs. We have, from time to time,
experienced, and we expect to continue to experience, difficulty in hiring and retaining highly skilled personnel with
appropriate qualifications. In addition, job candidates and existing personnel often consider the value of the equity awards they
receive in connection with their service. If the perceived value of our equity or equity awards declines, it may adversely affect
our ability to retain highly skilled personnel. If we fail to attract new personnel or fail to retain and motivate our current
personnel, our business, operating results, financial condition and future growth prospects could be harmed.

We may be unable to manage our future growth effectively, which could make it difficult to execute our business strategy.

If our business grows as planned, of which there can be no assurance, we will need to expand our sales, marketing,
operations, and the number of partners with whom we do business. Our continued growth could increase the strain on our
resources, and we could experience operating difficulties, including difficulties in hiring, training and managing an increasing
number of personnel. These difficulties may result in the erosion of our brand image, divert the attention of management and
key personnel and impact financial and operational results. The continued expansion of our business may also require additional
office space for administrative support. If we are unable to drive commensurate growth, these costs, which include lease
commitments, marketing costs and headcount, could result in decreased margins, which could have an adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Operation of aircraft involves a degree of inherent risk. We could suffer losses and adverse publicity stemming from any
accident involving small aircraft, helicopters or charter flights and in particular from any accident involving eVTOL
aircrafft.

The operation of aircraft is subject to various risks, and demand for air transportation, including our UAM offerings, has
and may in the future be impacted by accidents or other safety issues regardless of whether such accidents or issues involve our
eVTOL aircraft or third-party eVTOL aircraft. Air transportation hazards, such as adverse weather conditions and fire and
mechanical failures, may result in death or injury to personnel and passengers, which could impact client or passenger
confidence in a particular aircraft type or the air transportation services industry as a whole and could lead to a reduction in
passenger volume, particularly if such accidents or disasters were due to a safety fault. Safety statistics for air travel are
reported by multiple parties, including the DOT and National Transportation Safety Board, and are often separated into
categories of transportation. Because our UAM offerings may include a variety of transportation methods, fliers may have a
hard time determining how safe UAM services are and their confidence in UAM may be impacted by, among other things, the
classification of accidents in ways that reflect poorly on UAM services or the transportation methods UAM services utilize.

We believe that safety and reliability are two of the primary attributes fliers consider when selecting air transportation
services. Our failure to maintain standards of safety and reliability that are satisfactory to fliers may adversely impact our ability
to attract and retain customers. We are at risk of adverse publicity stemming from any public incident involving us, our people
or our brand. Such an incident could involve the actual or alleged behavior of our employees, contractors, or partners. Further,
if our eVTOL aircraft, whether operated by us or a third party, is involved in a public incident, accident, catastrophe or
regulatory enforcement action, we could be exposed to significant reputational harm and potential legal liability. The insurance
we carry may be inapplicable or inadequate to cover any such incident, accident, catastrophe or action. In the event that our
insurance is inapplicable or inadequate, we may be forced to bear substantial losses from an incident or accident. In addition,
any such incident, accident, catastrophe or action involving our eVTOL aircraft or eVTOL aircraft generally could create an
adverse public perception, which could harm our reputation, result in air travelers being reluctant to use our services, and
adversely impact our business, results of operations and financial condition. If we or one of our third-party aircraft operators
were to suffer an accident or lose the ability to fly certain aircraft due to safety concerns or investigations, we or such operators
may be required to cancel or delay certain flights until replacement aircraft and personnel are obtained.

Our operations may also be negatively impacted by accidents or other safety-related events or investigations that occur in
or near the take off and landing infrastructure we plan to utilize for our UAM services. For example, if an accident were to
occur at a heliport we rely on for certain flights in the future (assuming we are granted government operating authority to do
s0), we may be unable to fly into or out of that heliport until the accident has been cleared, any damage to the facilities have
been repaired and any insurance, regulatory or other investigations have been completed.
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Additionally, the battery packs in our aircraft are expected to use lithium-ion cells. On rare occasions, lithium-ion cells can
rapidly release the energy they contain by venting smoke and flames in a manner that can ignite nearby materials as well as
other lithium-ion cells. While we have taken measures to enhance the safety of our electric propulsion system, a field or testing
failure of our aircraft could occur in the future, which could subject us to lawsuits, product recalls, or redesign efforts, all of
which would be time-consuming and expensive. Also, negative public perceptions regarding the suitability of lithium-ion cells
for aerospace applications or any future incident involving lithium-ion cells such as an aircraft or other fire, even if such
incident does not involve our aircraft, could seriously harm our business.

From time to time, we are expected to store varying amounts of lithium-ion cells at our facilities. In addition, our
manufacturing partners and suppliers are expected to store a significant number of lithium-ion cells at their facilities. Any
mishandling of battery cells may cause disruption to the operation of our facilities or our manufacturers. A safety issue or fire
related to the cells could disrupt operations or cause manufacturing delays. Such damage or injury could lead to adverse
publicity and potentially a safety recall. Moreover, any such failure of a competitor’s eVTOL aircraft may cause indirect
adverse publicity for us and our aircraft. Such adverse publicity could negatively affect our brand and harm our business,
prospects, financial condition and operating results.

We currently rely and will continue to rely on third-party partners to provide and store the parts and components required to
manufacture our aircraft, and to supply critical components and systems, which exposes us to a number of risks and
uncertainties outside our control.

We are substantially reliant on our relationships with our suppliers and service providers for the parts and components in
our aircraft. If any of these suppliers or service partners were to experience delays, disruptions, capacity constraints or quality
control problems in their manufacturing operations, or if they choose to not do business with us, we would have significant
difficulty in procuring and producing our aircraft, and our business prospects would be significantly harmed. These disruptions
would negatively impact our certification timeline, timing and amount of revenues, competitive position and reputation. In
addition, our suppliers or service providers may rely on certain tax incentives that may be subject to change or elimination in
the future, which could result in additional costs and delays in production if a new manufacturing site must be obtained.
Further, if we are unable to successfully manage our relationship with our suppliers or service providers, the quality and
availability of our aircraft may be harmed. Our suppliers or service providers could, under some circumstances, decline to
accept new purchase orders from or otherwise reduce their business with us. If our suppliers or service providers stopped
manufacturing our aircraft components for any reason or reduced manufacturing capacity, we may be unable to replace the lost
manufacturing capacity on a timely and comparatively cost-effective basis, which would adversely impact our operations.

The manufacturing facilities of our suppliers or service providers and the equipment used to manufacture the components
for our aircraft would be costly to replace and could require substantial lead time to replace and qualify for use. The
manufacturing facilities of our suppliers or service providers may be harmed or rendered inoperable by natural or man-made
disasters, including earthquakes, flooding, fire and power outages, or by public health issues, such as pandemics or epidemics,
which may render it difficult or impossible for us to manufacture our aircraft for some period of time. The inability to
manufacture our aircraft components or the backlog that could develop if the manufacturing facilities of our suppliers or service
providers are inoperable for even a short period of time may result in a delay in our certification timeline, as well as the loss of
customers or harm to our reputation.

We do not control our suppliers or service providers or such parties’ labor and other legal compliance practices, including
their environmental, health and safety practices. If our current suppliers or service providers, or any other suppliers or service
providers which we may use in the future, violate U.S. or foreign laws or regulations, we may be subjected to extra duties,
significant monetary penalties, adverse publicity, the seizure and forfeiture of products that we are attempting to import or the
loss of our import privileges. The effects of these factors could render the conduct of our business in a particular country
undesirable or impractical and have a negative impact on our operating results.

We are or may be subject to risks associated with strategic relationships or other opportunities and may not be able to
identify adequate strategic relationship opportunities, or form strategic relationships, in the future.

We have entered into strategic relationships, and may in the future enter into additional strategic relationships or joint
ventures or minority equity investments, in each case with various third parties for the production or operation of our aircraft as
well as with other collaborators with capabilities on data and analytics and engineering. In October 2023, we announced that we
were planning to build our first international headquarters and an engineering Center of Excellence in the UAE and plan to
collaborate with local manufacturing companies and Maintenance, Repair, and Overhaul providers in Abu Dhabi. These
alliances subject us to a number of risks, including risks associated with sharing proprietary information, non-performance by
the third-party and increased expenses in establishing new strategic relationships, any of which may adversely affect our
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business. We may have limited ability to monitor or control the actions of these third parties and, to the extent any of these
strategic third parties suffer negative publicity or harm to their reputation from events relating to their business, we may also
suffer negative publicity or harm to our reputation by virtue of our association with any such third party.

Strategic business relationships will be an important factor in the growth and success of our business. However, there are
no assurances that we will be able to continue to identify or secure suitable business relationship opportunities in the future or
our competitors may capitalize on such opportunities before we do. Moreover, identifying such opportunities could require
substantial management time and resources, and negotiating and financing relationships involves significant costs and
uncertainties. If we are unable to successfully source and execute on strategic relationship opportunities in the future, our
overall growth could be impaired, and our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results could be adversely
affected.

When appropriate opportunities arise, we may acquire or license additional assets, products, technologies or businesses that
are complementary to our existing business. In addition to possible stockholder approval, we may need approvals and licenses
from relevant government authorities for the acquisitions or licenses and to comply with any applicable laws and regulations,
which could result in increased delay and costs, and may disrupt our business strategy if we fail to do so. Furthermore,
acquisitions or licenses and the subsequent integration of new assets and businesses into our own would likely require
significant attention from our management and could result in a diversion of resources from our existing business, which in turn
could have an adverse effect on our operations. Acquired or licensed assets or businesses may not generate the financial results
we expect. Acquisitions or licenses could result in the use of substantial amounts of cash, potentially dilutive issuances of
equity securities, the occurrence of significant goodwill impairment charges, amortization expenses for other intangible assets
and exposure to potential unknown liabilities of the acquired business. Moreover, the costs of identifying and consummating
acquisitions may be significant.

We are party to certain purchase agreements and other contract orders for our Midnight aircraft and the provision of
related services that contain conditions with respect to the purchase of our aircraft or that require us to perform and provide
certain deliverables. If the conditions to or performance obligations under such contracts are not met, or if such contracts
are otherwise canceled, modified or delayed, our prospects, results of operations, liquidity and cash flow will be harmed.

We are party to certain purchase agreements, including the United Purchase Agreement, as well as other contract orders for
our Midnight aircraft and the provision of related services, including with the United States Air Force (the “USAF Contracts”),
that contain conditions with respect to the purchase of our aircraft or that require us to perform and deliver certain test,
certificates and other services. Payment obligations under the United Purchase Agreement, for example, are conditioned upon,
among other things, us receiving certification of our aircraft by the FAA and further negotiation and reaching mutual agreement
on certain material terms, such as aircraft specifications, warranties, usage and transfer of the aircraft, performance guarantees,
delivery periods, most favored nation provisions, the type and extent of assistance to be provided by United in obtaining
certification of the aircraft for its intended use, territorial restrictions, rights to jointly developed intellectual property, escalation
adjustments and other matters. The obligations of United to consummate an order pursuant to the United Purchase Agreement
will arise only after all such material terms are agreed by the parties. Payment obligations under the USAF Contracts are
predicated upon, among other things, our ability to complete the design, development and ground test of our Midnight aircraft,
our delivery of certain test reports and certificates, the receipt of an FAA Airworthiness Certificate, the development of pilot
and maintenance training workshops, the completion of flight tests and the delivery of a certain number of our Midnight
production aircraft. The obligations of the United States Air Force to provide funding will arise only after a particular
deliverable has been received and accepted by the United States Air Force. Further, with respect to the United Purchase
Agreement, in addition to other termination rights set forth in the United Purchase Agreement and the Collaboration Agreement
with United (the “United Collaboration Agreement”), if the parties do not agree on such material terms, either party will have
the right to terminate the agreements if such party determines in its discretion that it is not likely that such material terms will be
agreed in a manner that is consistent with such party’s business and operational interests (as those interests may change from
time to time). The USAF Contracts may be terminated by the United States Air Force upon advanced written notice, and may
also be subject to stop orders issued by the United States Air Force. If the United Purchase Agreement, the USAF Contracts or
any future purchase agreements or contracts are canceled, modified or delayed, or otherwise not consummated, or if we are
otherwise unable to convert our strategic relationships or collaborations into revenue, our prospects, results of operations,
liquidity and cash flow will be affected.

Some of the contract orders for our Midnight aircraft are with U.S. government entities, which are subject to unique risks.

We have purchase agreements with the United States Air Force, a U.S. governmental organization, and may enter into
contracts with other governmental organizations in the future. Sales to governmental organizations are subject to a number of
challenges and risks that may adversely affect our business and operating results, including the following risks:
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» new regulations, or changes to existing regulations, could result in increased compliance costs, and we could be subject
to withheld payments and/or reduced future business if we fail to comply with new or existing requirements in the future;

+ government demand and payment for our aircraft may be impacted by public sector budgetary cycles and funding
authorizations, with funding reductions or delays adversely affecting public sector demand for our aircraft, including as a
result of sudden, unforeseen and disruptive events such as government shut downs, governmental defaults on
indebtedness, war, regional geopolitical conflicts around the world, incidents of terrorism, natural disasters, and public
health concerns or epidemics;

» governments routinely investigate and audit government contractors’ administrative processes, and any unfavorable audit
could result in the government refusing to continue buying our aircraft, which would adversely impact our revenue and
operating results, or institute fines or civil or criminal liability if an investigation, audit, or other review, were to uncover
improper or illegal activities;

+ governments may require certain products to be manufactured, produced, or offered solely in their country or in other
relatively high-cost locations, and we may not produce or offer all products in locations that meet these requirements,
affecting our ability to sell these products to governmental agencies; and

« refusal to grant certain certifications or clearance by one government agency, or decision by one government agency that
our products do not meet certain standards, may cause reputational harm and cause concern with other government
agencies.

The occurrence of any of the foregoing could cause governmental organizations to delay or refrain from purchasing our
aircraft in the future or otherwise adversely affect our business and operating results.

Our business may be adversely affected by the current global political and macroeconomic challenges, including the effects
of inflation, rising interest rates or an economic downturn or recession.

Current global political and macroeconomic conditions and the effects thereof, including inflation, volatile interest rates,
uncertainty with respect to the federal budget and federal debt ceiling and potential government shutdowns related thereto,
actual or perceived instability in the global banking sector, the war in Ukraine and the Israel-Hamas war, supply chain issues,
and any economic downturn or recession in certain regions or worldwide have, and may continue to, adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations. The existence of inflation in certain economies has resulted in, and may
continue to result in, rising interest rates and capital costs, supply shortages, increased costs of labor, components,
manufacturing and shipping, as well as weakening exchange rates and other similar effects. As a result, we have experienced
and may continue to experience cost increases. Although we take measures to mitigate the effects of macroeconomic
challenges, if these measures are not effective, our business, financial condition, results of operations and liquidity could be
materially adversely affected. Even if such measures are effective, there could be a difference between the timing of when those
beneficial actions impact our results or operations and when the cost of inflation is incurred.

Our aerial ride sharing operations will initially be concentrated in a small number of urban areas, which makes our
business particularly susceptible to infrastructure, economic, social, weather, regulatory conditions or other circumstances
affecting these metropolitan areas.

We expect to initially launch our aerial ride sharing offering in limited jurisdictions subject to receipt of the necessary
approvals. Accordingly, our business and results of operations are particularly susceptible to adverse infrastructure, economic,
social, weather, regulatory, and other conditions in these markets. As a result of our geographic concentration, our business and
financial results relating to our aerial ride sharing operations will be particularly susceptible to the impacts of these conditions
or other circumstances in each of these metropolitan areas. In addition, any changes to local laws or regulations within these
urban areas that affect our ability to operate or increase our operating expenses in these markets would have an adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and operating results.

Disruption of operations at the locations where our take off and landing facilities are expected to initially be located,
whether caused by labor relations, utility or communications issues or challenges with obtaining charging infrastructure, could
harm our business. Certain locations may regulate flight operations, such as limiting the number of take offs and landings,
which could reduce our aerial ride sharing operations. Bans on eVTOL aircraft operations or the introduction of any new
permitting requirements would significantly disrupt our operations. In addition, demand for our Archer UAM services could be
impacted if drop-offs or pick-ups of fliers become inconvenient because of take off and landing rules or regulations, or more
expensive for fliers because of take off and landing related fees, which would adversely affect our business, financial condition
and operating results.
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We expect concentration in large metropolitan areas and heavily trafficked airports also makes our business susceptible to
an outbreak of a contagious disease, such as the Ebola virus, Middle East Respiratory Syndrome, Severe Acute Respiratory
Syndrome, HINT1 influenza virus, avian flu, Zika virus, and COVID-19, both due to the risk of a contagious disease affecting
the urban area through the high volume of travelers flying into and out of such areas and the ease at which contagious diseases
can spread through densely populated areas.

Natural disasters, including tornados, hurricanes, floods and earthquakes, and severe weather conditions, such as heavy
rains, strong winds, dense fog, blizzards or snowstorms, may damage our facilities or those of our Archer Direct customers or
otherwise disrupt flights into or out of the vertiports from which our aircraft arrive or depart.

Major urban areas, including those in which we expect to operate, are also at risk of terrorist attacks, actual or threatened
acts of war, political disruptions and other disruptions. The occurrence of one or more natural disasters, severe weather events,
epidemic or pandemic outbreaks, terrorist attacks or disruptive political events in regions where our facilities are or will be
located, or where our Archer Direct customers’ facilities are located, could adversely affect our business.

Our long-term success and ability to significantly grow our revenue will depend, in part, on our ability to establish and
expand into international markets and/or expand market segments.

Our future results will depend, in part, on our ability to establish and expand our presence within international markets and
may also depend on our expansion into additional market segments, such as defense or logistics/cargo. Our ability to expand
into these markets will depend upon our ability to obtain the necessary government approvals, adapt to international markets
and new market segments, understand the local customer base, and address any unique local technological requirements. Our
ability to expand internationally involves various risks, including, but not limited to, the need to invest significant resources in
such expansion, and the possibility that returns on such investments will not be achieved in the near future or at all in these less
familiar competitive environments. We may also choose to conduct our international business through joint ventures, minority
investments or other partnerships with local companies as well as co-marketing with other established brands. If we are unable
to identify partners or negotiate favorable terms, our international growth may be limited. In addition, we may incur significant
expenses in advance of generating significant revenues as we attempt to establish our presence in particular international
markets or market segments outside of aircraft sales and operating a UAM network to carry passengers.

If we experience harm to our reputation and brand, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be
adversely affected.

Continuing to increase the strength of our reputation and brand for achieving our business plans is critical to our ability to
attract and retain personnel, customers, investors, and other business partners. In addition, our growth strategy may include
expansion through joint ventures, minority investments or other partnerships with strategic business partners, which may
include event activities and cross-marketing with other established brands, all of which may be dependent on our ability to build
our reputation and brand recognition. The successful development of our reputation and brand will depend on a number of
factors, many of which are outside our control. Negative perception of our technology, industry or our company may harm our
reputation and brand, including as a result of:

+ complaints or negative publicity or reviews about our aircraft or service offerings from either our Archer UAM or Archer
Direct customers or negative publicity reviews about other brands or events we are associated with, even if factually
incorrect or based on isolated incidents;

* changes to our operations, safety and security, privacy or other policies that users or others perceive as overly restrictive,
unclear or inconsistent with our values;

« illegal, negligent, reckless or otherwise inappropriate behavior by our management team or other employees, our Archer
Direct customers, our Archer UAM customers or our other business partners;

* actual or perceived disruptions or defects in our aircraft or aerial ride sharing platform, such as data security incidents,
platform outages, payment processing disruptions or other incidents that impact the availability, reliability or security of
our offerings;

« litigation over, or investigations by regulators into, our aircraft or our operations or those of our Archer Direct customers
or other business partners;

* a failure to operate our business in a way that is consistent with our values;
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* negative responses by our Archer Direct or Archer UAM customers to UAM offerings;

* perception of our treatment of employees, contractors, Archer Direct or Archer UAM customers or our other business
partners and our response to their sentiment related to political or social causes or actions of management; or

+ any of the foregoing with respect to our competitors, to the extent such resulting negative perception affects the public’s
perception of us or our industry as a whole.

In addition, changes we may make to enhance and improve our offerings and balance the needs and interests of our Archer
Direct and Archer UAM customers may be viewed positively from one group’s perspective (such as our Archer UAM
customers) but negatively from another’s perspective (such as third-party companies that purchase and operate our aircraft), or
may not be viewed positively by either our Archer Direct or Archer UAM customers. If we fail to balance the interests of these
two different customer bases or make changes that they view negatively, our customers may stop purchasing our aircraft or stop
using our Archer UAM service or take fewer flights, any of which could adversely affect our reputation, brand, business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Our ability to effectively compete and generate revenue from our products and services depends upon our ability to
distinguish our products and services from our competitors and their products and services.

Our ability to compete effectively is dependent on many factors, including, without limitation, the following:
»  speed to market of our initial aircraft and UAM services;

» effective strategy and execution of aircraft and service offerings;

*  product and service safety and performance;

»  product and service pricing; and

* quality of customer support.

We will have to demonstrate to potential customers that our products and services are attractive alternatives to other
transportation offerings, by differentiating our products and services on the basis of such factors as innovation, performance,
brand name, service, and price. This is difficult to do, especially in a competitive market. Some of our competitors may have
more established customer relationships than we do, which could inhibit our market penetration efforts. If we are unable to
compete effectively, our revenue and profitability will be adversely impacted.

Our business may be adversely affected by labor and union activities.

Although none of our employees are currently represented by a labor union, it is common throughout the aerospace
industry generally for many employees at aerospace companies to belong to a union, which can result in higher employee costs
and increased risk of work stoppages. We may also directly and indirectly depend upon other companies with unionized work
forces, such as parts suppliers and trucking and freight companies, and work stoppages or strikes organized by such unions
could harm our business, financial condition or operating results.

We expect that the purchase agreements with Archer Direct customers could be subject to indexed price escalation clauses
which would subject us to losses if we have cost overruns or if increases in our costs exceed the applicable escalation rate.

Commercial aircraft sales contracts are often entered into years before the aircraft are delivered. In order to help account
for economic fluctuations between the contract date and delivery date, aircraft pricing generally consists of a fixed amount as
modified by price escalation formulas derived from labor, commodity and other price indices. Our revenue estimates are based
on current expectations with respect to these escalation formulas, but the actual escalation amounts are outside of our control.
Escalation factors can fluctuate significantly from period to period and changes in escalation amounts can significantly impact
revenues and operating margins in our business. We can make no assurance that any customer, current or future, will exercise
purchase options, fulfill existing purchase commitments or purchase additional products or services from us. The terms and
conditions of the United Purchase Agreement regarding price escalation clauses are yet to be determined, and there is no
assurance that they will be determined in a manner that will mitigate the risks described above.
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As a public company, beginning with this Annual Report, we are required, pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act, to furnish a report by management on, among other things, the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting for each annual report on Form 10-K to be filed with the SEC. This assessment needs to include disclosure of any
material weaknesses identified by our management in our internal control over financial reporting. Additionally,
commencing with this Annual Report, our independent registered public accounting firm is required to attest to the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. An adverse report may be issued in the event our auditor is not
satisfied with the level at which our controls are documented, designed, or operating.

In connection with the preparation and audit of our financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020, certain
material weaknesses were identified in our internal control over financial reporting. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. As a result of the
material weaknesses, we took a number of steps to remediate these material weaknesses to comply with the rules and
regulations of the SEC regarding compliance with Section 404(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. For a discussion of management’s
consideration of the material weaknesses and the remediation measures, see Part II, Item 9A, “Controls and Procedures”
included in this Annual Report. As of December 31, 2023, the material weaknesses had been remediated.

While we believe our efforts have remediated the material weaknesses, we cannot assure you that the measures we have
taken to date and may take in the future, will be sufficient to remediate the control deficiencies that led to our material
weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting or that they will prevent or avoid potential future material weaknesses.
The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting is subject to various inherent limitations, including cost
limitations, judgments used in decision making, assumptions about the likelihood of future events, the possibility of human
error and the risk of fraud. Any failure to design or maintain effective internal control over financial reporting or any difficulties
encountered in their implementation or improvement could increase compliance costs, negatively impact the market price of our
common stock, or otherwise harm our operating results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations.

We have been, and may in the future be, adversely affected by health epidemics and pandemics, the duration and economic,
governmental and social impact of which is difficult to predict, which may significantly harm our business, prospects,
financial condition and operating results.

We face various risks related to public health issues, including epidemics, pandemics and other outbreaks. The impact of
the COVID-19 pandemic, including changes in consumer and business behavior, pandemic fears and market downturns, supply
shortages and restrictions on business and individual activities, created significant volatility in the global economy. The spread
of COVID-19 also created a disruption in the manufacturing, delivery and overall supply chain of aircraft manufacturers and
suppliers. The extent to which the health epidemics or pandemics can impact our business, prospects and results of operations
will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including, but not limited to, the
duration and spread of such health epidemics or pandemics, their severity, the actions taken by governments and others in
response to such health epidemics and pandemics and how quickly and to what extent normal economic and operating activities
can resume. Even after health epidemics or pandemics have subsided, we may continue to experience an adverse impact to our
business as a result of such health epidemics or pandemics, including ongoing supply chain shortages.

Failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations relating to the aviation business in general and eVTOL aircraft
specifically, could adversely affect our business and our financial condition.

Our eVTOL aircraft and the operation of our UAM services will be subject to substantial regulation in the jurisdictions in
which we intend our eVTOL aircraft to operate. We expect to incur significant costs in complying with these regulations.
Regulations related to the eVTOL industry, including aircraft certification, production certification, passenger operation, flight
operation, airspace operation, security regulation and infrastructure regulation are currently evolving, and we face risks
associated with the development and evolution of these regulations.

Our aircraft must be certified with the FAA in the United States. Operating our aircraft in the United States and providing
our passenger transportation services must comply with U.S. laws, regulations, safety standards, and customer service
regulations.

Rigorous testing and the use of approved materials and equipment are among the requirements for achieving certification.
Our failure to obtain or maintain certification for our aircraft or infrastructure would have a material adverse effect on our
business and operating results. In addition to obtaining and maintaining certification of our aircraft, we will need to obtain and
maintain operational authority necessary to provide our envisioned UAM services. A transportation or aviation authority may
determine that we cannot manufacture, provide, or otherwise engage in those services as we have contemplated. The inability to
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implement our envisioned services could materially and adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition, and
prospects.

To the extent the laws change, our aircraft and our services may not comply with those laws, which would have an adverse
effect on our business. Complying with changing laws could be burdensome, time consuming, and expensive. To the extent
compliance with new laws is cost prohibitive, our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results would be
adversely affected.

When we expand beyond the United States, such as into the Middle East, Asia, Europe and/or South America, there will be
additional laws and regulations we must comply with, and there may be laws and regulations in other jurisdictions we have not
yet entered or laws we are unaware of in jurisdictions we have entered that may restrict our operations or business practices or
that are difficult to interpret and change rapidly.

Continued regulatory limitations and other obstacles interfering with our business operations could have a negative and
material impact on our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to cybersecurity risks to our operational systems, security systems, infirastructure, integrated software in our
aircraft and customer data processed by us or third-party vendors.

We are at risk for interruptions, outages and breaches of our: (a) operational systems, including business, financial,
accounting, product development, data processing or production processes, owned by us or our third-party vendors or suppliers;
(b) facility security systems, owned by us or our third-party vendors or suppliers; (c) aircraft technology, including powertrain
and avionics and flight control software, owned by us or our third-party vendors or suppliers; (d) the integrated software in our
aircraft; or (e) customer data that we process or our third-party vendors or suppliers process on our behalf. Such incidents
could: disrupt our operational systems; result in loss of intellectual property, trade secrets or other proprietary or competitively
sensitive information; compromise certain information of customers, employees, suppliers, or others; jeopardize the security of
our facilities; or affect the performance of in-product technology and the integrated software in our aircraft.

We plan to include avionics and flight control software services and functionality that utilize data connectivity to monitor
aircraft performance and to enhance safety and enable cost-saving preventative maintenance. The availability and effectiveness
of our services depend on the continued operation of information technology and communications systems. Our systems will be
vulnerable to damage or interruption from, among others, physical theft, fire, terrorist attacks, natural disasters, power loss, war,
telecommunications failures, viruses, worms, trojan horses, denial or degradation of service attacks, ransomware, social
engineering schemes, insider theft or misuse or other attempts to harm our systems. We intend to use our avionics and flight
control software and functionality to log information about each aircraft’s use in order to aid us in aircraft diagnostics and
servicing. Our customers may object to the use of this data, which may increase our vehicle maintenance costs and harm our
business prospects.

Moreover, there are inherent risks associated with developing, improving, expanding and updating our current systems,
such as the disruption of our data management, procurement, production execution, finance, supply chain and sales and service
processes. These risks may affect our ability to manage our data and inventory, procure parts or supplies or manufacture,
deploy, deliver and service our aircraft, adequately protect our intellectual property or achieve and maintain compliance with, or
realize available benefits under, applicable laws, regulations and contracts. We cannot be sure that these systems upon which
we rely, including those of our third-party vendors or suppliers, will be effectively implemented, maintained or expanded as
planned. If we do not successfully implement, maintain or expand these systems as planned, our operations may be disrupted
and our ability to accurately and timely report our financial results could be impaired. Moreover, our proprietary information or
intellectual property could be compromised or misappropriated, and our reputation may be adversely affected. If these systems
do not operate as we expect them to, we may be required to expend significant resources to make corrections or find alternative
sources for performing these functions.

The landscape of laws, regulations, and industry standards related to cybersecurity is evolving globally. We may be subject
to increased compliance burdens by regulators and customers with respect to our aircraft, as well as additional costs to oversee
and monitor security risks. Many jurisdictions have enacted laws mandating companies to inform individuals, stockholders,
regulatory authorities, and others of security breaches. For example, the SEC recently adopted cybersecurity risk management
and disclosure rules, which require the disclosure of information pertaining to cybersecurity incidents and cybersecurity risk
management, strategy, and governance. In addition, certain of our customer agreements may require us to promptly report
security breaches involving their data on our systems or those of subcontractors processing such data on our behalf. This
mandatory disclosure can be costly, harm our reputation, erode customer trust, and require significant resources to mitigate
issues stemming from actual or perceived security breaches.
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Failure to comply with laws and regulations relating to privacy, data protection and consumer protection, or the expansion
of current laws and regulations or the enactment of new laws or regulations in these areas, could adversely affect our
business and our financial condition.

We are subject to or affected by a number of laws and regulations, as well as contractual obligations and industry
standards, that impose certain obligations and restrictions with respect to data privacy and security, and govern our collection,
storage, retention, protection, use, processing, transmission, sharing and disclosure of personal information including that of our
employees, customers and others. Most jurisdictions have enacted laws requiring companies to notify individuals, regulatory
authorities and others of security breaches involving certain types of data. Such laws may be inconsistent or may change or
additional laws may be adopted. In addition, our agreements with certain customers may require us to notify them in the event
of a security breach. Such mandatory disclosures are costly, could lead to negative publicity, result in penalties or fines, result
in litigation, may cause our customers to lose confidence in the effectiveness of our security measures and require us to expend
significant capital and other resources to respond to and/or alleviate problems caused by the actual or perceived security breach.

The global data protection landscape is rapidly evolving, and implementation standards and enforcement practices are
likely to remain uncertain for the foreseeable future. We may not be able to monitor and react to all developments in a timely
manner. For example, California adopted the California Consumer Privacy Act (the “CCPA”), which became effective in
January 2020 and which was recently amended and expanded by the California Privacy Rights Act (the “CPRA”) as of January
1,2023. The CCPA establishes a privacy framework for covered businesses, including an expansive definition of personal
information and data privacy rights for California residents. The CCPA includes a framework with potentially severe statutory
damages and private rights of action. The CCPA requires covered businesses to provide new disclosures to California residents,
provide them new ways to opt-out of certain disclosures of personal information, and allow for a new cause of action for data
breaches. As we expand our operations, the CCPA and CPRA may increase our compliance costs and potential liability. Some
observers have noted that the CCPA and CPRA could mark the beginning of a trend toward more stringent privacy legislation
in the United States. Other states have adopted similar laws, many of which have gone into effect. Compliance with any
applicable privacy and data security laws and regulations is a rigorous and time-intensive process, and we may be required to
put in place additional mechanisms to comply with such laws and regulations.

In addition, we are or may become subject to a variety of foreign laws and regulations regarding privacy, data protection,
and data security. These laws and regulations are continuously evolving and developing. The scope and interpretation of the
laws that are or may be applicable to us are often uncertain and may be conflicting, particularly with respect to foreign laws.
Such laws and regulations often have changes in scope, may be subject to differing interpretations, and may be inconsistent
among different jurisdictions. For example, the European General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”), which became
effective in May 2018, includes operational requirements for companies that receive or process personal data of residents of the
European Union that are broader and more stringent than those previously in place in the European Union. The GDPR includes
significant penalties for non-compliance, including fines of up to €20 million or 4% of total worldwide revenue. Further,
following the United Kingdom’s exit from the European Union, the GDPR was implemented in the United Kingdom (the “UK
GDPR”)—non-compliance with which may lead to similar compliance and operational costs as the GDPR with potential fines
up to £17 million or 4% of global turnover. The UK GDPR sits alongside the UK Data Protection Act 2018 which implements
certain derogations in the EU GDPR into UK law. Under the UK GDPR, companies not established in the UK but who process
personal information in relation to the offering of goods or services to individuals in the UK, or to monitor their behavior will
be subject to the UK GDPR—the requirements of which are largely aligned with those under the GDPR but still require specific
compliance under UK law that we must monitor and with which we must comply.

Additionally, we may be subject to evolving laws and regulations regarding the transfer of personal data outside of the
European Economic Area (“EEA”). Recently, the Court of Justice of the European Union ruled that the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield
is an invalid transfer mechanism, but upheld standard contractual clauses as a valid transfer mechanism. The validity of data
transfer mechanisms remains subject to legal, regulatory, and political developments in both Europe and the United States. The
invalidation of the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield and potential invalidation of other data transfer mechanisms could have a significant
adverse impact on our ability to process and transfer personal data outside of the EEA.

Governments are continuing to focus on privacy and data security, and it is possible that new privacy or data security laws
will be enacted or existing laws will be amended in a way that is material to our business. Any significant change to applicable
laws, regulations, or industry practices regarding our users’ data could require us to modify our services and features, possibly
in a material manner, and may limit our ability to develop new products, services, and features. Although we have made efforts
to design our policies, procedures, and systems to comply with the current requirements of applicable state, federal, and foreign
laws, changes to applicable laws and regulations in this area could subject us to additional regulation and oversight, any of
which could significantly increase our operating costs.
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We publish privacy policies and other documentation regarding our collection, processing, use and disclosure of personal
information and/or other confidential information. Although we endeavor to comply with our published policies and other
documentation, we may at times fail to do so or may be perceived to have failed to do so. Moreover, despite our efforts, we may
not be successful in achieving compliance if our employees, contractors, service providers or vendors fail to comply with our
published policies and documentation. Such failures can subject us to potential local, state and federal action if we are found to
be deceptive, unfair, or misrepresentative of our actual practices. Claims that we have violated individuals’ privacy rights or
failed to comply with data protection laws or applicable privacy notices even if we are not found liable, could be expensive and
time-consuming to defend and could result in adverse publicity that could harm our business.

We currently have a subsidiary located outside of the United States and plan for international operations in the future,
which could subject us to political, operational and regulatory challenges.

We currently have a subsidiary in Brazil engaged in limited test manufacturing, research and development and other
activities and plan to eventually expand our business outside of the United States. International operations are subject to a
number of risks, including regulations that may differ from or be more stringent than analogous U.S. regulations, local political
or economic instability, cross-border political tensions, import and export compliance, privacy, data protection, information
security, labor and employment matters, and exposure to potential liabilities under anti-corruption or anti-bribery laws,
including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar laws and regulations. If any of these risks materialize, it could
adversely impact our business.

We are subject to risks associated with climate change, including the potential increased impacts of severe weather events on
our operations and infrastructure.

The potential physical effects of climate change, such as increased frequency and severity of high wind conditions, storms,
floods, fires, fog, mist, freezing conditions, sea-level rise and other climate-related events, could affect our operations,
infrastructure and financial results. Climate change risks could result in but are not limited to operational risk from the physical
effect of climate events on our terminal facilities, production facilities and other assets, as well as transitional risks, including
new or more stringent regulatory requirements, increased monitoring and disclosure requirements, and potential effects on our
reputation and/or changes in our business. We could incur significant costs to improve the climate resiliency of our aircraft or
infrastructure and otherwise prepare for, respond to, and mitigate such physical effects of climate change. We are not able to
accurately predict the materiality of any potential losses or costs associated with the physical effects of climate change.

We intend to retain certain personal information about our customers, employees or others that, if compromised, could
harm our financial performance and results of operations or prospects.

We are subject to a wide variety of laws in the United States and other jurisdictions related to privacy, data protection and
consumer protection that are often complex and subject to varying interpretations. As a result, these privacy, data protection and
consumer protection laws may change or develop over time through judicial decisions or as new guidance or interpretations are
provided by regulatory and governing bodies and such changes or developments may be contrary to our existing practices. This
may cause us to expend resources on updating, changing or eliminating some of our privacy and data protection practices.

We plan to collect, store, transmit and otherwise process data from our aircraft, our customers, our employees and others as
part of our business and operations, which may include personal data or confidential or proprietary information. We also work
with partners and third-party service providers or vendors that collect, store and process such data on our behalf and in
connection with our aircraft. There can be no assurance that any security measures that we or our third-party service providers
or vendors have implemented will be effective against current or future security threats. If a compromise of data were to occur,
we may become liable under our contracts with other parties and under applicable law for damages and incur penalties and
other costs to respond to, investigate and remedy such an incident. Our systems, networks and physical facilities could be
breached, or personal information could otherwise be compromised due to employee error or malfeasance, if, for example, third
parties attempt to fraudulently induce our employees or our customers to disclose information or usernames and/or passwords.
Third parties may also exploit vulnerabilities in, or obtain unauthorized access to, platforms, systems, networks and/or physical
facilities utilized by our third-party service providers and vendors.

Our aircraft contain complex information technology systems and built-in data connectivity to share aircraft data with
ground operations infrastructure. We plan to design, implement and test security measures intended to prevent unauthorized
access to our information technology networks, our aircraft and related systems. However, hackers may attempt to gain
unauthorized access to modify, alter and use such networks, aircraft and systems to gain control of or to change our aircraft’s
functionality, performance characteristics, or to gain access to data stored in or generated by the aircraft. A significant breach of
our third-party service providers’ or vendors’ or our own network security and systems could have serious negative
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consequences for our business and future prospects, including possible fines, penalties and damages, reduced customer demand
for our aircraft or urban aerial ride sharing services and harm to our reputation and brand.

We may not have adequate insurance coverage. The successful assertion of one or more large claims against us that
exceeds our available insurance coverage, or results in changes to our insurance policies (including premium increases or the
imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements), could have an adverse effect on our business. In addition, we
cannot be sure that our existing insurance coverage will continue to be available on acceptable terms or that our insurers will
not deny coverage as to any future claim.

The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources, divert management’s attention and affect our ability
to attract and retain additional executive management and qualified board members.

We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street
Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, the listing requirements of the NYSE and other applicable securities rules and
regulations. Compliance with these rules and regulations has increased, and will continue to increase, our legal and financial
compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time-consuming, or costly, and increase demand on our systems and
resources. The Exchange Act requires, among other things, that we file annual, quarterly, and current reports with respect to our
business and operating results. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure
controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting. In order to maintain and improve our disclosure controls
and procedures and internal control over financial reporting to meet this standard, significant resources and management
oversight have been and may in the future be required. As a result, management’s attention may be diverted from other business
concerns, which could adversely affect our business and operating results. Although we have already hired additional
employees to comply with these requirements, we may need to hire more employees in the future or engage outside consultants,
which would increase our costs and expenses.

In the future, changes in laws or regulations governing our operations, changes in the interpretation thereof or newly
enacted laws or regulations and any failure by us to comply with these laws or regulations, could have a materially adverse
effect on our business. In addition, changing laws, regulations, and standards relating to corporate governance and public
disclosure are creating uncertainty for public companies, increasing legal and financial compliance costs, and making some
activities more time consuming. These laws, regulations, and standards are subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due
to their lack of specificity, and, as a result, their application in practice may evolve or otherwise change over time as new
guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. This could result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance
matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices. We intend to invest
resources to comply with evolving laws, regulations, and standards (or changing interpretations of them), and this investment
may result in increased selling, general and administrative expenses and a diversion of management’s time and attention from
revenue-generating activities to compliance activities. If our efforts to comply with new laws, regulations, and standards differ
from the activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies due to ambiguities related to their application and practice,
regulatory authorities may initiate legal proceedings against us, and our business may be adversely affected. As a public
company, we have also had to incur increased expenses in order to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and we may be
required to accept reduced coverage or incur substantially higher costs to maintain the same or similar coverage or obtain
coverage in the future. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified members of our
board of directors, particularly to serve on our audit committee, compensation committee, and nominating and governance
committee, and qualified executive officers.

As a result of disclosure of information in the filings required of a public company, our business and financial condition is
more visible, which may result in threatened or actual litigation, including by competitors. If such claims are successful, our
business and operating results could be adversely affected, and even if the claims do not result in litigation or are resolved in
our favor, these claims, and the time and resources necessary to resolve them, could divert the resources of our management
and adversely affect our business and operating results. In addition, as a result of our disclosure obligations as a public
company, we have reduced flexibility and are under pressure to focus on short-term results, which may adversely affect our
ability to achieve long-term profitability.

We are, and may in the future become, subject to legal proceedings, which may be time-consuming and expensive and, if
adversely determined, could delay, limit or prevent our ability to commercialize our aircraft or otherwise execute on our
business plans.

Pending legal proceedings and other future legal proceedings against us or our employees, regardless of outcome or merit,
could be time consuming and expensive to defend or resolve, result in substantial diversion of management and technical
resources, delay, limit or prevent our ability to make, develop, commercialize or deploy our aircraft and aerial ride sharing
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services and deteriorate our reputation and our business relationships, any of which could make it more difficult or impossible
for us to operate our business or otherwise execute on our business plan and significantly adversely affect our business,
financial condition, or results of operations. In the event of an adverse outcome of litigation, we may have to cease developing
and/or using the asserted intellectual property, which could significantly adversely impact our business, financial condition, or
results of operation.

Our business may be adversely affected if we are unable to protect our intellectual property rights from unauthorized use by
third parties.

Failure to adequately protect our intellectual property rights could result in our competitors offering similar products or
services, potentially resulting in the loss of some of our competitive advantage and a decrease in our revenue, which could
adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results. Our success depends, at least in part, on our
ability to protect our key technology and intellectual property. To accomplish this, we will rely on a combination of patents,
trade secrets (including know-how), employee and third-party non-disclosure agreements, copyrights, trademarks, intellectual
property licenses and other contractual rights to establish and protect our rights in our technology.

The protection of our intellectual property rights will be important to our future business opportunities. However, the
measures we take to protect our intellectual property from unauthorized use by others may not be effective for various reasons,
including the following:

* any patent applications we submit may not result in the issuance of patents (and patents have not yet issued to us based
on our pending applications);

« the scope of our patents that may subsequently issue may not be broad enough to protect our proprietary rights;

* our issued patents may be challenged or invalidated by third parties;

» our employees or business partners may breach their confidentiality, non-disclosure and non-use obligations to us;
« third parties may independently develop technologies that are the same or similar to ours;

* the costs associated with enforcing patents, confidentiality and invention agreements or other intellectual property rights
may make enforcement impracticable; and

+ current and future competitors may circumvent or otherwise design around our patents.

Patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret laws vary throughout the world. The laws in some foreign countries do not
protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. Furthermore, policing the unauthorized
use of our intellectual property rights in foreign jurisdictions may be difficult. Therefore, our intellectual property rights may
not be as strong or as easily enforced outside of the United States.

Also, while we have registered and applied for trademarks in an effort to protect our investment in our brand and goodwill
with customers, competitors may challenge the validity of those trademarks and other brand names in which we have invested.
Such challenges can be expensive and may adversely affect our ability to maintain the goodwill gained in connection with a
particular trademark.

To the extent we expand our international activities, our exposure to unauthorized use of our technologies and proprietary
information may increase. We may also fail to detect unauthorized use of our intellectual property, or be required to expend
significant resources to monitor and protect our intellectual property rights, including engaging in litigation, which may be
costly, time-consuming, and divert the attention of management and resources, and may not ultimately be successful. If we fail
to meaningfully establish, maintain, protect and enforce our intellectual property rights internationally, our business, financial
condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We were previously a “smaller reporting company”, and we are able to take advantage of certain exemptions from
disclosure requirements available to “smaller reporting companies” through the filing of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q for the three months ended March 31, 2024, which could make our Class A common stock less attractive to investors.

We were previously a “smaller reporting company” as defined in Item 10(f)(1) of Regulation S-K and we are therefore able
to take advantage of certain reduced disclosure obligations in this Annual Report, including reduced disclosure obligations
regarding executive compensation in the Proxy Statement for our 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. As a result, our
stockholders may not have access to certain information they may deem important, and we cannot predict whether investors
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will find our Class A common stock less attractive because we will have been able to rely on this exemption. If some investors
find our Class A common stock less attractive as a result of our reliance on this exemption, the trading price of our Class A
common stock may be lower than it otherwise would be, there may be a less active trading market for our Class A common
stock and the trading price of our Class A common stock may be more volatile.

Our management team has limited experience managing a public company.

Most members of our management team have limited experience managing a publicly traded company, interacting with
public company investors and regulators, and complying with the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public companies.
Our management team may not successfully or efficiently manage our transition to being a public company subject to
significant regulatory oversight and reporting obligations under the federal securities laws and the continuous scrutiny of
securities analysts and investors. These new obligations and constituents require significant attention from our senior
management and could divert their attention away from the day-to-day management of our business, which could adversely
impact our business, operating results, and financial condition.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation requires, to the fullest extent permitted by law, that derivative actions
brought in our name, actions against our directors, officers, other employees or stockholders for breach of fiduciary duty
and other similar actions may be brought only in the Court of Chancery in the State of Delaware, which may have the effect
of discouraging lawsuits against our directors, officers, other employees or stockholders.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that (i) unless we consent in writing to the selection of an
alternative forum, to the fullest extent permitted by the applicable law, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be
the sole and exclusive forum for any stockholder (including a beneficial owner) to bring (1) any derivative action or proceeding
brought on behalf of us, (2) any action or proceeding asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or
former director, officer or other employee of ours or any stockholder of ours to us or our stockholders, (3) any action or
proceeding asserting a claim against us or any of our current or former directors, officers or other employees or any stockholder
arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”), our amended and restated certificate
of incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws, (4) any action or proceeding to interpret, apply, enforce or determine the
validity of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or amended and restated bylaws (or any right, obligation or
remedy thereunder), (5) any action or proceeding as to which the DGCL confers jurisdiction to the Court of Chancery of the
State of Delaware, and (6) any action asserting a claim against us or any director, officer or other employee of ours or any
stockholder, governed by the internal affairs doctrine, in all cases to the fullest extent permitted by law and subject to the
court’s having personal jurisdiction over the indispensable parties named as defendants, and (ii) unless we consent in writing to
the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law,
be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act or the
rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. Any person holding, owning or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our
capital stock will be deemed to have notice of and to have consented to this forum selection provision.

This choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable
for disputes with us or any of our directors, officers, other employees or stockholders, which may discourage lawsuits with
respect to such claims, although such stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with federal securities
laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. However, there is no assurance that a court would enforce the choice of forum
provision contained in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation. If a court were to find such provision to be
inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other
jurisdictions, which could harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

The warrants originally issued by Atlas are accounted for as liabilities and changes in the value of these warrants could
have a material effect on our financial results.

On April 12, 2021, the staff of the SEC (the “SEC Staff”) expressed its view that certain terms and conditions common to
special purpose acquisition company (“SPAC”) warrants may require the warrants to be classified as liabilities instead of equity
on a SPAC’s balance sheet. As a result of the SEC Staff’s statement, Atlas reevaluated the accounting treatment of its public
warrants and private placement warrants, and determined to classify the warrants as derivative liabilities measured at fair value,
with changes in fair value reported in its statement of operations for each reporting period.

See Note 12 - Liability Classified Warrants to our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2023, for additional information about our public and private watrants that were originally issued by Atlas.
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 815-40 provides for the remeasurement of the fair value of such derivatives at
each balance sheet date, with a resulting non-cash gain or loss related to the change in the fair value being recognized in the
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consolidated statements of operations. As a result of the recurring fair value measurement, our financial statements and results
of operations may fluctuate quarterly based on factors which are outside of our control. Due to the recurring fair value
measurement, we expect that we will recognize non-cash gains or losses on our warrants each reporting period and that the
amount of such gains or losses could be material.

Investors’ expectations of our performance relating to environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) factors may impose
additional costs and expose us to new risks.

There is an increasing focus from investors, customers, regulators, employees and other stakeholders concerning corporate
responsibility, specifically related to ESG matters. Some investors may use these non-financial performance factors to guide
their investment strategies and, in some cases, may choose not to invest in us if they believe our policies and actions relating to
corporate responsibility are inadequate. The growing investor demand for measurement of non-financial performance is
addressed by third-party providers of sustainability assessment and ratings on companies. The criteria by which our corporate
responsibility practices are assessed may change due to the constant evolution of the sustainability landscape, which could
result in greater expectations of us and cause us to undertake costly initiatives to satisfy such new criteria. If we elect not to or
are unable to satisfy such new criteria, investors may conclude that our policies and/or actions with respect to corporate social
responsibility are inadequate. We may face reputational damage in the event that we do not meet the ESG standards set by
various constituencies.

Furthermore, in the event that we communicate certain initiatives and goals regarding ESG matters, we could fail, or be
perceived to fail, in our achievement of such initiatives or goals, or we could be criticized for the scope of such initiatives or
goals. In addition, California recently adopted a number of new climate-related bills, including bills which require companies
doing business in California that meet certain revenue thresholds to publicly disclose certain greenhouse gas emissions data and
climate-related financial risk reports. The SEC has also proposed disclosure requirements regarding, among other ESG topics,
the impact our business has on the environment. If we fail to satisfy the expectations of investors, customers, regulators,
employees and other stakeholders or our initiatives are not executed as planned, our reputation and business, operating results
and financial condition could be adversely impacted.

Changes in financial accounting standards may cause adverse unexpected fluctuations and affect our reported results of
operations.

A change in accounting standards or practices, and varying interpretations of existing or new accounting pronouncements,
as well as significant costs incurred or that may be incurred to adopt and to comply with these new pronouncements, could have
a significant effect on our reported financial results or the way we conduct our business. If we do not ensure that our systems
and processes are aligned with the new standards, we could encounter difficulties generating quarterly and annual financial
statements in a timely manner, which could have an adverse effect on our business, our ability to meet our reporting obligations
and compliance with internal control requirements.

Management will continue to make judgments and assumptions based on our interpretation of new standards. If our
circumstances change or if actual circumstances differ from our assumptions, our operating results may be adversely affected
and could fall below our publicly announced guidance or the expectations of securities analysts and investors, resulting in a
decline in the market price of our Class A common stock.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Securities

The price of our Class A common stock and warrants may be volatile, and you could lose all or part of your investment as a
result.

The price of our Class A common stock and warrants may fluctuate due to a variety of factors, including:

 changes in macroeconomic or market conditions or trends in our industry or markets, such as inflation, recessions,
volatility in interest rates, ongoing supply chain shortages, local and national elections, international currency
fluctuations, uncertainty with respect to the federal budget and federal debt ceiling and potential government shutdowns
related thereto, actual or perceived instability in the global banking sector, political instability and acts of war, such as
the war in Ukraine and the Israel-Hamas war, or terrorism;

« results of operations that vary from the expectations of securities analysts and investors;

* results of operations that vary from those of our competitors;
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 changes in expectations as to our future financial performance, including financial estimates and investment
recommendations by securities analysts and investors;

¢ declines in the market prices of stocks generally;
* strategic actions by us or our competitors;

 announcements by us or our competitors of significant contracts, acquisitions, joint ventures, other strategic relationships
or capital commitments;

* any significant change in our management;

+ changes in business or regulatory conditions, including new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or
regulations applicable to our business;

« future sales of our Class A common stock or other equity or debt securities;

* investor perceptions or the investment opportunity associated with our Class A common stock relative to other
investment alternatives;

* the public’s response to press releases or other public announcements by us or third parties, including our filings with the
SEC;

« litigation involving us, our industry, or both, or investigations by regulators into our operations or those of our
competitors;

* guidance, if any, that we provide to the public, any changes in this guidance or our failure to meet this guidance;
« the development and sustainability of an active trading market for our securities;

* actions by institutional or activist stockholders;

+ changes in accounting standards, policies, guidelines, interpretations or principles; and

* other events or factors, including those resulting from natural disasters, war, acts of terrorism or responses to these
events.

These broad market and industry fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of our Class A common stock and
warrants, regardless of our actual operating performance. In addition, price volatility may be greater if the public float and
trading volume of our Class A common stock is low.

In the past, following periods of market volatility, stockholders have instituted securities class action litigation. If we were
involved in securities litigation, it could have a substantial cost and divert resources and the attention of executive management
from our business regardless of the outcome of such litigation.

The dual-class structure of our common stock has the effect of concentrating voting power with certain shareholders of our
Class B common stock, which could limit other shareholders’ ability to influence the outcome of important transactions,
including a change in control.

Shares of our Class B common stock have ten votes per share, while shares of our Class A common stock have one vote
per share. Adam Goldstein, our founder, as well as certain other stockholders, hold the issued and outstanding shares of our
Class B common stock. These shares represent a substantial majority of the voting power of our capital stock on an outstanding
basis and if voted together are able to control matters submitted to our shareholders for approval, including the election of
directors, amendments of our organizational documents and any merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially all of our
assets or other major corporate transactions for so long as the shares of Class B common stock represent at least 9.1% of all
outstanding shares of our capital stock. These holders may have interests that differ from other shareholders and may vote in a
way which may be adverse to other shareholders or with which our other shareholders may disagree. This concentrated control
may have the effect of delaying, preventing or deterring a change in control, could deprive our shareholders of an opportunity to
receive a premium for their capital stock as part of a sale, and might ultimately affect the market price of our Class A common
stock.
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We cannot predict the impact that our dual-class structure may have on the stock price of our Class A common stock.

We cannot predict whether our dual-class structure will result in a lower or more volatile market price of Class A common
stock or in adverse publicity or other adverse consequences. For example, certain index providers have announced restrictions
on including companies with multiple-class share structures in certain of their indexes. Due to these policies, our dual-class
capital structure may make us ineligible for inclusion in certain indexes, and as a result, mutual funds, exchange-traded funds
and other investment vehicles that attempt to passively track those indexes will not be investing in our stock. These policies are
still new, and it remains unclear what effect, if any, they will have on the valuations of publicly traded companies excluded
from such indexes, but it is possible that they may depress these valuations compared to those of other similar companies that
are included. Because of our dual-class structure, we are likely excluded from certain of these indexes and we cannot assure you
that other stock indexes will not take similar actions. Given the sustained flow of investment funds into passive strategies that
seek to track certain indexes, exclusion from stock indexes likely precludes investment by many of these funds and could make
our Class A common stock less attractive to other investors. As a result, the market price of our Class A common stock could
be adversely affected.

We may be required to take write-downs or write-offs, or may be subject to restructuring, impairment or other charges that
could have a significant negative effect on our financial condition, results of operations and the price of our Class A
common stock, which could cause you to lose some or all of your investment.

Factors outside of our control may, at any time, arise. As a result of these factors, we may be forced to later write-down or
write-off assets, restructure operations, or incur impairment or other charges that could result in reporting losses. Unexpected
risks may arise, and previously known risks may materialize. Even though these charges may be non-cash items and therefore
not have an immediate impact on our liquidity, we must report charges of this nature which could contribute to negative market
perceptions about us or our securities. In addition, charges of this nature may cause us to be unable to obtain future financing on
favorable terms or at all.

There can be no assurance that we will be able to comply with the continued listing standards of the NYSE. The NYSE may
delist our securities from trading on its exchange, which could limit investors’ ability to make transactions in our securities
and subject us to additional trading restrictions.

Our Class A common stock and public warrants are listed on the NYSE under the symbols “ACHR” and “ACHR WS,”
respectively. We cannot assure you that our securities will continue to be listed on the NYSE. We are required to demonstrate
compliance with the NYSE’s continued listing requirements in order to continue to maintain the listing of our securities on the
NYSE. If the NYSE delists our securities from trading on its exchange and we are not able to list our securities on another
national securities exchange, our securities could be quoted on an over-the-counter market. If this were to occur, we could face
significant adverse consequences, including:

* alimited availability of market quotations for our securities;
+ reduced liquidity for our securities;

+ a determination that our Class A common stock is a “penny stock” which will require brokers trading in our Class A
common stock to adhere to more stringent rules and possibly result in a reduced level of trading activity in the secondary
trading market for our securities;

¢ a limited amount of news and analyst coverage; and
 adecreased ability to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing in the future.

Because there are no current plans to pay cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future, you may not
receive any return on investment unless you sell your common stock for a price greater than that which you paid for it.

We intend to retain future earnings, if any, for future operations, expansion and debt repayment and there are no current
plans to pay any cash dividends for the foreseeable future. The declaration, amount and payment of any future dividends on
shares of our common stock will be at the sole discretion of our board of directors. Our board of directors may take into account
general and economic conditions, our financial condition and results of operations, our available cash and current and
anticipated cash needs, capital requirements, contractual, legal, tax, and regulatory restrictions, implications on the payment of
dividends by us to our stockholders or by our subsidiaries to us and such other factors as our board of directors may deem
relevant. In addition, our ability to pay dividends is limited by covenants of our existing and outstanding indebtedness and may
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be limited by covenants of any future indebtedness we incur. As a result, you may not receive any return on an investment in
our common stock unless you sell our common stock for a price greater than that which you paid for it.

If securities analysts do not publish research or reports about our business or if they downgrade our Class A common stock
or our sector, our Class A common stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our Class A common stock will rely in part on the research and reports that industry or financial
analysts publish about us or our business. We will not control these analysts. In addition, some financial analysts may have
limited expertise with our model and operations. Furthermore, if one or more of the analysts who do cover us downgrade our
Class A common stock or industry, or the stock of any of our competitors, or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about
our business, the price of our Class A common stock could decline. If one or more of these analysts ceases to cover us or fails
to initiate coverage or publish reports on us regularly, we could lose visibility in the market, which in turn could cause our Class
A common stock price or trading volume to decline.

Future sales, or the perception of future sales, by us or our stockholders in the public market could cause the market price
for our Class A common stock to decline.

The sale of shares of our Class A common stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales could occur, could
harm the prevailing market price of shares of our Class A common stock. These sales, or the possibility that these sales may
occur, also might make it more difficult for us to sell equity securities in the future at a time and at a price that we deem
appropriate.

All shares issued in the Business Combination that were registered on our registration statement on Form S-4, which was
declared effective on August 11, 2021, are freely tradable without restriction by persons other than our “affiliates,” (as defined
under Rule 144 of the Securities Act (“Rule 144™)), including our directors, executive officers and other affiliates.

We filed a registration statement (as subsequently amended and supplemented) on Form S-3 relating to the offer and sale
from time to time by the selling security holders named therein of up to 110,742,480 shares of Class A common stock, was
declared effective by the SEC on November 15, 2022. We filed another registration statement on Form S-3 relating to the offer
and sale from time to time by selling stockholders named therein of up to 94,671,586 shares of Class A common stock, which
was declared effective by the SEC on August 21, 2023. In addition, pursuant to our registration rights agreements, certain
substantial holders of Legacy Archer’s common stock and our Class A common stock have the right, subject to certain
conditions, to require us to register their shares of our Class A common stock for resale under the Securities Act. By exercising
their registration rights and selling a large number of shares in reliance on the registration statements, these stockholders could
cause the prevailing market price of our Class A common stock to decline.

As restrictions on resale end or if these stockholders exercise their registration rights, the market price of our Class A
common stock could drop significantly if the holders of these shares sell them or are perceived by the market as intending to
sell them. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to raise additional funds through future offerings of our Class A
common stock or other securities.

In November 2023, we filed a registration statement on Form S-3 relating to the offer and sale of up to $70.0 million of our
Class A common stock, preferred stock, debt securities, warrants to purchase our Class A common stock, preferred stock or
debt securities, subscription rights to purchase our Class A common stock, preferred stock or debt securities and/or units
consisting of some or all of these securities, which was declared effective on November 22, 2023. As of December 31, 2023, we
had sold approximately $20.7 million pursuant to the Sale Agreement.

In addition, outstanding warrants to purchase an aggregate of 25,398,947 shares of our Class A common stock became
exercisable on October 30, 2021. Each warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase one (1) share of our Class A common
stock at a price of $11.50 per whole share, subject to adjustment. Moreover, as of December 31, 2023, we have an additional
20,788,247 outstanding warrants issued to certain parties, 17,948,354 of which remain subject to vesting conditions. These
warrants may be exercised only for a whole number of shares of our Class A common stock. To the extent such warrants are
exercised, additional shares of our Class A common stock will be issued, which will result in dilution to the then existing
holders of our Class A common stock and increase the number of shares eligible for resale in the public market.

In addition, the shares of our common stock reserved for future issuance under our equity incentive plans will become
eligible for sale in the public market once those shares are issued, subject to provisions relating to various vesting agreements
and, in some cases, limitations on volume and manner of sale applicable to affiliates under Rule 144, as applicable. We have
filed registration statements on Form S-8 to register shares of our common stock or securities convertible into or exchangeable
for shares of our common stock issued pursuant to our equity incentive plans. We expect to file additional registration
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statements on Form S-8 in the future to register additional shares reserved for future issuance under our equity incentive plans,
and Form S-8 registration statements automatically become effective upon filing. Accordingly, shares registered under such
registration statements will be available for sale in the open market.

In the future, we may also issue our securities in connection with investments or acquisitions. The number of shares of our
common stock issued in connection with an investment or acquisition could constitute a material portion of our then-
outstanding Class A common stock. Any issuance of additional securities in connection with investments or acquisitions may
result in additional dilution to our stockholders.

Anti-takeover provisions in our governing documents could delay or prevent a change of control.

Certain provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws have an
anti-takeover effect and may delay, defer or prevent a merger, acquisition, tender offer, takeover attempt or other change of
control transaction that a stockholder might consider in its best interest, including those attempts that might result in a premium
over the market price for the shares held by our stockholders.

These provisions provide for, among other things:

* the ability of our board of directors to issue one or more series of preferred stock;
* a classified board;

* a dual-class share structure;

* advance notice for nominations of directors by stockholders and for stockholders to include matters to be considered at
our annual meetings;

« certain limitations on convening special stockholder meetings;
+ limiting the ability of stockholders to act by written consent; and
* our board of directors has the express authority to make, alter or repeal our amended and restated bylaws.

These anti-takeover provisions could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us, even if the third party’s offer
may be considered beneficial by many of our stockholders. As a result, our stockholders may be limited in their ability to obtain
a premium for their shares. These provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for you and other
stockholders to elect directors of your choosing and to cause us to take other corporate actions you desire.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

We understand the importance of maintaining an active cybersecurity risk management and strategy program. As an
emerging technology company, we understand that we may face cyber threats that range from common cyberattacks, such as
ransomware, to more advanced attacks such as advanced persistent threats perpetrated by nation-state actors and other highly
organized actors. Our cybersecurity risk management program is guided by industry standards, such as the National Institute of
Standards and Technology (“NIST”). We strategically partner with industry leading external vendors to perform cybersecurity
assessments, as well as regular penetration testing to better understand our potential vulnerabilities, threat vectors, and impact
on critical assets or operations. As part of these processes, our cybersecurity team identifies and prioritizes risks to devise our
annual cybersecurity mitigation strategy and address operational risks. Our cybersecurity program is organized around the
following key areas:

Risk Management and Strategy

Insider Risk Management. We recognize that not all threats are external. We have an insider risk management program and
are working to improve our data loss protection technology to protect our critical data.

Security Awareness Education. Understanding the need for regular cybersecurity training, we have instituted a mandatory
training program for all employees.

Technical Safeguards. We have improved our endpoint security postures through the implementation of an Enterprise
Mobile Management system, and continue to increase our investment in strengthening email, DNS, and other network security
services.

Threat Detection and Response. In addition to aligning our cybersecurity risk management program to NIST standards, we
have also engaged with third party providers of security information and event management and cybersecurity services to
provide continuous monitoring and operational threat detection and response. Our partners integrate threat intelligence into their
platforms, providing us with a proactive view of possible threats.

Incident Response. We have implemented a holistic review of incident response, with workflows in place for cybersecurity
incidents, including provisions for assessing materiality, and defined escalation procedures.

Third Party Risk Management. To manage third-party risks, our cybersecurity team evaluates our partners, to provide an
additional layer of scrutiny, and supervises and identifies material risks associated with the use of third-party service providers.
These processes include a review of security controls and supplier contractual obligations for security and data protection
requirements.

Governance

Our Audit Committee is primarily responsible for assisting our Board of Directors in fulfilling its ultimate oversight
responsibilities relating to risk assessment and management, including with respect to risks and incidents relating to
cybersecurity threats, compliance with disclosure requirements, cooperation with law enforcement, cybersecurity and other
information securities policies and practices and related internal controls. The Audit Committee reports any findings and
recommendations, as appropriate, to the full Board of Directors for consideration. In that capacity, our Audit Committee
conducts quarterly reviews of, and meets with our Chief Information Officer and other senior management to discuss,
technology and cybersecurity risks and the risk assessment and risk management policies, practices, programs and/or
procedures that we have adopted to monitor, control, mitigate and manage such risks. Our Board of Directors is committed to
maintaining a well-informed and cybersecurity-aware posture, regularly engaging by receiving scheduled and requested updates
on our strategy and evolving threat landscape as well as bolstering existing cybersecurity knowledge and continued education
of recent cybersecurity trends.

We are developing processes to continuously monitor, analyze emerging threats, and to develop and implement risk
mitigation strategies and our management team plays a pivotal role in assessing and managing material risks from cybersecurity
threats. As our first key investment, we have hired our Director of Information Security with over 20 plus years of information
security experience to oversee our cybersecurity program. Our Director of Information Security reports up to our Chief
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Information Officer. Together our Director of Information Security and Chief Information Officer have over 40 years of
combined experience.

Item 2. Properties

We currently lease our headquarters in San Jose, California. We lease additional offices, research and development
facilities, and manufacturing facilities in Santa Clara and Mountain View, California and flight test facilities at Salinas
Municipal Airport in Salinas, California. We also lease a property for our high-volume manufacturing facility in Covington,
Georgia that is under construction. We believe our existing leased facilities are in good condition and suitable for the conduct of
our business.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

For a description of our material pending legal proceedings, see Note 8 - Commitments and Contingencies of the notes to
the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report, which is incorporated herein by
reference.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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Part I

Item 5. Market for Registrants’ Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Market Information for Common Stock

Following the closing of the Business Combination, our Class A common stock and warrants began trading on the New
York Stock Exchange under the symbols “ACHR” and “ACHR WS” on September 17, 2021.

Our Class B common stock is not listed or traded on any stock exchange.
Holders of Record

As of February 23, 2024, there were 121 stockholders of record of our Class A common stock and 7 stockholders of record
of our Class B common stock. The actual number of holders of our Class A and Class B common stock is greater than the
number of record holders and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners, but whose shares are held in street name by
brokers or other nominees. The number of holders of record presented here also does not include stockholders whose shares
may be held in trust by other entities.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared nor paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. We anticipate that we will retain all of our future
earnings, if any, for use in the operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the
foreseeable future. Any decision to declare and pay dividends in the future will be made at the sole discretion of our board of
directors and will depend on, among other things, our results of operations, cash requirements, financial condition, contractual
restrictions and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant.

Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.
Use of Proceeds

On October 30, 2020, Atlas consummated its initial public offering of 50,000,000 units. The units were sold at a price of
$10.00 per unit, generating total gross proceeds of $500.0 million from the initial public offering. The securities sold in the
offering were registered under the Securities Act on a registration statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-249289). The registration
statement became effective on October 27, 2020.

Simultaneously with the consummation of the initial public offering, Atlas consummated the sale of 8,000,000 private
placement warrants, at a price of $1.50 per warrant, to the Sponsor, generating gross proceeds to Atlas of $12.0 million. Such
securities were issued pursuant to the exemption from registration contained in Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act.

Atlas incurred $10.5 million in offering costs for its initial public offering including $10.0 million of underwriting fees and
$0.5 million of other costs. Following the initial public offering and the sale of the private placement warrants, a total of $500.0
million was deposited into the trust account for the purpose of effecting an initial business combination. As of August 5, 2021,
the record date of the Business Combination, there was $500.1 million held in the trust account. After deducting payments to
existing Atlas unit holders of $242.2 million in connection with their exercise of redemption rights, the remainder of the trust
account totaling $257.6 million is now held on our balance sheet to fund our operations and continued growth.

The Business Combination generated $857.6 million in gross cash proceeds to Archer, inclusive of $600.0 million in
proceeds from a private placement (the “PIPE Financing”) and $257.6 million transferred from the trust account. Total direct
and incremental transaction costs aggregated $81.8 million, of which $10.9 million was expensed as part of the Business
Combination, $55.8 million was recorded to additional paid-in capital as equity issuance costs, and the remaining $15.1 million
was settled through the issuance of shares of New Archer Class A common stock.

There has been no material change in the planned use of proceeds noted above from those disclosed in the final prospectus
(File No. 333-254007), dated August 11, 2021, which was declared effective by the SEC on August 11, 2021.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

None.

Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction
with our consolidated financial statements and related accompanying notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report. Refer to
Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations located in our Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, filed on March 15, 2023, for a comparison of our results of operations
for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. In addition to historical consolidated financial information, the following
discussion includes forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are based on our current expectations and
beliefs concerning future developments and their potential effects on us. There can be no assurance that future developments
affecting us will be those that we have anticipated. See the section titled “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking
Statements” in this Annual Report. Our actual results could differ materially from such forward-looking statements. Factors
that could cause or contribute to those differences include, but are not limited to, those set forth in Part I, Item 14, “Risk
Factors” in this Annual Report.

Overview

We are designing and developing eVTOL aircraft for use in UAM networks. Our mission is to unlock the skies, freeing
everyone to reimagine how they move and spend time. Our eVTOL aircraft are designed to be safe, sustainable, and quiet. Our
production aircraft, Midnight, which we unveiled in November of 2022, is designed around our proprietary 12-tilt-6 aircraft
configuration. This means that it has 12 propellers attached to 6 booms on a fixed wing with all 12 propellers providing vertical
lift during take-off and landing, and the forward 6 propellers tilting forward to cruise position to provide propulsion during
forward flight with the wing providing aerodynamic lift like a conventional airplane.

Midnight is designed to carry 4 passengers plus a pilot optimized for back-to-back short distance trips of around 20-miles,
with minimal charging time between trips. We are working to certify Midnight with the FAA so that we can then enter into
commercial service as soon as possible. In August 2023, we received the Special Airworthiness Certificate from the FAA for
our first Midnight aircraft and began its flight testing program in October 2023.

Midnight is the evolution of our demonstrator eVTOL aircraft, Maker, which through its flight test program has helped
validate our proprietary 12-tilt-6 aircraft configuration and certain key enabling technologies. The design of Midnight marries
what we believe to be cutting-edge electric propulsion technology with state-of-the-art aircraft systems to deliver the key
attributes of our eVTOL aircraft:

»  Safety. High redundancy and simplified propulsion systems make for a significantly safer aircraft compared to a
helicopter. Midnight has no single critical point of failure, meaning that should any single component fail, the aircraft
can still safely complete its flight.

*  Low noise. With its intended cruising altitude at approximately 2,000 feet, the design of Midnight is such that the
noise that reaches the ground is expected to measure around 45 A-weighted decibels, approximately 100 times quieter
than that of a helicopter. During forward flight, the aircraft’s tilt propellers spin on axes that are aligned with the
oncoming air flow, rather than edge-wise to the flow, as is the case with traditional helicopters - further decreasing
noise levels. Since Archer’s aircraft is spinning 12 small propellers rather than one large rotor, it can also spin them at
significantly lower tip speeds, resulting in much lower noise levels.

*  Sustainable. Midnight is all electric, resulting in zero operating emissions. Archer is committed to sourcing renewable
energy wherever possible to power its aircraft. Archer’s design and engineering teams are working to integrate
materials into this aircraft that have their own unique sustainability stories.

We continue to work to optimize our eVTOL aircraft design for both manufacturing and certification. The development of
an eVTOL aircraft that meets our business requirements demands significant design and development efforts on all facets of the
aircraft. We believe that by bringing together a mix of talent with eVTOL, traditional commercial aerospace, as well as electric
propulsion backgrounds, we have built a team that enables us to move through the design, development, and certification of our
eVTOL aircraft with the FAA in an efficient manner, thus allowing us to achieve our end goal of bringing to market our
eVTOL aircraft as efficiently as possible.

Our Planned Lines of Business

Upon receipt of all necessary FAA certifications and any other government approvals necessary for us to manufacture and
operate our aircraft, we intend to operate two complementary lines of business: Archer UAM and Archer Direct.
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Archer UAM

We plan to operate our own UAM ecosystem initially in select major cities. Our UAM ecosystem will operate using our
eVTOL aircraft, which is currently in development. Consumers will be able to book rides directly through our service through
an app-based platform. We project that the cost to manufacture and operate our eVTOL aircraft will be such that it will be able
to enter the UAM ride-sharing market at a price point that is competitive with ground-based ride sharing services today. We
will continue to evaluate our go-to-market strategy based on, among other things, estimated demand, readiness of the required
infrastructure, and our ability to scale of our aircraft fleet.

Archer Direct

We also plan to selectively sell our aircraft to third parties. We have entered into the United Purchase Agreement for the
conditional purchase of up to $1.0 billion worth of aircraft, with an option for another $500.0 million worth of aircraft. In
August 2023, we entered into two new contracts with the U.S. Air Force, worth up to $142.0 million, which includes the
purchase of aircraft, as well as the sharing of additional flight test data certification related reports, pilot training, and the
development of maintenance and repair operations.

As we get closer to commercialization, we will look to determine the right mix of selling our aircraft versus using them as
part of our UAM ecosystem based on, among other factors, our capital needs, our manufacturing volumes, our ability to ramp
Archer UAM operations, and the purchase demand from our Archer Direct customers.

To date, we have not generated revenue from either of these planned categories, as we continue to design, develop, and
seek the governmental approvals necessary for our eVTOL aircraft to enter into service. We will use our cash and cash
equivalents for the foreseeable future to continue to fund our efforts to bring our eVTOL aircraft to market. The amount and
timing of any future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including the pace and results of the design and
development of our aircraft and manufacturing operations, as well as our progress in obtaining necessary FAA certifications
and other government approvals. For example, any significant delays in obtaining such FAA certifications and other
government approvals will likely require us to raise additional capital above our existing cash on hand and delay our generation
of revenues.

Components of Results of Operations

Revenue

We are still working to design, develop, certify, and bring up manufacturing of our eVTOL aircraft and thus have not
generated any revenues from either of our planned lines of business. We do not expect to begin generating significant revenues
until we are able to complete the design, development, certification, and manufacturing bring up of our eVTOL aircratft.

Operating Expenses
Research and Development

Research and development activities represent a significant part of our business. Our research and development efforts
focus on the design and development of our eVTOL aircraft, including certain of the systems that are used in it. As part of those
activities, we continue to work closely with the FAA towards our goal of achieving certification of our eVTOL aircraft on an
efficient timeline. Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel-related costs (including salaries, bonuses,
benefits, and stock-based compensation) for employees focused on research and development activities, costs associated with
developing and building prototype aircraft, associated facilities costs, and depreciation. We expect research and development
expenses to increase significantly as we progress towards the certification and manufacturing of our eVTOL aircraft.

We cannot determine with certainty the timing, duration or the costs necessary to complete the design, development,
certification, and manufacturing bring up of our eVTOL aircraft due to the inherently unpredictable nature of our research and
development activities. Development timelines, the probability of success, and development costs may differ materially from
expectations.
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General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel-related costs (including salaries, bonuses, benefits, and
stock-based compensation) for employees associated with administrative services such as finance, legal, human resources,
information technology, associated facilities costs, depreciation, and non-cash technology and dispute resolution agreements
expense. We expect our general and administrative expenses to increase as we hire additional personnel and consultants to
support our operations and comply with applicable regulations, including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and other SEC rules and
regulations.

Other Warrant Expense

Other warrant expense consists entirely of non-cash expense related to the vesting of warrants issued in conjunction with
the execution of the United Purchase Agreement and the Warrant to Purchase Shares Agreement (the “United Warrant
Agreement”) with United.

Other (Expense) Income, Net

Other (expense) income, net consists of miscellaneous income and expense items, including the change in fair value of our
warrant liabilities.

Interest Income (Expense), Net

Interest income (expense), net primarily consists of interest income from our cash and cash equivalents and short-term
investments in marketable securities, net of interest on notes payable.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our consolidated statements of operations for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 Change $ Change %
(In millions)

Operating expenses:

Research and development $ 2764 $ 1715 °$ 104.9 61 %
General and administrative " 168.4 165.1 33 2%
Other warrant expense 2.1 10.8 (8.7) (81)%

Total operating expenses 446.9 347.4 99.5 29 %
Loss from operations (446.9) (347.4) (99.5) 29 %
Other (expense) income, net (26.9) 27.8 (54.7) NM
Interest income (expense), net 16.4 2.3 14.1 NM

Loss before income taxes (457.4) (317.3) (140.1) 44 %
Income tax expense (0.5) — 0.5) 100 %

Net loss $ (45790 8  (317.3) $  (140.6) 44 %

NM=Not Meaningful.

™ Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022
Research and development $ 289 §$ 26.1
General and administrative 16.3 76.7
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 452 $ 102.8

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

Research and Development

Research and development expenses increased by $104.9 million, or 61%, for the year ended December 31, 2023,
compared to the year ended December 31, 2022, as we invested in people and materials to advance our technology
development. The increase was primarily due to an increase of $40.9 million in costs related to professional services and tools
and materials to support our increased research and development activities, an increase of $38.1 million in personnel-related
expenses due to a significant increase in our workforce from the prior year, and an increase of $14.7 million in warrant
expenses related to the warrants issued to Stellantis in connection with the manufacturing and collaboration agreement between
us and Stellantis. See Note 10 - Stock-Based Compensation to our consolidated financial statements for further details on our
warrants. The remainder of the increase was made up of other incidental items.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses increased by $3.3 million, or 2%, for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to
the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase was primarily due to a $70.3 million non-cash charge comprised of a
$26.3 million non-cash charge associated with the Initial Vested Share Tranche and a $44.0 million non-cash charge for the
unvested portion of the Warrant that is contingent and may never be realized, relating to a series of agreements between us,
Boeing and Wisk on August 10, 2023, providing for, among other things, certain investments and warrant issuances, as well as
an autonomous flight technology agreement and the resolution of certain federal and state court litigation between the parties
(the “Technology and Dispute Resolution Agreements”). The increase was partially offset by a reversal of previously
recognized stock-based compensation expense of $59.1 million associated with the forfeiture of the unvested portion of the
restricted stock units (“RSUs”) granted to our founders pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Business Combination
Agreement immediately prior to closing (the “Founder Grant”) issued to the Company’s co-founder and former co-CEO. See
Note 8 - Commitments and Contingencies and Note 10 - Stock-Based Compensation to our consolidated financial statements
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for further details on our commitments and contingencies and stock-based compensation, respectively. The remainder of the
offset was made up of other incidental items.

Other Warrant Expense

Other warrant expense decreased by $8.7 million, or 81%, for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the year
ended December 31, 2022. The decrease was primarily due to the vesting of United warrants associated with specific
milestones during the year ended December 31, 2022. The warrants associated with the specific milestones fully vested in the
first quarter of 2023. See Note 10 - Stock-Based Compensation to our consolidated financial statements for further details on
our warrants.

Other (Expense) Income, Net

Other (expense) income, net decreased by $54.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the year
ended December 31, 2022. The decrease was primarily due to changes in fair value of our warrant liabilities. See Note 3 -
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to our consolidated financial statements for further details.

Interest Income (Expense), Net

Interest income (expense), net increased by $14.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the year
ended December 31, 2022. The increase was primarily due to interest income from our cash and cash equivalents and short-
term investments in marketable securities.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2023, our principal sources of liquidity were cash and cash equivalents of $464.6 million. We have
incurred net losses since our inception and to date have not generated any revenues. We expect to incur additional losses and
higher operating expenses for the foreseeable future. We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient
for at least the next 12 months to meet our requirements and plans for cash, including meeting our working capital requirements
and capital expenditure requirements.

On August 10, 2023, we entered into subscription agreements with certain investors providing for the private placement of
26,173,286 shares of our Class A common stock for net proceeds of approximately $139.0 million, after deducting offering
costs.

On June 23, 2023, we issued 6,337,039 shares of Class A common stock to Stellantis at a price of $3.94506 per share in
connection with the first milestone under the Stellantis Forward Purchase Agreement and received approximately $25.0 million
in gross proceeds. On August 10, 2023, Stellantis waived certain conditions provided for in the Stellantis Forward Purchase
Agreement relating to our actual achievement pursuant to Milestone 2 (as defined in the Stellantis Forward Purchase
Agreement). In connection with this, we submitted an election notice to draw down upon the $70.0 million applicable to
Milestone 2, which equals 12,313,234 shares of our Class A common stock. On October 16, 2023, we issued 12,313,234 shares
of our Class A common stock to Stellantis, at a price per share of $5.68, for gross proceeds of approximately $70.0 million.

On October 5, 2023, we entered into the Credit Agreement with Synovus Bank, as administrative agent and lender, and the
additional lenders (the “Lenders”) from time to time. We may request the Lenders to provide multiple delayed term loan
advances (together, the “Loan”) in an aggregate principal amount of up to $65.0 million for the construction and development
of our manufacturing facility in Covington, Georgia. The Loan under the Credit Agreement shall accrue interest from and
including the date the applicable advance is made but excluding the repayment date at a rate of the secured overnight financing
rate (“SOFR”), plus 2.00% subject to a SOFR floor of 0.00%. We are required to make interest-only payments for 36 months
on the Loan starting on November 14, 2023, followed by monthly interest and principal payments for the remaining maturity,
with any outstanding principal, interest and other then outstanding indebtedness due at maturity. The Credit Agreement matures
on the earlier of October 5, 2033 or the date on which the outstanding Loan has been declared or automatically becomes due
and payable pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement. Our obligations under the Credit Agreement are jointly and
severally guaranteed by our current and future wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries, and are secured by cash, general
intangibles, instruments, securities, financial assets, security entitlements and other property maintained in a money market
account at Synovus Bank.
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In November 2023, we filed a shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (the “Shelf Registration Statement”), which became
effective in November 2023. The Shelf Registration Statement permits the offering of up to $70.0 million aggregate dollar
amount of shares of our Class A common stock or preferred stock, debt securities, warrants to purchase our Class A common
stock, preferred stock or debt securities, subscription rights to purchase our Class A common stock, preferred stock or debt
securities and/or units consisting of some or all of these securities, in one or more offerings and in any combination. In
connection with the Shelf Registration Statement, we entered into an Open Market Sales Agreement™ (the “Sales
Agreement”), with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., as the sales agent, pursuant to which we may offer and sell shares of our Class A
common stock having an aggregate offering amount of up to $70.0 million. The $70.0 million of Class A common stock that
may be issued and sold pursuant to the Sales Agreement is included in the $70.0 million of securities that may be issued and
sold pursuant to the Shelf Registration Statement. We will pay Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. a commission rate of up to 3.0% of the
gross proceeds from the sale of any shares of Class A common stock pursuant to the Sales Agreement. As of December 31,
2023, we had $49.3 million remaining under the Sales Agreement.

In the long term, our ability to support our working capital and capital expenditure requirements will depend on many
factors, including:

* the level of research and development expenses we incur as we continue to develop our eVTOL aircraft;

« capital expenditures needed to bring up our aircraft manufacturing capabilities, including for both the build out of our
manufacturing facilities and component purchases necessary to build our aircraft;

+ general and administrative expenses as we scale our operations; and
* sales, marketing and distribution expenses as we build, brand and market our eVTOL aircraft and UAM network.

Until such time as we can generate significant revenue from our business operations, we expect to finance our cash needs
primarily through existing cash on hand, pre-delivery payments, equity financing and debt financing.

The following includes our short-term and long-term material cash requirements from known contractual obligations as of
December 31, 2023:

Notes Payable
See Note 7 - Notes Payable to our consolidated financial statements for further details on our debt.
Leases

We lease office, lab, hangar, and storage facilities in the normal course of business. Under our operating leases as noted in
Note 8 - Commitments and Contingencies to our consolidated financial statements, we have current obligations of $5.5 million
and long-term obligations of $18.5 million.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

(In millions)

Net cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities $ (271.6) $ (200.4)
Investing activities 420.7 (464.3)
Financing activities 250.1 9.9

Cash Flows Used in Operating Activities

We continue to experience negative cash flows from operations as we are still working to design, develop, certify, and
bring up manufacturing of our eVTOL aircraft and thus have not generated any revenues from either of our planned lines of
business. Our cash flows from operating activities are significantly affected by our cash investments to support the growth of
our research and development activities related to our eVTOL aircraft, as well as the general and administrative functions
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necessary to support those activities and operations as a publicly traded company. Our operating cash flows are also impacted
by the working capital requirements to support growth and fluctuations in personnel-related expenditures, accounts payable,
accrued interest and other current liabilities, and other current assets.

Net cash used in operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2023 was $271.6 million, resulting from a net
loss of $457.9 million, adjusted for non-cash items consisting primarily of a $70.3 million non-cash charge comprised of a
$26.3 million non-cash charge associated with the Initial Vested Share Tranche and a $44.0 million non-cash charge for the
unvested portion of the Warrant that is contingent and may never be realized, relating to the Technology and Dispute
Resolution Agreements, $45.2 million in stock-based compensation which includes the reversal of $59.1 million of stock-based
compensation expense related to the forfeiture of one of the Founder Grants, a loss of $32.9 million due to a change in fair
value of our warrant liabilities, and $17.5 million of research and development warrant expense related to the warrants issued to
Stellantis (see Note 10 - Stock-Based Compensation to our consolidated financial statements). The net cash provided by
changes in our net operating assets and liabilities of $13.2 million was primarily related to a $9.2 million increase in accounts
payable due to timing of payments.

Net cash used in operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2022 was $200.4 million, resulting from a net
loss of $317.3 million, adjusted for non-cash items consisting primarily of $102.8 million in stock-based compensation
primarily related to the Founder Grants and $10.8 million in other warrant expense related to the United warrants (see Note 10 -
Stock-Based Compensation), partially offset by a gain of $22.9 million primarily due to the change in fair value of our warrant
liabilities. The net cash related to changes in our net operating assets and liabilities of $19.2 million was primarily related to a
$15.6 million increase in accrued expenses and other current liabilities mainly due to legal fees and expenses and a $10.1
million increase in other long-term liabilities mainly due to the $10.0 million pre-delivery payment from United (see Note 10 -
Stock-Based Compensation), partially offset by a $3.4 million increase in operating lease right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities, net driven by lease payments and a $2.2 million increase in prepaid expenses primarily due to prepaid research and
development-related expenses.

Cash Flows Provided by (Used in) Investing Activities

Net cash provided by investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2023 was $420.7 million, driven by proceeds
from maturities of short-term investments of $465.0 million, offset by purchases of property and equipment of $44.3 million
within the period.

Net cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2022 was $464.3 million, driven by purchases of
short-term investments of $487.4 million and purchases of property and equipment of $6.9 million, offset by proceeds from
maturities of short-term investments of $30.0 million.

Cash Flows Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2023 was $250.1 million, driven by gross
proceeds from the PIPE financing of $145.0 million, proceeds from the issuance of common stock to Stellantis of $95.0 million,
and proceeds from shares issued under an at-the-market offering of $20.7 million, partially offset by the repayment of term
loans to Silicon Valley Bank, a division of First-Citizens Bank, for $10.0 million.

Net cash used in financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2022 was $9.9 million, consisting primarily of
the repayment of debt for $10.0 million.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, and expenses, and related disclosures. We
base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the
circumstances. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
To the extent that there are material differences between these estimates and our actual results, our future financial statements
will be affected.

The SEC has defined a company’s critical accounting policies as the ones that are most important to the portrayal of the

company’s financial condition and results of operations, and which require the company to make its most difficult and
subjective judgements, often as a result of the need to make estimates of matters that are inherently uncertain.
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We believe that the following critical accounting policies involve a greater degree of judgment or complexity than our
other accounting policies. Accordingly, these are the policies we believe are the most critical to a full understanding and
evaluation of our consolidated financial statements. For additional information, refer to Note 3 - Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies to our consolidated financial statements.

Common Stock Valuation

Prior to the Business Combination, there was no public market for our common stock, and our board of directors
determined the fair value of our common stock by taking into account input from management and independent third-party
valuation analyses. The determinations of the fair value of our common stock were made using methodologies, approaches, and
assumptions consistent with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Accounting and Valuation Guide: Valuation
of Privately-Held-Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation. In valuing our common stock, we determined the equity
value of our business using a combination of the market and income approach valuation methods. The total enterprise value was
then allocated to our various share classes using a hybrid approach consisting of the option pricing model (“OPM”) and
probability-weighted expected return method (“PWERM”). The OPM considers preferred stockholders’ liquidation preferences,
participation rights, dividend policy, and conversion rights to determine how proceeds from a liquidity event shall be distributed
among the various ownership classes at a future date, whereas the PWERM estimates the fair market value of the common
stock based on an analysis of future values for various potential liquidity outcomes. Since there was no active market for our
common stock, we also applied a discount for lack of marketability for both OPM and PWERM scenarios. Application of these
approaches and methods involves the use of estimates, judgments, and assumptions, such as future revenue, expenses and cash
flows, selections of comparable companies, probabilities and timing of exit events, and other factors. The fair value of our
common stock, utilizing the above methodology prior to the closing of the Business Combination, was used to determine the
fair value of the United warrants, and was a key input in the estimation of the fair value of our stock options (as discussed
below).

Since the closing of the Business Combination in September 2021, the fair value of our common stock is based on the
closing price of our Class A common stock, as quoted on the NYSE, on the date of grant.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for stock-based compensation awards granted to employees and non-employees by recording compensation
expense based on each award’s grant date estimated fair value over the vesting period, in accordance with ASC 718,
Compensation — Stock Compensation. We estimate the fair value of RSUs based on the fair value of our common stock on the
date of grant. We estimate the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Determining the fair
value of stock options under this model requires highly subjective assumptions, including the fair value of the underlying
common stock, risk-free interest rate, expected term of the award, expected volatility of the price of our common stock, and
expected dividend yield of our common stock. These estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of
management’s judgment. If we had made different assumptions, our stock-based compensation expense could have been
materially different. We have not issued any stock options since the closing of the Business Combination.

The fair value of RSUs that vest based on service conditions is determined based on the value of the underlying common
stock at the date of grant. The Founder Grants vest when either a market condition or performance condition is satisfied. We
determined the fair value of the performance award by utilizing the trading price on the Closing Date. When the applicable
performance milestone is deemed probable of being achieved, we will recognize compensation expense for the portion earned
to date over the requisite period. For the market condition award, we estimated the fair value using a Monte Carlo simulation
model. We recognize compensation expense for the market award on a straight-line basis over the derived service period.
Determining the fair value for the market condition award under this model requires subjective assumptions, including the
expected volatility of the price of our common stock. If the applicable performance condition is not probable of being achieved,
compensation cost for the value of the award incorporating the market condition is recognized, so long as the requisite service
is provided. If the performance milestone becomes probable of being achieved, the full fair value of the award will be
recognized, and any remaining expense for the market award will be cancelled.

Income Taxes

We are subject to income taxes in the United States and other jurisdictions. Our income tax provision consists of an
estimate of federal, state and foreign income taxes based on enacted federal, state and foreign tax rates, as adjusted for
allowable credits, deductions, uncertain tax positions, changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities, and
changes in tax laws.
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We recognize tax benefits from uncertain tax positions only if we believe that it is more-likely-than-not that the tax
position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities based on the technical merits of the position. Although we
believe that we have adequately reserved for our uncertain tax positions, we can provide no assurance that the final tax outcome
of these matters will not be materially different. We make adjustments to these reserves when facts and circumstances change,
such as the closing of issues under audit or expiration of statute of limitation, changes in or interpretations of tax law. To the
extent that the final tax outcome of these matters is different than the amounts recorded, such differences may affect the
provision for income taxes in the period in which such determination is made and could have a material impact on our financial
condition and results of operations.

Significant judgment is applied when assessing the need for valuation allowances and includes the evaluation of historical
income (loss) adjusted for the effects of non-recurring items. Areas of estimation include consideration of future taxable
income. We have placed a full valuation allowance against our federal and state deferred tax assets since the recovery of the
assets is uncertain. Should a change in circumstances lead to a change in judgment about the utilization of deferred tax assets in
future years, the adjustment related to valuation allowances would be reported as an increase to income.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 3 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to our consolidated financial statements for a discussion about
accounting pronouncements recently adopted and recently issued and not yet adopted.

Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which subject us to concentrations of credit risk, consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents, and
short-term investments. Our cash and cash equivalents are held at several long-standing financial institutions located in the
United States. At times, cash account balances with any one financial institution may exceed Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation insurance limits ($250 thousand per depositor per institution). We have not experienced any losses due to these
excess deposits and believe this risk is not significant. Our short-term investments consisted of high quality, investment grade
marketable securities and were held at a major financial institution located in the United States. We have established guidelines
regarding diversification of our investments and their maturities that are designed to preserve principal and achieve liquidity
requirements. We review these guidelines and modify them as necessary based on updated liquidity needs and changes in our
operations and financial position.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to market risk for changes in interest rates applicable to our borrowings and short-term investments. The
Loan under the Credit Agreement accrues interest from and including the date the applicable advance is made but excluding the
repayment date at a rate of the SOFR, plus 2.00% subject to a SOFR floor of 0.00%. Additionally, we had cash, cash
equivalents, and restricted cash totaling $471.5 million as of December 31, 2023. Cash equivalents were invested in money
market funds. The primary objectives of our investment activities are to preserve principal and achieve liquidity requirements.
We do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes. A hypothetical 100 basis point change in interest rates
applicable to the Loan under the Credit Agreement or with respect to our investment portfolio would not have had a material
impact on the fair value of our portfolio for the periods presented.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Archer Aviation Inc.
Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Archer Aviation Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as
of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the related consolidated statements of operations, of comprehensive loss, of stockholders’
equity and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, including the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited the Company's internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013)
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2023 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013)
issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included
in Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express
opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting
based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities
laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement,
whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks.
Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the
risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based
on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial
statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or
disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or
complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate
opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Accounting for the Wisk Settlement and Valuation of the Second Tranche Warrant

As described in Notes 3 and 8 to the consolidated financial statements, on August 10, 2023, the Company, the Boeing Company
(“Boeing”) and Wisk Aero LLC (“Wisk”) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Boeing) entered into a series of agreements that
provide for, among other things, certain investments by Boeing into the Company and an autonomous flight technology
collaboration between Wisk and the Company, the issuance of certain warrants to Wisk and resolution of the federal and state
court litigation between the parties (the “Technology and Dispute Resolution Agreements” or “Wisk Settlement”). Under the
Wisk Settlement, management agreed to issue Wisk a warrant to purchase up to 13,176,895 shares of the Company’s Common
Stock with an exercise price of $0.01 per share (the “Wisk Warrant”). The Wisk Warrant shall vest and be exercisable as
follows: (i) immediately as to 4,512,636 shares, underlying the Warrant (the “Initial Vested Share Tranche™) and (ii) for up to
8,664,259 shares (the “Second Tranche”) underlying the Wisk Warrant as determined six months from the effective date of the
Warrant (the “Specified Date”). The extent to which the Second Tranche vests is based on the value of the First Boeing
Investment and the shares underlying the Initial Vested Share Tranche as of the Specified Date. Management recorded the
Initial Vested Share Tranche within equity at its fair value. Management recorded the Second Tranche as liabilities at their fair
value and adjusts the warrants to fair value at each reporting period. Management utilizes a Monte Carlo simulation model for
the accrued technology and dispute resolution agreements liability at each reporting period, with changes in fair value
recognized in the consolidated statements of operations. As of December 31, 2023, management recorded a $70.3 million non-
cash charge in general and administrative expenses consisting of a $26.3 million non-cash charge associated with the Initial
Vested Share Tranche and a $44.0 million non-cash charge for the unvested portion of the Wisk Warrant. At December 31,
2023, the associated liability was $44.0 million.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the accounting for the Wisk
Settlement and valuation of the Second Tranche Warrant liability is a critical audit matter are (i) a high degree of auditor effort
in performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence related to the accounting for the Wisk Settlement and valuation of the
Second Tranche Warrant liability and (ii) the audit effort involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and
knowledge.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to
significant unusual transactions, including controls over management’s accounting for the Wisk Settlement and valuation of the
Second Tranche Warrant. These procedures also included, among others, (i) reading the agreements related to the Wisk
Settlement and evaluating the accounting implications of such agreements, (ii) the involvement of professionals with
specialized skill and knowledge to assist in developing an independent estimate for the Second Tranche Warranty liability, (iii)
comparing the independent estimate to management's estimate to evaluate the reasonableness of management's estimate of the
Second Tranche Warrant liability, and (iv) testing the completeness and accuracy of underlying data used by management in the
Monte Carlo simulation model. Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge were also used to assist in evaluating the
appropriateness of the Monte Carlo simulation model used by management to develop the fair value estimate of the Second
Tranche Warrant liability.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Irvine, California
February 29, 2024

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2020.
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Archer Aviation Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In millions, except share and per share data)

As of December 31,
2023 2022
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 464.6 $ 69.4
Restricted cash 6.9 2.9
Short-term investments — 461.8
Prepaid expenses 7.9 9.8
Other current assets 0.8 1.6
Total current assets 480.2 545.5
Property and equipment, net 57.6 11.5
Intangible assets, net 0.4 0.4
Right-of-use assets 8.9 11.9
Other long-term assets 7.2 4.5
Total assets $ 5543 § 573.8
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 143 § 3.6
Current portion of lease liabilities 2.8 3.7
Current portion of notes payable — 93
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 96.9 36.7
Total current liabilities 114.0 533
Notes payable, net of current portion 7.2 —
Lease liabilities, net of current portion 13.2 9.2
Warrant liabilities 39.9 7.0
Other long-term liabilities 12.9 11.0
Total liabilities 187.2 80.5
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 — —
Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value; 700,000,000 shares authorized; 265,617,341
and 177,900,738 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, — —
respectively
Class B common stock, $0.0001 par value; 300,000,000 shares authorized; 38,165,615 and
63,738,197 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively — —
Additional paid-in capital 1,515.9 1,185.0
Accumulated deficit (1,148.8) (690.9)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss — (0.8)
Total stockholders’ equity 367.1 493.3
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 5543 % 573.8

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Archer Aviation Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In millions, except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Operating expenses
Research and development $ 2764 § 1715 $ 64.3
General and administrative 168.4 165.1 176.7
Other warrant expense 2.1 10.8 117.3

Total operating expenses 446.9 347.4 358.3
Loss from operations (446.9) (347.4) (358.3)
Gain on forgiveness of PPP loan — — 0.9
Other (expense) income, net (26.9) 27.8 10.6
Interest income (expense), net 16.4 23 (1.0)

Loss before income taxes (457.4) (317.3) (347.8)
Income tax expense (0.5) — —

Net loss $ (457.9) $ (317.3) $ (347.8)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (1.69) § (1.32) § (3.14)
Weighted-average shares outstanding, basic and diluted 270,408,132 240,476,894 110,836,238

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Archer Aviation Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(In millions)

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Net loss $ (457.9) $ (317.3) $ (347.8)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities, net of tax 0.8 (0.8) —
Comprehensive loss $ (457.1) $ (318.1) $ (347.8)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Archer Aviation Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In millions)

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss $ (4579) $ (317.3) $ (347.8)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation, amortization and other 6.5 44 1.3
Debt discount and issuance cost amortization 0.7 0.5 0.2
Stock-based compensation 45.2 102.8 123.6
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities and other warrant costs 32.9 (22.9) (10.4)
Gain on issuance of common stock (3.6) — —
Non-cash lease expense 3.8 4.6 1.7
Research and development warrant expense 17.5 2.9 7.0
Other warrant expense 2.1 10.8 117.3
Technology and dispute resolution agreements expense 70.3 — —
Interest income on short-term investments — (0.5) —
Accretion and amortization income of short-term investments (2.3) 4.9) —
Gain on forgiveness of PPP loan — — 0.9)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses 1.9 2.2) (6.8)
Other current assets 0.8 (1.2) 0.3)
Other long-term assets (5.0) 0.4 2.7)
Accounts payable 9.2 (0.1) (0.8)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 2.3 15.6 12.1
Operating lease right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, net 2.4 (3.4) (1.9)
Other long-term liabilities 1.6 10.1 —
Net cash used in operating activities (271.6) (200.4) (108.4)
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of short-term investments — (487.4) —
Proceeds from maturities of short-term investments 465.0 30.0 —
Purchase of property and equipment (44.3) (6.9) (3.5)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 420.7 (464.3) (3.5)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of debt 7.5 — 20.0
Repayment of long-term debt (10.0) (10.0) —
Payment of debt issuance costs 0.3) — 0.2)
Payments for taxes related to net share settlement of equity awards 3.5) — —
Proceeds from PIPE financing 145.0 — 600.0
Payment of offering costs in connection with PIPE financing (6.0) — —
Proceeds from shares issued under at-the-market offering 20.7 — —
Payment of offering costs in connection with at-the-market offering (1.2) — —
Recapitalization transaction — — 257.6
Recapitalization transaction costs — — (55.8)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options — 0.1 0.5
Proceeds from exercise of stock warrants — — 0.1
Proceeds from shares issued under employee stock purchase plan 2.9 — —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 95.0 — —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 250.1 9.9) 822.2
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash 399.2 (674.6) 710.3
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, beginning of period 72.3 746.9 36.6
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of period $ 4715 $ 723 § 746.9
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Supplemental Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid for interest $ 08 § 15§ 0.7
Non-cash investing and financing activities:

Purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable and accrued

expenses 10.8 3.1 2.1
Allocation of debt proceeds to stock warrants — — 1.2
Conversion of convertible preferred stock to common stock in connection with
the reverse recapitalization — — 61.5
PIPE financing issuance costs settled with the issuance of Class A common stock — — 7.0
Recapilzalization transaction costs settled with the issuance of Class A common .
stoc — — .

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Archer Aviation Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1 - Organization and Nature of Business
Organization and Nature of Business

Archer Aviation Inc. (the “Company”), a Delaware corporation, with its headquarters located in San Jose, California, is an
aerospace company. The Company is designing and developing electric vertical takeoff and landing (“eVTOL”) aircraft for use
in urban air mobility (“UAM”) networks. The Company’s mission is to unlock the skies, freeing everyone to reimagine how
they move and spend time.

The Company’s Planned Lines of Business

Upon receipt of all necessary Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA”) certifications and any other government approvals
necessary for the Company to manufacture and operate its aircraft, the Company intends to operate two complementary lines of
business. The Company’s core focus is direct-to-consumer offerings (“Archer UAM”) with its secondary focus being business-
to-business offerings (“Archer Direct”).

Archer UAM

The Company plans to operate its own UAM ecosystem initially in select major cities. The Company’s UAM ecosystem
will operate using its eVTOL aircraft which is currently in development.

Archer Direct

The Company also plans to selectively sell a certain amount of its eVTOL aircraft along with ancillary products and
services to third parties.

Business Combination

On September 16, 2021 (the “Closing Date”), Archer Aviation, Inc., a Delaware corporation (prior to the closing of the
Business Combination (as defined below), “Legacy Archer”), Atlas Crest Investment Corp., a Delaware corporation (“Atlas”),
and Artemis Acquisition Sub Inc., a Delaware corporation and a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of Atlas (“Merger Sub”),
consummated the closing of the transactions contemplated by the Business Combination Agreement, dated February 10, 2021,
as amended and restated on July 29, 2021, by and among Atlas, Legacy Archer and Merger Sub (the “Business Combination
Agreement”), following approval at a special meeting of the stockholders of Atlas held on September 14, 2021 (the “Special
Meeting”). Unless otherwise specified or unless the context otherwise requires, references in these notes to Legacy Archer refer
to Archer prior to the Business Combination and references in these notes to “New Archer” refer to Archer following the
Business Combination.

Pursuant to the terms of the Business Combination Agreement, a business combination of Legacy Archer and Atlas was
effected by the merger of Merger Sub with and into Legacy Archer, with Legacy Archer surviving the merger (the “Surviving
Entity”) as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Atlas (the “Merger,” and, collectively with the other transactions described in the
Business Combination Agreement, the “Business Combination”). Following the consummation of the Merger on the Closing
Date, the Surviving Entity changed its name from Archer Aviation, Inc. to Archer Aviation Operating Corp., and Atlas changed
its name from Atlas Crest Investment Corp. to Archer Aviation Inc. and it became the successor registrant with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). Prior to the closing of the Business Combination, the Class A common
stock and public warrants of Atlas were listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbols “ACIC” and
“ACIC WS,” respectively. New Archer Class A common stock and public warrants are currently listed on the NYSE under the
symbols “ACHR” and “ACHR WS,” respectively.

The financial statements included in this report reflect (i) the historical operating results of Legacy Archer prior to the
Business Combination; (ii) the combined results of Atlas and Legacy Archer following the closing of the Business
Combination; (iii) the assets and liabilities of Legacy Archer at their historical cost; and (iv) the Company’s equity structure for
all periods presented.
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Archer Aviation Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 2 - Liquidity and Going Concern

Since the Company’s formation, the Company has devoted substantial effort and capital resources to the design and
development of its planned eVTOL aircraft and UAM network. Funding of these activities has primarily been through the net
proceeds received from the issuance of related and third-party debt (Note 7 - Notes Payable), and the sale of preferred and
common stock to related and third parties (Note 9 - Preferred and Common Stock). Through December 31, 2023, the Company
has incurred cumulative losses from operations, negative cash flows from operating activities, and has an accumulated deficit of
$1,148.8 million. Following the closing of the Business Combination on the Closing Date, the Company received net cash
proceeds of $801.8 million. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $464.6 million, which
management believes will be sufficient to fund the Company’s current operating plan for at least the next 12 months from the
date these consolidated financial statements were issued.

There can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in achieving its business plans, that the Company’s current
capital will be sufficient to support its ongoing business plans, or that any additional financing will be available in a timely
manner or on acceptable terms, if at all. If the Company’s business plans require it to raise additional capital, but the Company
is unable to do so, it may be required to alter, or scale back its aircraft design, development and certification programs, as well
as its manufacturing capabilities, or be unable to fund capital expenditures. Any such events would have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations, cash flows, and ability to achieve the Company’s intended
business plans.

Note 3 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with U.S. GAAP and include the
accounts of the Company.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent liabilities at the
date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period.

On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates, including those related to the: (i) realization of deferred tax
assets and estimates of tax liabilities, (ii) fair value of debt, (iii) fair value of share-based payments, (iv) valuation of leased
assets and liabilities, and (v) estimated useful lives of long-lived assets. These estimates are based on historical data and
experience, as well as various other factors that management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Such estimates often require the selection of appropriate valuation methodologies and models and may involve
significant judgment in evaluating ranges of assumptions and financial inputs. Actual results may differ from those estimates
under different assumptions, financial inputs, or circumstances.

Retroactive Application of Reverse Recapitalization

As discussed in Note 4 - Reverse Recapitalization and Related Transactions, the Business Combination was accounted for
as a reverse recapitalization of equity structure. Pursuant to U.S. GAAP, the Company retrospectively recast its weighted-
average outstanding shares within the Company’s consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021.
As part of the closing, all of Legacy Archer’s issued Series Seed redeemable convertible preferred stock and Series A
redeemable convertible preferred stock were converted into Legacy Archer common stock, which were converted again, along
with all other issued and outstanding common stock of Legacy Archer, into New Archer Class A common stock and New
Archer Class B common stock. The basic and diluted weighted-average Legacy Archer common stock were retroactively
converted to New Archer Class A common stock and New Archer Class B common stock to conform to the recast in the
consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity.
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Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash

Cash consists of cash on deposit with financial institutions. Cash equivalents consist of short-term, highly liquid financial
instruments that are readily convertible to cash and have maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase. As of
December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company’s cash and cash equivalents included money market funds of $339.6 million and
$6.1 million, respectively.

Restricted cash consists primarily of cash held as security for the Company’s standby letters of credit. Refer to Note 8 -
Commitments and Contingencies for further details.

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported in the consolidated
balance sheets that sum to amounts reported on the consolidated statements of cash flows (in millions):

As of December 31,
2023 2022
Cash and cash equivalents $ 464.6 $ 69.4
Restricted cash 6.9 2.9
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 4715 $ 72.3

Short-Term Investments

The Company had short-term investments in marketable securities with original maturities of less than one year, including
U.S. Treasury securities, corporate debt securities and commercial paper. The Company classifies its marketable securities as
available-for-sale at the time of purchase and reevaluates such classification at each balance sheet date. These marketable
securities are carried at fair value, and unrealized gains and losses are recorded in other comprehensive loss in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive loss, which is reflected as a component of stockholders’ equity. These marketable securities are
assessed as to whether those with unrealized loss positions are other than temporarily impaired. The Company considers
impairments to be other than temporary if they are related to deterioration in credit risk or if it is likely the securities will be
sold before the recovery of their cost basis. If the impairment is deemed other than temporary, the security is written down to its
fair value and a loss is recognized in other (expense) income, net. Realized gains and losses from the sale of marketable
securities and from declines in value deemed to be other than temporary are determined based on the specific identification
method and recognized in other (expense) income, net in the consolidated statements of operations.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company applies the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 820, Fair Value Measurement, which
defines a single authoritative definition of fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value, and expands on required
disclosures about fair value measurements. The provisions of ASC 820 relate to financial assets and liabilities as well as other
assets and liabilities carried at fair value on a recurring and nonrecurring basis. The standard clarifies that fair value is an exit
price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined based on
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for considering such assumptions, the
standard establishes a three-tier value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows:

Level I Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities accessible to the reporting entity at the
measurement date.

Level 2 Other than quoted prices included in Level 1 inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly, for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

Level 3 Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability used to measure fair value to the extent that observable inputs are not
available, thereby allowing for situations in which there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability at
the measurement date.

The carrying amounts of the Company’s cash, accounts payable, accrued compensation, and accrued liabilities approximate
their fair values due to the short-term nature of these instruments.
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The following tables present information about the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and indicate the fair value hierarchy of the valuation inputs the Company

utilized to determine such fair value (in millions):

As of December 31, 2023

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Cash equivalents:
Money market funds 339.6 — — 339.6
Liabilities:
Warrant liability — public warrants 254 — 3 — 3 254
Warrant liability — private placement warrants — — 3 145 3 14.5
Accrued technology and dispute resolutions agreements
liability — — 440 § 44.0
As of December 31, 2022
Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Cash equivalents:
Money market funds 6.1 — 3 — 3 6.1
Short-term investments:
U.S. Treasury securities 316.6 — — 3 316.6
Corporate debt securities — 20.1 $ — $ 20.1
Commiercial paper — 125.1 $ — 3 125.1
Liabilities:
Warrant liability — public warrants 4.5 — S — 4.5
Warrant liability — private placement warrants — — 3 25 § 2.5

Cash Equivalents

The Company’s cash equivalents consist of short-term, highly liquid financial instruments that are readily convertible to
cash and have maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase. The Company classifies its money market funds as

Level 1, because they are valued based on quoted market prices in active markets.

Short-Term Investments

The Company’s short-term investments consisted of high quality, investment grade marketable securities and were
classified as available-for-sale. The Company classifies its investments in U.S. Treasury securities as Level 1, because they are
valued using quoted market prices in active markets. The Company classifies its investments in corporate debt securities and
commercial paper as Level 2, because they are valued using inputs other than quoted prices which are directly or indirectly
observable in the market, including readily available pricing sources for the identical underlying security which may not be

actively traded.

The following tables present a summary of the Company’s cash equivalents and short-term investments as of December 31,

2023 and 2022 (in millions):
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As of December 31, 2023

Description Amortized Cost Unrealized Gains  Unrealized Losses Fair Value
Cash equivalents:

Money market funds $ 3396 $ — — 339.6
Total $ 339.6 $ — — S 339.6

As of December 31, 2022

Description Amortized Cost Unrealized Gains  Unrealized Losses Fair Value
Cash equivalents:
Money market funds $ 6.1 $ — 3 — 3 6.1
Short-term investments:
U.S. Treasury securities 317.4 (0.8) 316.6
Corporate debt securities 20.1 — 20.1
Commercial paper 125.1 — 125.1
Total $ 468.7 $ — 3 0.8) $ 467.9

The unrealized losses related to the Company’s short-term investments were primarily due to changes in interest rates and
not due to increased credit risk or other valuation concerns. The Company had no other-than-temporary impairments for the
years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

Public Warrants

The measurement of the public warrants as of December 31, 2023 is classified as Level 1 due to the use of an observable
market quote in an active market under the ticker “ACHR WS”. The quoted price of the public warrants was $1.46 and $0.26
per warrant as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Private Placement Warrants

The Company utilizes a Monte Carlo simulation model for the private placement warrants at each reporting period, with
changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statements of operations. The estimated fair value of the private placement
warrant liability is determined using Level 3 inputs. Inherent in a Monte Carlo simulation model are assumptions related to
expected share-price volatility, expected life, risk-free interest rate, and dividend yield.

The key inputs into the Monte Carlo simulation model for the private placement warrants are as follows:

December 31, December 31,

Input 2023 2022
Stock price $ 6.14  § 1.87
Strike price $ 11.50 °$ 11.50
Dividend yield 0.00 % 0.00 %
Term (in years) 2.71 3.71
Volatility 70.15 % 75.00 %
Risk-free rate 4.03 % 4.14 %

Accrued Technology and Dispute Resolution Agreements Liability

Under the Technology and Dispute Resolution Agreements, the Company recognized an accrued technology and dispute
resolution agreements liability related to the unvested warrants for the Second Tranche (capitalized terms defined below). See
Note 8 - Commitments and Contingencies for further details. The Company utilizes a Monte Carlo simulation model for the
accrued technology and dispute resolution agreements liability at each reporting period, with changes in fair value recognized in
the consolidated statements of operations. The estimated fair value of the accrued technology and dispute resolution agreements
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liability is determined using Level 3 inputs. Inherent in a Monte Carlo simulation model are assumptions related to expected
share-price volatility, expected life, risk-free interest rate, and dividend yield.

The key inputs into the Monte Carlo simulation model for the accrued technology and dispute resolution agreements
liability are as follows:

December 31,

Input 2023
Stock price $ 6.14
Strike price $ 0.01
Dividend yield 0.00 %
Term (in years) 0.11
Volatility 60.00 %
Risk-free rate 5.40 %

The following table presents the change in fair value of the Company’s Level 3 private placement warrants and accrued
technology and dispute resolution agreements liability during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in millions):

Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ 10.1
Change in fair value (7.6)
Balance as of December 31, 2022 2.5
Additions: accrued technology and dispute resolution agreements liability 48.0
Change in fair value 8.0
Balance as of December 31, 2023 ) $ 58.5

M As of December 31, 2023, $14.5 million and $44.0 million were recorded within warrant liabilities and accrued expenses and other current

liabilities, respectively, in the consolidated balance sheets.

In connection with changes in the fair value of the Company’s public and private placement warrants, the Company
recognized a loss of $32.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2023 and a gain of $23.3 million and $10.4 million
during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, within other (expense) income, net in the consolidated
statements of operations. Refer to Note 12 - Liability Classified Warrants for additional information about the public and
private placement warrants.

In connection with the change in fair value of the accrued technology and dispute resolution agreements liability, the
Company recognized a gain of $4.0 million within general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of
operations during the year ended December 31, 2023. Refer to Note 8 - Commitments and Contingencies for additional
information about the accrued technology and dispute resolution agreements liability.

Financial Instruments Not Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Certain financial instruments, including debt, are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis in the consolidated balance
sheets. The fair value of debt as of December 31, 2023 approximates its carrying value (Level 2). Refer to Note 7 - Notes
Payable for additional information.

Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Non-Recurring Basis

Certain assets and liabilities are subject to measurement at fair value on a non-recurring basis if there are indicators of
impairment or if they are deemed to be impaired as a result of an impairment review.

Intangible Assets, Net

Intangible assets consist solely of domain names and are recorded at cost, net of accumulated amortization, and if
applicable, impairment charges. Amortization of domain names is provided over a 15-year estimated useful life on a straight-
line basis or based on the pattern in which economic benefits are consumed, if reliably determinable. The Company reviews
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intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may
not be recoverable. The Company has analyzed a variety of factors to determine if any circumstance could trigger an
impairment loss, and, at this time and based on the information presently known, no event has occurred and indicated that it is
more likely than not that an impairment loss has been incurred. Therefore, the Company did not record any impairment charges
for its intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the net carrying amounts for domain names were $0.4 million and $0.4 million,
respectively, and were recorded in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Expenditures for major renewals and
betterment are capitalized, while minor replacements, maintenance, and repairs, which do not extend the asset lives, are charged
to operations as incurred. Upon sale or disposition, the cost and related accumulated depreciation is removed from the accounts,
and any difference between the selling price and net carrying amount is recorded as a gain or loss in the consolidated statements
of operations.

Depreciation on property and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
assets as follows:

Useful Life
(In years)
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 5
Vehicles >
Computer hardware 3
Computer software 3
Website design 2
Shorter of lease
term or the asset
Leasehold improvements standard life

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews its long-lived assets, consisting primarily of property and equipment, for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. Such triggering
events or changes in circumstances may include: a significant decrease in the market price of a long-lived asset, a significant
adverse change in the extent or manner in which a long-lived asset is being or intended to be used, a significant adverse change
in legal factors or in the business climate, the impact of competition or other factors that could affect the value of a long-lived
asset, a significant adverse deterioration in the amount of revenue or cash flows expected to be generated from an asset group,
an accumulation of costs significantly in excess of the amount originally expected for the acquisition or development of a long-
lived asset, current or future operating or cash flow losses that demonstrate continuing losses associated with the use of a long-
lived asset, or a current expectation that, more likely than not, a long-lived asset will be sold or otherwise disposed of
significantly before the end of its previously estimated useful life. The Company performs impairment testing at the asset group
level that represents the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets
and liabilities. Recoverability of these assets is determined by comparing the forecasted undiscounted cash flows attributable to
such assets including any cash flows upon their eventual disposition to their carrying value. If the carrying value of the assets
exceeds the forecasted undiscounted cash flows, then the assets are written down to their fair value. The Company did not
identify any events or changes in circumstances that would indicate that the Company’s long-lived assets may be impaired and
therefore determined there was no impairment of long-lived assets during all periods presented.

Cloud Computing Arrangements

The Company capitalizes certain implementation costs incurred in the application development stage of projects related to
its cloud computing arrangements that are service contracts. Capitalized implementation costs are recognized in other long-term
assets in the consolidated balance sheets and amortized on a straight-line basis over the fixed, noncancellable term of the
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associated hosting arrangement plus any reasonably certain renewal periods. Costs related to preliminary project activities and
post-implementation activities are expensed as incurred. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the net carrying amounts of the
Company’s capitalized cloud computing implementation costs were $6.4 million and $3.7 million, respectively.

Contract Liabilities

The Company records contract liabilities related to differences between the timing of cash receipts from the customer and
the recognition of revenue. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company’s contract liability balances were $10.8 million
and $10.0 million, respectively, and recorded in other long-term liabilities in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. As of
December 31, 2023, the Company’s contract liabilities consisted of a $10.0 million pre-delivery payment received from United
Airlines, Inc. (“United”) under the terms of the Amended United Purchase Agreement (defined below) (see Note 10 - Stock-
Based Compensation), and a $0.8 million installment payment received under a contract order with the United States Air Force
for the design, development, and ground test of the Company’s production aircraft, Midnight. As of December 31, 2022, the
Company’s contract liabilities consisted of the $10.0 million pre-delivery payment received from United, as discussed above.
No revenues were recognized during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

Operating Expenses

Research and Development

Research and development (“R&D”) costs are expensed as incurred and are primarily comprised of personnel-related costs
including salaries, bonuses, benefits, and stock-based compensation for employees focused on R&D activities, costs associated
with building prototype aircraft, other related costs, depreciation, and an allocation of general overhead. R&D efforts focus on
the design and development of the Company’s eVTOL aircraft, including certain of the systems that are used in it.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses are primarily comprised of personnel-related costs including salaries, bonuses,
benefits, and stock-based compensation for employees associated with the Company’s administrative services such as finance,
legal, human resources, and information technology, other related costs, depreciation, and an allocation of general overhead.
General and administrative expenses include non-cash charges relating to the Technology and Dispute Resolution Agreements
(defined below) for the year ended December 31, 2023 and stock-based compensation expense related to restricted stock units
(“RSUs”) granted to the Company’s founders pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Business Combination Agreement
immediately prior to closing (the “Founder Grants”) for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021. Refer to Note § -
Commitments and Contingencies and Note 10 - Stock-Based Compensation for additional information.

Other Warrant Expense

Other warrant expense consists entirely of non-cash expense related to the warrants issued in conjunction with the
execution of the purchase agreement (“United Purchase Agreement”), collaboration agreement (“United Collaboration
Agreement”), and warrant agreement (“United Warrant Agreement”) with United. Refer to Note 10 - Stock-Based
Compensation for additional information.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company’s stock-based compensation awards consist of options granted to employees and non-employees and RSUs
granted to employees, directors, and non-employees that convert into shares of the Company’s Class A common stock upon
vesting. The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense in accordance with the provisions of ASC 718,
Compensation - Stock Compensation. ASC 718 requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all
stock-based compensation awards made to employees, directors, and non-employees to be based on the grant date fair values of
the awards.

The Company estimates the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The value of the
award is recognized as expense over the requisite service period on a straight-line basis.
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Determining the grant date fair value of the awards using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model requires management to
make assumptions and judgments, including but not limited to the following:

Expected term — The estimate of the expected term of employee awards is determined in accordance with the simplified
method, which estimates the term based on an averaging of the vesting period and contractual term of the option grant. The
Company uses the contractual term for non-employee awards.

Expected volatility — Since the Company does not have sufficient historical data on the volatility of its common stock, the
expected volatility used is based on the volatility of similar entities (referred to as “guideline companies™) for a period
consistent with the expected term of the award.

Risk-free interest rate — The risk-free interest rate used to value awards is based on the United States Treasury yield in
effect at the time of grant for a period consistent with the expected term of the award.

Dividend yield — The Company has never declared or paid any cash dividends and does not presently plan to pay cash
dividends in the foreseeable future.

Forfeiture rate — The Company has elected to account for forfeitures as they occur and will record stock-based
compensation expense assuming all option holders will complete the requisite service period. If an employee forfeits an award
because they fail to complete the requisite service period, the Company will reverse stock-based compensation expense
previously recognized in the period the award is forfeited.

The Company has not issued any stock options since the closing of the Business Combination.

Fair Value of Common Stock

The Company’s Board of Directors grants stock options with exercise prices equal to the fair value of the Company’s
common stock on the date of grant.

Prior to the closing of the Business Combination, the Company determined the fair value of its common stock at the time
of the grant of stock options in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA”) Accounting
and Valuation Guide: Valuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation (the “AICPA Practice
Aid”). The Company determined the fair value of its common stock based on a variety of factors including, but not limited to (i)
the results of contemporaneous independent third-party valuations of the Company’s common stock and the prices, rights,
preferences and privileges of the Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock relative to those of the Company’s
common stock; (ii) the lack of marketability of the Company’s common stock; (iii) actual operating and financial results; (iv)
current business conditions and projections; (v) the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as an IPO or sale of the
Company, given prevailing market conditions; and (vi) precedent transactions involving the Company’s shares.

As provided in the AICPA Practice Aid, there are several approaches for setting the value of an enterprise and various
methodologies for allocating the value of an enterprise to its outstanding equity. The Company determined the fair value of
equity awards using a combination of the market and income approach. Within the market approach, the guideline public
company method was used, which employs the use of ratios developed from the market price of traded shares from publicly
traded companies considered reasonably similar to the Company. Under the income approach, the enterprise value was
estimated using the discounted cash flow method, which involves estimating the future cash flows of a business for a discrete
period and discounting them to their present value. In allocating enterprise value to the Company’s outstanding equity, the
Company applied a hybrid approach, which consisted of the option pricing method (“OPM”) and probability-weighted expected
return method (“PWERM?”). The OPM treats securities, including debt, common and preferred stock, as call options on the
enterprise’s value, with exercise prices based on the securities’ respective liquidation preferences and conversion values. The
PWERM estimates the fair market value of the common stock based on an analysis of future values for the enterprise assuming
various exit scenarios, such as IPO, merger or sale, staying private, and liquidation. Since there was no active market for the
Company’s common stock, the Company also applied a discount for lack of marketability for both OPM and PWERM
scenarios.

In conducting the valuations, the Company considered all objective and subjective factors that the Company believed to be
relevant in the valuation conducted, including management’s best estimate of the Company’s business condition, and prospects
and operating performance at the valuation dates. There are significant judgments and estimates inherent in these valuations.
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Since the closing of the Business Combination, the fair value of the Company’s common stock is based on the closing price
of the Company’s Class A common stock, as quoted on the NYSE, on the date of grant.

Leases

The Company accounts for leases in accordance with ASC 842, Leases, and determines if an arrangement is a lease at its
inception. Right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the present
value of lease payments over the lease term. The Company uses its estimated incremental borrowing rate in determining the
present value of lease payments considering the term of the lease, which is derived from information available at the lease
commencement date. The incremental borrowing rate is the rate of interest the Company would have to pay to borrow, on a
collateralized basis, an amount equal to the lease payments for a term similar to the lease term in a similar economic
environment as the lease. The lease term includes renewal options when it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised
and excludes termination options. To the extent that the Company’s agreements have variable lease payments, the Company
includes variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate and excludes those that depend on facts or circumstances
occurring after the commencement date, other than the passage of time.

Lease expense for leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company has elected not to
recognize ROU assets and lease liabilities that arise from short-term (12 months or less) leases for any class of underlying asset.
In addition, the Company has elected as an accounting policy, the practical expedient to not separate lease and non-lease
components within a contract and instead treat it as a single lease component. Operating leases are included in ROU assets,
current portion of lease liabilities, and lease liabilities, net of current portion in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for its income taxes using the asset and liability method whereby deferred tax assets and liabilities
are determined based on temporary differences between the basis used for financial reporting and income tax reporting
purposes. Deferred income taxes are provided based on the enacted tax rates in effect at the time such temporary differences are
expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is provided for deferred tax assets if it is more-likely-than-not that the Company will
not realize those tax assets through future operations. Significant judgment is applied when assessing the need for valuation
allowances and includes the evaluation of historical income (loss) adjusted for the effects of non-recurring items. Areas of
estimation include consideration of future taxable income. The Company has placed a full valuation allowance against its
federal and state deferred tax assets since the recovery of the assets is uncertain. Should a change in circumstances lead to a
change in judgment about the utilization of deferred tax assets in future years, the adjustment related to valuation allowances
would be reported as an increase to income.

The Company utilizes the guidance in ASC 740-10, Income Taxes, to account for uncertain tax positions. ASC 740-10
contains a two-step approach to recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions. The first step is to evaluate the tax position
for recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates it is more-likely-than-not that the positions will be
sustained on audit, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The second step is to measure the tax
benefit as the largest amount which is more-likely-than-not of being realized and effectively settled. An uncertain income tax
position will not be recognized if it has less than a 50% likelihood of being sustained. The Company considers many factors
when evaluating and estimating its tax positions and tax benefits, which may require periodic adjustments and which may not
accurately forecast actual outcomes. The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax
positions, if any, in the income tax provision.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding. For all periods presented, the calculation of basic net loss per share excludes shares
issued upon the early exercise of stock options where the vesting conditions have not been satisfied. Common stock purchased
pursuant to an early exercise of stock options is not deemed to be outstanding for accounting purposes until those shares vest.
The Company also excludes unvested shares subject to repurchase in the number of shares outstanding in the consolidated
balance sheets and statements of stockholders’ equity.

Because the Company reported net losses for all periods presented, diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per
share.
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Contingently issuable shares, including equity awards with performance conditions, are considered outstanding common
shares and included in the computation of basic net loss per share as of the date that all necessary conditions to earn the awards
have been satisfied. Prior to the end of the contingency period, the number of contingently issuable shares included in diluted
net loss per share is based on the number of shares, if any, that would be issuable under the terms of the arrangement at the end
of the reporting period.

Because the Company reported net losses for all periods presented, all potentially dilutive common stock equivalents are
antidilutive and have been excluded from the calculation of net loss per share. The diluted net loss per common share was the
same for Class A and Class B common shares because they are entitled to the same liquidation and dividend rights.

The following table presents the number of antidilutive shares excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Options to purchase common stock 3,174,114 5,335,974 9,444,221
Unvested restricted stock units 33,397,483 45,021,632 38,124,396
Warrants 52,011,560 30,558,565 32,519,357
Shares issuable under the employee stock purchase plan (Note 10) 931,412 712,838 —
Total 89,514,569 81,629,009 80,087,974

Segments

Operating segments are defined as components of an entity for which separate financial information is available and that is
regularly reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM?”) in deciding how to allocate resources to an individual
segment and in assessing performance. The Company’s CODM is its Chief Executive Officer. The Company has determined
that it operates as a single operating segment and one reportable segment, as the CODM reviews financial information
presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of making operating decisions, allocating resources, and evaluating financial
performance. Given the Company’s pre-revenue operating stage, it currently has no concentration exposure to products,
services, or customers.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss includes all changes in equity during the period from non-owner sources. The Company’s
comprehensive loss consists of its net loss and its unrealized gains or losses on available-for-sale securities.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”)
2020-06, Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity. The ASU simplifies the accounting
for convertible instruments by removing certain separation models in ASC 470-20, Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other
Options, for convertible instruments. The ASU updates the guidance on certain embedded conversion features that are not
required to be accounted for as derivatives under Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, or that do not result in substantial
premiums accounted for as paid-in capital, such that those features are no longer required to be separated from the host contract.
The convertible debt instruments will be accounted for as a single liability measured at amortized cost. Further, the ASU made
amendments to the Earnings Per Share (“EPS”) guidance in Topic 260, Earnings Per Share for convertible instruments, the
most significant impact of which is requiring the use of the if-converted method for diluted EPS calculation, and no longer
allowing the net share settlement method. The ASU also made revisions to Topic 815-40, which provides guidance on how an
entity must determine whether a contract qualifies for a scope exception from derivative accounting. The amendments to Topic
815-40 change the scope of contracts that are recognized as assets or liabilities. The Company adopted ASU 2020-06 effective
January 1, 2023. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment
Disclosures, which expands reportable segment disclosure requirements through enhanced disclosures about significant
segment expenses, interim segment profit or loss and assets, and how the CODM uses reported segment profit or loss
information in assessing segment performance and allocating resources. The update is effective for annual periods beginning
after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024 on a retrospective basis.
Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of ASU 2023-07 on its disclosures within its
consolidated financial statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740).: Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures,
which requires disclosure of incremental income tax information related to the income tax rate reconciliation and expanded
disclosures of income taxes paid, among other disclosure requirements. ASU 2023-09 is effective for annual periods beginning
after December 15, 2024 on a prospective basis, and retrospective application is permitted. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact of ASU 2023-09 on its disclosures within its consolidated financial statements.

Note 4 - Reverse Recapitalization and Related Transactions

Upon the consummation of the Business Combination on September 16, 2021, in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the Business Combination Agreement, all issued and outstanding Legacy Archer common stock was converted into shares of
common stock of New Archer at an exchange ratio of 1.00656519 (the “Exchange Ratio”). Additionally, upon closing the
Business Combination, Legacy Archer received $257.6 million in cash proceeds released from Atlas’ trust account, after
redemptions of $242.4 million. At the closing of the Business Combination, each non-redeemed outstanding share of Atlas
Class A common stock was converted into one share of Class A common stock of New Archer.

Upon consummation of the Business Combination, the shares of Legacy Archer held by Legacy Archer stockholders
converted into 124,735,762 shares of common stock of New Archer, including 54,987,838 shares of Class A common stock and
69,747,924 shares of Class B common stock.

While the legal acquirer in the Business Combination was Atlas, for accounting and financial reporting purposes under
U.S. GAAP, Legacy Archer is the accounting acquirer and the Business Combination was accounted for as a “reverse
recapitalization.” A reverse recapitalization does not result in a new basis of accounting, and the financial statements of the
combined entity represent the continuation of the financial statements of Legacy Archer in many respects. Under this method of
accounting, Atlas was treated as the “acquired” company. Accordingly, the consolidated assets, liabilities, and results of
operations of Legacy Archer became the historical financial statements of New Archer, and Atlas’ assets and liabilities were
consolidated with Legacy Archer’s on the Closing Date. Operations prior to the Business Combination are presented as those of
New Archer in reports subsequent to the Closing Date. The net assets of Atlas were recognized at their carrying value

immediately prior to the closing of the Business Combination with no goodwill or other intangible assets recorded and were as
follows, net of transaction costs (in millions):

Cash $ 201.8
Warrant liability (39.5)
Net assets acquired $ 162.3

The Company accounted for the Business Combination as a tax-free reorganization.

Additionally, as part of the recapitalization, 1,875,000 shares of Atlas Class A common stock held by Atlas Crest
Investment LLC (the “Atlas Sponsor”) were exchanged with 1,875,000 shares of New Archer Class A common stock that will
be subject to forfeiture if the vesting condition is not met over the three-year term following the Closing Date. The vesting
condition states that these earn-out shares of New Archer Class A common stock will vest if the New Archer’s Class A
common stock volume weighted-average price, as defined in the Amended and Restated Sponsor Letter Agreement, by and
among Atlas Sponsor, Atlas, Legacy Archer, and the individuals named therein, is greater than or equal to $12.00 per share for
any period of ten (10) trading days out of twenty (20) consecutive trading days.
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The earn-out shares were recognized at fair value upon the closing of the Business Combination and classified in
stockholders’ equity (with no net impact to additional paid-in-capital) since the earn-out shares were determined to be indexed
to the Company’s own equity and meet the requirements for equity classification.

Pursuant to the terms of the Business Combination Agreement, all of the issued and outstanding series seed redeemable
convertible preferred stock and series A redeemable convertible preferred stock converted into 64,884,120 shares of Legacy
Archer common stock immediately prior to the Business Combination. Then, as of the closing of the Business Combination, all
outstanding shares of Legacy Archer common stock converted into 124,735,762 shares of New Archer Class A and B common
stock. Additionally, each of Legacy Archer options, RSUs, and warrants that were outstanding immediately prior to the closing
of the Business Combination remained outstanding and converted into options, RSUs, and warrants for New Archer Class A
and Class B common stock equal to the number of the Company’s common stock, subject to such options, RSUs, or warrants,
multiplied by the Exchange Ratio at an exercise price per share equal to the current exercise price per share for such option or
warrant divided by the Exchange Ratio, with the aggregate number of shares of New Archer Class A and B common stock
issuable upon exercise of such options, RSUs, and warrants to be 60,260,483. Additionally, 10,004,612 of outstanding RSUs
vested at the closing of the Business Combination into New Archer Class B common stock.

Substantially concurrently with the execution of the Business Combination Agreement, Atlas entered into Subscription
Agreements (the “Subscription Agreements”) with certain investors in the PIPE Financing (the “Subscription Investors™).
Pursuant to the Subscription Agreements, the Subscription Investors agreed to purchase, and Atlas agreed to sell to the
Subscription Investors, an aggregate of 60,000,000 shares of New Archer Class A common stock for a purchase price of $10.00
per share, or an aggregate of $600.0 million in gross cash proceeds. Pursuant to the Subscription Agreements, Atlas granted
certain registration rights to the Subscription Investors with respect to the shares issued and sold in the PIPE Financing. The
closing of the PIPE Financing occurred immediately prior to the closing of the Business Combination. In conjunction with the
PIPE Financing, 1,512,500 shares of New Archer Class A common stock were issued to satisfy certain fees related to the
Business Combination and PIPE Financing.

The number of shares of common stock issued immediately following the consummation of the Business Combination
were as follows:

Number of shares
Class A and B common stock outstanding on July 1, 2021 52,572,374
Common stock issued through option exercises between July 1, 2021 and September 4,738,344

16,2021

Vesting of unvested shares between July 1, 2021 and September 16, 2021 2,540,925
Common stock outstanding prior to the Business Combination 59,851,643
Conversion of preferred stock 64,884,120
Common stock attributable to Atlas 36,385,693
Adjustment related to reverse recapitalization* 101,269,813
Restricted stock units vested at closing 10,004,612
Common stock attributable to PIPE Financing 61,512,500

Total shares of common stock as of closing of the Business Combination and
related transactions as of September 16, 2021 232,638,568

* The corresponding adjustment to additional paid-in-capital related to the reverse recapitalization was comprised of (i) $162.3
million which represents the fair value of the consideration transferred in the Business Combination, less the excess of the fair
value of the shares issued over the value of the net monetary assets of Atlas, net of transaction costs and (ii) $61.5 million
which represents the conversion of the convertible preferred stock into New Archer Class A and Class B common stock.

At the Closing Date, Legacy Archer had 56,390,023 outstanding options and RSUs under the 2019 Plan (as defined below)
in addition to 13,112,602 outstanding warrants, which remained outstanding and converted into 70,265,095 options, RSUs, and
warrants in New Archer Class A or B common stock, as derived by multiplying the number of Legacy Archer common stock
subject to such option or warrant by the Exchange Ratio. In addition, of the RSUs outstanding immediately prior to the closing
of the Business Combination, 10,004,612 vested at closing into New Archer Class B common stock. The options and warrants
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shall be exercised at an exercise price per share equal to the current exercise price per share for such option or warrant divided
by the Exchange Ratio.

Following the Business Combination, Atlas’ warrants to purchase 24,666,667 shares of New Archer Class A common
stock, consisting of (i) 16,666,667 public warrants listed on the NYSE and (ii) 8,000,000 private warrants, each with an
exercise price of $11.50 per share, remained outstanding.

As part of the closing, total direct and incremental transaction costs aggregated $81.8 million, of which $10.9 million was
expensed as part of the Business Combination, $55.8 million was recorded to additional paid-in-capital as equity issuance costs,

and the remaining $15.1 million was settled through the issuance of shares of New Archer Class A common stock.

Note 5 - Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net, consisted of the following (in millions):

As of December 31,
2023 2022

Furniture, fixtures, and equipment $ 79 $ 1.5
Vehicles 0.1 —
Computer hardware 5.3 4.5
Computer software 1.5 0.7
Website design 0.8 0.7
Leasehold improvements 33.0 2.9
Construction in progress 18.4 4.8

Total property and equipment 67.0 15.1
Less: Accumulated depreciation 9.4) (3.6)

Total property and equipment, net $ 57.6 $ 11.5

Construction in progress includes costs incurred for the Company’s manufacturing facilities to be constructed in
Covington, Georgia and other assets that have not yet been placed in service.

The following table presents depreciation expense included in each respective expense category in the consolidated
statements of operations (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Research and development $ 53 % 23§ 0.9
General and administrative 0.5 0.8 0.4
Total depreciation expense $ 58 9 3.1 $ 1.3
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Note 6 - Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following (in millions):

As of December 31,
2023 2022

Accrued professional fees $ 95 § 17.2
Accrued employee costs 16.7 7.8
Accrued parts and materials 12.1 5.2
Taxes payable 1.4 0.3
Accrued capital expenditures 9.2 2.9
Accrued cloud computing implementation costs 0.3 2.0
Accrued marketing fees — 0.2
Accrued technology and dispute resolution agreements liability (Note 8) 44.0 —
Other current liabilities 3.7 1.1

Total $ 969 $ 36.7
Note 7 - Notes Payable

The Company’s notes payable consisted of the following (in millions):
As of December 31,
2023 2022

Synovus Bank Loan $ 75 $ —
Loan unamortized discount and loan issuance costs 0.3) —
Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB”) Term Loans — 10.0
Term Loans unamortized discount and loan issuance costs — 0.7)

Total debt, net of discount and loan issuance costs 7.2 9.3
Less current portion, net of discount and loan issuance costs — 9.3)

Total long-term notes payable, net of discount and loan issuance costs $ 72 $ =

Synovus Bank Loan

On October 5, 2023, the Company entered into a credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with Synovus Bank, as
administrative agent and lender, and the additional lenders (the “Lenders”) from time to time. The Company may request the
Lenders to provide multiple term loan advances (together, the “Loan”) in an aggregate principal amount of up to $65.0 million
for the construction and development of the Company’s manufacturing facility in Covington, Georgia.

The Company is required to make 120 monthly interest payments from November 14, 2023 until maturity, and 84 equal
monthly principal installments from November 14, 2026 until maturity. The Credit Agreement matures on the earlier of
October 5, 2033 or the date on which the outstanding Loan has been declared or automatically becomes due and payable
pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement.

The interest rate on the Loan is a floating rate per annum equal to secured overnight financing rate (“SOFR”) Rate (as
defined in the Credit Agreement) plus the applicable margin of 2.00%, which increases by 5% per annum upon the occurrence
of an event of default.

The Company’s obligations under the Credit Agreement are secured by funds in a collateral account. Two of its direct
subsidiaries are required to guarantee the Credit Agreement. The Company may prepay with certain premium that links to the
passage of time, and in certain circumstances would be required to prepay the Loan under the Credit Agreement without
payment of a premium. The Credit Agreement contains customary representations and warranties, customary affirmative and
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negative covenants, and customary events of default. As of December 31, 2023, the Company was in compliance with all the
covenants of the Credit Agreement.

The Company has drawn down $7.5 million of the Loan as of December 31, 2023. The effective interest rate for the draw
downs ranged from 7.66% to 8.17% as of December 31, 2023. The Company incurred issuance costs of $0.3 million related to
the loan outstanding as of December 31, 2023. The loan issuance costs will be amortized to interest expense over the
contractual term of the Loan. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recognized interest expense of
$0.1 million, including an immaterial amount related to the amortization of issuance costs within interest income (expense), net
in the consolidated statements of operations. The carrying value of the Loan, net of unamortized issuance costs of $0.3 million
was $7.2 million as of December 31, 2023.

The future scheduled principal maturities of the Loan as of December 31, 2023 are as follows (in millions):

2024 $ —
2025 —
2026 0.1
2027 0.3
2028 0.3
2029 and thereafter 6.8
s 15

SVB Loan

On July 9, 2021, the Company, as the borrower, entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the “Loan and Security
Agreement”) with SVB and SVB Innovation Credit Fund VIII, L.P. (“SVB Innovation”) as the lenders, and SVB as the
collateral agent. The total principal amount of the loans is $20.0 million (the “Term Loans”), and all obligations due under the
Term Loans are collateralized by all of the Company’s right, title, and interest in and to its specified personal property in favor
of the collateral agent. The Term Loans include events of default and covenant provisions, whereby accelerated repayment may
result if the Company were to default. On January 1, 2022, the Company began repaying the Term Loans, which are payable in
24 equal monthly installments, including principal and interest. The interest rate on the loans is a floating rate per annum equal
to the greater of (i) 8.5% and (ii) the Prime Rate plus the Prime Rate Margin (each as defined in the Loan and Security
Agreement), which increases by 2% per annum upon the occurrence of an event of default. The effective interest rate as of
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 were 10.20%, 9.40% and 9.02%, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2023,
2022 and 2021, the Company recognized interest expense of $0.6 million, $1.5 million and $0.9 million, respectively.

Additionally, in conjunction with the issuance of the Term Loans, the Company issued 366,140 warrants to SVB and
366,140 warrants to SVB Innovation, totaling 732,280 warrants. The Company issued the warrants to the lenders as
consideration for entering into the Term Loans, representing a loan issuance fee. Each warrant provides SVB and SVB
Innovation with the right to purchase one share of the Company’s Class A common stock. The Company recorded the warrants
as liabilities at their fair value and adjusts the warrants to fair value at each reporting period. This liability is subject to
remeasurement at each balance sheet date until exercised, and any change in fair value is recognized as a gain or loss in the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations. The initial offsetting entry to the warrant liability was a debt discount
recorded to reflect the loan issuance fee. See Note 12 - Liability Classified Warrants for further details. Effective March 27,
2023, the Term Loans and warrants were assigned to and assumed by First-Citizens Bank & Trust Company on the original
terms and conditions of the financial instruments.

Upon the closing of the Business Combination, the SVB warrants became public warrants. The subsequent measurement of
the SVB warrants as of December 31, 2023 is classified as Level 1 due to the use of an observable market quote in an active
market under the ticker “ACHR WS”. The quoted price of the public warrants was $1.46 as of December 31, 2023.

During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the Company recognized interest expense of $0.7 million,
$0.5 million and $0.2 million related to the amortization of the discount and loan issuance costs, respectively. As of
December 31, 2023, the Term Loans were fully repaid and the discount and loan issuance costs were fully amortized.
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Note 8 - Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

The Company leases office, lab, hangar, and storage facilities under various operating lease agreements with lease periods
expiring between 2024 and 2030 and generally containing periodic rent increases and various renewal and termination options.

The Company’s lease costs were as follows (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Operating lease cost $ 57 § 58 § 2.1
Short-term lease cost 0.6 0.2 —
Total lease cost $ 63 $ 60 $ 2.1

The Company’s weighted-average remaining lease term and discount rate as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 were as
follows:

2023 2022
Weighted-average remaining lease term (in months) 58 46

Weighted-average discount rate 14.74 % 13.78 %

The minimum aggregate future obligations under the Company’s non-cancelable operating leases as of December 31, 2023
were as follows (in millions):

2024 $ 5.5
2025 5.1
2026 4.6
2027 2.2
2028 2.2
Thereafter 4.4
Total future lease payments 24.0
Less: leasehold improvement allowance (0.7)
Total net future lease payments 233
Less: imputed interest (7.3)
Present value of future lease payments $ 16.0

Supplemental cash flow information and non-cash activities related to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities were as
follows (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Operating cash outflows from operating leases $ 50 $ 43 § 1.9
Operating lease liabilities from obtaining right-of-use assets 0.6 11.7 3.6

Finance Lease

In February 2023, the Company entered into a lease arrangement with the Newton County Industrial Development
Authority (the “Authority”) for the Company’s manufacturing facilities to be constructed in Covington, Georgia. In connection
with the lease arrangement, the Authority issued a taxable revenue bond (the “Bond”), which was acquired by the Company.
The arrangement is structured so that the Company’s lease payments to the Authority equal and offset the Authority’s bond
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payments to the Company. Accordingly, the Company offsets the finance lease obligation and the Bond on its consolidated
balance sheets.

Letters of Credit

On February 28, 2023, in conjunction with a project agreement that the Company entered into with the City of Covington
and the Authority for the Company’s manufacturing facilities to be constructed in Covington, Georgia, the Company entered
into a standby letter of credit in the amount of $3.5 million in favor of the City of Covington, to guarantee certain performance
obligations. The standby letter of credit expires on March 31, 2035.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had standby letters of credit in the aggregate outstanding amount of $5.9 million,
secured with restricted cash.

Litigation

During the ordinary course of the business, the Company may be subject to legal proceedings, various claims, and
litigation. Such proceedings can be costly, time consuming, and unpredictable, and therefore, no assurance can be given that the
final outcome of such proceedings will not materially impact the Company’s financial condition or results of operations.

Wisk Litigation and Settlement

On April 6, 2021, Wisk Aero LLC (“Wisk”) brought a lawsuit against the Company in the United States District Court for
the Northern District of California (the “District Court”) alleging misappropriation of trade secrets and patent infringement. The
Company has filed certain counterclaims for defamation, tortious interference and unfair competition.

On August 10, 2023, the Company, the Boeing Company (“Boeing”) and Wisk entered into the Technology and Dispute
Resolution Agreements (as defined below), which provided for, among other things, the resolution of the federal and state court
litigation between the parties.

On August 10, 2023, the Company, Boeing and Wisk entered into a series of agreements that provide for, among other
things, for certain investments by Boeing into the Company and an autonomous flight technology collaboration between Wisk
and the Company, the issuance of certain warrants to Wisk and resolution of the federal and state court litigation between the
parties (the “Technology and Dispute Resolution Agreements”).

Pursuant to a private placement transaction entered into by the Company on August 10, 2023, Boeing subscribed to
purchase shares of the Company’s Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (the “Common Stock™) (the “First
Boeing Investment”), and received registration rights with respect to such shares of Common Stock and the shares of Common
Stock underlying the Warrant (as defined below) pursuant to a registration rights agreement.

Pursuant to the Technology and Dispute Resolution Agreements, the Company issued Wisk a warrant to purchase up to
13,176,895 shares of Common Stock with an exercise price of $0.01 per share (the “Wisk Warrant”). The Wisk Warrant shall
vest and be exercisable as follows: (i) immediately as to 4,512,636 shares, underlying the Wisk Warrant (the “Initial Vested
Share Tranche”) and (ii) for up to 8,664,259 shares (the “Second Tranche”) underlying the Wisk Warrant as determined six
months from the effective date of the Warrant (the “Specified Date”). The extent to which the Second Tranche vests is based on
the value of the First Boeing Investment and the shares underlying the Initial Vested Share Tranche as of the Specified Date.
The companies are in discussions regarding certain terms under the Technology and Dispute Resolution Agreements, including
any vesting under the Second Tranche and what, if any, additional value may be provided to Wisk.

The Company recorded the Initial Vested Share Tranche within equity at its fair value. The Company recognized
technology and dispute resolution agreements expense for the Initial Vested Share Tranche upon issuance. The Company
recorded the Second Tranche as liabilities at their fair value and adjusts the warrants to fair value at each reporting period. This
liability is subject to remeasurement at each balance sheet date until exercised, and any change in fair value is recognized as a
gain or loss in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. The initial offsetting entry to the warrant liability was
technology and dispute resolution agreements expense. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recorded a
$70.3 million non-cash charge in general and administrative expenses consisting of a $26.3 million non-cash charge associated
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with the Initial Vested Share Tranche and a $44.0 million non-cash charge for the unvested portion of the Wisk Warrant that is
subject to the vesting criteria described above and may never be realized.

Note 9 - Preferred and Common Stock

Preferred Stock

As of December 31, 2023, no shares of preferred stock were outstanding, and the Company has no present plans to issue
any shares of preferred stock.

Class A and Class B Common Stock

Except for voting rights and conversion rights, or as otherwise required by applicable law, the shares of the Company’s
Class A common stock and Class B common stock have the same powers, preferences, and rights and rank equally, share
ratable and are identical in all respects as to all matters. The rights, privileges, and preferences are as follows:

Voting

Holders of the Company’s Class A common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters to be voted upon by the
stockholders, and holders of Class B common stock are entitled to ten votes per share on all matters to be voted upon by the
stockholders. The holders of Class A common stock and Class B common stock will generally vote together as a single class on
all matters submitted to a vote of the stockholders, unless otherwise required by Delaware law or the Company’s amended and
restated certificate of incorporation.

Dividends

Holders of Class A common stock and Class B common stock are entitled to receive such dividends, if any, as may be
declared from time to time by the Company’s Board of Directors in its discretion out of funds legally available therefor. No
dividends on common stock have been declared by the Company’s Board of Directors through December 31, 2023, and the
Company does not expect to pay dividends in the foreseeable future.

Preemptive Rights

Stockholders have no preemptive or other subscription rights and there are no sinking fund or redemption provisions
applicable to Class A common stock and Class B common stock.

Conversion

Each share of Class B common stock is convertible at any time at the option of the holder into one share of Class A
common stock. In addition, each share of Class B common stock will automatically convert into one share of Class A common
stock upon transfer to a non-authorized holder. In addition, Class B common stock is subject to “sunset” provisions, under
which all shares of Class B common stock will automatically convert into an equal number of shares of Class A common stock
upon the earliest to occur of (i) the ten-year anniversary of the closing of the Business Combination, (ii) the date specified by
the holders of two-thirds of the then outstanding Class B common stock, voting as a separate class, and (iii) when the number of
Class B common stock represents less than 10% of the aggregate number of Class A common stock and Class B common stock
then outstanding. In addition, each share of Class B common stock will automatically convert into an equal number of Class A
common stock upon the earliest to occur of (a) in the case of a founder of the Company, the date that is nine months following
the death or incapacity of such founder, and, in the case of any other holder, the date of the death or incapacity of such holder,
(b) in the case of a founder of the Company, the date that is 12 months following the date that such founder ceases to provide
services to the Company and its subsidiaries as an executive officer, employee or director of the Company, and, in the case of
any other holder, immediately at the occurrence of any such event, and (¢) in the case of a founder of the Company or any other
holder, at least 80% (subject to customary capitalization adjustments) of the Class B common stock held by such founder or
holder (on a fully as converted/as exercised basis) as of immediately following the closing of the Business Combination having
been transferred (subject to exceptions for certain permitted transfers).

During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, 26,449,869, 8,406,170 and 5,337,446 shares of Class B
common stock were converted into Class A common stock, respectively.
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Liquidation

In the event of the Company’s voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, distribution of assets or winding-up,
subject to preferences that may apply to any shares of preferred stock outstanding at the time, the holders of the Company’s
common stock will be entitled to receive an equal amount per share of all of the Company’s assets of whatever kind available
for distribution to stockholders, after the rights of the holders of any preferred stock have been satisfied.

PIPE Financing

On August 10, 2023, the Company entered into subscription agreements with certain investors providing for the private
placement of 26,173,286 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock for net proceeds of approximately $139.0 million,
after deducting offering costs.

At-The-Market Offerings

In November 2023, the Company entered into an Open Market Sales Agreement™ (the “Sales Agreement”) with Cantor
Fitzgerald & Co., as the sales agent, pursuant to which the Company may offer and sell shares of the Company’s Class A
common stock having an aggregate offering amount of up to $70.0 million. The Company will pay Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. a
commission rate of up to 3.0% of the gross proceeds from the sale of any shares of Class A common stock pursuant to the Sales
Agreement. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company sold 3,109,097 shares of Class A common stock for net
proceeds of $19.5 million. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had $49.3 million remaining under the Sales Agreement.

Note 10 - Stock-Based Compensation

Amended and Restated 2021 Plan

In August 2021, the Company adopted the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan”), which was approved by the
stockholders of the Company in September 2021 and became effective immediately upon the closing of the Business
Combination. In April 2022, the Company amended and restated the 2021 Plan (the “Amended and Restated 2021 Plan”),
which was approved by the stockholders of the Company in June 2022. The aggregate number of shares of Class A common
stock that may be issued under the plan increased to 34,175,708. In addition, the number of shares of Class A common stock
reserved for issuance under the Amended and Restated 2021 Plan will automatically increase on January 1st of each year
following this amendment, starting on January 1, 2023 and ending on (and including) January 1, 2031, in an amount equal to
the lesser of (i) 5.0% of the total number of shares of Class A and Class B common stock outstanding on December 31 of the
preceding year, or (ii) a lesser number of shares of Class A common stock determined by the Board of Directors prior to the
date of the increase (the “EIP Evergreen Provision”). The EIP Evergreen Provision is calculated using the number of legally
outstanding shares of common stock and includes shares, such as unvested shares pursuant to early exercised stock options, that
are not considered outstanding for accounting purposes. In accordance therewith, the number of shares of Class A common
stock reserved for issuance under the Amended and Restated 2021 Plan increased by 12,292,155 shares on January 1, 2023. The
Amended and Restated 2021 Plan provides for the grant of incentive and non-statutory stock options, stock appreciation rights,
restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, performance awards, and other awards to employees, directors, and non-
employees.

In connection with the adoption of the 2021 Plan, the Company ceased issuing awards under its 2019 Equity Incentive Plan
(the “2019 Plan”™). Following the closing of the Business Combination, the Company assumed the outstanding stock options
under the 2019 Plan and converted such stock options into options to purchase the Company’s common stock. Such stock
options will continue to be governed by the terms of the 2019 Plan and the stock option agreements thereunder, until such
outstanding options are exercised or until they terminate or expire.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In August 2021, the Company adopted the 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”), which became effective
immediately upon the closing of the Business Combination. The ESPP permits eligible employees to purchase shares of Class
A common stock at a price equal to 85% of the lower of the fair market value of Class A common stock on the first day of an
offering or on the date of purchase. Additionally, the number of shares of Class A common stock reserved for issuance under
the ESPP will automatically increase on January 1st of each year, beginning on January 1, 2022 and continuing through and
including January 1, 2031, by the lesser of (i) 1.0% of the total number of shares of Class A common stock outstanding on
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December 31 of the preceding year; (ii) 9,938,118 shares of Class A common stock; or (iii) a lesser number of shares of Class
A common stock determined by the Board of Directors prior to the date of increase (the “ESPP Evergreen Provision™). The
ESPP Evergreen Provision is calculated using the number of legally outstanding shares of common stock and includes shares,
such as unvested shares pursuant to early exercised stock options, that are not considered outstanding for accounting purposes.
In accordance therewith, the number of shares of Class A common stock reserved for issuance under the ESPP increased by
1,809,383 on January 1, 2023. As of December 31, 2023, the maximum number of shares authorized for issuance under the
ESPP was 8,406,337, of which 7,177,705 shares remained available under the ESPP.

The Company currently offers six-month offering periods, and at the end of each offering period, which occurs every six
months on May 31 and November 30, employees can elect to purchase shares of the Company’s Class A common stock with
contributions of up to 15% of their base pay, accumulated via payroll deductions, subject to certain limitations.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, for the six-month ESPP offering periods that ended on May 31, 2023 and
November 30, 2023, employees purchased 601,105 shares at a price of $2.19 per share and 627,527 shares at a price of $2.54
per share, respectively.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to calculate the grant date fair value of each award granted
under the ESPP. The following table sets forth the key assumptions and fair value results for each award granted in the
Company’s six-month offering period that started on December 1, 2023:

Input December 1, 2023
Stock price $ 6.30
Risk-free interest rate 526 %
Term (in years) 0.50
Volatility 97.50 %
Dividend yield 0.00 %
Grant date fair value per share $ 2.62

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized stock-based compensation expense of
$1.2 million and $0.1 million for the ESPP, respectively. There were no ESPP offerings for the year ended December 31, 2021.

As of December 31, 2023, the total remaining stock-based compensation expense was $1.2 million for the ESPP, which is
expected to be recognized over the current six-month offering period until May 31, 2024.

Annual Equity Awards

Subject to the achievement of certain performance goals established by the Company from time to time, the Company’s
employees are eligible to receive an annual incentive bonus that will entitle them to an annual grant of a number of RSUs
determined by dividing the annual bonus target amount by the closing price of the Company’s Class A common stock on the
date of grant. The RSUs will be fully vested on the date of grant. Furthermore, all the annual equity awards are contingent and
issued only upon approval by the Company’s Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee. During the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized stock-based compensation expense of $11.5 million and $9.5 million,
respectively, related to these annual equity awards. There were no annual equity awards granted during the year ended
December 31, 2021.
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Stock Options

A summary of the Company’s stock option activity is as follows:

‘Weighted
Weighted Average Aggregate
Average Remaining Intrinsic
Number of Exercise Contractual Value
Shares Price Life (Years) (In millions)

Outstanding as of January 1, 2023 5,335,974 $ 0.12 7.66 $ 9.4
Exercised (2,027,221) 0.12 7.8
Expired/forfeited (134,639) 0.12
Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 3,174,114 0.12 6.66 19.1
Exercisable as of December 31, 2023 1,346,269 $ 0.13 6.75 $ 8.1
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2023 3,174,114 0.12 6.66 19.1

There were no options granted for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. During the year ended December 31,
2021, the Company granted 1,277,622 incentive and non-statutory stock options under the 2019 Plan.

Determination of Fair Value

The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of the stock options granted
during the year ended December 31, 2021 are provided in the following table:

December 31, 2021

Risk-free interest rate:

Employee stock options 0.62 %

Non-employee stock options 1.08 %
Expected term (in years):

Employee stock options 6.32

Non-employee stock options 10.00
Expected volatility:

Employee stock options 87.94 %

Non-employee stock options 88.03 %
Dividend yield:

Employee stock options 0.00 %

Non-employee stock options 0.00 %
Grant date fair value per share:

Employee stock options $ 13.65

Non-employee stock options $ 13.68

The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense of $2.8 million, $3.8 million and $3.9 million for stock
options for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

As of December 31, 2023, the total remaining stock-based compensation expense for unvested stock options was $4.9
million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 0.8 years.
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Restricted Stock Units

A summary of the Company’s RSU activity is as follows:

Weighted
Number of Average
Shares Grant Price

Outstanding as of January 1, 2023 43,146,632 $ 5.72
Granted 11,864,674 3.36
Vested (7,555,232) 3.95
Forfeited (15,933,591) 6.26
Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 31,522,483 4.99

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company granted 998,364 RSUs under the Amended and Restated 2021
Plan, representing the quarterly equity awards for the Company’s fourth fiscal quarter of 2022. The RSUs were fully vested on
the date of grant and settled in Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis. In addition, the Company granted 10,866,310
RSUs under the Amended and Restated 2021 Plan, which generally vest over a three- or four-year period with a one-year cliff
and remain subject to forfeiture if vesting conditions are not met. Upon vesting, RSUs are settled in Class A common stock on a
one-for-one basis. The shares of Class A common stock underlying RSU grants are not issued and outstanding until the
applicable vesting date.

Immediately prior to closing of the Business Combination, each of the Company’s founders was granted 20,009,224 RSUs
under the 2019 Plan pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Business Combination Agreement. Considering each of the
founder’s existing equity ownership and assuming the Founder Grants fully vest, it would result in each of the founders owning
approximately 18% of all outstanding shares of the Total Outstanding Capitalization of the Company (as defined in the
Business Combination Agreement). One-quarter of each of the Founder Grants vests upon the achievement of the earlier to
occur of (i) a price-based milestone or (ii) a performance-based milestone, with a different set of such price and performance-
based milestones applying to each quarter of each of the Founder Grants and so long as the achievement occurs within seven
years following the closing of the Business Combination.

The Company accounts for the Founder Grants as four separate tranches, with each tranche consisting of two award grants,
a performance award grant and market award grant. Each tranche vests when either the market condition or performance
condition is satisfied (only one condition is satisfied). The Company determined the fair value of the performance award by
utilizing the trading price on the Closing Date. When the applicable performance milestone is deemed probable of being
achieved, the Company will recognize compensation expense for the portion earned to date over the requisite period. For the
market award, the Company determined both the fair value and derived service period using a Monte Carlo simulation model
on the Closing Date. The Company will recognize compensation expense for the market award on a straight-line basis over the
derived service period. If the applicable performance condition is not probable of being achieved, compensation cost for the
value of the award incorporating the market condition is recognized, so long as the requisite service is provided. If the
performance milestone becomes probable of being achieved, the full fair value of the award will be recognized, and any
remaining expense for the market award will be canceled.

The following assumptions were used to estimate the fair value, using the Monte Carlo simulation, of the market award
grant:

September 16, 2021

Stock price $ 9.92

Term (in years) 7
Volatility 55.00 %
Risk-free interest rate 1.13 %
Dividend yield 0.00 %

One-quarter of each of the Founder Grants, totaling 5,002,306 shares each of Class B common stock, vested immediately
prior to the Closing Date pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Business Combination Agreement. On April 14, 2022, the
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vested 5,002,306 shares of Class B common stock of the Company’s co-founder and former co-CEO, were cancelled.
Following the separation of the officer from the Company on April 13, 2022 (the “Separation Date”), the officer’s unvested
15,006,918 shares of Class B common stock for the remaining three tranches remain outstanding and eligible for vesting upon
the achievement of the milestones as described above for 15 months from the Separation Date pursuant to the original terms of
the Founder Grants.

On July 13, 2023, 15 months following the separation of the officer from the Company, the officer’s unvested 15,006,918
shares of Class B common stock for the remaining three tranches of the Founder Grants were forfeited. The Company reversed
the previously recognized stock-compensation expense associated with these shares for $59.1 million. As of December 31,
2023, there were 15,006,918 shares of Class B common stock outstanding for the remaining Founder Grants.

For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the Company recorded $49.7 million, $64.9 million and
$118.1 million, respectively, of stock-based compensation expense for the amortized portion of the market award for the
remaining three tranches of the outstanding Founder Grants in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated
statements of operations. Of the amounts recorded during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, approximately
$17.3 million, $32.4 million and $9.4 million, respectively, of stock-based compensation expense associated with the forfeiture
were reversed in July 2023 and recorded during the year ended December 31, 2023.

For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the Company recorded $27.0 million, $22.8 million and
$1.6 million of stock-based compensation expense, respectively, related to RSUs (excluding the Founder Grants).

As of December 31, 2023, the total remaining stock-based compensation expense for unvested RSUs (including the
remaining Founder Grants) was $128.5 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.0 year.

Restricted Stock

In August 2023, the Company issued 1,985,559 shares of Class A common stock to an outside vendor to satisfy
$11.0 million of the Company’s outstanding payable to that vendor. Accordingly, the Company reclassified $11.6 million,
representing the grant date fair value of the award, of legal expense to stock-based compensation expense within general and
administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations during the year ended December 31, 2023.

The Company records stock-based compensation expense for stock-based compensation awards based on the fair value on
the date of grant. The stock-based compensation expense is recognized ratably over the course of the requisite service period.

The Company has elected to account for forfeitures as they occur and will record stock-based compensation expense
assuming all stockholders will complete the requisite service period. If an employee forfeits an award because they fail to
complete the requisite service period, the Company will reverse stock-based compensation expense previously recognized in
the period the award is forfeited.
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The following table presents stock-based compensation expense included in each respective expense category in the
consolidated statements of operations (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Research and development $ 289 $ 26.1 $ 3.7
General and administrative 16.3 76.7 119.9
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 452 § 102.8 $ 123.6
Warrants
A summary of the Company’s warrant activity is as follows:
Weighted
Weighted Average Aggregate
Average Remaining Intrinsic
Number of Exercise Contractual Value
Shares Price Life (Years) (In millions)
QOutstanding as of January 1, 2023 8,736,599 $ 0.01 7.84 $ 16.3
Issued 15,000,000 0.01
Exercised (2,948,352) 0.01 17.0
Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 20,788,247 0.01 4.48 127.4
Vested as of December 31, 2023 2,839,893 $ 0.01 217 § 17.4

United Airlines

On January 29, 2021, the Company entered into the United Purchase Agreement, United Collaboration Agreement, and
United Warrant Agreement. Under the terms of the United Purchase Agreement, United has a conditional purchase order for up
to 200 of the Company’s aircraft, with an option to purchase an additional 100 aircraft. Those purchases are conditioned upon
the Company meeting certain conditions that include, but are not limited to, the certification of the Company’s aircraft by the
FAA and further negotiation and reaching of mutual agreement on certain material terms related to the purchases. The
Company issued 14,741,764 warrants to United to purchase shares of the Company’s Class A common stock. Each warrant
provides United with the right to purchase one share of the Company’s Class A common stock at an exercise price of $0.01 per
share. The warrants were initially expected to vest in four installments in accordance with the following milestones: the
execution of the United Purchase Agreement and the United Collaboration Agreement, the completion of the Business
Combination, the certification of the aircraft by the FAA, and the sale of aircraft to United.

On August 9, 2022, the Company entered into Amendment No. 1 to the United Purchase Agreement (the “Amended United
Purchase Agreement”) and Amendment No. 1 to the United Warrant Agreement (the “Amended United Warrant Agreement”).
In association with the Amended United Purchase Agreement, the Company received a $10.0 million pre-delivery payment
from United for 100 of the Company’s aircraft (the “Pre-Delivery Payment”), which was recognized as a contract liability in
other long-term liabilities in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. Pursuant to the Amended United Warrant Agreement,
the vesting condition of the fourth milestone of the United Warrant Agreement was modified, and the warrants now vest in four
installments in accordance with the following sub-milestones: (i) 737,088 warrants vested upon receipt by the Company of the
Pre-Delivery Payment on August 9, 2022; (ii) 2,211,264 warrants vested on February 9, 2023 upon the six-month anniversary
of the amendment date; (iii) 3,685.45 warrants shall vest upon the acceptance and delivery of each of the Company’s 160
aircraft; and (iv) 22,112.65 warrants shall vest upon the acceptance and delivery of each of the Company’s 40 aircraft.

The Company accounts for the Amended United Purchase Agreement and the United Collaboration Agreement under ASC
606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The Company identified the sale of each aircraft ordered by United as a separate
performance obligation in the contract. As the performance obligations have not been satisfied, the Company has not
recognized any revenue as of December 31, 2023.
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With respect to the warrant vesting milestones outlined above, the Company accounts for them as consideration payable to
a customer under ASC 606 related to the future purchase of aircraft by United. The Company determined that the warrants are
classified as equity awards based on the criteria of ASC 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity and ASC 718,
Compensation— Stock Compensation. Pursuant to ASC 718, the Company measured the grant date fair value of the warrants to
be recognized upon the achievement of each of the original four milestones and the vesting of the related warrants.

On January 29, 2021, a valuation of the Company’s common stock was performed, valuing the Company’s common stock
at $13.35 per share. The value of the common stock was determined using a hybrid approach of the OPM and PWERM, with
the PWERM weighted at 80% primarily based on management’s expectation of the planned merger as described in Note 1 and
the OPM weighted at 20% due to uncertainties in the timing of other possible scenarios. The Company used the OPM to
allocate value in a stay private scenario. Given the $0.01 exercise price, each warrant also had a fair value of $13.35 at the grant
date.

For the first milestone, issuance of warrants in conjunction with the execution of the United Purchase Agreement and the
United Collaboration Agreement, the Company recorded the grant date fair value of the respective warrant tranche at the
vesting date upon satisfaction of the milestone, and the related costs were recorded in other warrant expense due to the absence
of historical or probable future revenue. For the second milestone, the completion of the Business Combination transaction, the
related costs were also recorded in other warrant expense due to the absence of historical or probable future revenue. For the
third milestone, the certification of the aircraft by the FAA, the Company will assess whether it is probable that the award will
vest at the end of every reporting period. If and when the award is deemed probable of vesting, the Company will begin
capitalizing the grant date fair value of the associated warrants as an asset through the vesting date and subsequently amortize
the asset as a reduction to revenue as it sells the new aircraft to United.

For the original fourth milestone, the sale of aircraft to United, the Company was initially expected to record the cost
associated with the vesting of each portion of warrants within this milestone as a reduction of the transaction price as revenue is
recognized for each sale of the aircraft. In connection with the Amended United Warrant Agreement, the Company evaluated
the accounting implications associated with the amendment to the fourth milestone in accordance with ASC 606 and ASC 718.
For the first sub-milestone, the receipt of the Pre-Delivery Payment, the Company accounted for it as a modification under ASC
718 and recorded the modification date fair value of the associated warrants in other warrant expense upon satisfaction of the
sub-milestone on August 9, 2022. For the second sub-milestone, the vesting of warrants on February 9, 2023, the Company
accounted for it as a modification under ASC 718 and recorded the modification date fair value of the associated warrants in
other warrant expense on a straight-line basis over six months following the amendment date. The modification date fair value
of each warrant associated with the first and second sub-milestones was determined to be $4.37, which was the closing price of
the Company’s Class A common stock on the modification date. For the third and fourth sub-milestones, the sale of 160 aircraft
and 40 aircraft, respectively, the Company determined that the amendment does not represent a modification under ASC 718.
The Company will record the cost associated with the vesting of each portion of the associated warrants as a reduction of the
transaction price based on the original grant date fair value as revenue is recognized for each sale of the aircraft.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recorded $2.1 million in other warrant expense in the consolidated
statements of operations related to the second sub-milestone under the fourth milestone, and a total of 2,211,264 warrants
vested from achievement of this milestone.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded $10.8 million in other warrant expense in the consolidated
statements of operations related to the first two sub-milestones under the fourth milestone, and a total of 737,088 warrants
vested from achievement of the first sub-milestone under the fourth milestone.

In August 2023, the Company issued 2,942,778 shares of Class A common stock to United, who cashless net exercised
2,948,352 warrants related to the achievement of the first two sub-milestones under the fourth milestone.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recorded $117.3 million in other warrant expense in the consolidated
statements of operations related to the achievement of the first two milestones. A total of 8,845,058 warrants vested from
achievement of the first two milestones and were exercised during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Stellantis N.V.

On January 3, 2023, the Company entered into a manufacturing and collaboration agreement with Stellantis N.V.
(“Stellantis™), pursuant to which the Company and Stellantis will collaborate on the development and implementation of the
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Company’s manufacturing operations for the production of its eVTOL aircraft products (the “Stellantis Collaboration
Agreement”). In connection with the Stellantis Collaboration Agreement, the Company entered into a forward purchase
agreement (as amended, the “Stellantis Forward Purchase Agreement”) and a warrant agreement (the “Stellantis Warrant
Agreement”) with Stellantis on January 3, 2023.

Under the terms of the Stellantis Forward Purchase Agreement, the Company may elect, in the Company’s sole discretion,
to issue and sell to Stellantis up to $150.0 million of shares of the Company’s Class A common stock, following the satisfaction
of certain Milestones (as defined in the Stellantis Forward Purchase Agreement) and pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
Stellantis Forward Purchase Agreement. As any issuance of Class A common stock by the Company to Stellantis pursuant to
the Stellantis Forward Purchase Agreement is at the election of the Company, the Company will recognize any share issuance at
the time it elects to issue and sell shares to Stellantis.

Under the terms of the Stellantis Warrant Agreement, Stellantis is entitled to purchase up to 15.0 million shares of the
Company’s Class A common stock, at an exercise price of $0.01 per share (the “Stellantis Warrant”). The Stellantis Warrant
will vest and become exercisable in three equal tranches upon 12, 24 and 36 months of the grant date, provided that (i)
Stellantis has performed certain undertakings set forth in the Stellantis Collaboration Agreement and/or (ii) the VWAP (as
defined in the Stellantis Warrant Agreement) for the Class A common stock exceeding certain specified amounts. Pursuant to
the terms and conditions of the Stellantis Collaboration Agreement, Stellantis is deemed to have performed the undertakings if
the Stellantis Collaboration Agreement has not been terminated by the Company as of the specified vesting date for each
tranche.

As the Company is currently in pre-revenue stage and is not generating any revenue from the Stellantis Collaboration
Agreement, all costs incurred with third parties are recorded based on the nature of the costs incurred. The Company accounts
for the warrant in accordance with the provisions of ASC 718. The grant date fair value of each warrant was determined to be
$1.93, which was the closing price of the Company’s Class A common stock on January 3, 2023. For each tranche of the
warrant, the Company will recognize compensation costs as the related services are received from Stellantis on a straight-line
basis over the associated service period. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recorded $17.5 million of
R&D expense in the consolidated statements of operations in connection with the Stellantis Collaboration Agreement.

On June 23, 2023, the Company issued 6,337,039 shares of Class A common stock to Stellantis at a price of $3.94506 per
share in connection with the first milestone under the Stellantis Forward Purchase Agreement and received approximately
$25.0 million in gross proceeds. The Company recognized the issued shares at a fair value of $3.38 per share, which was the
closing price of the Company’s Class A common stock on June 23, 2023, and recognized a gain of $3.6 million within other
(expense) income, net in the consolidated statements of operations during the year ended December 31, 2023, to account for the
difference between the amount of cash proceeds and the fair value of the issued shares.

On August 10, 2023, Stellantis waived certain conditions provided for in the Stellantis Forward Purchase Agreement
relating to the Company’s actual achievement pursuant to Milestone 2 (as defined in the Stellantis Forward Purchase
Agreement). In connection with this waiver, the Company submitted an election notice to draw down upon the $70.0 million
applicable to Milestone 2, which equals 12,313,234 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock. This drawdown was
completed on October 16, 2023.

FCAUSLLC

On November 6, 2020, the Company entered into a collaboration agreement with FCA US LLC (“FCA”) (the “FCA
Collaboration Agreement”), in which both parties agreed to work together to complete a series of fixed duration collaboration
projects related to the Company’s ongoing efforts to design, develop, and bring up production capabilities for its aircraft. In
conjunction with the FCA Collaboration Agreement, the Company issued a warrant to FCA on November 6, 2020, in which
FCA has the right to purchase up to 1,671,202 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock at an exercise price of $0.01 per
share. The Company performed a valuation and determined each warrant had a fair value of $0.15 per share at the grant date.
Shares under the warrant vest based on the completion of specific aircraft development milestones identified under the FCA
Collaboration Agreement.

As the Company is currently in pre-revenue stage and is not generating any revenue from the FCA Collaboration
Agreement, all costs incurred with third parties are recorded based on the nature of the cost incurred. The Company accounts
for the warrant in accordance with ASC 718. The Company assessed whether it was probable that the award vested for each of
the seven milestones at the end of every reporting period. If and when the award was deemed probable of vesting, the Company
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recognized compensation expense for the portion of the grant determined probable of vesting on a straight-line basis over the
duration of each milestone. If services had been provided by FCA prior to management determining the milestone was probable
of being achieved, a cumulative catch-up adjustment was recorded for services performed in prior periods. During the years
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company recorded $0.1 million and $0.2 million of R&D expense, respectively, in the
consolidated statements of operations related to the completion of certain milestones. As of December 31, 2022, all seven
milestones have been completed, amounting to 1,671,202 shares that have vested.

FCA Italy S.p.A.

On July 19, 2021, the Company entered into a manufacturing consulting agreement with an affiliate of FCA, FCA Italy
S.p.A. (“FCA Italy”) (the “Manufacturing Consulting Agreement”), in which both parties agreed to work together to complete a
series of fixed duration projects to develop manufacturing and production processes in connection with the Company’s ongoing
efforts to bring up production capabilities for its aircraft. In conjunction with the Manufacturing Consulting Agreement, the
Company issued a warrant to FCA Italy, in which FCA Italy has the right to purchase up to 1,077,024 shares of the Company’s
Class A common stock at an exercise price of $0.01 per share. The Company performed a valuation and determined each
warrant had a fair value of $8.98 per share at the grant date. The shares underlying the warrant vest in two equal installments in
accordance with two time-based milestones.

The Company accounts for the warrant in accordance with ASC 718. The Company recognized compensation cost for half
of the shares that were fully vested upon execution of the Manufacturing Consulting Agreement. The Company recognized
compensation cost for the remaining half of the warrant as the related services were received from FCA Italy on a straight-line
basis over the service period of 12 months. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded $2.8 million of
R&D expense in the consolidated statements of operations related to services received for the second milestone. During the year
ended December 31, 2021, the Company recorded $6.8 million of R&D expense in the consolidated statements of operations
related to the achievement of the first milestone and services received for the second milestone. As of December 31, 2022, both
of the milestones have been completed, amounting to 1,077,024 shares that have vested.

Note 11 - Income Taxes

The Company's loss before income taxes consisted of the following (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
United States $ (458.7) $ (317.3) $ (347.8)
International 1.3 — —
Total $ (457.4) $ (G173) $ (347.8)

The Company recognized foreign current income tax provision of $0.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2023.
The Company did not recognize any current income tax provision during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. The
Company did not record any deferred income tax provision for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021. The related
increase in the deferred tax assets was offset by the increase in valuation allowance.
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A reconciliation of the Company’s effective income tax rate to the expected income tax rate, computed by applying the
federal statutory income tax rate of 21% to the Company’s loss before income taxes, is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Federal income tax (benefit) at statutory tax rate 21.0 % 21.0 % 21.0 %
State and local income taxes (net of federal benefit) 2.7% 25 % 2.6 %
Nondeductible expenses (0.1)% (0.2)% 0.2)%
Warrant expense (1.6)% 0.8 % (6.5)%
Nondeductible officers’ compensation 0.1 % 4.7)% (6.9)%
Other 0.0 % (0.7% 0.2 %
Credits 4.4 % 4.9 % 1.3 %
Change in valuation allowance 21.2)% (23.6)% (11.5)%

Effective tax rate (0.1)% 0.0 % 0.0 %

Differences between the state statutory rate and state effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2023 primarily
relate to the limitations imposed on certain share-based compensation under Section 162(m), R&D tax credits and an increase in
the valuation allowance.

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities are provided below (in millions):

As of December 31,
2023 2022

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 84.1 $ 43.4
Accrued expenses 12.4 1.5
Operating lease liabilities 3.5 33
Stock-based compensation 1.9 3.7
Warrants 6.0 2.5
Capitalized R&D expenses 77.8 51.7
Credits 41.7 21.1
Start-up costs 3.8 4.7
Other 0.7 0.9

Gross deferred tax assets 231.9 132.8
Less: valuation allowance (226.3) (129.7)

Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 5.6 3.1
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation and amortization 3.7 =
Right-of-use assets (1.9) 3.1)

Total deferred tax liabilities (5.6) (3.1)

Total net deferred tax assets $ — $ —

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more-likely-than-not that some
portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the
generation of future taxable income during the period in which those temporary differences become deductible. Based upon the
analysis of federal and state deferred tax balances and future tax projections and the Company’s lack of taxable income in the
carryback period, the Company recorded a valuation allowance of $226.3 million against the federal and state deferred tax
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assets. The valuation allowance increased by $96.6 million, $82.6 million and $39.9 million during the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

On August 16, 2022, the U.S. government enacted the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022. The Company does not currently
expect the Inflation Reduction Act to impact its estimated effective tax rate due to a full valuation allowance against deferred
tax assets.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company has U.S. federal net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards of
$389.9 million and $173.5 million, respectively, which can be carried forward indefinitely. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
the Company has state NOL carryforwards of $40.5 million and $120.1 million, respectively, which will both begin to expire in
2038.

In the ordinary course of its business, the Company incurs costs that, for tax purposes, are determined to be qualified R&D
expenditures within the meaning of IRC §41 and are, therefore, eligible for the Increasing Research Activities credit under IRC
§41. The U.S. federal R&D tax credit carryforward is $31.4 million and $14.9 million for December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. The U.S. federal R&D tax credit carryforward begins to expire in 2039. The state R&D tax credit carryforward is
$15.7 million and $9.3 million for December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, which can be carried forward indefinitely.

The following table summarizes the activity related to the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits during the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 (in millions):

Balance as of December 31, 2020 $ 2.0
Increases related to current year tax positions 0.3
Decreases based on tax positions related to prior years (2.0)
Balance as of December 31, 2021 0.3
Increases related to current year tax positions 1.2
Balance as of December 31, 2022 1.5
Increases related to current year tax positions 0.5
Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 2.0

The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the effective tax rate as of December 31,
2023 and 2022 is zero due to the valuation allowance that would otherwise be recorded on the deferred tax asset associated with
the recognized position. During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the Company recognized no interest and
penalties related to uncertain tax positions. It is not expected that there will be a significant change in uncertain tax positions in
the next 12 months.

In accordance with Section 382 and Section 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), a
corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” (generally defined as a cumulative change of more than 50% in the equity
ownership of certain stockholders over a rolling three-year period) is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-change
NOLSs and R&D tax credits to offset post-change taxable income and post-change tax liabilities, respectively. The Company’s
existing NOLs and R&D credits may be subject to limitations arising from previous ownership changes, and the ability to
utilize NOLs could be further limited by Section 382 and Section 383 of the Code. In addition, future changes in the
Company’s stock ownership, some of which may be outside of the Company’s control, could result in an ownership change
under Section 382 and Section 383 of the Code. The amount of such limitations, if any, has not been determined.

The Company is subject to taxation and files income tax returns with the U.S. federal government and the states of
California and Florida. The tax years ended December 31, 2018 through December 31, 2023 remain open to examination for
federal purposes, and the tax years ended December 31, 2018 through December 31, 2023 remain open to examination for state
purposes. In addition, the utilization of NOL and R&D credit carryforwards is subject to federal and state review for the periods
in which those net losses were incurred. The Company is not under audit by any tax jurisdictions at this time.

Note 12 - Liability Classified Warrants

As of December 31, 2023, there were 17,398,947 public warrants outstanding. Public warrants may only be exercised for a
whole number of shares. No fractional shares are issued upon exercise of the public warrants. The public warrants became
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exercisable on October 30, 2021, 12 months after the closing of the initial public offering of Atlas. The public warrants will
expire five years from the consummation of the Business Combination or earlier upon redemption or liquidation.

Once the public warrants become exercisable, the Company may redeem the public warrants for redemption:
* in whole and not in part;

* at a price of $0.01 per public warrant;

 upon not less than 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption to each warrant holder; and

« if, and only if, the closing price of the Class A common stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share (as adjusted for stock
splits, stock dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) for any 20 trading days within a 30-trading day
period commencing after the warrants become exercisable and ending three business days before the Company sends the
notice of redemption to the warrant holders.

If and when the warrants become redeemable by the Company, the Company may exercise its redemption right even if the
Company is unable to register or qualify the underlying securities for sale under all applicable state securities laws.

Each public warrant entitles the registered holder to purchase one share of Class A common stock at a price of $11.50 per
share. The exercise price and number of Class A common stock issuable upon exercise of the public warrants may be adjusted
in certain circumstances including in the event of a share dividend, extraordinary dividend or recapitalization, reorganization,
merger, or consolidation. The public warrants will not be adjusted for issuances of Class A common stock at a price below its
exercise price. Additionally, in no event will the Company be required to net cash settle the public warrants.

As of December 31, 2023, there were 8,000,000 private placement warrants outstanding. The private placement warrants
are identical to the public warrants underlying the shares sold in the initial public offering of Atlas, except that the private
placement warrants and the shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise of the private placement warrants
became transferable, assignable, and salable on October 16, 2021, 30 days after the completion of the Business Combination,
subject to certain limited exceptions. Additionally, the private placement warrants will be exercisable on a cashless basis and
will be non-redeemable so long as they are held by the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees. If the private placement
warrants are held by someone other than the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees, the private placement warrants will
be redeemable by the Company and exercisable by such holders on the same basis as the public warrants.

Note 13 - Subsequent Events
The Company evaluated subsequent events and transactions that occurred after the balance sheet date through the date of

the issuance of these consolidated financial statements. The Company did not identify any subsequent events that would have
required adjustment or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated, as of the
end of the period covered by this Annual Report, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) as required by
Rules 13a-15(b) and 15d-15(b) of the Exchange Act. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2023, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable
assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC rules and forms and that information required
to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act). Our management, with the participation of our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting based on the criteria set forth in the Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on the assessment, management concluded that
our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2023. The effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered
public accounting firm, as stated in its report which appears within Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures

In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management, including the Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, recognizes that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial
reporting cannot prevent or detect all possible instances of errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed
and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system's objectives will be met. The design
of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and management is required to apply judgment in
evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures relative to their costs.

Remediation of Prior Year Material Weaknesses

We previously identified and disclosed in our 2022 Annual Report on Form 10-K as well as in our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for each interim period in fiscal 2023, the following material weaknesses in our internal control over financial
reporting:

= We did not design and maintain an effective control environment commensurate with our financial reporting
requirements. We lacked a sufficient number of trained professionals with (i) an appropriate level of accounting
knowledge, training and experience to appropriately analyze, record and disclose accounting matters timely and
accurately, and (ii) an appropriate level of knowledge and experience to establish effective processes and controls.
Additionally, the limited personnel resulted in an inability to consistently establish appropriate authorities and
responsibilities in pursuit of financial reporting objectives, as demonstrated by, among other things, insufficient
segregation of duties in our finance and accounting functions.

= We did not design and maintain an effective risk assessment process at a precise enough level to identify new and
evolving risks of material misstatement in our financial statements. Specifically, changes to existing controls or the
implementation of new controls have not been sufficient to respond to changes to the risks of material misstatement to
financial reporting.
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We did not design and maintain formal accounting policies, procedures and controls to achieve complete, accurate and
timely financial accounting, reporting and disclosures, including controls over the preparation and review of business
performance reviews, account reconciliations and journal entries.

We did not design and maintain effective controls over IT general controls for information systems that are relevant to
the preparation of our financial statements. Specifically, we did not design and maintain:

e user access controls to ensure appropriate segregation of duties and that adequately restrict user and
privileged access to financial applications, programs, and data to appropriate company personnel;

*  program change management controls to ensure that IT program and data changes affecting financial IT
applications and underlying accounting records are identified, tested, authorized, and implemented
appropriately; and

e computer operations controls to ensure that data backups are authorized and monitored.

We have taken the steps we believe are necessary to remediate these material weaknesses to comply with the rules and
regulations of the SEC regarding compliance with Section 404(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Those remediation measures
included the following:

We prepared a remediation plan for each of the material weaknesses and trained process owners, developed new
controls, enhanced existing controls and evaluated process adoption, and are monitoring results;

We hired a new Chief Financial Officer in February 2022 and hired additional accounting, human resources and
payroll, and IT personnel to bolster our accounting and IT capabilities and capacity, in order to establish and maintain
our internal controls;

We implemented controls to formalize roles and review responsibilities that align with our team’s skills and
experience and to ensure segregation of duties;

We engaged third-party professionals to aid in the design and implementation of a formal risk assessment process and
identified and evaluated changes in our internal controls;

We implemented formal processes, policies, and procedures supporting our financial close process, including
establishing and reviewing thresholds for business performance reviews, formalizing procedures over the review of
financial statements, and creation of standard balance sheet reconciliation templates and journal entry controls;

We designed and implemented IT general controls, including controls over the review and updating of user access
rights and privileges and segregation of duties, and implemented more robust IT policies and procedures over change
management, data backup authorization and computer operations; and

We implemented a new enterprise resource planning system in February 2023 that automated some of our manual
financial reporting processes, enhanced our information technology control environment, and mitigated necessary
internal control gaps and limitations that previously resulted in the material weaknesses noted above.

As of December 31, 2023, management has concluded that the actions described above were satisfactorily implemented
and have been in place for a sufficient period of time to demonstrate the previously identified material weaknesses have been
remediated.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under
the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended December 31, 2023 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

2023 Annual Report 85



Item 9B. Other Information

Rule 105b5-1 Trading Plans. During the three months ended December 31, 2023, none of the Company’s directors or
executive officers adopted or terminated any contract, instruction or written plan for the purchase or sale of Company securities
that was intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) or any “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement”
as defined in Item 408(c) of Regulation S-K.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.
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Part II1
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC
within 120 days of the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our Proxy Statement, and is incorporated
herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our Proxy Statement, and is incorporated
herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our Proxy Statement, and is incorporated
herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our Proxy Statement, and is incorporated
herein by reference.
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Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report:

1.

Financial Statements

See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements under Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report.

2.

Financial Statement Schedules

Schedules not listed above have been omitted because they are not required, not applicable, or the required information is
otherwise included.

(b) Exhibits

The exhibits listed below are filed as part of this Annual Report or are incorporated by reference as indicated.

Exhibit Description

2.17F Amended and Restated Business Combination Agreement, dated as of July 29, 2021, by and among Atlas
Crest Investment Corp., Artemis Acquisition Sub Inc. and Archer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to
Form 8-K (File No. 001-39668), filed July 29, 2021)

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Archer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
Form 8-K (File No. 001-39668), filed September 22, 2021)

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Archer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Form 8-K (File No.
001-39668), filed February 7, 2023)

4.1% Description of Archer’s Securities

4.2 Warrant Agreement, dated October 27, 2020, by and between Legacy Archer and Continental Stock Transfer
& Trust Company, as warrant agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K (File No.
001-39668), filed November 2, 2020)

10.1 Form of Subscription Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K (File No.
001-39668), filed February 10, 2021)

10.2 Amended and Restated Sponsor Letter Agreement, dated as of July 29, 2021, by and among Atlas Crest
Investment Corp., Atlas Crest Investment LLC, Legacy Archer, and the individuals named therein
(incorporated by reference to Annex D-2 to Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-254007), filed_
August 3, 2021)

10.3F Archer 2019 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Form 8-K (File No.
001-39668), filed September 22, 2021)

10.47 Form of Stock Option Grant Package under Archer 2019 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.6 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-39668), filed September 22, 2021)

10.5F Form of RSU Grant Package under Archer 2019 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.7 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-39668), filed September 22, 2021)

10.67 Archer Amended and Restated 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form
8-K (File No. 001-39668), filed June 15, 2022)

10.7+ Form of Stock Option Grant Package under Archer 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.9 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-39668), filed September 22, 2021)

10.8F Form of RSU Grant Package under Archer 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.10 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-39668), filed September 22, 2021)

10.97 Form of Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to Form 8-K (File No.
001-39668), filed September 22, 2021)

10.107 Archer Director Equity Deferral Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Form 10-Q (File No.

001-39668), filed August 10, 2022)
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Exhibit

Description

10.117
10.127

10.13F

10.147
10.15%*
10.16++

10.17**

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23
10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29%#% 1+
10.307
10.31%

10.32

Form of Irrevocable Deferral Election under Archer Director Equity Deferral Plan (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.3 to Form 10-Q (File No. 001-39668), filed August 10, 2022)

Offer Letter, dated September 16, 2021, by and between Archer and Adam Goldstein (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.13 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-39668), filed September 22, 2021)

Offer Letter, dated November 19, 2019, by and between Legacy Archer and Tom Muniz (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.19 to Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-254007) filed August 10,
2021)

Offer Letter, dated May 5. 2021, by and between the Company and Andy Missan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.17 to Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-254007) filed August 10, 2021)

Settlement Agreement, dated August 10, 2023, by and among Archer, The Boeing Company and Wisk Aero
LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q (File No. 001-39668), filed November 9, 2023

Sublease Agreement, dated January 14, 2022, between Forescout Technologies, Inc. and Archer (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Form 10-Q (File No. 001-39668) filed May 12, 2022)

First Warrant to Purchase Shares, dated August 15, 2023, by and among Archer, Wisk Aero LLC and The
Boeing Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.9 to Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No.
333-273996), filed August 15, 2023)

Warrant to Purchase Shares, dated January 3, 2023, by and between Archer and Stellantis N.V. (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Archer’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 9, 2023)

Warrant to Purchase Shares, dated as of November 6, 2020, by and among FCA US LLC and Legacy Archer
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to Registration Statement on S-4 (File No. 333-254007), filed
August 10, 2021)

Warrant to Purchase Shares, dated as of January 29, 2021, by and among United Airlines, Inc. and Archer
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to Form 10-K (File No. 001-39668), filed March 14, 2022)

Amendment No. 1 to Warrant to Purchase Shares, dated August 9, 2022, by and among United Airlines, Inc.
and Archer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q (File No. 001-39668), filed November 10,
2022)

Warrant to Purchase Shares, dated as of February 26, 2021, by and among Mesa Air Group, Inc. and Legacy
Archer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to Registration Statement on S-4 (File No. 333-254007),
filed August 10, 2021)

Warrant to Purchase Shares, dated as of July 19, 2021, by and between FCA Italy, S.p.A. and Legacy Archer
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to Form 10-K (File No. 001-39668), filed March 14, 2022)

Form of Subscription Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K (File No.
001-39668), filed August 10, 2023)

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, by and between Archer and certain stockholders, dated
September 16, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-39668), filed
September 22, 2021)

Form of Registration Rights Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Form 8-K (File No.
001-39668), filed August 10, 2023)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated January 3, 2023, by and between Archer and Stellantis N.V.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-39668), filed with the SEC on January 9,
2023)

Loan and Security Agreement, dated July 9, 2021, by and among Silicon Valley Bank, in its capacity as
administrative agent and collateral agent, Silicon Valley Bank and SVB Innovation Credit Fund VIII, L.P., as
lenders, and Legacy Archer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to Registration Statement on Form S-4
(File No. 333-254007), filed August 3, 2021)

Credit Agreement, dated as of October 5, 2023, by and among Archer, the subsidiary guarantors thereto, and
Synovus Bank, as administrative agent and lender

Form of Indemnity Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-39668),
filed September 22, 2021)

Form of Change in Control and Severance Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q
(File No. 001-39668) filed May 12, 2022)

Form of Transaction Support Agreement (incorporated by reference to Annex E to Registration Statement on
Form S-4 (File No. 333-254007), filed March 8, 2021)
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Exhibit Description

10.33 Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement, dated August 10, 2023, by and between Archer and Gibson, Dunn &
Crutcher LLP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.10 to Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No.
333-273996), filed August 15, 2023)

10.34 Forward Purchase Agreement, dated January 3, 2023, by and between Archer and Stellantis N.V.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-39668), filed January 9, 2023)
10.35 Manufacturing Collaboration Agreement, dated January 3, 2023, by and between Archer and Stellantis N.V.

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K (File No. 001-39668), filed January 9, 2023)
10.36***+1  Design-Build Agreement, dated as of October 3, 2023, by and between Archer and Evans General Contractors,
LLC

10.37 Controlled Equity Offering™ Sales Agreement, dated November 9, 2023, by and between Archer and Cantor
Fitzgerald & Co. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.2 to Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No.
333-275465), filed November 13, 2023)

21.1% List of Subsidiaries

23.1% Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent registered public accounting firm

24.1%* Power of Attorney (reference is made to the signature page thereto)

31.1% Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Exchange
Act, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2% Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Exchange
Act, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1# Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2# Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

97.1 Clawback Policy

101.INS* Inline XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104%* Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

*  Filed herewith.
**  Portions of this exhibit are redacted pursuant to Regulation S-K Item 601(b)(10)(iv)
T Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

11 Certain of the exhibits and schedules to these exhibits have been omitted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item
601(a)(5). The registrant agrees to furnish a copy of all omitted exhibits and schedules to the SEC upon its request.

#  This certification is deemed not filed for the purpose of section 18 of the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to the liability
of that section, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange
Act.

(c) Financial Statement Schedules

Reference is made to Item 15(a) 2 above.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has
duly caused this Annual Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ARCHER AVIATION INC.
February 29, 2024 By: /s/ Mark Mesler
Mark Mesler

Chief Financial Olfficer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints
Adam Goldstein and Mark Mesler, and each of them, as his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact, proxies and agents, each
with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all
capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this report and to file the same, with any exhibits thereto and other documents in
connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto such attorneys-in-fact, proxies and agents
full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the
premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said
attorneys-in-fact, proxies and agents, or their or his or her substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Annual Report has been signed by
the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date
) Chief Executive Officer and February 29, 2024
/s/ Adam Goldstein Director
Adam Goldstein (Principal Executive Officer)
Js/ Mark Mesler . _Chief _F inanpial Officer ' February 29, 2024
Mark Mosl (Principal Financial and Accounting
ark Mesler Officer)
/s/ Deborah Diaz Director February 29, 2024
Deborah Diaz
/s/ Fred Diaz Director February 29, 2024
Fred Diaz
/s/ Oscar Munoz Director February 29, 2024
Oscar Munoz
/s/ Barbara J. Pilarski Director February 29, 2024
Barbara J. Pilarski
/s/ Maria Pinelli Director February 29, 2024
Maria Pinelli
/s/ Michael Spellacy Director February 29, 2024
Michael Spellacy
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